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TRANSMITTAL LETTER

December 12, 2024

The Honorable Kevin F. McCumber
Acting Clerk 
U.S. House of Representatives

Dear Mr. McCumber:

On behalf of the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, and pursuant 
to the mandate of House Resolutions 1367 and 1470, I am filing, for presentation to the House of 
Representatives, the enclosed Final Report of Findings and Recommendations. 

The Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump unanimously voted on 
December 5, 2024, to submit its Final Report of Findings and Recommendations to the House 
favorably, by voice vote.  Additional views are included with this report. 

Sincerely,

Mike Kelly
Chairman

Task Force on the Attempted
Assassination of Donald J. Trump
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1 

INTRODUCTION 
A would-be assassin attempted to take the life of Donald J. Trump on July 13, 2024, 

during a campaign event in Butler, Pennsylvania. The bullets meant for President-elect 
Trump tragically claimed the life of an attendee, Corey Comperatore, and gravely wounded 
attendees David Dutch and James Copenhaver. A U.S. Secret Service (USSS or Secret 
Service) counter-sniper and a Butler County Emergency Services Unit (Butler ESU) 
operator returned fire and eliminated the shooter. Secret Service special agents stationed on 
and near the event stage covered former President Trump and extracted him from the site.1

He escaped with non-life-threatening injuries. 

Approximately two months later, there was a second attempt to assassinate the former 
President in West Palm Beach, Florida. On September 15, 2024, a USSS Special Agent 
scouting the area ahead of former President Trump at Trump International Golf Club 
discovered another would-be assassin lying in wait just outside of the fence line at the 
perimeter of the property. The perpetrator was arrested after fleeing the scene when the 
Special Agent engaged with gunfire. No one was harmed. 

On July 24, 2024, in the wake of the attempt on the former President’s life in Butler, 
Pennsylvania, the House of Representatives unanimously passed House Resolution 1367, 
creating the bipartisan Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump 
(Task Force) to investigate the facts and circumstances leading up to and on July 13, 2024.2  
The Task Force, led by Chairman Mike Kelly and Ranking Member Jason Crow, was 
directed to investigate all actions by any agency, department, officer, or employee of the 
federal government, as well as state and local law enforcement (LLE) or any other state or 
local government or private entities or individuals, related to the attempted assassination of 
Donald J. Trump on July 13, 2024, in Butler, Pennsylvania. The House of Representatives 
subsequently expanded the Task Force’s authority through House Resolution 1470, directing 
the Task Force to investigate the facts and circumstances surrounding the second 
assassination attempt in Florida. 

House Resolution 1367 directed the Task Force to “issue a final report of its findings” 

1 Hereinafter, when describing the events of July 13, 2024, and the days leading up to the rally 
in Butler, Pennsylvania, and the events of September 15, 2024, the Task Force will refer to President-
elect Trump as former President Trump or the former President, as he was during those periods. 

2 Establishing the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, H.Res. 1367, 
118th Cong. (2024). 
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to the House no later than December 13, 2024. Pursuant to H. Res. 1367, this is the Task 
Force’s final report. 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Over the course of less than five months, the Task Force interviewed witnesses, 

obtained and analyzed evidence, and held hearings on the assassination attempts in 
Pennsylvania and Florida. The full record of evidence clearly shows failures in advance 
planning by the Secret Service and its law enforcement partners in the days before the July 
13 campaign event in Butler, Pennsylvania, and failures in execution on the day of the 
event itself. The Task Force’s investigation also identified preexisting conditions and 
leadership failures that set the stage for tragedy. 

The Task Force found that the tragic and shocking events in Butler, Pennsylvania 
were preventable and should not have happened. There was not, however, a singular moment 
or decision that allowed Thomas Matthew Crooks to nearly assassinate the former 
President. The various failures in planning, execution, and leadership on and before July 
13, 2024, and the preexisting conditions that undermined the effectiveness of the human 
and material assets deployed that day, coalesced to create an environment in which the 
former President—and everyone at the campaign event—were exposed to grave danger. 
Conversely, the events that transpired on September 15, 2024, in West Palm Beach, Florida, 
demonstrated how properly executed protective measures can foil an attempted 
assassination. 

* * *
The Task Force identified several decision points that, if handled differently, could 

have prevented Crooks from firing eight shots at the Butler rally stage. Foremost, the 
failure to secure a recognized high-risk area immediately adjacent to the venue—
specifically the American Glass Research (AGR) grounds and building complex—gave 
rise to several vulnerabilities that eventually allowed Crooks to evade law enforcement, 
climb on and traverse the roof of the AGR complex, and open fire. Despite its proximity to 
a main road, clear sight lines to the stage, and elevated position, the Secret Service allowed 
a crowd that was not screened by USSS or other law enforcement to gather at the fence line 
separating the secured area and the AGR complex. The presence of the crowd outside the 
secured area made Crooks more difficult to interdict as his behavior became increasingly 
suspicious. 

The consequences of failing to secure the AGR property in the first place were 
compounded by the fact that the area was not sufficiently monitored or patrolled to deter 
threats. The Secret Service did not provide clear guidance to its state and local partners 
about which entity was responsible for the area. An expressed lack of manpower and assets 
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was not sufficiently addressed, resulting in coverage gaps on the ground. Further, local 
snipers on the property understood their responsibility to be overwatch of the crowd and 
venue, not the area outside the secure perimeter where Crooks loitered and prepared, 
believing that area to have been secured by Secret Service counter-snipers and patrol units. 
The result of that misunderstanding was that the local sniper team posted in the windows of 
one of the AGR buildings was not positioned to monitor the area directly underneath the 
windows or the roofs. While another local sniper team stationed on the opposite side of the 
venue did have line of sight to the AGR property, they similarly did not believe they were 
responsible for monitoring the area and did not do so. 

These issues were compounded by failures that arose on the day of the event. 
Technology meant to supplement venue security was out of commission for hours. A 
fragmented communication structure and poor decision-making prevented vital 
information from reaching pertinent law enforcement personnel. These technology and 
communication breakdowns hindered law enforcement’s pursuit of Crooks and caused 
missed opportunities to intervene. The breakdowns also interrupted the flow of information 
that should have been passed to Secret Service personnel with the ability to remove the 
former President from the stage. Moreover, relevant threat information known by members 
of the intelligence community was not escalated to key personnel working the rally. 

The failures that led to the tragic events of July 13 were not entirely isolated to the 
campaign event itself, or the days preceding it. Preexisting issues in leadership and training 
created an environment in which the specific failures identified above could occur. Secret 
Service personnel with little to no experience in advance planning roles were given 
significant responsibility, despite the July 13 event being held at a higher-risk outdoor 
venue with many line of sight issues, in addition to specific intelligence about a long-range 
threat. Further, some of the Secret Service agents in significant advance planning roles did 
not clearly understand the delineation of their responsibilities. 

Pursuant to its mandate, the Task Force herein issues a series of recommendations to 
prevent future security lapses. In addition to 25 specific recommendations related to issues 
that directly led to the security failures in Butler on July 13, which are included at the end 
of each section of this report, the Task Force identified 11 general recommendations related 
to leadership, training, and agency resources to enhance the Secret Service’s capacity to 
fulfill its zero fail protective mission (see Additional Recommendations section). 

With respect to capacity, Congress must ensure that the Secret Service determines 
ways to strengthen its capabilities and reduce the strain on its resources. The USSS should 
evaluate its budget, staffing, and personnel retention challenges and advise Congress as to 
specific needs. Enhanced training should be provided for any non-USSS federal personnel 
on-site. USSS may also benefit from reducing the number of individuals it protects. 
Congress must consider whether the Secret Service’s investigative obligations can 
effectively coexist with its primary protective mission, and whether the agency’s 
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investigative functions should remain within the Department of Homeland Security (DHS). 

With respect to operations, Congress must ensure that the USSS enhances its sense 
of responsibility for the mission by assigning the agency full ownership of security planning 
for high- profile events (not just those aspects within the secure perimeter). Congress must 
also conduct oversight to ensure that the USSS implements security redundancies to avoid 
operational failures in high-pressure moments. To make oversight of the USSS oversight 
more effective, Congress should require that on-site USSS radio transmissions are recorded 
and that there is a formal escalation process for security-related disagreements at events. 
Relatedly, Congress must do more to make clear through its Article I authorities that Article 
II criminal investigations do not supersede or prohibit access to information pursuant to 
congressional investigations, and the Department of Justice (DOJ) should be prepared to 
efficiently assist with congressional investigations to ensure Congress has access to all the 
information necessary to effectively legislate. 

 
* * * 

These findings and recommendations are based on an array of evidence. The Task 
Force obtained information from federal, state, and local sources, including but not limited 
to: 

• Briefings from the Secret Service, the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI), 
and the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives (ATF); 

• Forty-six transcribed witness interviews of federal, state, and LLE officials; 

• Four state and local witnesses and one former USSS agent who testified at a Task 
Force hearing on September 26, 2024; 

• The Acting Director’s testimony at a Task Force hearing on December 5, 2024; 

• Walkthroughs of the campaign event location in Butler, Pennsylvania and the 
place of confrontation at Trump International Golf Club in West Palm Beach, 
Florida; and 

• An evidence presentation at the FBI laboratory in Quantico, Virginia. 

The Task Force was given access to more than 18,000 pages of documents in response 
to requests to federal, state, and local agencies. Chairman Kelly also issued five subpoenas 
to obtain sensitive documents from local agencies in Pennsylvania and testimony from ATF 
employees. 

The testimony obtained by the Task Force related to the events of July 13 and 
September 15 was conflicting at times. The DOJ also withheld information from the Task 
Force related to ongoing investigations. Despite those limitations, the Task Force reached 
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the findings and recommendations contained herein on a bipartisan basis, with a high 
degree of confidence. 
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BACKGROUND 
On Tuesday, July 2, 2024, the Secret Service’s Donald Trump Division (DTD) notified 

the Secret Service Pittsburgh Field Office (PIT) about a potential visit by former President 
Trump on July 13.3 PIT Assistant to the Special Agent in Charge (ATSAIC) ATSAIC PIT 
began assigning personnel to the event based on agent availability.4 On Wednesday, July 
3, DTD confirmed the visit.5 The site and schedule were still to be determined.6 PIT Senior 
Special Agent (SSA) Lead Advance was assigned as Lead Advance Agent to the visit.7 The 
campaign event was announced to the public on July 3.8 On Thursday, July 4, DTD 
confirmed that the visit would take place at the Butler Farm Show.9 

Butler Farm Show, Inc. (Butler Farm Show), in Butler County, Pennsylvania, is 
situated in both Connoquenessing and Butler Townships.10 The Butler Farm Show property 
spans more than 100 acres, with at least seven entrances that are open to the public.11 
Parts of the grounds are surrounded by approximately four-feet to six-feet tall chain link 
fences.12 The Butler Farm Show is private property but open for public use.13 During the 

3 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001367 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

4 Assistant to the Special Agent in Charge ATSAIC PIT, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 22-23 (Oct. 16, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

5 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001367 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

6 Id. 
7 Id. 
8 Briefing from Fed. Bureau of Investigation to Task Force Staff (Aug. 21, 2024) (notes on file 

with Task Force 
Majority Staff). 
9 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001367 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
10 Butler County, PA: Parcel and Tax Map, Butler Cty., PA. Mapping Dep’t (last visited Nov. 

26, 2024), https:// geo.co.butler.pa.us/portal/apps/experiencebuilder/experience/ 
?id=357cedf86df14148b371aba27f8296b4. 

11 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001368 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

12 Id. 
13 Id. 
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2020 campaign, then- President Trump hosted an event in Butler, Pennsylvania, on October 
31, 2020, at a different venue—the Pittsburgh-Butler Regional Airport.14 

Secret Service Advance Planning 
On Friday, July 5, PIT sent an email to state and local counterparts inviting them to a 

police meeting on Monday, July 8, at 1:00 p.m. to discuss the visit.15 PIT Special Agent in 
Charge (SAIC) SAIC PIT called representatives from the Butler County Sheriff’s Office, 
Butler Township Police Department (BTPD), Pennsylvania State Police (PSP), and Butler 
County Department of Emergency Services (Butler DES) to verbally invite them.16 A PIT 
Special Agent sent an email invitation that afternoon.17 DTD Special Agent Site Agent was 
assigned to be the Site Agent, and the Secret Service Technical Security Division (TSD) 
assigned Technical Security Investigator (TSI) TSI Agent to be the TSD advance agent.18 
Secret Service leadership assigned Special Agent CAT Lead as the Counter Assault Team 
(CAT) advance for the rally.19 

On Saturday, July 6, PIT Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart was assigned to be the 
Site Counterpart.20 PIT assigned the roles of Lead Advance Agent and Site Counterpart 
based on their experience with the Secret Service.21  

Roles and Responsibilities on July 13, 2024, in Butler, Pennsylvania22 

Role: Assigned to: 

Special Agent in Charge PIT SAIC PIT 

Assistant to the Special Agent in Charge PIT ATSAIC PIT 

14 'We Win Pennsylvania, We Win It All': President Trump Rallies Supporters In Butler County, 
CBS NEWS, https:// 

www.cbsnews.com/pittsburgh/news/trump-rally-in-butler-county/ (last visited Dec. 1, 2024). 
15 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001367 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
16 Id. 
17 Id. 
18 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 009965, 

010028 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
19 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 010004 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
20 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001367 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
21 Id. 
22 This table shows agents assigned for key roles and is not comprehensive of all Secret Service 

personnel. For a more complete list, see Appendix. 
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Special Agent in Charge DTD SAIC DTD 

Assistant Special Agent in Charge DTD ASAIC DTD 

Lead Advance Agent/Transportation Advance 
Agent 

Lead Advance (PIT) 

Site Agent Site Agent (DTD) 
Site Counterpart Site Counterpart (PIT) 

Site Protective Intelligence Agent Site PI (PHX) 

Protective Intelligence Advance Agent PI Advance (PIT) 

Counter Assault Team (CAT) Leader CAT Lead 
CAT Operator CAT Op. 

Secret Service Security Room Supervisor Sec. Room Sup. (BUF) 

Counter Unmanned Aerial Systems Operator 
(C-UAS) 

C-UAS Op. (DTD)

Counter-sniper Response Team Agent CS Resp. (OKC) 
Counter-sniper Team Lead CS TL 

Counter-sniper Sergeant Technician CS Sgt. Tech. 

Counter-sniper Technician CS Tech. 

Technical Security Investigator TSI Agent 
Post-stander at the motorcade entrance USSS Post 1 (PHX) 

OPO Assistant Director OPO Asst. Dir. 

On Monday, July 8, at 10:00 a.m., Special Agents Lead Advance, Site Counterpart, and 
Site Agent conducted a site walkthrough with Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. 
(hereinafter, campaign) staff and Butler Farm Show personnel, during which they discussed 
numerous aspects of the site including stage location and line of site mitigation.23 At 1:00 
p.m., the police meeting to discuss the visit commenced with representatives from Butler
Emergency Services Unit (ESU), BTPD, PSP, Butler County Sheriff’s Office, and Butler

23 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001367-
68 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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DES.24 The police meeting included a discussion of the site, the security perimeter, and the 
motorcade route.25 Butler ESU Deputy Commander Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 2 attended the 
meeting and received Special Agent CAT Lead’s contact information.26 Special Agent CAT 
Lead testified that this exchange of contact information was for the purpose of conducting a 
“telephonic” advance and that he was “told to do every advance telephonically because of 
manpower.”27  

In the morning on Tuesday, July 9, the Secret Service, campaign staff, and airport 
personnel conducted an airport walkthrough for the visit.28 Secret Service and PSP 
established motorcade routes.29 Separately, DTD requested counter-sniper assets from the 
Secret Service Special Operations Division (SOD) due to a long-range threat from a foreign 
state actor that was not specific to the rally on July 13.30 Around the same time as the DTD 
request, Senior Special Agent Lead Advance called Butler ESU Commander Butler ESU 
Comm., and according to Commander Butler ESU Comm., she “asked if we had sniper assets 
with our team,” “asked if we could provide two sniper teams for the rally,” and “explained 
that they would not have their normal assets for this rally that they normally have 
available.”31 Commander Butler ESU Comm. said he would check and confirm that Butler 
ESU could provide sniper assets.32 Separately and prior to when Commander Butler ESU 
Comm. did, the USSS SOD approved DTD’s request for counter-sniper assets, and 
Technician CS TL was assigned as counter-sniper advance support.33  

24 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, House Committee Overview Presentation, 2 (2024) 
(on file with the Task Force); Dir. Butler DES Dir., Butler Co. Emergency Mgmt. Servs., Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 11 (Sept. 5, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

25 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001367 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

26 Dep. Commander Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 2, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the 
Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 13-14 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 

27 Special Agent CAT Lead, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 
on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 24 (Oct. 10, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

28 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001368 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

29 Id.; Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 82 
(Oct. 18, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 30 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. 
Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001368, 002130-31 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

30 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001368, 
002130-31 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

31 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Butler ESU Assist Request Timeline - Butler ESU 
Comm., 1 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

32 Id. 
33 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 002129-

30 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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Special Agents Lead Advance, Site Agent, and Site Counterpart, and PSP troopers 
discussed motorcade arrival and departure and lines of sight issues with the campaign 
staff.34 PSP Lt. PSP Lt. 1 spoke with campaign staff about using a third party’s large farm 
equipment to mitigate those issues, which Lt. PSP Lt. 1 recalled was declined at that time 
because “the equipment was too large, too big for the venue.”35 

Later, on July 9, Special Agents Lead Advance, Site Agent, and Site Counterpart also met 
with Lt. PSP Lt. 1 and Butler DES Director Butler DES Dir to review a map of the site at the 
PSP Barracks in Butler.36 The meeting lasted “around an hour or so” to discuss the to 
discuss the placement of police posts and life and fire safety assets.37  

During the meeting, the group discussed the AGR property—a complex of buildings, 
parking areas, and open spaces next to the Butler Farm Show. Senior Special Agent Lead 
Advance testified that her understanding from this meeting, which she said was relayed by 
Lt. PSP Lt. 1, was that the main AGR building would be “[c]losed, secured,” with “a police 
presence in the area of [the AGR] complex, those buildings, to be able to deter and mitigate 
people from accessing the buildings.”38 Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart similarly 
testified that Lt. PSP Lt. 1 said “that the business was going to be shut down, and he talked 
to the owner, and that it would be ‑‑ the business would be locked, secured, and posted.”39  

PSP Lt. PSP Lt. 1 testified that he did not recall making that remark. He told the Task 
Force “[t]here was no discussion of any, like, physical postings at that point […] [T]here 

34 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001368 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

35 Id.; Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 52 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

36 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001368 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force); Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police Transcribed Interview Before 
the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 55 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force); Dir. Butler DES Dir., Butler Co. Emergency Mgmt. Servs. Dep’t, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 41 (Sept. 5, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). Others such as Butler County Emergency Services Management 
Department employee Butler DES Employee, Butler County Sheriff Mike Slupe, and Pennsylvania 
State Police Lieutenant PSP Lt. 2 are recalled as having attended. The facts and attendance described, 
however, are limited to the people who the Task Force interviewed. 

37 Dir. Butler DES Dir., Butler Co. Emergency Mgmt. Servs. Dep’t, Transcribed Interview 
Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 15-16 (Sept. 5, 2024) (on 
file with the Task Force); Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret 
Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 83-84 (Oct. 18, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

38 Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 86-87 (Oct. 18, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

39 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 73 (Oct. 17, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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was no notes.”  Lt. PSP Lt. 1 testified that he provided all of the assets that USSS 
requested, and that “it was never mentioned to me to cover that [AGR] building, and if I 
would have been asked to cover it, I had the resources.”   

Secret Service scheduled a walkthrough to take place on Thursday, July 11, at 10:00 
a.m.   Special Agent Site Agent circulated pictures of the site to other DTD special agents 
with proposed locations for magnetometers, the stage, and the crowd.  Lt. PSP Lt. 1 
testified that he was unaware of Butler ESU’s role for the rally as of July 9.  A Butler 
ESU document obtained by the Task Force indicates that at this time, “PA State Police 
forwards the first map ESU received for the rally venue. This map was sent to the US Secret 
Service and the Butler County Emergency Services Director before being forwarded to 
ESU.”   

On Wednesday, July 10, USSS counter-sniper assets and TSD arrived in 
Pittsburgh.  Secret Service advance personnel and PIT SAIC SAIC PIT walked the Butler 
Farm Show grounds for a manpower walkthrough, which precedes a manpower request to 
Secret Service Headquarters in order to assess what human resources should be 
requested.47 SAIC SAIC PIT testified that he recommended three additional post standers 
beyond those the advance agents initially intended to request.48 He also testified that he 
asked about AGR and was told by advance agents that “roving police posts” would cover 
the property, that it would be “close[d] down for the day,” that there would be a patrol 
car to block the parking lot, that there would be police in the double-fence between 
the Butler Farm Show grounds and the AGR property, that there would be various 
obstructions to lines of sight, and that there would be counter-snipers.49 Secret Service 

 
40 Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 

Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 22 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
41 Id. at 58. 
42 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001368 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
43 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 009951-

57 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
44 Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 

Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 71 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
45 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, House Committee Overview Presentation, 4 (2024) 

(on file with the Task Force). 
46 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001368 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
47 Id. 
48 Special Agent in Charge SAIC PIT, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 62-63 (Oct. 25, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

49 Id. at 63. 
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personnel then submitted the manpower request for approval.50 The justification 
accompanying the request stated that the request was “scrutinized by the Advance Team 
and Pittsburgh FO SAIC SAIC PIT in an effort to minimize required manpower.”51  

The manpower request included twenty-two post standers—six Secret Service special 
agents and sixteen DHS Homeland Security Investigations (HSI) special agents—a role 
that ranged in missions from ensuring motorcade access to manning magnetometers.   

Site post instructions explicitly assigned four agents to rove the grounds, three of 
which were partnered with a total of four counterparts from either state or local police.  
One post stander would monitor the space between the airport parking lot and the main 
magnetometer checkpoint.  This agent had one state counterpart and one local 
counterpart.  One agent would serve as relief and response, which meant taking the place 
of post standers who needed to go on breaks.  One counter-sniper response (CSR) agent 
would serve as relief until one hour before the former President’s arrival and then perform 
CSR duties.  The CSR agent, Special Agent CS Resp, from the Oklahoma City Field 
Office, had one state counterpart, PSP Trooper PSP Trp. 2.  One agent would serve the 
role of site Protective Intelligence (PI).  This agent, Senior Special Agent Site PI from 

 
50 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001368 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
51 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 010017 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
52 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 000219-

25, 10016 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
53 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 000222-

23, 010017-19 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
54 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 000222 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
55 Id. 
56 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 000223 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force); Special Agent CS Resp., Oklahoma City Field Office, U.S. 
Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of 
Donald J. Trump, 16-17 (Oct. 31, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

57 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 000223 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). Secret Service policy states that the purpose of CSR is to 
investigate suspicious activities observed by counter-sniper teams, and further, that CSR should be 
solely dedicated to counter-sniper teams. Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t 
of Homeland Sec., Bates 000125 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). According to Secret Service 
policy, activity like a person on a roof would warrant CSR activation. Production to Task Force, U.S. 
Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 000125 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

58 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 000223 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force); Special Agent CS Resp., Oklahoma City Field Office, U.S. 
Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of 
Donald J. Trump, 58 (Oct. 31, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

59 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 000223 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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the Phoenix Field Office, had one state counterpart, PSP Trooper PSP Trp. 3.  Several 
Secret Service witnesses testified that the role of site PIs is to interview suspicious 
persons.  Secret Service assigned these four roving teams to cover 15,000- 20,000 
attendees on a 100-acre property.   

On Thursday, July 11, at 10:00 a.m., Secret Service personnel met with local police, 
fire, EMS, and tactical groups at the site.  They discussed the security perimeter as a 
group.  Butler ESU Deputy Commander Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 2 was assigned to 
embed with the USSS counter-assault team (CAT).  Secret Service personnel further 
discussed options to mitigate line of sight issues with campaign staff on that day.66 

Following the meeting, participants broke into smaller groups based on 
responsibilities at the event.67 Secret Service and state and local police walked the 
perimeter of the site to finalize and assign law enforcement posts.68 Regarding 
conversations with Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart, PSP Lt. PSP Lt. 1 testified, “when 
we walked that property [. . .] we walked right past that fence line, and they never said 
anything about me putting a car over there.”69 BTPD Lt. BTPD Lt. 1  recalled that PSP Lt. 
PSP Lt. 1 asked if Lt. BTPD Lt. 1  could provide a patrol car in the AGR parking lot, to which 
Lt. BTPD Lt. 1  replied, “No, I don’t have enough men to do this. I cannot do that.”70 Based 

 
60 Id.; Sr. Special Agent Site PI, Phoenix Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 23 (Nov. 5, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

61 Technician CS TL, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 169 (Oct. 22, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); 
Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 104 (Nov. 15, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

62 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 010019 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

63 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001368 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

64 Id. 
65 Dep. Commander Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 2, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the 

Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 18-19 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 

66 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001368 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

67 Id. 
68 Id. 
69 Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 

Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 58 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
70 Lt. BTPD Lt. 1 , Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on 
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on those discussions, Special Agents Lead Advance, Site Agent, and Site Counterpart testified 
that they expected more patrol around AGR.71  

This was the last meeting between the Secret Service and state and local counterparts 
related to the security plan. 

On Friday, July 12, at 11:00 a.m., Secret Service personnel met with campaign 
staff.  They further discussed line of sight concerns.  The discussion covered the 
possibility that large farm equipment could be used to block lines of sight from the AGR 
property—it was agreed to place a combine at the 3 o’clock position.  The Secret Service 
Candidate Nominations Section circulated final paperwork to all DTD shift personnel and 
advance planning personnel at approximately 5:00 p.m.  Site construction continued 
Friday and into the early hours of Saturday, July 13.  Senior Special Agent Site 
Counterpart worked with PSP Lt. PSP Lt. 1 to tow unauthorized vehicles at the site.  The 
Secret Service conducted another walkthrough.  The DTD ATSAIC received an email 
including slides from the police meeting, which included pictures of the site.   

On July 12, Butler ESU completed its operations plan. According to this plan, Butler 
ESU would be assisted by the Beaver County ESU (Beaver ESU) and Washington County 
SWAT (Washington SWAT).  On the east side of the Butler Farm Show grounds near 
Brady Paul Lane and Meridian Road, Butler ESU CAT and ____LES_____ (LES) assets 
would be positioned behind the barns situated behind former President Trump, and there 

 
71 Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 

Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
140 (Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field 
Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 87 (Oct. 18, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Sr. Special Agent 
Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 
Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 73 (Oct. 17, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

72 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001369 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

73 Id. 
74 Id.; Ass’t Special Agent in Charge ASAIC DTD, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. 

Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of 
Donald J. Trump, 110 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

75 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 010031 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

76 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001369 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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79 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 09976-
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would be a Butler County command post near the local Fraternal Order of Police (FOP) 
lodge.  Members of the CAT would be “dedicated” and would “not deviate from their 
mission.”  Snipers, who came from Butler, Beaver, and Washington teams, would be 
located in the grandstand, press box, and AGR.  The plan divided the Butler Farm Show 
grounds into seven sectors of responsibility, and almost all teams would be on the property, 
inside the secure perimeter.  The local sniper team positioned in the main AGR building 
would be outside the perimeter.  Sniper teams and Beaver ESU team leaders were issued 
a Butler County radio, and a radio was set aside for the Secret Service.  

Commander Butler ESU Comm. testified that he did not send the Butler ESU plan to 
anyone with Secret Service.  He testified that the Secret Service did not ask for the 
plan.  He testified that this was normal, in his view, based on previous engagements 
between Butler ESU and the Drug Enforcement Administration, another federal 
agency. Also on July 12, PSP completed its operations plan for itself and the Butler 
County Sheriff’s Office, which was a partner entity for the event.90 PSP Trooper PSP Trp. 
1 and Butler County Sheriff’s Deputy Sheriff's Deputy were the only planned patrol presence 
near the AGR property—they were stationed in a grassy area between the chain link fences 
that marked the perimeter of the Butler Farm Show property and the AGR property.91  

Between July 11 and the event, BTPD completed its operations plan.  The plan 
directed officers to “keep their intersection clear when Trump’s motorcade is arriving and 
departing,” which included managing traffic and congestion.93  

 
81 Id. at 2. 
82 Id. at 10. 
83 Id. at 12. 
84 Id. at 11. 
85 Id. at 12. 
86 Id. at 20; Commander Butler ESU Comm., Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the 

Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 122-23 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 

87 Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 80 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
88 Id.  
89 Id. at 80-81. 
90 Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 

Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 32 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
91 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, PSP Response to Senate Committee on 

Homeland Sec. and Governmental Affairs – Final 8.14.24, 47-48 (2024) (on file with the Task Force); 
Deputy Sheriff Sheriff's Deputy, Butler Co. Sheriff’s Off., Transcribed Interview Before the Task 
Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 13 (Sept. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task 
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Crooks Conducts Reconnaissance 
On Friday, July 5, Crooks searched “when is the DNC convention” and “when is the 

RNC in 2024.”  The next day, July 6, Crooks registered to attend the rally in Butler and 
searched for “how far away was oswald from kennedy,” “butler farm show grounds,” and 
“where will trump speak from at butler farm show,” among other topics.95  

On Sunday, July 7, Crooks traveled from his home to the Butler Farm Show grounds, 
parked his vehicle near the grounds, walked a portion of the exterior fence, returned to his 
vehicle, and then departed the immediate area.  He also drove his vehicle in the vicinity 
of the Butler Farm Show and the AGR property, before departing the area.  He 
subsequently drove toward his family’s home in Bethel Park, Pennsylvania.   

On Monday, July 8, Crooks conducted an internet search for “AGR International.”  
On July 9, Crooks conducted internet searches for “butler farm show photos” and “agr 
international.”  On Wednesday, July 10, Crooks searched “weather in Butler” and 
purchased a SwissGear backpack at a store in Bethel Park.101  

On July 12, the day before the rally, Crooks visited a local gun range—Clairton 
Sportsman Club in Clairton, Pennsylvania.102  

July 13: Law Enforcement Arrives at the Butler Farm Show 
Grounds 

Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart arrived at the Butler Farm Show grounds around 
8:00 a.m. on July 13.103 Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart observed spectators 
already in line for the rally.104 She drove around the property in a golf cart to assess the 
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site, unlock gates, and wait for Butler Farm Show personnel to unlock the buildings.  
Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart also set up the Security Room.   

At 9:00 or 9:30 a.m., Butler ESU hosted an operational brief for its assets, with assets 
from Beaver ESU and Washington SWAT.  Commander Butler ESU Comm. and Butler 
ESU Butler ESU CAT TL 1led the meeting.  After the brief, “assets were released to 
prepare equipment and stage, with instructions that all assets were to be in position with 
the goal of being operational by 1100hrs.”   

At 10:00 a.m., Special Agents Site Agent and Site Counterpart hosted a manpower 
briefing for Secret Service post standers.110 The meeting was a bit longer than usual to 
provide additional guidance to HSI special agents.111 The post standers assumed their posts 
by 11:00 a.m.112  

Special Agents Site Agent and Site Counterpart split up the post standers to drop them 
off at their assigned locations.113 They later checked in on post standers to confirm their 
understanding of their duties.114 At 10:30 a.m., Butler ESU was operational in the local 

 
105 Id. 
106 Id. 
107 Id. 
108 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Butler ESU Assist Request Timeline - Butler ESU 
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command trailer.115 At 12:30 p.m., the Secret Service opened the venue to event staff and 
vendors.116 At 1:00 p.m., the magnetometer screening commenced for the general public.117 

Secret Service did not arrange or attend any meetings with state and local counterparts 
on the day of the event. 

Snipers Take Positions 
At 12:56 p.m., Technician CS TL received a text from Butler ESU Sniper Team Lead 

Butler ESU Snip. TL advising that they were in position and had three snipers in the AGR 
building.  Butler ESU Butler ESU Sniper, Beaver ESU Beaver ESU Snip. ATL—and, 
for part of the day until the early afternoon, Beaver ESU Sniper Team Lead (TL) Beaver 
ESU Snip. TL—were positioned inside the main AGR building.  

Between 1:00 p.m. and 2:00 p.m., Technician CS TL visited the Security Room and 
met with CSR Special Agent CS Resp..  Technician CS TL and Special Agent CS Resp. 
conducted a radio check and reviewed counter-sniper grids prepared for the event.121  

Shortly after 1:42 p.m., Technician CS TL and Butler ESU Sniper TL Butler ESU Snip. 
TL met, during which Technician CS TL shared a packet of information, and said, “this is 
what we are doing. This is how we’re looking at it. This is what we do to figure out threats. 
And how we announce them to each other.”  Butler ESU TL Butler ESU Snip. TL was 
with other local snipers in the stadium area on the opposite side of the rally stage from the 
AGR complex.  Technician CS TL never met with the local snipers in the AGR 
building.   

115 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, House Committee Overview Presentation, 11 (2024) 
(on file with the Task Force). 
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TL Butler ESU Snip. TL mentioned that a local radio was available for Technician 
CS TL’s use.  Technician CS TL never retrieved the local radio. He testified that after 
the meeting, he became distracted by issues of radio interference and did not pick up the 
local radio as a result.   

Technician CS TL testified that he recalled the counter-sniper team taking position on 
the roof around 5:00 p.m. and that the “aim” is for ____________LES___________________.127  

Separate USSS Security Room and Local Command Post 
Open 

USSS housed its central communications and planned for its central command to be 
inside the rally site Security Room.128 USSS SAIC (Buffalo) Sec. Room Sup. reported to the 
Security Room, where he was joined by Special Agent C-UAS Op., PSP Sgt. PSP Sgt., and 
several Butler Farm Show staff. SAIC Sec. Room Sup. testified that the only agency that he 
“knew specifically that was there on site was the Pennsylvania State Police,” and that he 
was unaware that LLE set up a separate command center until at “some point during the 
day, it became apparent that the State Police representative who was in the command post 
with me was talking on the phone with people somewhere else.”129  

SAIC Sec. Room Sup. had his cell phone, his “handheld radio, and what we call a 
__LES___ or a ___LES_____ radio, which is essentially just a slightly more powerful handheld 
radio.”130 Each radio was set to a different USSS channel.131 The Security Room had tables 
in the middle of the room, with SAIC Sec. Room Sup. in between Special Agent C-UAS 
Op. and Sgt. PSP Sgt..  Butler DES Dir., Director of Butler County DES, was also in 
the Security Room before leaving around 4:30 p.m. and being replaced by a local fire 
chief.  Between six and ten personnel were present in the USSS Security Room at any 

 
125 Technician CS TL, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 

Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 105 (Oct. 22, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
126 Id. at 104-106. 
127 Id. at 111.  
128 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 000220, 

010017 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
129 Special Agent in Charge Sec. Room Sup., Buffalo Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 

Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
52-53 (Oct. 8, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

130 Id. at 23. 
131 Id. at 26. 
132 Id. at 77, 113. 
133 Dir. Butler DES Dir., Butler Co. Emergency Mgmt. Servs. Dep’t, Transcribed Interview 

Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 51-52 (Sept. 5, 2024) (on 
file with the Task Force). 
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given point.  Because the Security Room also had a restroom and refreshments, different 
USSS personnel stopped by throughout the day to take breaks.   

There was a local trailer operating as a second command center.  The following 
leaders from the LLE entities were present in the local trailer: Commander Butler ESU 
Comm., Butler ESU; Deputy Commander Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 1, Butler ESU; Butler 
DES Tech., Butler County DES; Lt. BTPD Lt. 1, BTPD; and Sergeant Sheriff's Sgt., Butler 
County Sheriff’s Office.  Sgt. Sheriff's Sgt. and Lt. BTPD Lt. 1 sat on one side of the 
trailer while Commander Butler ESU Comm., Deputy Commander Butler ESU Dep. 
Comm. 1, and Butler DES Tech. sat on the other side of the trailer.  Each representative 
listened to their radio channel for communications between and among colleagues from 
their respective law enforcement entities.  Additionally, Commander Butler ESU 
Comm. listened to the BTPD channel and had a PSP radio.  Senior Special Agent Site 
Counterpart and PSP Lt. 1 each testified that they were under the impression that the trailer 
would only be used for medical emergencies, and Special Agent Site Agent said she thought 
it was for line of sight mitigation.  

134 Special Agent in Charge Sec. Room Sup., Buffalo Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 26 
(Oct. 8, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

135 Id. at 121. (“The site supervisors was in and out of the security room. Both site agents were 
in and out of the security room. The PI lead advance, once the motorcade was there, and his 
counterpart were in and out of the security room. Multiple post standers in and out on their relief. 
Uniform Division officers in and out on their relief.”). 

136 Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 16 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

137 Sgt. Sheriff's Sgt., Butler Co. Sheriff’s Off., Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 
on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 8 (Sept. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); 
Lt. BTPD Lt. 1 , Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 45 (Sept. 6, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

138 Lt. BTPD Lt. 1 , Butler Twp. Police Dep’t Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on 
the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 40-41 (Sept. 6, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

139 Commander Butler ESU Comm., Butler ESU Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 
on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 141 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force); Lt. BTPD Lt. 1 , Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on 
the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 39 (Sept. 6, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

140 Commander Butler ESU Comm., Butler ESU Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 
on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 133, 141 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

141 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the 
Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 128 (Oct. 17, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force); Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 16 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); 
Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 162 (Oct. 30, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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Before the former President arrived, LLE officers noticed that the PSP radio in the 
local trailer was not functioning and that some officers were having issues with the cellular 
signal.  Commander Butler ESU Comm., who happened to have personal familiarity 
with PSP Sgt. PSP Sgt., successfully relied on his cell phone to pass along information 
from local officers to PSP and USSS.  

USSS Attempts to Bring C-UAS Online 
Special Agent C-UAS Op. testified to the Task Force that a counter-unmanned aerial 

system (C-UAS) detection system was deployed to the rally on July 13, 2024.  The 
C-UAS system was purchased from ___LES_____ and equipped with 
________LES__________ that the system could detect within the temporary flight 
restriction in place for the event.  This ___LES_____ covers a significant portion of the 
consumer drone market, including the brand used by Crooks.  Special Agent C-UAS 
Op. testified that if a drone is detected, the detection system sends a text message alert to 
phone numbers programmed into the system.  Special Agent C-UAS Op. programmed 
several agents’ phone numbers into the system.  Once an agent receives an alert, an 
agent may deploy to pursue the drone pilot for questioning.149 Special Agent C-UAS Op. 
testified that at a previous event, for instance, a detected drone evidenced a recreational 
flight pattern and did not warrant agent deployment.150 

Around 11:30 a.m., Special Agent C-UAS Op. notified Special Agent Site Agent that 
the C-UAS detection system was inoperable.  C-UAS Op. spent most of the morning 
and early afternoon going in and out of the Security Room while troubleshooting with tech 
support via a 1-800 number.  Special Agent C-UAS Op. testified that he did not carry 
spare parts for the detection system and successfully used the system last in 

 
142 Commander Butler ESU Comm., Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 

on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 133-35 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

143 Id. at 47-46, 150-51. 
144 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 

Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 29 
(Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

145 Id. at 39-40, 42, 59, 80. 
146 Id. at 39-40, 80. 
147 Id. at 71. 
148 Id. 
149 Id. at 47-48. 
150 Id. 
151 Id. at 86. 
152 Id. at 76-78. 
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_________LES_____________, but did not at any point test the system after leaving 
______LES________ prior to the Butler event.  

At approximately 3:51 p.m., Crooks flew a drone approximately 200 yards from the 
Butler Farm Show grounds for around 11 minutes.  The drone and controller were later 
found in his car; analysis did not reveal any photos or videos taken by the drone on the day 
of the rally, but the Task Force confirmed that he was live streaming and would have been 
able to view the feed on the controller, and could have viewed the podium and surrounding 
area where the former President was to be speaking later that day.  

The detection system became operable around 4:30 p.m., almost an hour too late to 
detect Crooks’ drone.156 Prior to shots fired, the detection system gave no alerts.157 Special 
Agent C-UAS Op. testified that the Secret Service now requires agents to test C-UAS 
capabilities prior to the post-stander brief.158 

Medical and Technical Issues 
At 1:00 p.m., the magnetometers opened to the public.159 The temperature reached 

about 95 degrees Fahrenheit, and hundreds of attendees experienced heat-related medical 
events.  USSS personnel helped transport attendees in the crowd, including some who 
were waiting outside in line to medical tents.  For those who had not gone through 
magnetometers, USSS personnel scanned them before they were released from the medical 

 
153 Id. at 64. 
154 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI Timeline 

Related to Thomas Crooks: 03 July 2024 – 13 July 2024, 1 (Nov. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

155 Briefing by the Fed. Bureau of Investigation: Briefing Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 118th Cong. (Nov. 18, 2024) (notes on file with Task 
Force Staff). 

156 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 80 
(Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

157 Id. at 86. 
158 Id. at 76. 
159 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001369 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
160 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 181 (Oct. 17, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force); Dir. Butler DES Dir., Butler Co. Emergency Mgmt. Servs. Dep’t, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
52-53 (Sept. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

161 Sr. Special Agent Site PI, Phoenix Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview 
Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 43 (Nov. 5, 2024) (on file 
with the Task Force). 
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tent.  There were multiple texts between USSS personnel about line lengths and medical 
issues.   

Several LLE officers and USSS personnel reported having connection issues with 
their cellular devices.  Furthermore, the USSS and PSP radio systems were 
malfunctioning for some users, including a USSS radio channel picking up 
communications from an event in Pittsburgh, where another USSS protectee—First Lady 
Jill Biden (FLOTUS)—gave remarks.165 After consulting with PIT SAIC SAIC PIT, SAIC 
Sec. Room Sup. decided to change the radio channel used by the post standers.166 Senior 
Special Agent Site PI sent an email to post standers directing them to switch to a different 
channel.167  

Protectee Arrives 
SAIC SAIC PIT and Senior Special Agent Lead Advance traveled with the motorcade 

from the airport to the Butler grounds.168 Former President Trump left the airport at 4:27 
p.m. and arrived at the Butler Farm Show at 5:33 p.m.169  

 
162 Ass’t to the Special Agent in Charge ATSAIC PIT, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret 

Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 55-56 (Oct. 16, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

163 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 009888-
91, 009893, 009897- 009905, 009914-15, 009922, 009936-37, 009941-43 (2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 

164 Lt. BTPD Lt. 1 , Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on 
the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 42 (Sept. 6, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); 
Special Agent USSS Post 1, Phoenix Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before 
the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 46-47 (Oct. 11, 2024) (on file 
with the Task Force); Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 46 
(Oct. 17, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

165 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 131 (Oct. 17, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

166 Special Agent in Charge Sec. Room Sup., Buffalo Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
77, 113 (Oct. 8, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

167 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 0002235 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

168 Special Agent in Charge SAIC PIT, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 89 (Oct. 25, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force); Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. 
Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of 
Donald J. Trump, 16 (Oct. 18, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

169 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 0001370 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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Timeline of Crooks’ Movements on July 13 
Around 9:30 a.m., Crooks purchased a 5’5” ladder from a store in Bethel Park.170 At 

around 11:00 a.m., he drove his vehicle in the vicinity of the Butler Farm Show grounds.171 
He stayed about 70 minutes, and then returned home.172 At approximately 1:30 p.m., 
Crooks’ father gave him the rifle that would later be used in the assassination 
attempt.173 The firearm was legally transferred to Crooks by his father the year prior.174 
Crooks told his father that he was going to the local gun range, as he had done many 
times previously.175 Crooks then bought 50 rounds of ammunition between 1:47 p.m. 
and 1:55 p.m.176 

At 3:48 p.m., Crooks returned to the vicinity of the Butler Farm Show grounds.177 At 
approximately 3:50 p.m., Crooks flew a drone over the site for 11 minutes.178 The drone’s 
flight path would have positioned the drone’s cameras to show Crooks a view of the stage 
and podium approximately 200 yards away.179 Around 4:26 p.m., digital evidence showed 
Crooks near the Butler Farm Show’s airstrip, walking past a row of vendors outside the 
secure perimeter approximately a half mile away from the AGR property.180 

Three LLE officers first noticed Crooks at approximately 5:00 p.m.181 These 
observations were made independently, and based upon each officer’s experience, Crooks’ 
behavior and manner were suspicious. For instance, Butler ESU Op. 2, a member of the Butler 

 
170 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI Timeline 

Related to Thomas Crooks: 03 July 2024 – 13 July 2024, 1 (Nov. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

171 Id. 
172 Briefing from Fed. Bureau of Investigation to Task Force Staff (Aug. 21, 2024) (notes on 

file with Task Force Majority Staff). 
173 Id. 
174 Id. 
175 Id. 
176 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI Timeline 

Related to Thomas Crooks: 03 July 2024 – 13 July 2024, 1 (Nov. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

177 Id. 
178 Id. 
179 Briefing from Fed. Bureau of Investigation to Task Force Staff (Aug. 21, 2024) (notes on 

file with Task Force Majority Staff). 
180 Production to Task Force, Fed Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI Update 

8.28.24, 3-4 (Aug. 28, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
181 Operator Butler ESU Op. 2, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 

Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 85 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Sniper 
Butler ESU Sniper, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 31 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Sniper Ass’t 
Team Lead Beaver ESU Snip. ATL, Beaver ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on 
the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 78 (Sept. 11, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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ESU _LES__, saw Crooks in the 4:30 - 5:00 p.m. timeframe.182 Butler ESU Op. 2 was stationed 
inside the secure perimeter near the barns behind the stage, but he was able to see Crooks 
as Butler ESU Op. 2 looked out toward the AGR property.183 He stated: 

When I first observed him, he was seated on, coincidentally, the concrete 
wall that he was photographed to be sitting on. He came and went from 
that position multiple times. I - lack of a better term is I identified this 
person as not paying attention to the venue, not paying attention to 
anyone around him. He was secluded off to himself where the crowds 
they were - anybody else that was there was either trying to seek shade, 
they had maybe a lawn chair with them, they are dressed in a way that 
would basically signify some form of participation in the rally. A lot of 
them were up against the outer perimeter fence line. And, again, one of 
these isolated individuals was drawn way back to the corner of the AGR 
building, secluded, playing on the phone.184  

 

Butler ESU Op. 2 also observed Crooks looking at the sniper teams that were positioned 
inside the AGR complex. Butler ESU Op. 2 testified: 

I observed that [Crooks] was looking up at my sniper elements, or what 
I believed he believed was our sniper elements, because there was open 
windows -- well, as much as they could open – and then, again, would 
kind of come and go. And it really appeared to me that he had absolutely 
zero interest in anything that was happening inside the fence.185 

 

 
182 Operator Butler ESU Op. 2, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 

Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 85 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
183 Id. at 82-83, 86. 
184 Id. at 86. 
185 Id. at 87. 
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Figure 1: Positions of Crooks and Snipers at 1710 (created by Butler ESU) 

 

 Butler ESU Sniper, a sniper from Butler ESU stationed inside the AGR complex, 
similarly observed Crooks behaving suspiciously slightly prior to 5:00 p.m.186 He testified 
to the Task Force: 

What I observed Crooks doing was - to me he looked, he stood out. He 
was walking around the grassy area between AGR and the secondary 
fence line, kept looking up, looking at the building. One point that is 
what raised my suspicion is he was looking directly at the window I was 
positioned at […] He, like I said, he looked up at the window I was 
positioned at and kept looking at it. He walked directly towards the 
window and underneath of it up against the building to the point where I 
couldn't see him. That made me feel as though he was looking or could -
was potentially looking at the window to see if there was somebody inside 
the building. And when he went up against the building to where I 
couldn't look down on him, I found that to be very suspicious.187  

 Butler ESU Sniper testified that he then lost sight of Crooks, and approached Sniper 
Assistant Team Leader (ATL) Beaver ESU Snip. ATL, a Beaver ESU sniper also in the AGR 

 
186 Sniper Butler ESU Sniper, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 

Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 31 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
187 Id. at 33. 
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complex, to ask if he had seen someone matching that description. Butler ESU Sniper stated: 

So what had happened was I had observed him. When he disappeared 
along the lower edge of the building, I couldn't see where he went any 
further. I walked over and spoke to Beaver ESU Snip. ATL, and I asked him 
if he had seen this individual. And I described him with the long hair, 
gray T shirt, khaki shorts. At that time Beaver ESU Snip. ATL had not 
observed him.188 

Finally, Sniper ATL Beaver ESU Snip. ATL stated that he first saw Crooks slightly after 
5:00 p.m.189 Sniper ATL Beaver ESU Snip. ATL testified: 

So I was kind of moving around the building a little bit on binocular glass 
and doing the observation, and I had moved from the room that I was in 
into the hallway and was standing where TL Beaver ESU Snip. TL was 
positioned prior [to his departure from the site at 1619]. As I was just 
looking out at the crowd, I noticed an individual that was walking pretty 
close to the building, kind of looking up and down the building, and just 
thought it was odd.190  

Sniper ATL Beaver ESU Snip. ATL stated that he then lost sight of Crooks, but that 
Butler ESU Sniper saw him shortly thereafter and alerted Sniper ATL Beaver ESU Snip. 
ATL.191 ATL Beaver ESU Snip. ATL confirmed with Butler ESU Sniper that they had seen the 
same individual by comparing Crooks’ clothing and hair, and they both began to search for 
Crooks.192  

Law Enforcement Photographs Crooks and Sees Rangefinder 
Sniper ATL Beaver ESU Snip. ATL saw Crooks again and took two photographs of him. 

He testified about the sequence of events: 

Beaver ESU Snip. ATL: And as I brought my binoculars 
down, I just happened to look down and 
I was like, ‘There he is.’ He was sitting 
directly below me. 

 
188 Id. at 34. 
189 Sniper Ass’t Team Lead Beaver ESU Snip. ATL, Beaver ESU, Transcribed Interview Before 

the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 78 (Sept. 11, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 

190 Id. 
191 Id. at 78-79. 
192 Id. at 79. 
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TF STAFF: This is from the southwestern corner of 
that second building? 

Beaver ESU Snip. ATL: Yes. And there is, like, a little wall that's 
about two and a half, three feet high, and 
he was just sitting on it. I'm like, ‘Well, 
there he is.’ So I don't know why. Maybe 
the opportunity and because he was so 
close. I'm like, I got my phone. I just 
pulled out the picture. The first one is the 
one of his back. That was the first picture 
that I took. And then the second picture is 
the one -- because I took the first one. I'm 
like, ‘Come on, man. Turn your head. Turn 
your head.’ And then, finally, he turned, 
and then I took that second one, which 
was the side view.193  

Similarly, Butler ESU Sniper testified that Sniper ATL Beaver ESU Snip. ATL showed him 
the photographs of Crooks, and Butler ESU Sniper identified him as the person he had seen 
looking at the AGR building. Butler ESU Sniper stated: 

A short time [after I first saw Crooks] Beaver ESU Snip. ATL tells me that 
he does see the individual I described. So I walk back over to Beaver ESU 
Snip. ATL, and at that point Beaver ESU Snip. ATL had showed me – he 
had taken two photographs of Crooks. I identified him as that was the 
individual I was describing earlier. At that time he was sitting on the 
concrete wall at the southwestern edge of the AGR complex that we were 
in scrolling through his phone.194  

 Butler ESU Sniper returned to his post, and at approximately 5:10 p.m., Sniper ATL 
Beaver ESU Snip. ATL yelled, “Butler ESU Sniper, he's out here again. He has a 
rangefinder.”195 Butler ESU Sniper sent a series of text messages to Operator Butler ESU 

 
193 Id. at 81. 
194 Sniper Butler ESU Sniper, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 

Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 34 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
195 Id. at 36. In his interview with the Task Force, Sniper Ass’t Team Lead Beaver ESU Snip. 

ATL seemed to recall first seeing the rangefinder several minutes later, perhaps after 5:30, but 
contemporaneous messages in possession of the Task Force that are described in this report indicate 
that the rangefinder was known to Butler ESU Sniper no later than 5:15 PM, suggesting that Sniper 
Ass’t Team Lead Beaver ESU Snip. ATL had likely informed Butler ESU Sniper of the rangefinder 
by that time. 
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Op. 2 at 5:15 p.m. that included a description of Crooks.196 The final message stated:
“He has a range finder.”197 Operator Butler ESU Op. 2 stated that he did not see those 
text messages until approximately 5:40 p.m.198

Figure 2: Text Messages from Butler ESU (5:15 p.m.)

ATL Beaver ESU Snip. ATL testified that he used his binoculars to observe Crooks and 
saw him use a rangefinder. He stated:

I noticed he was on a cellphone, and I was sitting there with binoculars. 
So I zoom in on his cellphone, and I could tell that he's looking at news 
feeds. Which particular ones, I don't know, but he he's scrolling through
news feeds on his phone. So then he takes his phone and he puts it in his 
pocket, and he pulls out -- it's a rangefinder, but he pulls out a rangefinder
and he starts looking. At first, I'm like -- I'm looking -- I'm like, is this a 
rangefinder, or is that binoculars? So I grabbed my binoculars and I 
zoomed in again, and I noticed -- I'm like that's a rangefinder. So, you 
know, when I noticed him looking through this rangefinder he was 
looking towards the stage and kind of just in different areas, general 

196 Sniper Butler ESU Sniper, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 36 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force).

197 Id. at 61; Production to the Task Force, Butler ESU, Text messages from Butler ESU Sniper 
Butler ESU Sniper to Butler ESU Operator Butler ESU Op. 2, (July 13, 2024, 5:15 p.m.) (on file with 
the Task Force).

198 Operator Butler ESU Op. 2, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 84-85 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task Force).
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areas, looking out but in the direction of the stage. I was like, yeah, this 
is not right.199 

 

ATL Beaver ESU Snip. ATL then went to look for Crooks, moving around the AGR 
second floor.200 ATL Beaver ESU Snip. ATL observed a bicycle and a backpack that seemed 
suspicious, although the FBI subsequently confirmed those items did not belong to 
Crooks.201 Sniper ATL Beaver ESU Snip. ATL stated that he photographed the bicycle and 
backpack at approximately 5:25 p.m.202 He testified: 

So I went over there and was still looking around for this individual, and I 
had noticed over across the property there was a bike sitting there with a 
backpack and it was underneath the tree. And just from moving around 
earlier in the day, I didn't remember seeing that. So after seeing him and 
then after seeing that, it was like, eh. I thought it was kind of strange, so 
I took a picture of.203 

  

 
199 Sniper Ass’t Team Lead Beaver ESU Snip. ATL, Beaver ESU, Transcribed Interview Before 

the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 108 (Sept. 11, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 

200 Id. at 101. 
201 Press Release, Investigative Updates on the Butler, Pennsylvania, Assassination Attempt, 

Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice (Jul. 19, 2024). 
202 Sniper Ass’t Team Lead Beaver ESU Snip. ATL, Beaver ESU, Transcribed Interview Before 

the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 97 (Sept. 11, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 

203 Id. at 101. 
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Figure 3: Photograph by Beaver ESU

During this period, Operator Butler ESU Op. 2 had been conducting surveillance outside 
the AGR complex with binoculars.204 Butler ESU Op. 2 observed Crooks moving in and out
of sight near the edges of the AGR complex. Operator Butler ESU Op. 2 testified to the Task 
Force:

TF STAFF: Now, you said you occasionally lose sight
of him, he looked like he was going
around the building and then he would 
come back. At some point you -- you did 
see the text messages with the photos that 
were sent by Butler ESU Sniper; right?

Butler ESU Op. 2: Yeah. Prior to that, I received three text
messages from Sniper Butler ESU Sniper
inside the building, and because he's -- we 
had a kind of a text back and forth where 
he was kind of observing that I was 
watching that area— 

204 Operator Butler ESU Op. 2, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 74-75 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task Force).
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TF STAFF: Right. 

Butler ESU Op. 2: -- with a set of binoculars – 

TF STAFF: Right. 

Butler ESU Op. 2: -- so these text messages returned and 
pretty much were saying, ‘Are you 
watching this guy up against our 
building? Long hair, gray T-shirt, white 
shorts. He has a rangefinder.’ 

TF STAFF: Right. 

Butler ESU Op. 2: So, obviously, as soon as I seen that 
series of messages, I presume or know 
exactly who he is referring to.205  

 

 Butler ESU Sniper testified that he continued to search for Crooks from 5:15 p.m. to 
approximately 5:40 p.m.206 At approximately 5:39 p.m., Butler ESU Sniper received a call 
from a Butler ESU Operator in response to the text messages from the Butler ESU 
Sniper.207 Following this call, Butler ESU Sniper and ATL Beaver ESU Snip. ATL reported 
their observations of Crooks to law enforcement leadership.208  

 

Secret Service, State, and Local Law Enforcement are 
Alerted 

At 5:38 p.m., Sniper ATL Beaver ESU Snip. ATL sent a text message along with the 
photographs of Crooks to a group of local snipers.209 The message stated: “Kid learning 
[sic] around building we are in. AGR I believe it is. I did see him with a rangefinder looking 
towards stage. FYI. If you wanna notify SS snipers to look out. I lost sight of him. Also a 

 
205 Id. at 93. 
206 Sniper Butler ESU Sniper, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 

Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 36-39 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
207 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Screenshot of call logs from Butler ESU Operator 

Butler ESU Op. 2 to Butler ESU Sniper Butler ESU Sniper (Jul. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
208 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Presidential Rally Radio Timeline 7-13-2024, Sheet 

2, Rows 220, 241 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
209 Production to Task Force, Beaver ESU, Congressional Briefing, Slide 47 (2024) (on file 

with the Task Force). 
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bike with a backpack sitting next to it in rear of building that was not seen earlier.”210 ATL
Beaver ESU Snip. ATL testified that he meant to type “lurking” instead of “learning.”211  

Figure 4: Text Messages from Beaver ESU (5:38 p.m.)212  

210 Id. at Slide 48.
211 Sniper Ass’t Team Lead Beaver ESU Snip. ATL, Beaver ESU, Transcribed Interview Before 

the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 110 (Sept. 11, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force).

212 Production to Task Force, Beaver ESU, Congressional Briefing, Slides 47-48 (2024) (on 
file with the Task Force). 
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Over the course of approximately 13 minutes, from 5:38 to 5:51 p.m., a series of calls 
and messages about Crooks’ description and movements reached the Secret Service. 

At 5:38 p.m., BTPD Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1 received the text message from ATL 
Beaver ESU Snip. ATL with the photos of Crooks.213 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1 subsequently 
shared information about the suspicious individual with the Secret Service Special Agent 
stationed at his post (the Brady Paul Lane entrance for arrival and departure of the former 
President’s motorcade).214 That agent testified to the Task Force that after receiving the 
information from Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1, he heard a transmission over his partner’s local 
radio seeming to confirm that the Secret Service was aware of Crooks and was searching 
for him and “one of the teams respond[ing], saying something along the lines of, ‘copy 
that.’”215 The agent further testified that he did not reach out to the Security Room because 
Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1 said “that the Secret Service was aware of it, and that we were 
looking for him as well.”216 To date, this is the only USSS agent who testified to hearing 
radio transmissions of any kind related to Crooks prior to the point immediately before shots 
were fired. 

At 5:42 p.m., the Butler ESU Sniper Team Leader phoned a description of Crooks to 
Butler ESU Commander Butler ESU Comm. in the local command post.217 The Sniper Team 
Leader gave Crooks’ description, described his use of a rangefinder, and advised that he 
was located near AGR at that time.218 At 5:44 p.m., Commander Butler ESU Comm. called 
PSP Sgt. PSP Sgt., who was in the USSS Security Room, to relay this information.219 Sgt. 
PSP Sgt. stated that he verbally communicated this information to USSS personnel in the 
Security Room while still on the phone with Butler ESU Comm..220 Commander Butler ESU 

 
213 Production to Task Force, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Incident #24-03435, Incident Report, 

13 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
214 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview before the Task 

Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 17 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

215 Special Agent USSS Post 1, Phoenix Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview 
Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 53 (Oct. 11, 2024) (on 
file with the Task Force). 

216 Id. at 52; Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1 was interviewed prior to the Task Force's interview with 
the Special Agent, and Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1 did not recount this or similar comments during his 
interview with the Task Force. 

217 Team Lead Butler ESU Snip. TL, Bulter ESU, Transcribed Interview before the Task Force 
on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 76-77 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

218 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, H. Comm. Overview Presentation, 12 (2024) (on file 
with the Task Force). 

219 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, Recorded Administrative Interview Before 
Penn. State Police, 00:10:52 (Jul. 20, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Production to the Task 
Force, Butler ESU, H. Comm. Overview Presentation, 13 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

220 Id. 

57-705_text.pdf   41 12/20/24   8:00�AM



Background 

36 

Comm. also stated that he heard Sgt. PSP Sgt. immediately relay this information to others in 
the Security Room during their phone call.221  

LLE also forwarded the message and photos of Crooks to USSS Counter-sniper Team 
Leader CS TL.222 CS TL responded “Roger. I’ll notify teams on AGR side[.]”223 At 5:52 
p.m., CS TL sent an email to the rest of the USSS Counter-sniper Team with the subject 
“Local CS BOLO,” containing two photos of Crooks and the description provided by the 
local sniper in his text.224 “BOLO” stood for “be on the lookout.”225 The email instructed 
the USSS Counter- sniper Team that if the individual was spotted, to contact USSS PI or 
to “go direct with security room.”226  

At 5:45 p.m., Commander Butler ESU Comm. stated on the OPS-4 radio channel—
used by the ESU sniper teams—that “PSP and Sheriffs should be en route,” although the 
extent to which officers from those entities deployed at that time is unclear. At 5:47 p.m., 
he received the photographs of Crooks and forwarded them to Sgt. PSP Sgt.; due to issues 
with cell service, they did not immediately go through.227 Sgt. PSP Sgt. eventually received 
the photographs of Crooks, and forwarded them at 5:51 p.m. to Special Agent C-UAS Op. 
in the Security Room.228 

BTPD personnel may not have been present in the local command post at that time, 
which may have impacted their awareness of this information.229 There is also currently no 
evidence to suggest this information was relayed to the USSS DTD agents near the stage, or 

 
221 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, House Committee Overview Presentation, 13 (2024) 

(on file with the Task Force). 
222 Sniper Ass’t Team Lead Beaver ESU Snip. ATL, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before 

the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 79 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force); Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 
001370 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

223 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001416 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

224 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001417-
19 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

225 E.g., U.S. Secret Service Media Relations, Secret Service Arrests Michael Arega at White 
House for Making Felony Threats, U.S. SECRET SERV. (Nov. 6, 2017) (“the Secret Service Protective 
Intelligence Division was notified to be on the lookout (BOLO)”). 

226 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001417 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

227 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Presidential Rally Radio Timeline 7-13-2024, Sheet 
2, Row 227 (2024) (on file with the Task Force); Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, H. Comm. 
Overview Presentation, 13 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

228 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001920-
001921(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

229 Production to Task Force, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Incident #24-03435, Incident Report 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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to the USSS agents in charge of rally security. At a Task Force hearing on September 26, 
2024, former USSS Special Agent Patrick Sullivan testified that: 

What should have happened, in my opinion, is when the suspicious 
person was identified, the detail leader and the shift agent should have 
been told there's an issue we're working, a suspicious person. And then 
at that point, it was probably -- probably would be inappropriate to 
remove the President from the stage. But the detail leader should know 
there's an issue. I may have to react quicker. So, at a minimum, when 
there's a suspicious person, the detail leader and the shift agent should 
be told there's an issue.230  

Shortly after the photos of Crooks circulated on the text message chain, Sniper ATL 
Beaver ESU Snip. ATL observed Crooks again, but there did not appear to be any law 
enforcement personnel searching for Crooks in or around the AGR complex.231 ATL Beaver 
ESU Snip. ATL saw Crooks had returned to the picnic table with a backpack near him on the 
ground. Crooks soon “took off running.”232 ATL Beaver ESU Snip. ATL “yell[ed] across the 
second floor to Butler ESU Sniper that now Crooks is at a picnic table with a backpack.”233 
ATL Beaver ESU Snip. ATL testified to the Task Force: 

 

TF STAFF: So now we're at 6:00. You reported this 
in. At this point have you seen any kind of 
law enforcement on foot outside the 
building looking for this guy? 

Beaver ESU Snip. ATL: No. 

TF STAFF: When do you first see people start 
looking for this guy? 

 
230 The Ongoing Investigation of the Butler, Pennsylvania Security Failure: The Secret Service’s 

Reliance on State and Local Law Enforcement: Hearing Before the H. Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 118th Cong. (Sept. 26, 2024). 

231 Sniper Ass’t Team Lead Beaver ESU Snip. ATL, Beaver ESU, Transcribed Interview Before 
the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 130 (Sept. 11, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 

232 Id. at 125. 
233 Sniper Butler ESU Sniper, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 

Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 40 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

57-705_text.pdf   43 12/20/24   8:00�AM



Background 

38 

Beaver ESU Snip. ATL: So at about 6:06, 6:07-ish, as I was 
moving around the building that I was in, 
I seen Crooks […] 

* * * 

Beaver ESU Snip. ATL: And when I looked out, I noticed that 
Crooks was standing out beside that 
picnic table and there was a backpack 
sitting on the ground. 

TF STAFF: Okay? 

Beaver ESU Snip. ATL: When I looked, I seen him. He 
grabbed that backpack, and then he took 
off running.234  

* * * 

TF STAFF: So you saw him at the picnic table, and 
you saw him run with the backpack? 

Beaver ESU Snip. ATL: Yes. 

TF STAFF: But then when he turned the corner, you 
couldn’t see him any longer? 

Beaver ESU Snip. ATL: Yeah. Once he went in between the 
buildings, I could not see him anymore. 
And at that point I had then radioed to 
communication command. I said, Hey, 
suspect spotted rear of building. Grabbed 
the backpack and ran in between the 
buildings.235  

 
234 Sniper Ass’t Team Lead Beaver ESU Snip. ATL, Beaver ESU, Transcribed Interview Before 

the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 124 (Sept.11, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 

235 Id. 
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Officers Respond to Search for Crooks 
BTPD personnel in the vicinity of the AGR complex responded to calls over the radio 

that described the escalating situation related to Crooks’ behavior and movements. 
Patrolman BTPD Patrol 2 testified to the Task Force that several officers in the area left their 
posts to look for Crooks. He stated: 

At that point there was another radio transmission. They were looking 
for him at the AGR building. [A Butler Township PD officer] departed. 
He was in a patrol unit, in a patrol vehicle. He left and drove towards the 
AGR building, which would have been northwest of my location, and I 
started walking in the area where I was posted. Then another radio 
transmission came that they last seen him walking towards Sheetz by the 
AGR building, which would have been towards where my location was. 
So at that point I started -- between my intersection to southwest, say, 
there's a tree line. So I started searching that area.236  

Other LLE personnel in the vicinity of the AGR complex responded to the calls over 
the radio related to Crooks. Butler County Sheriff’s Deputy Sheriff's Deputy attempted to 
locate Crooks beginning around 5:46 p.m. There were also two undercover PSP troopers 
walking around the AGR complex and property looking for Crooks.237 They had been 
dispatched by another PSP trooper, but they were only given a brief description of Crooks, 
and did not receive a photograph of him in time to assist in their search.238  

Between 6:00 and 6:09 p.m.—minutes before the former President took the stage—
several additional USSS personnel entered the Security Room, including Senior Special 
Agent Site Counterpart, PIT SAIC SAIC PIT, and others.239 These personnel were not made 
aware of the ongoing search for Crooks.240  

 
236 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 2, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 

Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 33 (Sept. 6, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

237 Trooper PSP Trp. 4, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Penn. State Police 
and the FBI, 6 (July 23, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Trooper PSP Trp. 5, Penn. State Police, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Penn. State Police, 3 (Aug. 9, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

238 Trooper PSP Trp. 3, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Penn. State Police 
and the FBI, 5-6 (July 23, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

239 Special Agent in Charge Sec. Room Sup., Buffalo Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
121 (Oct. 8, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

240 Id. at 121-22. 
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Crooks Moves to AGR Roof
According to the FBI, Crooks parked his vehicle on Whitestown Road in the vicinity 

of AGR and returned to his vehicle several times between 4:44 p.m. and 5:47 p.m.241 Crooks
used his vehicle to store improvised explosive devices and the drone that he flew earlier.242

Footage obtained from a local business also shows Crooks climbed to the roof via A/C 
units in an alcove of the building in the AGR complex at approximately 6:05 p.m.243 Video 
from a local business, PSP dash camera footage, and police body camera footage show 
Crooks’ movement across multiple AGR complex roofs between 6:05 and 6:08 p.m.244

Bystanders also saw Crooks pulling himself up to the roof and taking position.245 Several 
called the police, while others attempted to get the attention of police on the ground.

Figure 5: Photo of the alcove and A/C unit by which Crooks gained
access to the AGR roof246

241 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI Timeline 
Related to Thomas Crooks: 03 July 2024 – 13 July 2024, 1 (Nov. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force); Briefing from Fed. Bureau of Investigation to Task Force Staff (Aug. 21, 2024) (notes on file 
with Task Force Majority Staff).

242 Id. 
243 Remarks as prepared for delivery, FBI Pittsburgh Special Agent in Charge’s Remarks to 

Media on Updates to the Butler, Pennsylvania, Assassination Attempt Investigation, Fed. Bureau of 
Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice (Aug. 28, 2024).

244 Id. 
245 See, e.g., Video: Shooter seen by some attendees at least one minute before Trump was shot, 

CNN, https://edition.cnn.com/2024/07/15/us/video/shooter-seen-by-attendees-one-minute-before-
trump-shot-digvid (last visited Oct. 17, 2024).

246 Photo taken by Task Force Staff during visit to the site.
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In response to reports over the radio of a suspicious person, Patrolman BTPD Patrol 2 
left his post and approached the AGR complex.247 As he neared it, Patrolman BTPD Patrol 2 
observed Crooks on the roof of the AGR complex from Patrolman BTPD Patrol 2’s position 
near the tree line, which was at least 100 yards from the buildings.248 Upon seeing Crooks, 
Patrolman BTPD Patrol 2 continued to move towards the AGR complex, but he lost sight of 
Crooks.249 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 2 testified to the Task Force that he did not see any USSS 
personnel near the AGR complex at this point.250 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 2 radioed the 
information—that “someone’s on the roof”—to all officers in the area.251 Patrolman BTPD 
Patrol 2 testified to the Task Force: 

TF STAFF: Okay, sir. When you approached the AGR 
building, did you see anyone on the roof? 

BTPD Patrol 2: I did. 

TF STAFF: [I]t is our understanding, [Butler 
Township PD Witness 2], that at 6:08 
p.m., you [. . .] radioed that somebody 
was on the roof and that there was 
someone on the roof with white shorts. Do 
you recall making this transmission? 

BTPD Patrol 2: I do, yes. 

TF STAFF: And where were you when you made 
this transmission? 

BTPD Patrol 2: I would have been in the power line, 
walking up the tree line. A good hundred 
plus yards away from the building. 

TF STAFF: And did the person that you saw on the 
roof match the description of the 

 
247 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 2, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview before the Task 

Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 32 (Sept. 6, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

248 Id. at 34. 
249 Id. at 70. 
250 Id. at 32. 
251 Id. at 33. 
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suspicious individual that had been ID'd 
over the radio moments prior? 

BTPD Patrol 2: Yes. 

TF STAFF: When you saw someone on the roof, sir, 
what did you then do? 

BTPD Patrol 2: I made a radio transmission that the male 
was on the roof. Someone's on the roof.252  

From his location in a patrol car in the AGR complex parking lot, BTPD Det. BTPD 
Detective heard the call from Patrolman BTPD Patrol 2 over the radio.253 Det. BTPD Detective 
told the Task Force that he was posted on the road near the AGR complex for traffic 
control.254 There was no traffic at his post, so Det. BTPD Detective departed the post to assist 
with locating the suspicious individual when he heard about it over the radio.255 Det. BTPD 
Detective arrived in his patrol car and parked at the water tower near the AGR complex, 
next to a PSP trooper.256 

Concurrently, at 6:09 p.m., Commander Butler ESU Comm. called Sgt. PSP Sgt. in the 
USSS Security Room to update him that a suspicious person was now on the roof of the 
AGR complex.257  

Det. BTPD Detective was discussing the report of a suspicious male with the PSP 
trooper parked next to him when he spotted Crooks moving across the AGR roofs.258 He 
testified to the Task Force that he saw a “male [who] appeared to have a gray shirt or a light 
shirt on running from the north end of the building to the south end of the building towards 

 
252 Id.  
253 Det. BTPD Detective, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview before the Task 

Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 23 (Sept. 6, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

254 Id. at 58-59. 
255 Id. 
256 Id. at 16. 
257 Sgt. PSP Sgt., Penn. State Police, Recorded Administrative Interview Before Penn. State 

Police, 00:26:40 (Jul. 20, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, 
H. Comm. Overview Presentation, 16 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). It does not appear that 
any related communications were transmitted over the ESU radio channel, which would have reached 
ESU personnel located inside the AGR complex. 

258 Det. BTPD Detective, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview before the Task 
Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 16 (Sept. 6, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 
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the fence of the outer perimeter of the rally.”259 Det. BTPD Detective did not see a weapon. 
He testified to the Task Force: 

I’m watching this male go across the roof. At no point did I see a firearm 
or see him armed, to be honest. I just thought getting up there, I was 
going to run into a civilian that was trying to get away. And at no point 
did anybody else there yell out firearm or make it clear to me that, you 
know, he was armed before getting up there.260  

Det. BTPD Detective lost sight of Crooks when a tree blocked his line of sight to the 
roof. He testified to the Task Force: 

So the trooper and I arrive at the southeast corner of the AGR building. 
And as I was coming as I was approaching the AGR building, I could 
still see the male running and there was, I want to say, a tree or a bush, 
but it's a pretty large tree that covers above the roof, and that's where I 
lost sight of him.261  

Prior to Patrolman BTPD Patrol 2’s transmission that Crooks was on the AGR roof, 
Patrolman BTPD Patrol 3 checked with Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1 in-person and learned about 
the suspicious person.262 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 3 then searched the water tower area and 
returned to Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1.263 At the time, Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1 was standing 
next to a USSS special agent.264 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 3 told the Task Force that the USSS 
special agent said, “if you find him, we’ll talk to him.”265 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 3 
proceeded to search around the AGR property, when he heard Patrolman BTPD Patrol 2’s 
transmission.266  

Meanwhile, Det. BTPD Detective had decided to pursue Crooks on the AGR roof and 
exited his patrol car.267 As he moved towards the AGR complex, he encountered Patrolman 
BTPD Patrol 3, who helped raise Det. BTPD Detective onto the roof.268 Det. BTPD Detective 
testified to the Task Force: 

 
259 Id. 
260 Id. at 23. 
261 Id. at 17. 
262 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 3, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview before the Task 

Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 17 (Sept. 6, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

263 Id. at 18-19. 
264 Id. at 20. 
265 Id. 
266 Id. at 20-22. 
267 Det. BTPD Detective, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview before the Task 

Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 16-17 (Sept. 6, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 

268 Id. at 17. 
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From there, I was able to pull my hands to my chest. And as I began to 
try to, how I describe it is, like, getting out of a pool with your hands, 
like pushing up, my head is coming up, and luckily for me, I'm looking 
left as that happens. And that is when I first view Crooks on the rooftop. 

I see Crooks facing downrange towards the stage, but his eyes are back 
at me as I'm coming up. And I would say, like, his facial expressions was 
surprised. His eyes were very big, like, what are you doing up here?269  

Law Enforcement Sees Crooks is Armed 
Det. BTPD Detective saw Crooks’ weapon for the first time when Crooks turned and 

pointed the rifle at him. Det. BTPD Detective testified to the Task Force that he also saw that 
Crooks had a backpack and extra magazines of ammunition for a long gun. When Crooks 
turned to aim his rifle at Det. BTPD Detective, he fell to the ground and immediately radioed 
that the suspicious person on the roof was armed. Det. BTPD Detective stated: 

And from there, he just slowly turned on his waist, like-- he was proned 
out like this, and he kind of slowly turned around. And as I came up, 
that's when he pointed his firearm in my face. And at that time, I could 
see, you know, he had a bookbag with him, I could see mags. I knew he 
had a long gun, like an AR platform. And as I'm coming up and he's got 
the gun pointed at me, I don't know if I reach for my gun, if I slip, but all 
I know from that point is I'm looking at him, and all my weight is on my, 
like, arms, my hands, and I don't have a grip. As you can tell by the video, 
it's just my fingertips. And I have no support from the bottom from 
[Butler Township PD Witness 5] anymore. The next thing I know is, I'm 
smack against the ground and fall. Yeah. And from there, I just start 
yelling out to the guys that are there, I yell on the radio right away. I start 
saying, you know, South end, He's got a long gun, Male on the roof. I 
just kept repeating, He's got a gun, He's got a long gun. I'm telling the 
guys that are around, like, He's right up there, guns up, eyes up, still 
screaming on the radio.270  

Patrolman BTPD Patrol 3 similarly testified to the Task Force that Det. BTPD Detective 
immediately began alerting that the person on the roof of the AGR complex was armed 
with an assault rifle. Patrolman BTPD Patrol 3 stated: “I try to get him up to the roof. He's 

 
269 Id. at 18. 
270 Id. 
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kind of on the side, however he is up there. He comes back down screaming, “THERE'S 
AN AR! AN AR! A GUY WITH AN AR!’”271  

To date, the Task Force has not received any evidence to suggest that message reached 
the former President’s USSS detail prior to shots fired. 

Some Secret Service personnel, however, were increasingly aware that a situation was 
unfolding on the AGR property. At 6:11 p.m., Special Agent Site Agent called Senior 
Special Agent Site Counterpart for more information after Special Agent Site Agent and 
ASAIC ASAIC DTD heard a radio communication about local officers working something in 
the “3 o’clock” direction.272 Technician CS TL observed police officers moving urgently 
toward the 3 o’clock, including at least one officer with his weapon drawn.273 He did not 
communicate this observation over the radio.274  

In response to a question during a transcribed interview as to how he would have 
reacted to this information, Special Agent ASAIC DTD, the Second Supervisor and detail 
agent for the former President’s detail, stated that he would have rushed the stage before 
Crooks took a shot.275  

Civilians on the AGR property were also becoming increasingly aware of Crooks at 
this point. Sniper ATL Beaver ESU Snip. ATL testified to the Task Force that he saw the 
crowd—which had gathered to watch the rally—turn away from the stage and face the 
AGR complex after the former President had started his speech.276 ATL Beaver ESU Snip. 
ATL assumed the crowd had turned to watch law enforcement engage Crooks on the 
roof.277 

 
271 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 3, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 

Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 26 (Sept. 6, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

272 Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
210 (Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Ass’t Special Agent in Charge ASAIC DTD, Donald 
Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 97 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

273 Technician CS TL, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 134 (Oct. 22, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

274 Id. at 135. 
275 Ass’t Special Agent in Charge ASAIC DTD, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret 

Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 130 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

276 Sniper Ass’t Team Lead Beaver ESU Snip. ATL, Beaver ESU, Transcribed Interview Before 
the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 139-40 (Sept.11, 2024) (on file 
with the Task Force). 

277 Id. at 139. 
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Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart was in the Security Room and turned to SAIC Sec. 
Room Sup.to inquire about what SAIC Sec. Room Sup. knew.278 Before Senior Special Agent 
Site Counterpart could pass along any information, she heard gunshots.279  

Shots Fired 
At 6:11 p.m., Crooks fired eight rounds before being fatally shot.280 Several USSS 

Special Agents immediately rushed the stage to cover the former President.281 The evidence 
shows Crooks was on the roof for approximately six minutes prior to the shooting, between 
6:05 and 6:11 p.m.282  

 

 
278 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 139 (Oct. 17, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

279 Id. 
280 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI Timeline 

Related to Thomas Crooks: 03 July 2024 – 13 July 2024, 1 (Nov. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force); Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., HTF 000003 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

281 Ass’t Special Agent in Charge ASAIC DTD, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret 
Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 98 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

282 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI Timeline 
Related to Thomas Crooks: 03 July 2024 – 13 July 2024, 1 (Nov. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 
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Figure 6: Overall Positioning, created by Beaver ESU 

 

Local Officer Returns Fire and USSS Counter-Sniper 
Neutralizes Crooks 

Butler ESU CAT Team Lead (CAT TL) Butler ESU CAT TL 2 testified to the Task Force 
that he was the first law enforcement officer to return fire at Crooks.283 That shot may have 
caused Crooks to stop firing. CAT TL Butler ESU CAT TL 2 was posted on the Butler Farm 
Show property near the stage.284 When he heard Crooks fire an initial volley of three shots, 
CAT TL Butler ESU CAT TL 2 located Crooks on the roof of the AGR complex.285 He fired 
a single shot from a standing position at Crooks, who was in a prone position on the roof.286 
CAT TL Butler ESU CAT TL 2 told the Task Force that he believes his shot hit Crooks.287 To 
date, the bullet fired by CAT TL Butler ESU CAT TL 2 at Crooks has not been recovered, and 
no recovered bullet fragments have been confirmed as attributable to his shot. The USSS 
Counter- sniper, CS Sgt. Tech., who fired the shot that killed Crooks, testified that he only 
became aware that a LLE officer fired a shot toward Crooks through media reports after 

 
283 CAT Team Lead Butler ESU CAT TL 2, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the 

Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 31-33 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 

284 Id. at 13. 
285 Id. at 31. 
286 Id. at 33. 
287 Id. at 32. 
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the fact.288 USSS CS CS Sgt. Tech. described the moments immediately preceding his own 
shot as follows: 

TF STAFF: And as you are seeing Mr. Crooks 
through your rifle scope, did you see him 
fire any shots, or did you only see him 
after he was done firing shots? 

CS Sgt. Tech.: I didn't yeah. It must have been after. 

TF STAFF: Okay. And then as you are, again, looking 
at him through your rifle scope before you 
fire your weapon, did it appear that Mr. 
Crooks was in any sort of distress, 
injured, anything of that nature? 

 

CS Sgt. Tech.: It didn't appear so. 

TF STAFF:  What was he doing? 

CS Sgt. Tech.: It still looked like he was aiming out in 
his rifle. And from what I could tell, it was 
on his right shoulder facing out, and he 
was down like he was aiming through it. 
So it looked like he was attempting to fire 
again. 

TF STAFF: Okay. And did it look like he was having 
any issues or malfunctions with his 
weapon--or it looked like he was in a 
position to shoot? 

CS Sgt. Tech.: He was in a position to shoot.289 

 
288 Sergeant Technician CS Sgt. Tech., U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the 

Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 40 (Nov. 20, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 

289 Id. at 101. 
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Shortly before Crooks fired, USSS counter-snipers CS TL and CS Sgt. Tech. had their 
rifles up on the tripod facing the direction of the AGR complex because they saw police 
running.290 After hearing shots fired, CS TL immediately got down on his rifle and looked 
through the rifle’s optic to determine where the shots were coming from.291 CS Sgt. Tech. 
said, “I got him.”292 When asked what he observed, CS Sgt. Tech. stated: 

So basically, what I observed, after the shot was fired I got into my rifle, 
looked through the scope. And I noticed that he was he wasn't a high – 
he wasn't--it wasn't like a high silhouette off the peak. He was just it was 
a low profile on the peak where I could basically just make out, like I said, 
the tops of his shoulders and his head. And I could see his weapon. 

When I fired my shot, he disappeared from my from my sight. After 
taking my shot, I immediately went ahead and put another live round into 
the weapon if I had to take a follow up shot. And he didn't come back.293  

 

CS Sgt. Tech.’s shot killed Crooks.294 After determining that the shooter was down and 
that tactical units were on the roof, CS Sgt. Tech. and CS TL stayed in their positions because 
they “didn’t know if that was a diversion, if there was another shooter.”295 CS Sgt. Tech. and 
CS TL stayed on site while the other USSS counter-sniper team went to the hospital before 
eventually departing to the airport.296  

Det. BTPD Detective —after falling from the roof—ran to retrieve his rifle from his 
patrol car.297 Det. BTPD Detective returned to the AGR complex moments after Crooks was 
neutralized and made his way onto the roof.298 Footage from Det. BTPD Detective’ bodycam 

 
290 Technician CS TL, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 

Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 136-37 (Oct. 22, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
291 Id. at 137. 
292 Id.  
293 Sergeant Technician CS Sgt. Tech., U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the 

Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 37 (Nov. 20, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 

294 Production to task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI Update 
8.28.24, 2 (Aug. 28, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. 
Office of the Medical Examiner, Autopsy Report, 2 (Aug. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); 
Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical Examiner, Crooks Investigator 
Narrative, 2 (Jul. 16, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

295 Technician CS TL, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 137-38 (Oct. 22, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

296 Id. at 138. 
297 Det. BTPD Detective, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview before the Task 

Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 19 (Sept. 6, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

298 Id. at 20. 
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shows he and a USSS special agent interacted briefly on the roof, where the USSS special 
agent remarked that Secret Service counter-snipers fired the shot that killed Crooks.299  

Immediate Aftermath 
Crooks’ bullets, which were intended for the former President, struck attendees Corey 

Comperatore, David Dutch, and James Copenhaver. Mr. Comperatore tragically succumbed 
to the wounds he sustained. 

Former President Trump, upon feeling a bullet graze his right ear, dropped to the stage 
and took cover. Secret Service agents immediately rushed the stage to form a 
‘____LES______’ over him.300 DTD ASAIC ASAIC DTD recalls seeing “a dark liquid pooling 
in front of [the former President].”301 Upon hearing “[s]hooter down, shooter down,” the 
agents began to move the former President off the stage to evacuate him from the Butler 
Farm Show.302 Secret Service protocol, as DTD ASAIC ASAIC DTD put it, is to “get [the 
protectee] out of there and not let some guy like Crooks decide the future for everybody that 
wants to vote for him.”303 Agents are trained to cover the protectee and maintain the body 
bunker to shield from any subsequent attacks.304 Despite protocol—and despite not 
knowing if additional threats remained—the former President instructed the agents to 
“wait,” stood, raised his fist, and addressed the crowd, yelling “Fight! Fight! Fight!”305  

  

 
299 Butler Eagle, Trump Rally Body Cam Footage - Video 3, YOUTUBE, 25:23-25:32 (last 

visited Nov. 27, 2024) https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=LAEdTCEY8B0&t=1s. 
300 Ass’t Special Agent in Charge ASAIC DTD, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret 

Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 120 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

301 Id. 
302 Id. 
303 Id. at 122. 
304 Id. at 121. 
305 Id. at 120. 
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Figure 7: Former President Trump moments after a would-be assassin's bullet struck his
ear.306

DTD ASAIC ASAIC DTD, recalling those moments, testified that he had never trained 
for a scenario where a protectee tries to stay in the face of a potentially imminent threat.307

DTD ASAIC ASAIC DTD continued that “[u]sually, after they experience something like this,
they want to leave.”308  

Personnel from the FBI and ATF were dispatched to the Butler Farm Show grounds
shortly thereafter to begin an investigation into the shooting and surrounding events.
Additionally, PSP dispatched investigative personnel to conduct a parallel investigation 
related to the events of July 13.

306 Photo by Evan Vucci, ASSOC.PRESS (Jul. 13, 2024).
307 Ass’t Special Agent in Charge ASAIC DTD, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret 

Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 121 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); USSS may wish to examine the extent to 
which its body bunker training covers all possible scenarios. 

308 Ass’t Special Agent in Charge ASAIC DTD, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret 
Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 121 (Nov. 12, 2024)
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BUTLER, PA: SECURITY FAILURES AND 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

Failures in Planning 

1. Failure to Secure the AGR Complex

Why it matters:  The failure to secure the AGR complex, adjacent and to the 
north of the Butler Farm Show grounds where the 
July 13 event was held, allowed Thomas Crooks to 
loiter among a crowd and then scale and traverse 
rooftops to a firing position before he was ever 
confronted by a law enforcement officer. 

The Secret Service did not ensure the AGR buildings and grounds were 
secure. 
Due to the presence of a double fence line separating the AGR complex from the rally 

site, the Secret Service considered the complex to be outside the secure perimeter.309 Given 
its close proximity to the venue, the AGR complex was a focal point of discussion in the 
days leading up to the event. LLE personnel testified that concerns about the security of 
the AGR complex were communicated to the Secret Service in those preceding days.310 
BTPD Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1 (who also serves as a Butler ESU Assistant Team Leader) 
testified that he relayed explicit concerns to the Secret Service about the need for law 
enforcement coverage on the ground around the AGR complex, and that LLE entities did 

309 See, e.g., Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 54 
(Oct. 17, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

310 Dep. Commander Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 1, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before 
the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 34 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force); Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before 
the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 11 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 
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not have the resources to fulfill that need.311 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1 testified that, in 
response to his concerns, Secret Service assured him “we understand, we copy, we’ll take 
care of it,” though USSS personnel testified that they do not recall this conversation.312 

Figure 8: Overall Positioning, created by Task Force 

 
311 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 

Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 11, 38-39 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 

312 Id. Officer BTPD Patrol 1 did not identify the Secret Service agent who made this statement 
to him and Secret Service personnel the Task Force interviewed did not recall Officer BTPD Patrol 
1’s questions nor the response. See, e.g., Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, 
U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of 
Donald J. Trump, 111 (Oct. 17, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). PSP Lt. PSP Lt. 1 did not recall 
hearing any concerns from Officer BTPD Patrol 1 during a joint walkthrough. Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. 
State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald 
J. Trump, 37 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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The general practice of the Secret Service is to assign its agents to focus on the area 
inside the secure perimeter.313 With the AGR complex outside of the secure perimeter, 
Secret Service deferred to its state and LLE partners to cover the facility and surrounding 
area.314 However, due to the Secret Service’s failure to confirm with their state and local 
counterparts that the AGR complex would, in fact, be secured with assets assigned to guard 
the area, there were no patrol members of federal, state, or local agencies monitoring the 
AGR complex from which Crooks fired on July 13.315 Further, the AGR complex was not 
sufficiently covered by Secret Service counter- snipers, and it was understood by the local 
tactical units to be outside of their area of responsibility. 

Figure 9: ESU Positioning and Overwatch Sight Lines, created by Beaver ESU 316 

313 Ass’t Dir. OPO Asst. Dir., Office of Protective Operations, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 49 (Nov. 8, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

314 Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 106 (Oct. 18, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

315 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Site Post 
Instructions, Bates 000219- 000225 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

316 Production to Task Force, Beaver ESU, Congressional Briefing, 50 (Jul. 26, 2024) (on file 
with Task Force). 
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State and LLE patrol units did not secure the AGR complex. 
Contrary to Secret Service expectations, neither state nor LLE had vehicles or patrol 

personnel posted in the AGR complex parking lot or along the adjacent road. There were 
no officers otherwise responsible for keeping passersby off the property. 

As reflected in the PSP Operations Plan, PSP troopers and the Butler County 
Sheriff’s Office deputies were posted at four locations along the fence line separating the 
AGR complex from the campaign event site.317 Those law enforcement personnel were 
instructed to park their vehicles in between the two fences separating the AGR complex 
and the site to ensure “no foot traffic or access.”318 They were not charged with watching 
the AGR complex or keeping the area around it free of vehicles and pedestrians.319 Rather, 
their focus was on maintaining the integrity of the fence line itself and ensuring that 
spectators did not cross into the site.320 Given the crowds that did gather along the fence 
line on July 13, officers at those posts were indeed focused on attempts to disperse the 
crowds and intervene in disputes, including at least one between rallygoers and the AGR 
complex owner.321 

 

 

 

 
317 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, Pennsylvania State Police Operations Plan, 

Bates PSP_0009-0018, PSP_0012 (2024) (on file with Task Force). 
318 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, Pennsylvania State Police Operations Plan, 

Bates PSP_0009-0018, PSP_0013 (2024) (on file with Task Force). 
319 Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 

Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 35 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
320 Id. 
321 Deputy Sheriff's Deputy, Butler Co. Sheriff’s Office, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 

Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 25-26 (Sept. 5, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 
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Figure 10: PSP and Butler County Sheriff ’s Office Posts322

BTPD personnel were also in the vicinity of the AGR complex, but did not have a 
mandate to secure the area.323 BTPD Lt. 1 recalled PSP Lt. 1 asking whether BTPD could 

322 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, Pennsylvania State Police Operations Plan, 
Bates PSP_0009-0018, PSP_0012 (2024) (on file with Task Force). Color annotations added by Task 
Force with pink area depicting AGR Complex and yellow-highlighted numbers indicating PSP and 
Butler Sheriff’s Office posts along fence line.

323 The AGR Complex is within the Butler Township Police Department’s general jurisdiction, 
but they were not in charge of ensuring that the AGR Complex was closed off to visitors on July 13. 
The fence line where PSP at the Butler County Sheriff’s Office were posted was not within BTPD’s 
jurisdiction. A majority of the Butler Farm Show Grounds fall within PSP’s jurisdiction. Lt. BTPD
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provide the manpower to post officers in the AGR parking lot, and Lt. BTPD Lt. 1  replied 
that BTPD did not have the resources to do so.324 Instead, BTPD was providing traffic 
control at certain intersections near the site.325 

The Secret Service was overly reliant on state and local representations 
related to securing the AGR complex. 
Had the Secret Service known neither state nor LLE had secured that area, Senior 

Special Agent Lead Advance testified they would have placed Secret Service post 
standers there.326 However, in the days leading up to July 13, there was no agreement as 
to which law enforcement agency was in charge of securing the AGR complex, despite 
the repeated concerns expressed about its proximity to the site.327 In a timeline she 
drafted shortly after July 13, Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart wrote that on July 9, 
2024, she: 

[D]iscussed the AGR building and how it was a concern. Lieutenant PSP 
Lt. 1 said that he talked to the owner and coordinated it to be closed, 
locked and posted. There would be roving posts from Butler Township on 
the outer perimeters. No vehicle or foot traffic.328 

Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart testified to the Task Force that she understood 
from her discussion with PSP PSP Lt. 1 that the AGR parking lots and buildings would not 
be accessible to the public. She stated that she expected: 

 
Lt. 1 , Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 81 (Sept. 6, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Lt. PSP Lt. 1, 
Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of 
Donald J. Trump, 19, 24 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

324 Lt. BTPD Lt. 1 , Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on 
the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 17 (Sept. 6, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

325 Production to Task Force, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Butler Township Operation Plan (on 
file with Task Force); see also Lt. BTPD Lt. 1 , Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview 
Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 10 (Sept. 6, 2024) (on 
file with the Task Force). 

326 Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 115-116 (Oct. 
18, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); See also Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field 
Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 110 (Oct. 17, 2024) (on file with the Task Force).  

327 See, e.g., The Ongoing Investigation of the Butler, Pennsylvania Security Failure: The Secret 
Service’s Reliance on State and Local Law Enforcement: Hearing Before the H. Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 118th Cong. (Sept. 26, 2024). (statement of BTPD 
Patrol 1, Patrolman, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t). 

328 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Advance Week 
Timeline, Bates 000794-000803, 000798 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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[T]here would be patrol vehicles in the parking lots on each side […] And 
then there was officers along the fence line […] [T]he doors to the 
building were locked, nobody would be able to get in. It was secured 
with – it was secured so that nobody would be able to drive into the 
parking lots, and then that it would be posted with patrol units.329 

Senior Special Agent Lead Advance similarly recalled that there would be a “police 
presence in the area of [the AGR] complex […] to be able to deter and mitigate people from 
accessing the buildings.”330 The owner of the AGR Complex shared the understanding that 
the facility would be off limits to the public on July 13.331 

PSP Lt. PSP Lt. 1 testified that he made no such statements to the Secret Service, 
though he conceded that he may have relayed his understanding from social media posts 
that the AGR parking lot would be closed.332 He testified that the Secret Service did not 
ask him to post any troopers around the AGR complex, but had they done so, he would 
have.333 

PSP Lt. PSP Lt. 1 also rejected the notion that he was coordinating between Secret 
Service and LLE agencies.334 The Secret Service, however, understood him to be “[liaising] 
directly with those other local assets and other local jurisdictions because they had the 
relationships with them” and coordinating with those departments to create their operations 
plan.335 Ultimately, the PSP Operations Plan did reflect post assignments for PSP as well as 

 
329 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 73, 105 (Oct. 
17, 2024) (on file with the Task Force).  

330 Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 87 (Oct. 18, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). Special Agent Site Agent, however, thought there was a 
possibility of crowds gathering along the fence line. Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump 
Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 142 (Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

331 Deputy Sheriff's Deputy, Butler County Sheriff’s Office, Transcribed Interview Before the 
Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 25-26 (Sept. 5, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 

332 Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 62-63 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

333 Id. at 24. 
334 Id. at 43-44. 
335 Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 104 (Oct. 18, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). See also, Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
166 (Oct. 17, 2024) (on file with the Task Force) (When I first came into contact with Lieutenant PSP 
Lt. 1, he said that he was the officer in charge of that site and they had the greatest presence and who 
we were working with, and they were also in charge of the transportation section and they're most 
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the Butler County Sheriff’s Office, indicating some level of state and local coordination 
presented to the Secret Service.336 

Whether or not Lt. PSP Lt. 1 told Secret Service personnel that the AGR complex 
would be secure, the Secret Service relied too heavily on those representations and did not 
confirm with him which agency would be providing patrol units around the area, did not 
independently reach out to the local agencies to confirm their posts around the AGR 
complex, and did not visually confirm those units were in place on July 13.337 

Secret Service allowed local snipers to define their roles and select their 
positions, and did not perform due diligence. 
Local snipers from Butler ESU understood their responsibility to be overwatch of the 

crowd and inside the venue itself for any threats.338 They did not understand that the Secret 
Service viewed their responsibility to include the AGR complex, which necessitated 
coverage by patrol officers on the ground and from Secret Service counter-snipers 
positioned on the barns behind the stage inside the secure perimeter.339 Despite Secret 
Service policy to “[p]rovide direction to local counterparts on how best to utilize their assets 
to prevent local counterparts from randomly placing teams in areas where they aren’t 
needed” and “[p]lace local [counter-sniper] teams in the best possible position for 
coverage,” the Secret Service was wholly deferential to Butler ESU and had knowledge of 
their plans for positioning.340 

 
knowledgeable in terms of how we operate. And then, as the advance progressed, he said that he was 
going to be implementing the other local townships into his security plan as well). 

336 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, Pennsylvania State Police Operations Plan, 
Bates PSP_0009-0018, PSP_0012 (2024) (on file with Task Force). 

337 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 106, 169-170 
(Oct. 17, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

338 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 
Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 28 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force); Team Lead Butler ESU Snip. TL, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 
on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 31, 37, 56 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force); Dep. Commander Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 1, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the 
Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 38 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 

339 Team Lead Butler ESU Snip. TL, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 
on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 37, 56, 103-104 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force); Dep. Commander Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 1, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview 
Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald 

J. Trump, 44-45 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
340 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., UDS Internal 

Operating Procedures: Counter-sniper Team Advance Procedures, Bates 006298-006302, 006301 
(June 12, 2023) (on file with the Task Force). 
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Based on Butler ESU’s understanding of its crowd overwatch role—which was 
informed by their day-to-day practices and not an instruction from the Secret Service—
Butler ESU set out to determine where they would position their two sniper teams. On the 
night of July 9, prior to the arrival of Secret Service CSTL CS TL, Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1 
(in his capacity as Butler ESU Assistant Team Leader), Butler ESU TL Butler ESU Snip. TL, 
and Deputy Commander Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 1 performed an independent walkthrough 
of the AGR complex, finding that it was the closest building to the site with a high enough 
angle that would allow the local snipers to see the event crowd.341 The local counter-snipers 
conducted a second walkthrough of the site itself and revisited the AGR complex on July 
10, again unaccompanied by CSTL CS TL. Members of the Butler ESU team testified that 
they called CSTL CS TL to invite him to the walkthrough on July 10, and CSTL CS TL 
responded that there was no need and that he would touch base later—despite Secret 
Service guidance to do advance work with local partners—as he had conducted his 
walkthrough earlier that day.342 CSTL CS TL had met with Butler ESU Commander Butler 
ESU Comm. during that earlier walkthrough.343 

Butler ESU decided to position one of their sniper teams in the grandstand area and 
place a second team inside the second-story windows in one building of the AGR complex. 
According to Butler ESU, there were several reasons they did not place a team on the roof 
of the AGR complex. First, this would have required the team to be responsible for 360-
degree coverage, whereas if they were placed inside one of the AGR buildings, the doors 
to the building would be locked and the snipers could focus exclusively on the overwatch 
area in front of them.344 Second, placing a team on the roof may also have been of limited 

 
341 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 

Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 8, 28-29 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force); Team Lead Butler ESU Snip. TL, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 
Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 46 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

342 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Special 
Operations Division Advance Procedures – General, Bates 006391-006392, 006392 (2024) (on file 
with the Task Force) (“Throughout the advance and the visit, SOD Personnel will ensure that 
expectations as they relate to SOD’s operational plan are communicated to and understood by all 
federal, state, and local counterparts.”); Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 29 
(Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Dep. Commander Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 1, Butler 
ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 15-16 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

343 Technician CS TL, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 80-81 (Oct. 22, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

344 Dep. Commander Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 1, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before 
the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 39, 45 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file 
with the Task Force). 
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utility because a portion of their overwatch line of sight would be obstructed.345 Third, if the 
snipers had been stationed on the roof, they would have been visible to onlookers, and it 
was their practice to be covert and avoid being seen.346 

The local snipers settled on placing a second team of local snipers in the announcer’s 
booth at the grandstand.347 From there, local snipers could see a majority of the AGR roofs 
including where Crooks was, but at a 380-yard distance.348 Butler ESU believed that 
distance to be inconsequential, however, given their understanding of their responsibility 
as crowd and venue overwatch, not coverage of buildings outside of the perimeter.349 

The Butler ESU team discussed their selected locations with the Secret Service during 
the all-hands July 11 walkthrough. Along with Butler ESU Commander Butler ESU Comm., 
the local snipers walked the grounds with CSTL CS TL to confirm where the Butler ESU 
sniper and Secret Service counter-sniper locations would be.350 CSTL CS TL did not 
question or otherwise provide feedback to the local snipers about their positions, including 
their decision to be inside the AGR complex instead of being on the roof.351 TL Butler ESU 
Snip. TL testified: 

[Secret Service] never physically or verbally said those are great 
positions or bad positions. But they had us marked in their -- the Secret 
Service counter-snipers documents, the packets that they gave us, they 
had the specific windows marked of where we were going to be and they 
never once questioned why were you in those windows. So we had to 

 
345 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 

Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 33, 37 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 

346 Team Lead Butler ESU Snip. TL, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 
on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 47, 52 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

347 Id. at 35. 
348 Id. 
349 Id. at 35-36; Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview 

Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 10, 54 (Sept. 13, 2024) 
(on file with the Task Force). 

350 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Presidential Rally – Overview of Operations 
Planning and Execution, 6 (produced Aug. 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Dep. Commander 
Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 1, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 34, 81 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

351 Dep. Commander Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 1, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before 
the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 81 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 
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assume that they were okay with it, too, if they didn't question or state 
any concerns with it.352 

CSTL CS TL confirmed there was no conversation between the Secret Service and 
Butler ESU about the strategy of putting local snipers inside the AGR building, rather than 
on the roof.353 He further testified that he knew from his first conversations with the local 
snipers where they were going to be located, and that he did not have any issues with where 
they had chosen.354 His main concern was friendly fire, i.e., understanding where the local 
snipers would be located and how to identify them to prevent any confusion as to whether 
they posed a threat.355 

While there is some disagreement as to precisely when Special Agent Site Agent and 
Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart became aware of the local sniper team’s position 
inside the AGR building, rather than on the roof—Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1 asserts he 
informed them during the July 11 walkthrough, as well as that ground patrol was needed, 
but neither Special Agent Site Agent nor Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart recalled the 
conversation—they did know the location at least as of later that day based on an email 
from CSTL CS TL.356 Both recall noticing the placement and being concerned about it, but 
not raising those concerns or questioning the placement because it was not their area of 
expertise, deferring instead to CSTL CS TL’s judgment.357 

And while the Secret Service knew Butler ESU’s positions, the Task Force found a 
similar story to the patrol-side misunderstandings—in this instance about the role of the 
local snipers. Butler ESU understood overwatch of the venue to be their only responsibility, 
but CSTL CS TL testified that he believed the local sniper team positioned in the grandstand 

 
352 Team Lead Butler ESU Snip. TL, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 

on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 130 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

353 Technician CS TL, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 55 (Oct. 22, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

354 Id. at 29-30, 55-56. 
355 Id. at 29, 44, 79. 
356 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 

Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 10, 35, 37, 41 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file 
with the Task Force); Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret 
Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 137-138, 143 (Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Sr. Special Agent Site 
Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 
Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 111, 113 (Oct. 17, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 

357 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 114 (Oct. 17, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force); Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, 
U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of 
Donald J. Trump, 144 (Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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to be looking beyond the crowd, to include the AGR complex.358 That understanding, 
however, was based on CSTL CS TL’s assumption. CS TL testified: 

We did not have -- I did not lay out a specific ‘this is what I want you 
looking at’ area. But, when they provided that, I said, ‘Yes, you're 
looking in this direction, okay.’ But I didn't go with them in detail how 
far exact locations or any of the threat areas. They said they were looking 
in that direction, ‘Okay, that works. That makes sense you’re looking 
toward the venue.359 

Butler ESU TL Butler ESU Snip. TL developed a map showing the coverage areas for 
his sniper teams, which explicitly excludes the AGR complex from any local sniper’s line 
of sight. He did not, however, share this image with CSTL CS TL or Secret Service 
personnel. 

 
358 Technician CS TL, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 

Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 50 (Oct. 22, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
359 Id. at 51. 
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Figure 11: Sniper Teams Coverage Map360

CSTL CS TL did not receive that map, did not specify where he wanted the Butler ESU 
team to look, and did not visit the AGR complex himself to check the lines of sight from 
the windows; accordingly, CS TL testified that he expected the local snipers had a line of
sight to the roof from which Crooks eventually shot.361 CS TL stated:

TF STAFF: CS TL, did you have an understanding 
that the local posting of operators would 
also have line of sight on the AGR roof 

360 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Presidential Rally – Overview of Operations 
Planning and Execution, Butler Co. ESU, 7 (produced Aug. 2024) (on file with the Task Force). Red 
box and notation added by Task Force.

361 Technician CS TL, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 64-65, 69-70, 73-76, 83 (Oct. 22, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force).
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from that window from inside the AGR 
building or not? 

CS TL: So, when looking at the cone of fire that 
they provided with me, not the AGR roof 
of the building they were in, because 
obviously they were in that building, but 
the roof to the side where the shooter 
actually was, I believed they had a line of 
sight to that area and would be able to 
cover it, not even on a long- range 
mitigation wave but an individual that’s 
close within throwing distance, that they 
had an individual covered. So yes.   

Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1 contests that understanding, testifying that during his 
conversations with the Secret Service on July 11, he pointed out which areas were dead 
spaces, outside of their responsibility, that the local snipers in the AGR building could not 
see.363 

With one of the two local sniper teams having an obstructed view of the AGR 
complex, and neither Butler ESU sniper team directed to monitor it, they did not do so. The 
sniper in the grandstands, who did have a line of sight to the roof where Crooks was 
positioned, did not deviate from his assigned task to look in that direction in the moments 
before Crooks fired.364  

Secret Service counter-snipers were imperfectly positioned to monitor the 
AGR complex. 
Compounding the issue, the Secret Service counter-sniper teams were not 

appropriately focused on the AGR complex as a result of a poor division of responsibilities 
between the ____LES_____ 1 and 2 teams.365 While the two teams were generally responsible 
for the entire site, ____LES_____ 2 was assigned to primarily focus on the 12 to 3 o’clock 

 
362 Id. at 64-65. 
363 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 

Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 38 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

364 Team Lead Butler ESU Snip. TL, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 
on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 122, 124 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

365 Technician CS TL, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 106-108 (Oct. 22, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

362
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areas as viewed from the stage, which included the entirety of the AGR complex.366

However, their view of the easternmost portion of the roof—where Crooks walked across
and from which he fired—was almost entirely obscured by a tree just south of the AGR 
property.367

Figure 12: USSS counter-sniper team line of sight to the AGR Complex
*red arrow identifies tree blocking portion of AGR roof where Crooks was positioned

CSTL CS TL testified that he was aware of this tree obstruction when he gave
____LES_____ 2 their assignment, but he failed to mention the obstruction to ____LES_____ 2
or to instruct the ____LES_____1 team to cover the obstructed area.368  

Further complicating matters, CSTL CS TL has identified three different times when 
he first recognized that ____LES_____2 had an obstructed view of the AGR roof. During a 
transcribed interview with the Task Force, CSTL CS TL identified his time on the barn roof
on July 10 as the moment when he recognized the obstruction.369 During an interview with
the Senate, CS TL identified his time spent on tactical paperwork, likely on the evening of

366 Id. at 107.
367 Id. at 66.
368 Id. at 68.
369 Id. at 66.

identifies blocking portion of roof positioned
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July 10, as that moment.370 And his USSS Mission Assurance Report (MAR) interview 
suggests he may not have known there was an obstruction until after the incident on July 
13.371  

Technician CS Sgt. Tech. testified to the Task Force that he did not think CSTL CS TL 
knew there was a blind spot until after the incident on July 13: 

 

CS Sgt. Tech.: So one of the things I was trying to get to 
is with the understanding you were 
talking about with the -- that blind spot, 
the blockage of that team, with that -- 
with the local team positioned in the 
second floor of the AGR building, they 
were able -- it was my understanding they 
would be able to cover that blind spot 
behind that tree that that team could not 
see. And that's what I was getting before, 
where if you have everybody working 
together, us along with the local 
departments, that everybody together 
would complete that protective bubble, 
that circle. 

* * * 
TF STAFF:   So we're looking at a _LES__ with AGR 

International in boxes ____LES_____. We 
see the tree obstructing the view. And 
during CS TL 's testimony with the task 
force, he indicated that he mitigated this 
sight line obstruction by posting LES1 on 
the southern barn.   
Did CS TL relay that to you, CS Sgt. Tech.? 

CS Sgt. Tech.: I don't recall him saying that. 

 
370 Id. at 32. 
371 Technician CS TL, U.S. Secret Service, Mission Assurance Review Interview Before the 

U.S. Secret Service, 304-305 (2024) (viewed in-camera by Task Force staff). 
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TF STAFF: So he never let you know that he was 
posting LES1 on the southern barn in order 
to mitigate this sight line obstruction? 

* * *

CS Sgt. Tech.: No. I don't remember any of -- him ever 
saying that. 

* * *

TF STAFF:  Did you get an impression in that 
conversation of whether CS TL was 
previously aware of that obstruction or 
whether he was learning about it for the 
first time in that conversation? 

CS Sgt. Tech.: It just seemed like he didn't know about it 
prior to. TF STAFF:  And what gave you 
that impression if you recall? 

CS Sgt. Tech.: I mean, there was no ‑‑ nothing was said 
that, you know, he knew it was a blind 
spot, and nothing was said by him that, 
you know, that we could see him and they 
couldn't. 

USSS Counter-sniper CS Tech. testified that he first noticed the obstruction when he 
got on the barn roof but never talked about it with CS TL.372 He stated: 

TF STAFF: Did you mention this obstruction to team 
lead CS TL when you got up on the roof? 

CS Tech.: No, because it’s assumed during the 
advanced planning process that CS TL 
would assume the post that he’s expecting 
us to post on, so he would have 
recognized the line of sight issue and then 
planned accordingly to make sure that the 

372 Technician CS Tech., U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on 
the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 29-30 (Oct. 7, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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AGR building was owned by locals, 
which he did. 

CSTL CS TL also testified that upon receiving a BOLO from local snipers regarding 
Crooks at 5:45 p.m., he paid “specialized attention” to the AGR complex, and that he and 
CS Sgt. Tech. were paying “particularized attention” to the AGR building.373 However, CSTL 
CS TL did not see Crooks running on the roof and was unable to explain why that was the 
case.374 CS Sgt. Tech. testified that upon receiving a message from CSTL CS TL regarding 
Crooks at 5:51 p.m. Technician CS Sgt. Tech. checked the AGR area for an individual 
matching Crooks’ description, and then turned his attention back to his team’s assigned 
area, which did not include AGR.375 CS Sgt. Tech. and CSTL CS TL agree that their attention 
focused strongly on AGR at around 6:09 p.m., when Technician CS Tech. transmitted that 
“locals are working something at the 3 o’clock.”376  

It is difficult to discern the extent to which CSTL CS TL was aware of the obstruction 
or was looking toward AGR after 5:45 p.m., but the failure of ____LES_____ 1 to see Crooks 
running across the roof, combined with the inability of ____LES_____ 2 to see the roof, 
exacerbated an already- fraught security plan on July 13. 

 
Recommendations Related to: Failure to Secure the AGR Complex 

1.  Consolidate all Operations Plans. The Secret Service has the ultimate 
responsibility for securing the site for every protectee visit. The advance agents 
should therefore be aware of where every partner agency is posting personnel. 
Moving forward, the Secret Service should request copies of the operations 
plans of all law enforcement entities working the event and consolidate the 
assigned posts for each of the participating entities. For the July 13th event in 
Butler, the Secret Service advance agents did not have copies of all 
participating entities’ operations plans, nor did they have copies of the 
locations of each officer providing security. 

 
373 Technician CS TL, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 

Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 142-43 (Oct. 22, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
374 Id. at 151-52. 
375 Sergeant Technician CS Sgt. Tech., U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the 

Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 103-105 (Nov. 21, 2024) (on file 
with the Task Force). 

376 Id. at 105; Technician CS TL, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 
Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 155-156 (Oct. 22, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 
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2.  Consider Coverage Inside and Outside Secured Perimeter. The Secret Service 
must maintain vigilance over state and local counterparts in ensuring the 
security of its protectees. As part of its zero fail Mission, the Secret Service 
should assess and address all security concerns both inside and outside of any 
event perimeter. While the Secret Service should consider support from local 
partners and their ability to secure areas surrounding an event, Secret Service 
must fully understand and verify the local assets available. Regardless of a 
location within or outside of any particular perimeter, the Secret Service must 
own responsibility for the security of the site, filling any gaps with its own 
personnel in the event that local counterparts are unable to provide adequate 
security or to the extent heightened security concerns demand Secret Service 
presence. 

 
2. Line of Sight Failures 

 
Why it matters:  There was an unmitigated line of sight from the AGR complex to the 

stage, which was consequential for two reasons. First, Crooks was able 
to obtain a clear shot from the AGR roof to the stage where former 
President Trump stood. Second, the clear view of the stage through the 
fence attracted a crowd to the AGR property, which allowed Crooks to 
move freely and made it more difficult for law enforcement to locate 
him. 

The Secret Service failed to mitigate a clear line of sight from the AGR roof 
to the stage. 
The Secret Service is responsible for mitigating line of sight concerns at any 

protective site. While multiple entities including the USSS, former President Trump’s 
campaign staff, and Butler Farm Show representatives had roles in building the Butler rally 
site, Special Agent Site Agent testified that it is the USSS’s job “to provide the protection 
and secure the site.”377  

Line of sight concerns were discussed early in the advance process. For example, at 
a walkthrough of the site before the police meeting on July 8, Site Agents from the DTD 
and PITjoined Senior Special Agent Lead Advance to meet campaign staff and Butler Farm 

 
377 Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 

Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 26 
(Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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Show representatives.378 Lead Agent Lead Advance testified that the group discussed “that 
there were lots of line of sight concerns and that we would need to be addressing those as 
soon as possible.”379 Senior Special Agent Lead Advance also told the group that “the [DTD] 
second supervisor, when he came on Friday [July 12] for his walk-through, that he would 
be addressing [line of sight concerns and mitigation efforts] and he would be changing 
whatever he needed to change to address it.”380  

Line of sight concerns were then discussed throughout the week. Senior Special Agent 
Lead Advance testified she had conversations with the campaign staff about mitigating lines 
of sight “all week, everyday.”381 Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart and Special Agent 
Site Agent also engaged in discussions with campaign staff throughout the week. Senior 
Special Agent Site Counterpart testified that the USSS discussed line of sight concerns 
everyday with campaign staff, and throughout the week, she raised questions with campaign 
staff on what was going where to mitigate those concerns.382 Specifically, Senior Special 
Agent Site Counterpart testified she wanted to “put Penske trucks to mitigate line of sight 
[…] in the 3 o'clock area [. . .] [and the]10 o'clock area.”383 Senior Special Agent Site 
Counterpart was also interested in using equipment, banners, flags, and tractors “to mitigate 
some of our line of sights.”384 However, Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart testified that 
it was the Site Agent’s “responsibility to go up and make sure that it was the way she 
wanted it to be.”385 

Line of sight mitigation efforts culminated with the DTD supervisor walkthrough on 
July 12. USSS supervisors ASAIC DTD and CNOS Insp. met Special Agent Site Agent and Site 
Counterpart for a walkthrough to explain preparations for the site.386 According to Senior 
Special Agent Site Counterpart, campaign staff were also involved at a point during this 

 
378 Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 39 (Oct. 18, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

379 Id. 
380 Id. 
381 Id. at 118. 
382 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 80 (Oct. 17, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

383 Id. at 91. 
384 Id. 
385 Id. at 96, 100. There may have been some confusion about which agent was responsible for 

line of sight issues. Despite feeling it was not her role, Site Counterpart appeared to lead line of sight 
mitigation efforts with campaign staff while testifying that Site Agent “should be the one that's 
negotiating all of this with the detail.” 

386 Ass’t Special Agent in Charge ASAIC DTD, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret 
Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 63 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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walkthrough.387 When ASAIC DTD took the stage to observe the site, he asked the group 
about mitigating the line of sight concerns from the AGR complex area.388 He testified: 

I said that they had some farm equipment they were going to use in that 
area of the red combine tractor. They were going to have fencing that 
separated, you know, the main site from not the main site. And then, they 
were going to have uniform police officers covering that 5 o'clock to past 
the 3 o'clock, or 2 o'clock and 1 o'clock area. So kind of that whole right 
side of the stage. They said that there was going to be a police presence 
[…] I believe I recall Agent Site Agent telling me she walked that area 
with the police and […] had a plan for that area with the uniform 
presence.389  

ASAIC ASAIC DTD also testified that when SSA Lead Advance joined the group during 
that walkthrough, or shortly after its conclusion, she “assured [him] that she had spoke to 
the counter- sniper team, that they were confident they could cover those buildings in 
addition […] [T]hey had the […] local counter-sniper team at that specific location as 
well.”390 The combination of police presence, fencing, and counter-snipers at and around 
the AGR complex appeared to have been approved by DTD supervisors following this 
walkthrough. By the evening on July 12, ASAIC DTD testified that “[t]he combine is good 
to go at the 3 [o’clock].”391  

No substantive changes to line of sight mitigation occurred on July 13, the day of the 
event. Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart testified “[f]rom my vantage point, when I got 
on to the site [on July 13], I could see that there was equipment there” by the AGR 
complex.392 It also appeared that Special Agent Site Agent conducted due diligence with 
regards to line of sight prior to former President Trump’s arrival. For example, Special Agent 
Site Agent texted ASAIC ASAIC DTD a picture of a crane put in place to mitigate line of sight 

 
387 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 96 (Oct. 17, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

388 Ass’t Special Agent in Charge ASAIC DTD, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret 
Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 66 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

389 Id. 
390 Id. 
391 Id. at 110 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
392 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 99 (Oct. 17, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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concerns at the 5 o’clock, to which ASAIC ASAIC DTD responded via text, “Looks much 
better.”393  

Line of sight concerns appear to have been consistently discussed throughout the 
advance process, and a plan was in place to address them on July 13. Unfortunately, the plan 
was based on the flawed belief that local police would be in the area and that the local snipers 
and USSS Counter- snipers had a direct line of sight to that area. 

The unmitigated view through the fence line attracted a crowd. 
There was also a clear line of sight from the grounds around the AGR complex to the 

stage, which allowed a crowd of unscreened individuals to congregate and to view the 
event through a chain link fence. 

The Secret Service could have mitigated the ground-level line of sight by lining the 
fence bordering the AGR complex with a black cloth or opaque material. This would have 
precluded individuals from seeing into the event, and therefore likely have prevented a 
crowd from gathering there.394 This would have made it far easier for law enforcement to 
identify, locate, and track Crooks. This remedy may have been discussed during the 
advance process. According to Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1, who was there in his role as the 
Butler ESU Sniper ATL, CSTL CS TL suggested putting up opaque fencing during the July 
11 walkthrough.395  

While CSTL CS TL did not remember this exchange, the ESU Sniper Team Leader 
Butler ESU Snip. TL did recall having a conversation with BTPD Patrol 1 where that issue 
was discussed.396 He stated: 

 
393 Ass’t Special Agent in Charge ASAIC DTD, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret 

Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 90 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

394 Witnesses gave varied estimates of this crowd, ranging from 80 to 300 people. See Deputy 
Sheriff's Deputy, Butler County Sheriff’s Office, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 50 (Sept. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Sniper 
Butler ESU Sniper, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 32 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Sniper Ass’t 
Team Lead Beaver ESU Snip. ATL, Beaver ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on 
the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 77 (Sept. 11, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); 
Team Lead Beaver ESU Snip. TL, Beaver ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 64 (Sept. 11, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

395 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 
Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 37-38 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 

396 Technician CS TL, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 58 (Oct. 22, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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When BTPD Patrol 1 spoke with the Secret Service he told me later on 
that he spoke with [CSTL], as well, that day. And [CSTL] had told him 
that they usually would put a black screen of some kind up on a site that 
they felt might be a close threat to obscure any view into the event.397  

The Butler ESU Deputy Commander, Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 1, recalled a similar 
conversation with the CSTL CS TL. He testified: 

And, once again, we aired some concerns about that big open area from 
the eastern approach, the tower, the woods, that side of the building 
all through up to the fences. And at that point [CSTL] CS TL -- and 
he said it in like a third person that he was informed or they were 
supposed to be putting a fencing or curtain translucent up across the 
fence. I didn't clarify which fence, but my impression how he's phrased 
it, he was told that there was going to be some sort of fencing put up.398 

Finally, BTPD Lt. BTPD Lt. 1  also heard a discussion on opaque material for the 
fence, this time between a PSP trooper and the Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart, though 
in their interviews with the Task Force, neither PSP Lt. PSP Lt. 1 nor Senior Special Agent 
Site Counterpart recalled this exchange.399  

On balance, the testimony suggests that opaque fencing was discussed by several law 
enforcement personnel and entities during the advance process. This simple and 
inexpensive mitigation tactic should have been implemented and would have made it much 
easier for law enforcement to locate and apprehend Crooks. 

397 Team Lead Butler ESU Snip. TL, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 
on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 38 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

398 Dep. Commander Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 1, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before 
the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 34 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 

399 Lt. BTPD Lt. 1 , Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on 
the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 17(Sept. 6, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Lt. 
PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 70 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Sr. Special Agent 
Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 
Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 163 (Oct. 17, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 
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Recommendations Related to: Lines of Sight Failures 

3.  Document All Line of Sight Vulnerabilities. USSS Site Agents must identify all 
potential lines of sight to the protectee which a trained sniper could reasonably 
be expected to utilize, state how such lines of sight will be mitigated, and ensure 
that a supervisor has approved the mitigation strategy for each. The USSS 
CSTL must be given the opportunity to review the mitigation plan if counter-
snipers are utilized for an event, and the mitigation plan should be shared with 
state and LLE no later than the final meeting prior to the arrival of the 
protectee. 

 

3. Lack of Adequate Assets and Manpower 
 

Why it matters:   A lack of USSS assets amidst the strain from the heightened 
operational pace of the national presidential campaigns, 
including two simultaneous high-profile protectee visits in 
Pennsylvania on July 13, created an environment in which 
Thomas Crooks exploited gaps in coverage to conduct 
reconnaissance, gain the high ground, and fire eight shots 
at the rally stage. 

There was a lack of adequate assets on July 13. 
The threat realized on July 13 in Butler, Pennsylvania originated from the outer 

perimeter of the site. Crooks was able to loiter around the AGR complex before climbing 
up on the roof of a building located approximately 150 yards from where the former 
President was speaking. The Secret Service often utilizes a __________LES_____________ on 
the ____LES_____ of events to identify individuals, like Crooks, who are ________-
____LES_______________-____.400 This asset is called a counter- surveillance unit (CSU).401 
However, at the Butler rally on July 13, there was no Secret Service CSU, an asset designed 
to be utilized in that exact scenario.402  

 
400 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Strategic 

Intelligence and Information Manual CSD-04, Counter Surveillance Protective Advances, Bates 
006306-006314, 006311 (Jul. 6, 2020) (on file with the Task Force). 

401 Id. 
402 Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 197-198 (Oct. 
18, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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The Task Force reviewed advance paperwork prepared for the October 5, 2024,
campaign rally, which revealed a robust plan to mitigate line of sight concerns for the 
former President’s return visit to Butler after the first assassination attempt.403 Outside of 
numerous other improvements to the site’s security plan, the Task Force observed that the 
added element of CSU generated significant paperwork for addressing concerns outside of 
the site’s perimeter.404 This included vulnerability assessments of the AGR complex as well 
as documented mitigation efforts—notably missing from documents related to the July 13 
event.405  

There should have been a CSU for the July 13 event—a large outdoor rally with 
15,000 expected attendees and an increased threat level. Indeed, Senior Special Agent Site 
Counterpart wrote after the event:

Figure 13: Handwritten Notes, created by Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart 406

Had a CSU been utilized, the team would have been outside the outer perimeter 
looking for threats in areas of concern and could have identified the AGR complex as an 
unmitigated risk to the former President, or may have spotted Crooks before he climbed on 
top of the building. There were three opportunities for CSU assets to have been requested 
or assigned for July 13.

First, CSU could have been proactively assigned to all former President Trump’s 
outdoor rallies by the Secret Service Office of Protective Operations (OPO) staffing and 
logistics office. The increased threat picture, specifically knowledge of a long-range threat 
against former President Trump, led the OPO to proactively approve counter-snipers for all
Trump outdoor events. That credible intelligence likely should have led the Directorate of 

403 U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Advance Documents for Oct. 5, 2024 
Butler Rally (reviewed Nov. 21, 2024) (reviewed in-camera by Task Force staff).

404 Id.
405 Id.
406 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Emp. Notes 

of Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Bates 000791 (2024) (on file with the Task Force).
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Strategic Intelligence and Information, the directorate that owns CSU assets, to proactively 
assign or approve CSU for outdoor events.407  

Second, despite the lack of blanket approval for a CSU, DTD could have requested 
the asset. FLOTUS, who also had an event in Western Pennsylvania on July 13, had a CSU 
at her indoor event.408 According to Senior Special Agent FLOTUS Adv. Agent, when the 
Pittsburgh Field Office received notification of the FLOTUS pending visit, her detail sent a 
list of requested personnel and specifically mentioned CSU.409 Conversely, the DTD did not 
make a specific request for a CSU.410 According to DTD ASAIC ASAIC DTD, there was a 
presumption that the asset would not have been approved for a former President.411  

Third, the advance team for the event could have requested the CSU during their 
advance planning to properly secure the site. The Secret Service utilizes an “advance” team 
to plan security both inside and outside designed perimeters, and to coordinate necessary 
arrangements and assets for a protectee.412 According to the Site Agent Counterpart, she 
explicitly asked about requesting a CSU and was told by the Lead Agent that it was not a 
resource that would be allocated for a former President.413 The Lead Agent had previously 
spent three weeks assigned to DTD operations, so she had a good understanding of what 
assets might be approved. Though the Secret Service maintains that a detail may request an 
asset at any time, when asked what the criteria was for which assets a protectee might get 
depending on their status, former OPO Assistant Director OPO Asst. Dir. stated: 

OPO Asst. Dir.: Well, I think with the Donald Trump 
detail, we were very forward-leaning in 

 
407 Ass’t Dir., OPO Asst. Dir., Office of Protective Operations, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 45 (Nov. 8, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

408 Sr. Special Agent FLOTUS Adv. Agent, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 41 
(Oct. 24, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

409 Id. 
410 Ass’t Special Agent in Charge ASAIC DTD, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret 

Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 43 (Oct. 31, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

411 Id. 
412 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Protective 

Operations Manual OPO- 03, Protective Advance, Bates 006166-006181, 006166 (Mar. 11, 2024) 
(on file with the Task Force). 

413 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 21 (Oct. 17, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). The Lead Agent for the rally believed that the protective 
intelligence advance had arranged for the Pennsylvania State Police to fulfill the role with a 2-man 
team on the outer perimeter. Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret 
Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 197-198 (Oct. 18, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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providing him assets that a former would 
never have. 

TF STAFF:  So maybe -- you said, "a former would never have." So 
there has got to be some threshold for 
formers only get X. 

OPO Asst. Dir.: I shouldn't say "never have." But, 
traditionally -- I'll restate it. I haven't seen 
a former get this robust level of assets as 
long as I've been in the Secret Service, so -
- which is a pretty long time. So, you 
know -- I mean, and that was from the get-
go of him leaving office.414 

From interviews with special agents on the ground, it appears that the main factor in 
the decision to not request CSU was an assumption that the request would be denied due 
to the protectee’s status as a former President at the time of the event. Notably, post-
incident, on the evening of July 13, 2024, the Counter Surveillance Directorate (CSD) at 
the USSS indicated that they had the manpower to support DTD events. Specifically, “if 
asked, we are ready to start sending a CSD advance agent on future DTD trips as requested 
by the detail.”415 Additionally, the former OPO Assistant Director told the Task Force that 
if requested, the CSU “could have been sourced either from the Counter Surveillance 
Division, and if that wasn't available, it probably could have been sourced locally through 
the INV or investigative program.”416  

Due to the unique nature of former President Trump’s protective status at the time of 
the July 13 event—being both a former President and a candidate—OPO made two 
unprecedented decisions in regard to assets allocated to him compared to other former 
Presidents.417 However, during the advance planning of the July 13 event, there was a 
widespread assumption that only certain roles were entitled to certain assets, leading the 
DTD and senior agents operating in Advance roles to not request a necessary asset to 
provide adequate protection. 

 
414 Ass’t Dir. OPO Asst. Dir., Office of Protective Operations, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 26 (Nov. 8, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

415 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 0002820 
(Jul. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

416 Ass’t Dir. OPO Asst. Dir., Office of Protective Operations, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 100 (Nov. 8, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

417 Id. at 87-90. Approval of a counter-assault team in April 2024 and approval of USSS 
counter-snipers at the beginning of July 2024. 
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The operational tempo and strain from the campaign season impacted 
manpower for July 13. 
In addition to the lack of assets, the strain on manpower also impacted operations that 

day. The simultaneous advance for both FLOTUS Biden and former President Trump in the 
Pittsburgh area on July 13—approximately 40 miles apart—exacerbated the workload of 
the PIT staff. USSS PIT ATSAIC ATSAIC PIT indicated that while it is not common for two 
protectees to visit the same city for different events, it does happen on occasion.418 When 
there are two events, leadership in the PIT looks at the available staff and assigns the agents 
to appropriate roles.419 USSS ATSAIC ATSAIC PIT described how the assignment process 
worked: “We would look and see who's available, the experience level of the agents, and 
then assign them to appropriate roles.” ATSAIC PIT testified that “[w]e would never ask a 
junior agent, somebody that's been out of […] training for a year or less to be the lead for 
either [former President Trump’s visit or the FLOTUS Biden visit].”420  

PIT had three available agents who had the seniority and experience to serve as lead 
advance for both former President Trump’s event and the FLOTUS event—Special Agents 
Lead Advance, FLOTUS Adv. Agent, and Site Counterpart.421 SSA Lead Advance was designated 
as lead advance for former President Trump’s event, and FLOTUS Adv. Agent was 
designated as lead advance for the FLOTUS event. Along with the lead advance role, SSA 
Lead Advance was tasked as the transportation lead for the Butler rally.422 The OPO policy 
on protective advance operations allows for a lead advance agent to function in several roles 
simultaneously if the composition of the advance team requires it.423 However, the decision 
to task Senior Special Agent Lead Advance with two advance roles resulted in her being in 
the motorcade from the airport to the rally site instead of at the site as the Lead Agent. 

ATSAIC ATSAIC PIT testified there is no difference in the baseline levels of manpower 
assigned for a FLOTUS or a candidate nominee.424 According to ATSAIC PIT, either 
protectee would have received the same number of advance agents, depending on the 

 
418 Ass’t to the Special Agent in Charge ATSAIC PIT, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret 

Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 23 (Oct. 16, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

419 Id. 
420 Id. 
421 Id. at 25. 
422 Sr. Special Agent, Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 20 (Oct. 18, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

423 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Protective 
Operations Manual OPO- 03, Protective Advance, Bates 006166-006181, 006167 (Mar. 11, 2024) 
(on file with the Task Force). 

424 Ass’t to the Special Agent in Charge ATSAIC PIT, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret 
Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 24 (Oct. 16, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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number of sites involved in that protectee’s visit.425 During the advance planning of former 
President Trump’s event, PIT SAIC SAIC PIT recognized a shortage of manpower and 
requested additional personnel from other field offices and DHS HSI to secure the site.426 
The former President’s event utilized 16 HSI personnel for his outdoor rally, while the 
FLOTUS had no HSI special agents assigned to her indoor event.427 According to Senior 
Special Agent Site PI, USSS had “been using their special agents to supplement post 
standing duties for the campaign.”428 The Secret Service also relies heavily on state and 
local law enforcement, including specialized assets such as snipers and counterassault 
teams, to fulfill its protective duties.429  
  

 
425 Id. 
426 Special Agent in Charge SAIC PIT, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 56 (Oct. 25, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

427 Sr. Special Agent FLOTUS Adv. Agent, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 49 
(Oct. 24, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. 
Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 000015 (2024) (on file with the Task Force); Production to Task 
Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 000079 (2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

428 Sr. Special Agent Site PI, Phoenix Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview 
Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 18 (Nov. 5, 2024) (on file 
with the Task Force). 

429 The Task Force received testimony that state and local assistance is essential to USSS’s 
ability to fulfill its protective mission. Ass’t Dir. OPO Asst. Dir., Office of Protective Operations, 
U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of 
Donald J. Trump, 28-29 (Nov. 8, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). The Task Force also received 
testimony that USSS personnel does not formally assess the capabilities of state and local law 
enforcement. Ass’t Dir. OPO Asst. Dir., Office of Protective Operations, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
28-29 (Nov. 8, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Sergeant Technician CS Sgt. Tech., U.S. Secret 
Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 55-56 (Nov. 21, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). The Secret Service may wish to consider 
the extent to which this structure could pose challenges in future cases where state or local personnel 
vary in their capabilities in ways that are not immediately apparent. 
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Recommendations Related to: Assets and Manpower 

4.  Implement written policy that clearly articulates a threat-based methodology 
for asset and resource approval. The nature of the campaign event in Butler, 
Pennsylvania on July 13, 2024—outdoors, in front of a large crowd, with an 
active _______LES_________ from a _________LES___________, among other 
risk characteristics—should have necessitated a specific protocol of mitigation 
assets. Instead, the Secret Service made ad hoc determinations as to the assets 
and manpower that were available to the planning team. 

5.  Utilize USSS counter-surveillance assets for all large outdoor events. The written 
policy should require counter-surveillance assets for all large outdoor events. 
Planners should not have to request those assets from Secret Service leadership, 
and should not be empowered to waive or decline to incorporate those assets into 
the operations plan for any large outdoor event. 

4. Failure to Share Threat Intelligence 
 

Why it matters: Agents in advance roles were not made aware of the 
heightened threat environment which led to the 
assignment of USSS Counter-snipers. Had they known, 
it might have changed how they planned to execute the 
event. 

 

Prior to the campaign rally on July 13, there was knowledge in the intelligence 
community of a _______LES__________ against former President Trump by a 
_______LES___________.430 While not specific to the campaign event on July 13, this type of 
threat could manifest at a large outdoor rally.431 The credible intelligence was not shared 

 
430 Indep. Review Panel, Report of the Independent Review Panel on the July 13, 2024 

Assassination Attempt in Butler, Pennsylvania, 10-11 (Oct. 15, 2024) 
https://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/2024-10/24_1017_opa-Independent- Review-Panel-Final-
Report-and-Accompanying-Materials.pdf. The Department of Homeland Security Independent 
Review Panel wrote, “In the lead-up to the rally, various Secret Service personnel were read into 
intelligence regarding a long range threat by a foreign state actor against former President Trump. 
While this intelligence was not specific to the Butler rally, the risk of the threat manifesting there was 
apparent—hence the provision of two Secret Service counter-sniper teams to staff the rally, for 
example.” (emphasis in original). 

431 Indep. Review Panel, Report of the Independent Review Panel on the July 13, 2024 
Assassination Attempt in Butler, Pennsylvania, 11 (Oct. 15, 2024) 
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with key members of the Secret Service team responsible for properly securing the rally 
site.432 Senior leaders at the USSS were briefed on this intelligence, and in response to the 
threat, OPO approved counter-snipers for all of former President Trump's outdoor rallies 
moving forward—an asset not generally approved for former Presidents.433 

DTD ASAIC ASAIC DTD, who was not formally read into the intelligence, received a 
phone call on July 8 at approximately 11:30 p.m. from his direct superior, Deputy Special 
Agent in Charge (DSAIC) DSAIC DTD regarding a “larger credible threat” and was advised 
that that the assigned USSS “counter-sniper team will help us with that long range 
threat.”434 Additionally, DSAIC DTD told ASAIC DTD to be “more focused” on “line of sight 
issues.”435  

ASAIC ASAIC DTD testified that he spoke to Senior Special Agent Lead Advance, 
the Lead Advance Agent for the Butler Rally, as well as Special Agent Site Agent, the Site 
Agent for the rally, about this threat by phone on July 9.436 Senior Special Agent Lead 
Advance testified, “I received a call on the 9th about credible intelligence that he could 
not tell me what it was. I asked him to pass it on to my supervisor.”437 Senior Special Agent 
Lead Advance further testified, “The impression was that it was __LES___, because there had 
been previous talks about that within political members” as there had been previous 
talk about __LES___ in the context of “[o]ther political figures – besides Trump.”438 
Special Agent Site Agent testified that she was not part of any conversations about specific 

 
https://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/2024-10/24_1017_opa-Independent-Review- Panel-Final-
Report-and-Accompanying-Materials.pdf. 

432 Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 31 (Oct. 18, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force); Special Agent in Charge SAIC PIT SAIC PIT, Pittsburgh Field 
Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 36-37 (Oct. 25, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Special Agent 
Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before 
the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 67 (Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force); Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 89 
(Oct. 17, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

433 Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 35 (Oct. 18, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

434 Ass’t Special Agent in Charge ASAIC DTD, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S, Secret 
Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 12 (Oct. 31, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

435 Id. at 28-29, 51. 
436 Id. at 51-53. 
437 Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 31 (Oct. 18, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

438 Id. at 174. 
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threats the week leading up to July 13 but that she had historic knowledge of a threat from 
__LES___ regarding “a drone attack planned at a golf course somewhere in Florida.”439 

While a “general threat” was talked about at an unclassified level, specific intelligence 
that informed the Secret Service approval of the counter-sniper asset was not provided to 
the key individuals who were ultimately responsible for the security of the site.440 There was 
an assumption that if there was credible, specific intelligence, it would be shared with 
necessary supervisors and appropriate agents.441  

According to the then-Assistant Director of OPO OPO Asst. Dir., the Office of 
Strategic Intelligence and Information Division “are the curators of that information, the 
subject matter experts, and they are going to ultimately determine what is appropriate to 
pass and not pass.”442 With respect to the Secret Service process for sharing intelligence, 
then-Assistant Director OPO Asst. Dir. testified: 

The protective intelligence advance on the ground is the conduit between 
the Protective Intelligence Division and headquarters for the facilitation 
of any information that's relevant to any protective site, and they are 
going to be the one that determines how and what information is 
passed.443  

In the lead up to the July 13 rally, the USSS Protective Intelligence Division did not 
inform former Special Agent PI Advance, the Protective Intelligence Advance Agent for the 
event from the Pittsburgh Field Office, about the specific long-range threat against former 

 
439 Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 

Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
65-67 (Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

440 Id. at 67; Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 31 
(Oct. 18, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Special Agent in Charge SAIC PIT, Pittsburgh Field 
Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 36-37 (Oct. 25, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Sr. Special 
Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before 
the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 89 (Oct. 17, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 

441 Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 34-35 (Oct. 18, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

442 Ass’t Dir. OPO Asst. Dir., Office of Protective Operations, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 95 (Nov. 8, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

443 Id. at 94. 
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President Trump.444 PI Advance testified that he called the Protective Intelligence Division 
on the morning of the rally and was not passed any information.445  

Additionally, PI Advance testified that he received no specific intelligence from the 
FBI related to July 13.446 As the PI advance, he had sent a letter to the FBI on July 10 
requesting any intelligence the FBI might have related to the July 13 rally, to which he did 
not recall whether he received a response.447 Site PI Senior Special Agent Site PI testified 
that in her experience FBI would only send a response if it had adverse intelligence.448  

Several Secret Service personnel working the advance for the rally testified that 
it would have been helpful to have known about the specific threat against former President 
Trump as intelligence informs operations.449 Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart, the Site 
Counterpart, wrote in her notes after July 13: 

444 Special Agent PI Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 29, 58 (Oct. 
15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

445 Id. 
446 Id. at 21, 28-29. 
447 Id. 
448 Sr. Special Agent Site PI, Phoenix Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview 

Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 99-100 (Nov. 5, 2024) 
(on file with the Task Force). 

449 Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 33-35 (Oct. 18, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force); Technician CS TL, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview 
Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 97 (Oct. 22, 2024) (on 
file with the Task Force). The former Assistant Director of the Office of Protective Operations 
testified that “Intelligence has the ability to inform operations. It should not dictate operations, but it 
has the ability to inform operations.” Ass’t Dir. OPO Asst. Dir., Office of Protective Operations, U.S. 
Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of 
Donald J. Trump, 93 (Nov. 8, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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Figure 14: Handwritten Notes, created by Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart 450

When asked to discuss these notes, Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart testified that
knowledge of this threat information could have “heightened the security” of the rally site, 
and could have “called for more bodies,” “more requests from locals” or more 
“conversations to be had with everybody on the ground,” “briefings,” and “meetings” and 
also call on personnel, “Let’s be on our best game.”451  

The Secret Service CSTL CS TL, who was assigned to the rally due to the credible 
intelligence, did not receive any information on the threat regarding former President 
Trump.452 He testified that as the CSTL, he is always going to approach the advance like 
there could be a threat, but the knowledge of a specific threat, “it does make you kind of,
like, a little more alert of, Okay, we've got intel so I don't know double-cross your -- triple-
cross your Ts and then, you know, make it count.”453 He further stated:

[J]ust having the knowledge would have been extremely helpful [. . .] I 
would be aware that we have active, basically information that some
things have--potentially happen. Yes, something could always potentially 
happen. But now we have ___LES_____ coming from ___LES_____ that 

450 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 000791 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force).

451 Sr. Special Agent, Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 90 
(Oct. 17, 2024) (on file with the Task Force).

452 Technician CS TL, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 20 (Oct. 22, 2024) (on file with the Task Force).

453 Id. at 153.
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something more than likely is going to happen . . . we’re always at 100 
percent. Today we go even higher . . . we got to be on our A-game.454  

 SAIC PIT received no information from the FBI or Secret Service relating to a specific 
or credible threat relating to former President Trump.455 He testified that he did not know 
why he was not provided with information about this threat, and that there was no other 
time in which he learned about a credible threat to a protectee only after an event 
occurred.456 SAIC PIT testified that if he had been made aware of intelligence regarding a 
potential threat, he would have requested more specific information about the threat and 
may have pushed for the event to be moved indoors and requested more assets.457  

Additionally, there appeared to be some confusion or disagreement involving roles 
and responsibilities for sharing this information. As mentioned above, Senior Special Agent 
Lead Advance testified she asked ASAIC ASAIC DTD to pass this threat information to SAIC 
SAIC PIT.458 However, ASAIC ASAIC DTD testified, “I specifically did not talk to him” and 
“she works for SAIC PIT, and it would be my understanding that she should brief her boss” 
on what he passed along to her.459 

Lastly, SSA Lead Advance testified that the Secret Service should also have passed this 
information to “appropriate working supervisors” for this event, in additional to the other 
agents.460 ASAIC DTD testified that the supervisors for the July 13 event were DTD Inspector 
CNOS Insp. and himself, both of whom were second supervisors; PIT SAIC SAIC PIT, and 
PIT ATSAIC ATSAIC PIT, who was the site supervisor at the Butler rally site.461  

Credible and relevant intelligence was not passed to necessary Secret Service 
personnel. Had the advance team known about the intelligence, the mistakes and failures on 
July 13 may have been alleviated. Intelligence informs operations, and the decision not to 

454 Id. at 97-98. 
455 Special Agent in Charge SAIC PIT, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 36-37 (Oct. 25, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

456 Id. at 83-84. 
457 Id. at 83. 
458 Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 31 (Oct. 18, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

459 Ass’t Special Agent in Charge ASAIC DTD, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret 
Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 57 (Oct. 31, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

460 Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 35 (Oct. 18, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

461 Ass’t Special Agent in Charge ASAIC DTD, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret 
Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 34, 62, 85 (Oct. 31, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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share credible intelligence that could manifest at a site with the team making decisions on 
the ground is inexplicable. 

 
Recommendation Related to: Failure to Share Threat Intelligence 

6.  Implement a policy on sharing relevant intelligence for an advance trip among 
the Protective Intelligence Division, the detail, and the relevant field office. 
The list of individuals read into the threat intelligence should include working 
supervisors such as the field office SAIC, the protective intelligence agent, the 
Lead Advance Agent, and the Site Agent to ensure proper assets are requested and 
vulnerabilities are mitigated. 

 

5. Failure to Launch C-UAS 
Why it matters: Secret Service procedures for Counter Unmanned Aerial Systems (C-

UAS) failed to flag nonoperational C-UAS assets and provide 
adequate recourse for remedying failures on the day of the rally. The 
failure to have operating C-UAS capabilities on-site on July 13 
negated a potential early opportunity for law enforcement to identify 
Crooks as a potential threat when he used a personal drone to 
perform reconnaissance ahead of the rally. 

The C-UAS operator on-site had limited training. 
The Secret Service utilizes C-UAS, as well as drone technology, to provide additional 

security for protectees at events—particularly large-scale outdoor events. C-UAS 
technology includes a variety of assets for both detection and mitigation of aerial threats, 
such as the drone flown by Crooks ahead of the rally on July 13. 

Ahead of the July 13 rally, Special Agent C-UAS Op., a shift agent with the DTD, was 
selected to conduct necessary C-UAS advance work and operate the C-UAS equipment 
during the event. Special Agent C-UAS Op. was relatively new to operating C-UAS 
technology, having only been assigned C-UAS responsibilities in March 2024.462 Prior to 
July 13, he served as a C-UAS operator at two protectee events and had successfully 
detected and mitigated drones at each event.463 

 
462 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 

Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 11 
(Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

463 Id. at 47-48. 
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In addition to Special Agent C-UAS Op.’s limited operational experience, his C-UAS 
training was brief in scope.464 In fact, to Special Agent C-UAS Op.’s knowledge, there are 
no standard written guidelines for the DTD C-UAS role.465 Special Agent C-UAS Op.’s 
experience does not appear to be unique. 

Although the Secret Service consolidated drone and C-UAS operations under the 
TSD in January 2024, the USSS does not have a standardized training program for C-UAS 
or for C-UAS advance work. As a result, it is not unusual for agents who perform C-UAS 
roles on protectee details to receive training from other members of the detail. In Special 
Agent C-UAS Op.’s case, he received in-person training from USSS Investigative Protection 
Officer (IPO), DTD IPO, who wasalso assigned to DTD.466 DTD IPO provided Special Agent 
C-UAS Op. with training that consisted of approximately 30 minutes of an in-person
demonstration. In addition, Special Agent C-UAS Op. completed approximately 30 minutes
of online training.467 He was never trained on how to troubleshoot the C-UAS platform that
he was assigned to use during the July 13 rally, and was only provided a technical support
phone number by colleagues.468 At no time in his career did Special Agent C-UAS Op. ever
shadow another agent during an active protection mission to observe how to use certain C-
UAS systems.469

The Secret Service was unprepared for any C-UAS technical failure. 
Special Agent C-UAS Op. first learned he was assigned to the rally in Butler, 

Pennsylvania approximately one week before the event. Prior to that point, Special Agent 
DTD Agent 1 was assigned to work as the DTD C-UAS agent for the July 13 rally in Butler. 
In emails obtained by the Task Force sent by DTD Agent 2 (DTD) on both July 3, 2024, and 
July 5, 2024, Special Agent DTD Agent 1 name is listed as the DTD C-UAS agent assigned 

464 Id. at 14. (Indicating training was less than an hour). 
465 U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Mission Assurance Report Interview of 

Special Agent C-UAS Op. (2024) (reviewed in-camera by Task Force staff). 
466 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 

Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
13-14 (Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

467 Id. at 17; U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Mission Assurance Report 
Interview of Special Agent C-UAS Op. (2024) (reviewed in-camera by Task Force staff). 

468 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 16 
(Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

469 Id. at 14-15. 
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to the July 13 campaign event.470 In his testimony to the Task Force, Special Agent C-UAS 
Op. indicated he did not know why this substitution occurred.471  

On or about July 9, 2024, Special Agent C-UAS Op. retrieved the _____LES________ 
system from _________LES_____________ to use for the Butler rally.472 At no time did Special 
Agent C-UAS Op. pick up any backup materials, cords, wires, or other pieces of technical 
equipment to bring to the Butler assignment. Special Agent C-UAS Op. received a call from 
TSI TSI Agent, on July 10, 2024.473 During this conversation, Special Agent C-UAS Op. 
requested  LES_ C-UAS mitigation assets from TSI TSI Agent: (1) the 
_________LES_____________, which was _______________LES___________________; and (2) 
an additional _________LES______________  to mitigate unauthorized drones. Special Agent 
C-UAS Op. requested the __________LES_______________ from TSI TSI Agent because DTD 
did not possess that asset.474  

Special Agent C-UAS Op. testified that although he had not been trained on how to 
operate the _____LES________  system, he felt it was necessary for the event. Had the 
____LES______ asset been approved, a member of TSD trained on the platform would have 
been assigned to work the July 13 rally.475 TSD subsequently denied this request for the two 
additional assets and TSI TSI Agent called C-UAS Op. to let him know the request was 
denied.436 According to Special Agent C-UAS Op.’s testimony, the mitigation assets were 
being used at another site for a different protectee event. 

Despite having the C-UAS detection system on site when he arrived on July 12, 
Special Agent C-UAS Op. testified that he did not test the C-UAS asset’s detection 
capabilities at any point prior to the morning of the rally.476 Testing of this system, including 
set up, would have only taken approximately 30 minutes.477 When asked why, Special 

 
470 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 003077 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
471 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 

Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 25 
(Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

472 U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Mission Assurance Report Interview of 
Special Agent C-UAS Op. (2024) (reviewed in-camera by Task Force staff). 

473 Id. 
474 Id. 
475 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 

Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 31 
(Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

476 d. at 29-31; U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Mission Assurance Report 
Interview of Special Agent C-UAS Op. (2024) (reviewed in-camera by Task Force staff). 

477 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
64-66 (Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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Agent C-UAS Op. testified that he had no reason to believe that the system would not work 
because it worked when he used it in _______LES__________ “two or three days before.”478  

In addition, although Special Agent C-UAS Op. brought the detection system with him 
to the rally, he did not bring the mitigation system with him. The mitigation system only 
arrived when former President Trump’s motorcade arrived at the event around 5:33 p.m. As 
such, Special Agent C-UAS Op. was unable to assign a Secret Service post stander at the 
Butler rally the collateral duty to operate the ____LES______ mitigation technology as part 
of the C-UAS response. This meant that aside from physically locating and interviewing a 
detected drone operator, the Secret Service lacked additional options to neutralize or 
mitigate a detected drone prior to the former President’s arrival. 

C-UAS advance work was fragmented.
As part of the advance work performed ahead of the July 13 rally, TSI TSI Agent

conducted a TSD Outdoor Site Survey. Under the “Summary of Threats & Vulnerabilities” 
section, TSI TSI Agent noted that “[t]he site is located in an open farm area and is vulnerable 
to possible drone attacks with the limited amount C-UAS equipment on site.479 Special 
Agent C-UAS Op. testified that TSI TSI Agent never discussed this summary of threats with 
him before the rally, even though the threats listed directly related to drone attacks and 
concern regarding the limited amount of C-UAS equipment on site.480 In addition, Special 
Agent C-UAS Op. did not coordinate with TSI Agent to survey the site and develop technical 
operational requirements.481 

C-UAS coordination with LLE personnel also appears to have been limited. Special
Agent C-UAS Op. testified that his only responsibility was to ascertain whether LLE 
intended to use drones and then to “____LES_______,” or ______LES__________, those LLE 
drone assets. As part of the C-UAS advance process, Special Agent C-UAS Op. testified 
that there had been week-long discussions with state and LLE partners regarding the 
security plan and whether local C-UAS assets would be included. Special Agent C-UAS Op. 
testified that he had no participation in those planning calls despite being the on-site C-UAS 
operator. Special Agent C-UAS Op. also testified that during these calls, it was decided that 
USSS would not utilize drone assets offered to it by LLE. Special Agent C-UAS Op. 
confirmed this with PSP Lt. PSP Lt. 2 via text message on July 12.482  

478 Id. at 65-66. 
479 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 002048 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
480 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 

Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 62 
(Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

481 Id. 
482 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 001917-

001918 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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Although Special Agent C-UAS Op. testified it would have been “easy” to incorporate 
the use of a local drone into the USSS security plan, it was ultimately not done.483 C-UAS 
Op. testified he did not want to disrupt or add to the existing plan, and he did not feel he 
was in a position to accept LLE’s offer of drone assistance.484  

On July 12, Special Agent C-UAS Op. also received forwarded email correspondence 
from USSS SOD in the USSS SOD, with an attachment setting forth the Temporary Flight 
Restriction (TFR) parameters for the day of July 13, including the window of time in which 
the TFR would be in place, ____LES______  – ____LES_______.485 Although C-UAS Op. had 
no part in setting these parameters, he expressed concern regarding the window of time the 
TFR was in effect and that the expiration of the TFR while former President Trump was 
____LES_______ would be problematic.486 However, no changes were made to the TFR 
based on his concerns. 

At 10:22 p.m. on July 12, 2024, Special Agent C-UAS Op. sent an email to a group of 
individuals, including Senior Special Agent Site PI and others, stating, in part: 

All- 

A _______LES__________ TFR goes into effect at ____LES_____ hours and 
expire(s) at ____LES______  hours. The TFR covers all unmanned aerial vehicles from 
ground level to ____LES_____ above ground level. 

_____LES________  Drone Detection Alerts 

I will enter your mobile number into the drone detection notification 
system. If a drone is detected within a ___LES____ radius of a protected site you will 
receive a text from the detection equipment called “____LES______” which provides 
a Google map link to display where the drone pilot is located, this is happening in 
real time. Once you receive the text move towards the pilot if you get multiple alerts, 
respond to the pilot closes [sic] to the protected site. The objective is to contact 
the pilot and have them immediately recall and land the Drone. 

 

 
483 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 

Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 57 
(Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

484 Id. at 57-58. 
485 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 003187 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
486 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 

Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 68 
(Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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The email also provided additional instructions regarding what identification 
information agents should collect and provide Special Agent C-UAS Op. if they detained a 
drone pilot, as well as legal and other contact instructions.487 When asked why Special 
Agent C-UAS Op. sent this email so late the evening prior to the event, he testified that he 
had instructed USSS personnel earlier that day during the walkthrough that at all times 
throughout the day, visual observation for drones should be conducted.488  

C-UAS failures resulted in a lack of counter-drone capabilities prior to the 
Rally. 
The C-UAS, specifically _____LES_______, brought to the July 13 rally experienced 

technical issues, rendering it inoperable during the time Crooks flew his drone around the 
Butler Farm Show complex at approximately 3:51 p.m. for 11 minutes.489 These technical 
issues were further exacerbated by the C-UAS operator’s limited training and inability to 
troubleshoot the issues he encountered. Had the C-UAS system been operational earlier 
that day, it likely would have been able to geolocate Crooks when he flew his drone, and a 
Secret Service agent would then have been dispatched to detain and question him. 

Technical software issues. 
Special Agent C-UAS Op. experienced technical issues as soon as he attempted to turn 

the C- UAS equipment on following a morning post-stander readiness briefing with Secret 
Service personnel at the Butler Farm Show complex.490 When his initial troubleshooting 
efforts failed, Special Agent C-UAS Op. reached out to IPO DTD IPO with the DTD at 11:47 
a.m. and 11:49 a.m. for assistance.491 After IPO DTD IPO suggestion to shut the system 
down and power it back up did not work, IPO DTD IPO sent him the phone number of 
ATSAIC ATSAIC TSD C-UAS within the TSD C- UAS Branch Program.492  

 
487 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 003059-

3060 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
488 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 

Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 71 
(Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

489 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, Timeline of Events, FBI-HTF-
BTLR-000381 (Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

490 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
75-76 (Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

491 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Cellular Call 
Logs, Bates 0001916 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

492 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
77-78 (Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland 
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At 12:05 p.m., Special Agent C-UAS Op. contacted ATSAIC ATSAIC TSD C-UAS, who 
passed along the phone number for _____LES________  tech support.493 Additionally, Special 
Agent C-UAS Op. repositioned the C-UAS platform __________LES_______________ in an 
attempt to counteract potential interference from a _______LES__________.494 Special Agent 
C-UAS Op. initially called _____LES_______ technical support at 12:12 p.m., but was unable 
to reach anyone and left a voicemail.495 _____LES_______ technical support called him back 
after an hour, and Special Agent C-UAS Op. had several conversations to troubleshoot his 
connectivity issues. Eventually, the ____LES______  technical support suggested to Special 
Agent C-UAS Op. that the C-UAS may need a software update.496 Although the C-UAS tech 
support _______LES__________ and _______LES__________  to the C-UAS platform, the 
update failed to activate the platform.497  

Physical cable issues. 
After the software update failed to activate the C-UAS platform, Special Agent C-

UAS Op. received a call back from the manufacturer’s technical support at 4:15 p.m.498 
The technical support agent suggested that Special Agent C-UAS Op. swap out the ethernet 
cable that was connecting two components together because the two components were not 
“talking to each other.”499 Although Special Agent C-UAS Op. was unable to locate a 
substitute ethernet cable in the USSS Security Room, he was able to obtain an ethernet cable 
from the nearby Trump Campaign’s audio- visual personnel.500 After Special Agent C-UAS 
Op. swapped the ethernet cables out, the system activated at approximately 4:33 p.m. late 
that afternoon.501  

 
Sec., Mission Assurance Report Interview of Special Agent C-UAS Op. (2024) (reviewed in-camera 
by Task Force staff). 

493 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 78 
(Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., 
Mission Assurance Report Interview of Special Agent C-UAS Op. (2024) (reviewed in-camera by 
Task Force staff). 

494 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 96 
(Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

495 U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Mission Assurance Report Interview of 
Special Agent C-UAS Op. (2024) (reviewed in-camera by Task Force staff). 

496 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 97 
(Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

497 Id. 
498 Id. 
499 Id. at 97-98. 
500 Id. at 80. 
501 Id. 
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Communications failures. 
As the C-UAS system remained nonoperational throughout the day, Special Agent C-

UAS Op. reached out to various Secret Service personnel to inform them that the C-UAS 
system was down. He contacted Special Agent Site Agent, the Site Agent, and ASAIC ASAIC 
DTD, to inform them that the system was down and may not be operable.502 

Then, once Special Agent C-UAS Op. successfully activated the system at 4:33 p.m., 
he contacted Special Agent Site Agent and ASAIC ASAIC DTD to inform them that the 
platform had been fixed.503 However, Special Agent C-UAS Op. did not inform several other 
advance or supervisory agents that the C-UAS platform was down. For example, Senior 
Special Agent Site Counterpart, the Site Agent Counterpart to Special Agent Site Agent, was 
never informed that the C-UAS platform was experiencing issues, nor was Senior Special 
Agent Lead Advance, the Lead Advance Agent.504  

Special Agent C-UAS Op. also never contacted TSI TSI Agent to inform him that the C- 
UAS platform was inoperable despite C-UAS equipment falling under TSD’s umbrella of 
responsibilities and expertise. However, even if Special Agent C-UAS Op. had reached out 
to TSI TSI Agent, it is unclear how much assistance TSI TSI Agent would have been able to 
offer as he had not been formally trained on the C-UAS system and had only obtained 
unofficial experience with the platform in the field.505  
  

 
502 Id. at 97. 
503 Id. 
504 Production to the Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Sr. Special 

Agent Site Counterpart Handwritten Notes, Bates 000790 (Jul. 11, 2024) (on file with the Task Force) 
(“CUAS - Why wasn’t I told that it wasn’t working properly? What kind of training does he have and 
how many times has he operated the _______LES__________  system?”). 

505 Technical Security Investigator TSI Agent, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview 
Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 33 (Oct. 10, 2024) (on 
file with the Task Force). 
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Recommendations Related to: Failure to Launch C-UAS 

7.  Improve C-UAS mitigation strategies for when C-UAS or other drone systems 
fail. Secret Service should put in place policies and procedures for C-UAS asset 
failure contingencies, to include certain requirements such as: 1) required testing of 
assets the day prior to an event; 2) the possession of backup materials, C-UAS 
operators should be required to carry as well as bring certain additional back up 
materials and parts to events; 3) creation of redundancies in the event of C-UAS 
asset failure; and 4) implementing standardized troubleshooting procedures.  

8.  Implement and increase formalized training, certification, and cross-functional 
platform training for drone and C-UAS operators. The Technology Security 
Division (TSD) should implement a comprehensive, service-wide formal training and 
certification process for all drone and C-UAS technologies, including a standardized 
“C-UAS advance checklist.” Additionally, cross-functional training should be 
established to enable any agent to assume a collateral duty as a drone or C-UAS 
operator if necessary. This training should also include a contingencies portion, which 
not only includes a section on troubleshooting C-UAS assets, but also backup 
materials and items the C-UAS agent should keep on hand in the event of an 
emergency. As part of the training program for C-UAS, operators should be required 
to participate in a program where they shadow another CUAS agent from the 
beginning of the advance process through the event to ascertain on-the-job experience 
and to obtain first-hand knowledge of what the CUAS process entails in a real-life 
scenario. 

9.  Ensure that drone and C-UAS operators assigned to events have passed and 
maintained required training and certification as well as any necessary updates. 
Special agents must be familiar with the equipment they employ and be prepared to 
address last minute or technical issues 

10.  The DHS and USSS should consider utilizing Department of Defense (DOD) 
drone operators to supplement USSS efforts at protectee events under the 
Presidential Protection Assistance Act. 
_______________________LES___________________________________, deploying 
DOD drone operators would free up other special agents for protectee duties, alleviate 
manpower strain, and enhance the effectiveness of surveillance operations. 

11.  Congress should consider whether current legal authorities to mitigate credible 
threats posed by Unmanned Aircraft Systems (UAS) should be expanded. The 
rapid expansion of the commercial UAS market has increased the threat of drone 
incursions at protectee events. Congress should consider legislative proposals that 
would responsibly extend and justifiably expand legal authorities to respond to 
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credible threats all the while balanced by appropriate safeguards to protect Americans’ 
privacy, ensure aviation security, and allow for authorized commercial activity. For 
instance, Congress should consider authorizing DHS to establish a counter-UAS 
mitigation pilot program under which selected state and covered local law 
enforcement agencies may operate approved counter-UAS mitigation systems and 
mitigate unauthorized UAS operations on behalf of covered entities within their 
jurisdictions. 
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Failures in Execution 

Why it matters: The fragmented communications structure and lack of timely 
information sharing resulted in missed opportunities for the Secret 
Service and its state and local partners to apprehend Crooks and 
make informed decisions about managing the protectee prior to 
shots fired. 

 

1. Fragmented Communications and Separate Command Posts 
Nearly every Secret Service and LLE officer present on July 13 testified to the Task 

Force that communications on site could have been better. When asked how best to prevent 
the tragedy of July 13 from happening again, Butler ESU Dep. Commander Butler ESU Dep. 
Comm. 1 stated, “[o]ver the years of being in this business, whether it be fire, EMS, or law 
enforcement, you can always improve upon communication.”506  

To mitigate communications issues at events, the USSS utilizes a Security Room. 
According to the Protective Operations policy manual, the Security Room is an on-site 
coordination and communications center.507 The idea is to have a representative from all 
entities involved in the event to ensure all entities can communicate with one another. 
USSS SAIC Sec. Room Sup., who was stationed in the Security Room on July 13, stated 
that it is “really like an information relay station.”508  

The Task Force has determined that the communications failures of July 13 can be 
attributed to several factors, including no unified command post, a lack of knowledge about 
which LLE partners should be in the USSS Security Room, and a lack of redundant 
communication methods between local and USSS tactical assets. At multiple points during 
the week leading up to the rally, the Secret Service advance team could have stepped in to 
clarify communications roles and responsibilities; however, that did not happen. 

Based on conflicting testimony the Task Force has received from USSS, state, and 
LLE personnel, miscommunications appear to have started early in the planning process. 
On July 8, the Secret Service hosted a meeting with state and LLE as part of the advance 
planning process. USSS Senior Special Agent Lead Advance stated that during the meeting, 

 
506 Dep. Commander Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 1, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before 

the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 78 (Sep. 12, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 

507 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Protective 
Operations Manual OPO- 08, Communications, Bates 6249-6253 (2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

508 Special Agent in Charge Sec. Room Sup., Buffalo Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 22 
(Oct. 8, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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she invited and requested all state and LLE partners to join the USSS in the Security Room 
during the rally.509 However, PSP Lt. PSP Lt. 1, who was at the meeting, did not hear Senior 
Special Agent Lead Advance or anyone else from the Secret Service invite or request state 
or LLE join the Security Room.510 Butler County DES Director Butler DES Dir., also at 
the meeting, stated that he did not recall LLE being invited to the Security Room either.511 

In addition, later in the week, the Secret Service hosted a walkthrough of the rally 
location to determine security postings for USSS personnel and state and LLE assets. 
According to BTPD Lt. BTPD Lt. 1 , one of the meeting attendees, although the walkthrough 
started in the building that the USSS planned to use for the July 13 Security Room, there 
was never an invitation or request to state and LLE to have a presence in the Security 
Room. 

The lack of collaboration between USSS, state, and LLE regarding which agencies 
would be present in the Security Room led to inadequate representation from local security 
partners. In addition, due to LLE being under the impression that they would not be in the 
Security Room, Dir. Butler DES Dir. decided to provide the Butler County command post 
trailer, hereafter “local command post” for LLE use.512 

A lack of coordination between the Secret Service and LLE led to confusion regarding 
the local command post’s role on July 13. USSS Senior Special Agent Lead Advance and 
Special Agent Site Agent stated that when they learned about the local command post, they 
wanted to use it to mitigate line of sight concerns.513 PSP Lt. PSP Lt. 1 testified that in 
addition to hearing conversations about the local command post being used for line of sight 
concerns, he also thought the local command trailer was being used for medical personnel 
at the rally, and that was why PSP was not planning to have a trooper in the local command 
post.514 

 
509 Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 74 (Oct. 18, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

510 Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 10 (Nov. 16, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

511 Dir. Butler DES Dir., Butler Co. Emergency Mgmt. Servs. Dep’t, Transcribed Interview 
Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 28 (Sept. 5, 2024) (on 
file with the Task Force). 

512 Id. 
513 Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 113 (Oct. 18, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force); Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, 
U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of 
Donald J. Trump, 162 (Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

514 Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 13, 16 (Nov. 16, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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To help facilitate information sharing, PSP placed one of their portable radios in the 
local command post, which operated on separate frequencies from LLE; however, LLE 
realized the PSP handheld radio was not working.515 As a result, when the local command 
post needed to exchange information with the Security Room, Butler ESU Commander 
Butler ESU Comm. would call PSP Sgt. PSP Sgt., who was stationed in the Security Room.516 
Sgt. PSP Sgt. would then relay the information to others within the Security Room.517 
While this solution allowed information to pass from the local command post to the 
Security Room, a unified command post would have allowed for faster real- time updates 
of all security partners, especially during an emergency incident. 

This became evident in the minutes leading up to Crooks firing at former President 
Trump and audience members. USSS SAIC Sec. Room Sup., who was stationed in the 
Security Room, stated that at approximately 5:51 p.m., Sgt. PSP Sgt. relayed that locals 
were looking for a suspicious person.518 Between then and when Crooks fired the first shot 
at 6:11 p.m., LLE provided constant updates over the radio.519 However, due to the lack of 
LLE in the Security Room, the updates provided by Butler ESU Commander Butler ESU 
Comm.to Sgt. PSP Sgt., via phone were slower than direct radio traffic and did not always 
reach all necessary individuals in the Security Room. 

For instance, Sgt. PSP Sgt. stated that he relayed information about Crooks being seen 
on the roof of the AGR complex to SAIC Sec. Room Sup. and others in the Security Room.520 
However, SAIC Sec. Room Sup. stated that he “never heard man on a roof” and that the only 
update he received after 5:51 p.m. was shortly before shots were fired when counter-sniper 
CS Tech. transmitted over his radio, “security room from ____LES_______. Locals are 
working something at the 3 o'clock, approximately 200 yards out.”521 However, Special 

 
515 Id. at 31; Butler DES Tech., Butler Co. Emergency Mgmt. Servs. Dep’t,, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 74 (Sep. 13, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

516 Commander Butler ESU Comm., Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 
on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 132 (Sep. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

517 Special Agent in Charge Sec. Room Sup., Buffalo Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
54-55 (Oct. 8, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

518 Special Agent in Charge Sec. Room Sup., Buffalo Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
54-55 (Oct. 8, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

519 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Presidential Rally Radio Timeline 7-13-2024 (Jul. 
13, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

520 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, Recorded Interview of Penn. State Police PSP 
Sgt. (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

521 Special Agent in Charge Sec. Room Sup., Buffalo Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 25 
(Oct. 8, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Technician CS Tech., U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
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Agent C-UAS Op. heard the update about the suspicious person on the roof.522  Special Agent 
C-UAS Op. explained that SAIC Sec. Room Sup. was in between Special Agent C-UAS Op.
and PSP Sgt. PSP Sgt. and that SAIC Sec. Room Sup. and PSP Sgt. made eye contact when
PSP Sgt. PSP Sgt. provided the man on the roof update.523 Having all relevant LLE assets
present in the Security Room would have reduced the likelihood that essential information
was lost or delayed in critical moments on July 13.

When asked about communications failures on July 13, OPO Asst. Dir., the then-
Assistant Director for the OPO, who was not at the rally, stated: 

From what was told to me subsequent to the event from different 
conversations that I had with people and what I could observe, the 
security room seemed to lack the representation of a unified 
command element with the requisite number of agencies in the 
security room that, in my opinion, should have been there.524  

After July 13, the Secret Service updated the Protective Operations policy manual, 
section OPO-08, Communication, to include a section about staffing other law enforcement 
command posts. The Task Force understands that the agency now requires that any 
secondary command post that state or LLE establishes be staffed by a supervisory or senior-
level special agent to ensure proper communication between the two command posts.525  

a. A lack of radio communications between USSS counter-sniper
and local sniper teams undermined the effort to engage Crooks.

In addition to the lack of a unified command post and disjointed 
information sharing, the USSS counter-sniper team was supposed to have 
radio communications with local sniper teams. On the morning of July 
13, CSTL CS TL was told by local snipers that a LLE radio was available 
for him to use for the day.526 However, CSTL CS TL testified to the Task 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 70 (Oct. 7, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

522 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
113 (Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

523 Id. at 113-114. 
524 Ass’t Dir. OPO Asst. Dir., Office of Protective Operations, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 73 (Nov. 8, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

525 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Protective 
Operations Manual OPO- 08, Communications, Bates 6249-6253 (2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

526 Technician CS TL, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 103 (Oct. 22, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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Force that he did not pick up the LLE radio due to issues with his USSS-
issued radio.527 While CSTL CS TL could communicate with local snipers 
via text messages and phone calls, these methods of communication can 
be significantly slower than radio communications, and there was no 
redundant method should cell service fail. 

b. Secret Service personnel did not share situational information 
among themselves in a timely manner. 

On July 13, the Secret Service utilized three radio channels for agency 
communications.528 The three channels had specific user groups so that certain information 
could be passed to only the group that may need it. The first channel was for 
_______LES__________, comprised of USSS and HSI special agents who were stationary and 
in place _________LES______________. The second channel 
_________________LES________________________, which was the USSS special agents who 
____________LES___________________. Finally, the third channel was for the 
____________LES___________________ teams. This multichannel system is not uncommon, 
given the number of USSS and HSI personnel on-site for large protectee events, and is one 
of the reasons for a single USSS Security Room—to ensure that all relevant parties receive 
relevant information in real-time regardless of which radio channel they may be utilizing. 

Despite the USSS Security Room being in place on July 13, critical information was 
not relayed broadly to USSS personnel. OPO Asst. Dir., the then USSS Assistant Director 
for OPO, who was not at the rally, stated, “[a]t Butler there certainly seemed to be an 
appearance of siloed communications.”529 Starting at approximately 5:45 p.m., USSS 
personnel began learning of the suspicious person near the AGR complex who had been 
previously spotted with a rangefinder.530 By the time the first shots were fired, 

 
527 Id. at 105. CS TL suggested in his MAR interview that he was not aware of the opportunity 

to obtain a local radio at the time of that interview, which raises a possible conflict with his Task 
Force testimony. CS Sgt. Tech. testified to the Task Force that switching his radio frequency was a 
relatively brief process, raising a further question regarding the extent to which the change in 
frequency prevented CS TL from obtaining a local radio. Sergeant Technician CS Sgt. Tech., U.S. 
Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of 
Donald J. Trump, 66 (Nov. 21, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

528 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., July 13 
Paperwork and Operations Plans, Bates 000001-000084, 000155-000162 (2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 

529 Ass’t Dir. OPO Asst. Dir., Office of Protective Operations, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 76 (Nov. 8, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

530 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., 
EmailProd_set1_001395.001483, Bates 1412 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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approximately nine individuals from the USSS were aware of a suspicious person. Yet, no 
one from the USSS in proximity to former President Trump knew this information. 

At 5:45 p.m., CSTL CS TL received a text message and photos from a LLE sniper 
regarding a suspicious person near the AGR building.531 At 5:52 p.m., CSTL CS TL emailed 
the other three USSS counter-snipers with information about the suspicious person.532 At this 
time, all four USSS counter-snipers were aware of a suspicious person. However, the USSS 
counter- snipers did not inform anyone else about this update, despite CSTL CS TL telling 
the other three counter-sniper team members to notify PI or the Security Room if the 
suspicious person was spotted. 

Figure 15: Message to CS TL from ESU sniper 
 

 
Figure 16: Message from   to USSS Counter-Sniper Team Members 

 

The first time the USSS Security Room became aware of a suspicious person was at 
5:51 p.m. when PSP Sgt. PSP Sgt. relayed the information to SAIC Sec. Room Sup. and 
Special Agent C-UAS Op.. Shortly after relaying the information, Sgt. PSP Sgt. sent photos 
of the suspicious person to Special Agent C-UAS Op. so that the images could be sent to 
USSS CSR Special Agent CS Resp..533  

 
531 Id.  
532 Id. 
533 Special Agent in Charge Sec. Room Sup., Buffalo Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 

Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 83 
(Oct. 8, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

57-705_text.pdf   109 12/20/24   8:00�AM



Butler, PA: Security Failures and Recommendations 

104 

However, Special Agent USSS Post 1, who was partnered with BTPD Patrolman BTPD 
Patrol 1 at the motorcade entrance of the rally location, learned of a suspicious person 
sometime after 5:30 p.m.534 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1 received a photo and message regarding 
the suspicious person, which he relayed to Special Agent USSS Post 1.535 Special Agent USSS 
Post 1stated that upon hearing this, he asked Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1 if the Secret Service 
was aware, to which Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1 replied that yes, the “command post is 
aware.”536 Therefore, Special Agent USSS Post 1did not feel he needed to relay the 
information to the Security Room. It is possible that due to the existence of both the Security 
Room and the local command post, Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1 assumed that if the local 
command post was aware of the suspicious person, then the Secret Service was as well—
unaware himself that the USSS was in a separate Security Room. 

The only other USSS personnel to learn of a suspicious person near the AGR building 
was Senior Special Agent, who was the site PI on July 13. Senior Special Agent Site PI 
stated that she learned of the suspicious person between 5:30 p.m. and 5:45 p.m. from a PSP 
trooper she was partnered with.537 When Senior Special Agent Site PI learned of a 
suspicious person, she and two PSP troopers went to the fence line separating the rally 
location from the AGR property to search for the person.538 At approximately 5:47 p.m., 
while Senior Special Agent Site PI was by the fence line, a member of Butler ESU alerted 
her a second time of a suspicious person.539 Senior Special Agent Site PI did not notify the 
Security Room about the suspicious person either time that she was alerted by state and 
LLE. Senior Special Agent Site PI stated that she was under the impression that the Security 
Room was aware of the suspicious person due to phone conversations she witnessed with 
the PSP trooper she was partnered with.540  

In all four instances of Secret Service personnel being alerted to a suspicious person 
near the AGR complex, each individual failed to share the information broadly. 
Additionally, Senior Special Agent Site PI, Special Agent USSS Post 1, and CSTL CS TL failed 
to alert the Security Room of the information. While Senior Special Agent Site PI did inform 
Special Agent PI Advance while he was in the Security Room, she did not inform designated 
Security Room USSS personnel, and PI Advance did not escalate the information he received. 
The only time the information about a suspicious person was broadly shared by USSS 

 
534 Special Agent USSS Post 1, Phoenix Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview 

Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 52 (Oct. 11, 2024) (on 
file with the Task Force). 

535 Id. 
536 Id. at 53. 
537 Sr. Special Agent Site PI, Phoenix Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview 

Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 68 (Nov. 5, 2024) (on file 
with the Task Force). 

538 Id. 
539 Id. at 73. 
540 Id. 
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personnel was by Counter-sniper CS Tech. shortly before shots were fired. Counter-sniper 
CS Tech. transmitted over his radio, “security room from ___LES_____. Locals are working 
something at the 3 o'clock, approximately 200 yards out.”541 This radio transmission led 
Special Agent Site Agent to call Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart to inquire about the 
situation that locals were working at the 3 o’clock; it was during that call that shots were 
fired.542  

By 5:52 p.m.—almost 20 minutes before the first shots were fired—at least nine 
Secret Service personnel were aware of a suspicious person near the AGR complex who 
had been previously seen with a rangefinder. This included SAIC Sec. Room Sup., who was 
stationed in the Security Room and testified to the Task Force that his job on July 13 was 
to relay information.543 Had information been shared more broadly with USSS personnel, 
post standers would have had awareness to watch for the suspicious person, and former 
President Trump’s protective detail would have had critical situational awareness to make 
informed protective decisions. 

c. PSP did not clarify the limitations of its communications with 
local partners, resulting in ineffective communication between 
state and local entities. 

In addition to USSS, there were four law enforcement entities operating on different 
radio frequencies: PSP; Butler ESU; BTPD; and the Butler County Sheriff’s Office.544 
Additionally, Butler DES and medical personnel used a different radio channel.545 The LLE 
entities were able to listen to each other’s channels, including scanning to hear multiple 

 
541 Technician CS Tech., U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on 

the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 70 (Oct. 7, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
542 Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 

Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
210 (Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

543 Special Agent in Charge Sec. Room Sup., Buffalo Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 22 
(Oct. 8, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

544 Dir. Butler DES Dir, Butler Co. Emergency Mgmt. Servs. Dep’t, Transcribed Interview 
Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 22, (Sept. 5, 2024) (on 
file with the Task Force); Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 
Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 14 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

545 Dir. Butler DES Dir, Butler Co. Emergency Mgmt. Servs. Dep’t, Transcribed Interview 
Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 22 (Sept. 5, 2024) (on 
file with the Task Force). 
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local channels simultaneously.546 However, LLE was unable to listen to PSP 
communications via LLE radios, nor could PSP listen to LLE radio channels.547  

PSP knew which LLE entities would be supporting security for the rally, understood 
that law enforcement should be in the Security Room, and believed that the local command 
post would be used for medical services.548 PSP provided a PSP radio for the local 
command post to ensure LLE knew when the motorcade was en route.549 However, before 
the motorcade arrived, LLE representatives realized the PSP handheld radio was not 
working.550 Despite attempting to troubleshoot the issue, the radio remained inoperable.551 
In addition to communications throughout the week leading up to the rally, PSP met in 
person with USSS on July 8, July 9, and July 11.552 Despite this, the Secret Service was 
unaware that there was no interoperability between LLE and PSP.553 The USSS Site Agent 
Counterpart and Security Room Agent assumed that PSP Sgt. PSP Sgt. was able to listen to 
LLE communications on the radio.554 Notably, the site agents both expected all law 
enforcement entities to be present in the Security Room.555  

Additionally, during the pursuit of Crooks, Butler ESU Commander Butler ESU Comm. 
attempted to manage radio channels for ESU tactical and BTPD, while also calling PSP 

 
546 Sgt. Sheriff's Sgt., Butler Co. Sheriff’s Office, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 

on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 10 (Sept. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); 
Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on 
the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 15 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
“Scanning” allows radio users to listen to multiple channels at once. When scanning, any 
communications over the user’s primary channel takes priority if there is overlap. 

547 Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 77 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

548 Id. at 9, 10, 14, 16. 
549 Id. at 31. 
550 Butler DES Tech., Butler Co. Emergency Mgmt. Servs. Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before 

the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 74 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 

551 Id. 
552 Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 

Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 46 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
553 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 167-168 (Oct. 
17, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

554 Id. at 167; Special Agent in Charge Sec. Room Sup., Buffalo Field Office, U.S. Secret 
Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 52-53 (Oct. 8, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

555 Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
226 (Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field 
Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 128 (Oct. 17, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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Sgt. PSP Sgt. to provide updates.556 BTPD Lt. BTPD Lt. 1 , who would typically handle the 
BTPD radio channel, left the local command post and was not present to coordinate with 
Commander Butler ESU Comm..557 When BTPD reported that Crooks was on the roof, 
Commander Butler ESU Comm. updated PSP—who in turn informed the Secret Service in 
the Security Room—but did not update the ESU channel that included the snipers inside 
AGR who could have looked out the window to see Crooks.558  

d. Connectivity, capacity, and interoperability issues.
During the rally, Secret Service personnel used radios and agency-issued cellular 

devices. State law enforcement personnel used radios, work-issued cellular devices, and 
personal cellular devices. LLE used phone calls, SMS, the Signal application, and email on 
their cellular devices.559 A prime example of the communications fragmentation is that ESU 
snipers set up a text chain that incorporated Beaver ESU, but a separate ESU text chain was 
also used despite Beaver not being included.560  

556 Commander Butler ESU Comm., Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 
on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 173-174 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

557 Lt. BTPD Lt. 1 , Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on 
the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 49-50, 69-70 (Sept. 6, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force); Commander Butler ESU Comm., Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 
on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 173 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

558 Although SAIC Sec. Room Sup., who was physically positioned between Special Agent C-
UAS Op. and PSP Sgt. PSP Sgt. at the time, said that he “never heard [the] man on a roof” update 
from Sgt. PSP Sgt., Special Agent C-UAS Op. told the Task Force that he heard it. Further, Special 
Agent C-UAS Op. told the Task Force that he saw SAIC Sec. Room Sup. and Sgt. PSP Sgt. make 
eye contact when Sgt. PSP Sgt. provided the man on roof update. Special Agent in Charge Sec. Room 
Sup., Buffalo Field Office, 

U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 24-25 (Oct. 8, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Special Agent 
C-UAS Op., U.S. Secret Service Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 108-109 (Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force);
Commander Butler ESU Comm., Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 180:8-16 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force).

559 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 
Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 18-19, 69 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force); Sgt. Sheriff's Sgt., Butler Co. Sheriff’s Office, Transcribed Interview Before the 
Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 14 (Sept. 5, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force); Butler DES Tech., Butler Co. Emergency Mgmt. Servs. Dep’t, Transcribed Interview 
Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 72 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on 
file with the Task Force). 

560 Commander Butler ESU Comm., Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 
on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 175 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 
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The law enforcement radios had issues throughout the day, including the PSP radio 
in the local command post malfunctioning and at least one USSS post stander not receiving 
some messages.561 Additionally, the USSS post stander radio channel received bleed-over 
communications from the FLOTUS visit that occurred in Pittsburgh on July 13, resulting in 
USSS post standers needing to change radio frequencies at approximately 4:28 p.m. in 
order to avoid overlapping radio traffic.562 This “obvious bleed over” was not uncommon 
and “wasn’t a surprise necessarily” to SAIC BUF Sec. Room Sup., but was significant 
enough to change how USSS communicated in Butler.563 

USSS also did not provide a signal booster that had been used in the past to mitigate 
issues with cellular service.564 Law enforcement personnel across all entities reported 
having cellular connectivity issues on the day of the rally.565 Calls and texts were delayed, 
resulting in some agencies resorting to email when trying to share images of Crooks.566 

 
561 Lt. BTPD Lt. 1 , Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on 

the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 42 (Sept. 6, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); 
Special Agent USSS Post 1, Phoenix Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before 
the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 46-47 (Oct. 11, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force); Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 46 
(Oct. 17, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

562 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 131 (Oct. 17, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force); Special Agent in Charge Sec. Room Sup., Buffalo Field Office, 
U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of 
Donald J. Trump, 70 (Oct. 8, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

563 Special Agent in Charge Sec. Room Sup., Buffalo Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
128 (Oct. 8, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

564 Commander Butler ESU Comm., Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 
on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 134 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

565 Lt. BTPD Lt. 1 , Butler Twp. Police, Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on 
the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 41 (Sept. 6, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); 
Sgt. Sheriff's Sgt., Butler Co. Sheriff’s Office, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 13 (Sept. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); 
Commander Butler ESU Comm., Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 153 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); 
Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 190 (Oct. 30, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force); Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before 
the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 40 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 

566 Sgt. Sheriff's Sgt., Butler Co. Sheriff’s Office, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 
on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 14 (Sept. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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However, law enforcement personnel with FirstNet cellular service did not have notable 
interference with their connectivity.567  

To ensure that they were not missing a message, LLE needed to monitor their radio, 
phone calls, SMS, email, and Signal application, while USSS needed to monitor radio, 
phone calls, SMS, and email, all while attempting to perform other critical job functions. 
This fragmentation and lack of interoperability was ineffective and likely contributed to law 
enforcement not stopping Crooks sooner. 

 
Recommendations Related to: Failures in Execution 

12.  The USSS needs to make every effort to ensure representatives from all state 
and LLE agencies assisting with security for a protectee event are in a 
unified security room. While the OPO-08 policy update is a step in the right 
direction, a unified security room helps ensure real-time information sharing 
among all security partners. 

13. The USSS should ensure that all state and LLE partners have a 
communications plan in place for protectee events and a USSS special 
agent should be designated to collect and review those plans. This will 
help ensure communications between command post personnel and every law 
enforcement entity at the event. 

14.  USSS should ensure that its personnel and its state and local partners all 
establish a hierarchy for method of communication and each entity alert 
its Law Enforcement Officers (LEOs) when switching to a different 
medium. Generally, radios and government-issued devices should be used, 
with personal devices as a last resort. Also, it is helpful for state and LLE radios 
to have interoperability to be able to listen to other channels. 

15.  To assist with any potential reviews and investigations, USSS should record 
all USSS radio communications. USSS should record its radio 
communications and preserve any written communications while prohibiting 
the use of encrypted messages apps (e.g., Signal) that do not preserve data. 
Given how video footage helps with providing clarity to the public, USSS 
should make it a best practice for post standers to use body-worn-cameras during 
events. 

 
567 Commander Butler ESU Comm., Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 

on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 134-135 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force); Butler DES Tech., Butler Co. Emergency Mgmt. Servs. Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before 
the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 56-57 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file 
with the Task Force). 
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16. USSS should assess already-available technology and examine ways to 
utilize it to improve their operations. 

 
2. Escalations and Missed Opportunities to Intervene 

 
Why it matters:  Individual law enforcement officers missed several opportunities to 

locate and detain Crooks in the hour prior to the shooting 
 

The operational failures described above were compounded by several missed 
opportunities for individual law enforcement officers to locate and detain Crooks prior to 
the shooting. For example, Crooks was known to have a rangefinder as early as 5:10 p.m., 
but this was not reported to LLE leadership until approximately 5:38 p.m.568 Another costly 
delay occurred between 5:45 p.m., when the Butler ESU commander radioed that “PSP and 
Sheriffs [sic] should be en route,” and the actual mobilization of law enforcement officers, 
which did not occur until closer to 6:00 p.m. as BTPD personnel left their traffic posts 
and converged on the AGR complex.569  

 
568 Butler ESU Sniper Butler ESU Sniper testified that he recalled seeing a rangefinder at about 

5:10 p.m. Sniper Butler ESU Sniper, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on 
the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 35 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
Beaver ESU Sniper Ass’t Team Lead Beaver ESU Snip. ATL testified that he recalled seeing the 
range finder shortly before 5:38 p.m. Sniper Asst. Team Lead Beaver ESU Snip. ATL, Beaver ESU, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
110-111 (Sept. 11, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). Contemporaneous messages in possession of 
the Task Force that are described in this report indicate that the rangefinder was known to Butler ESU 
Sniper Butler ESU Sniper as early as 5:15 PM. Beaver ESU Snip. ATL may have informed Butler 
ESU Sniper of the rangefinder around that time. iMessage features automatically note the general 
time at which a message is sent— in this case 5:15 p.m.— but require a user to swipe left on a 
message in order to know the exact time that a message is sent, a screenshot of which has not been 
made available to the Task Force. 

569 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Presidential Rally Radio Timeline 7-13-2024, Sheet 
2, Row 227 (2024) (on file with the Task Force); As of 5:45, the law enforcement personnel on patrol 
closest to AGR were a PSP and BCSO pairing posted between the two fences separating the Butler 
Farm Show from AGR. Those personnel were not supposed to leave their posts, and as a result, they 
were not “en route” or otherwise moving at all. Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, PSP 
Response to Senate Committee on Homeland Sec. and Governmental Affairs – Final 8.14.24, 49 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). There were also two undercover PSP officers walking around 
the AGR complex and property prior to Crooks’ ascension to the roof, although this fact was unknown 
to the snipers in AGR. Trooper PSP Trp. 4, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Penn. 
State Police and the Fed. Bureau of Investigation, 6 (July 23, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); 
Trooper PSP Trp. 5, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Penn. State Police, 3 (Aug. 
9, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). The undercover officers had been dispatched by another PSP 
Trooper, but they were only given a brief description of Crooks, and did not receive a photograph of 
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LLE learned that Crooks was on the roof at around 6:08 p.m., when a BTPD officer 
reported Crooks’ location over the radio.570 That transmission was heard by Butler ESU 
Commander Butler ESU Comm. in the local command post, who then notified the PSP 
representative in the Security Room, PSP Sgt. PSP Sgt., but did not inform the tactical units 
inside the AGR building, who may have been able to confront Crooks directly if they had 
known his location.571 PSP Sgt. PSP Sgt. relayed Crooks’ location on the roof to USSS 
special agents present in the Security Room as soon as he received it.572 Although there is 
some dispute about which of the USSS special agents heard the information in the Security 
Room, no USSS special agents notified the DTD shift, USSS counter-snipers, or anyone 
other than Special Agent CS Resp., who was too far away to respond to the AGR complex in 
a timely manner. 

During this sequence, USSS Special Agents Site PI and CS Resp. undertook their own 
searches for Crooks. CS Resp. was under the mistaken impression that Crooks was inside 
the perimeter, and thus, they were searching in the wrong area.573 Additionally, the USSS 
counter- sniper team _____LES________, which had full visibility of the AGR roof (though 
they were not assigned to cover that space), may not have been looking at the AGR complex 
at all until approximately 6:09 or 6:10 p.m., and thus did not notice Crooks scaling the 
building or running across the roof.574  

Finally, CSTL CS TL observed LLE moving urgently at the 3 o’clock in the moments 
prior to the shooting, including at least one officer with his weapon drawn.575 This 
observation was never put over the radio. When asked how he would have reacted to this 

 
him in time to assist in their search, which would have made it challenging for them to locate Crooks. 
Trooper PSP Trp. 3, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Penn. State Police and the 
Fed. Bureau of Investigation, 5-6 (July 23, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

570 Officer BTPD Patrol 2, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 
Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 33 (Sept. 6, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

571 Commander Butler ESU Comm., Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 
on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 179-80 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

572 Sgt. PSP Sgt., Penn. State. Police, Recorded Administrative Interview Before Penn. State 
Police, 00:27:34 (Jul. 20, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

573 Special Agent CS Resp., Oklahoma City Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 95 (Oct. 31, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

574 Sgt. Technician CS Sgt. Tech., U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 
Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 30, 104-105, 108 (Nov. 20, 2024) (on file 
with the Task Force). 

575 Technician CS TL, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 166 (Oct. 22, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). CS 
Sgt. Tech. testified that this communication would have been Technician CS TL’s responsibility, as 
CS Sgt. Tech. was actively engaged on his weapon at the time. 
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information, ASAIC ASAIC DTD, DTD Second Supervisor and detail agent, stated that he 
would have rushed the stage before Crooks took a shot.576  

Many of these missed opportunities were linked to and exacerbated by the structural 
failures described elsewhere in this report, and the Task Force does not underestimate the 
challenge of making split-second decisions in an emergency situation. Nevertheless, these 
examples show that even with the flawed security structure at the rally site on July 13, there 
were several opportunities to locate and detain or apprehend Crooks that were 
unfortunately missed. 
  

 
576 Ass’t Special Agent in Charge ASAIC DTD, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret 

Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 130 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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Failures of Leadership 

1. Inadequate Training

Why it matters:  The lack of consistent and uniform training contributed to several 
failures on July 13, including those by personnel in critical positions 
who did not execute key parts of their job. The agency’s inability to 
troubleshoot the C-UAS system also reflects ineffective or 
inadequate training. 

Several of the failures that occurred in the lead up to the Butler rally and on the day 
of the rally could have been prevented had Secret Service special agents received adequate 
training. While there is an extensive pipeline when entering the Secret Service, several 
witnesses testified that there is little training for collateral duties other than on-the-job 
training.577 When entering the Secret Service, special agents attend a year-long academy 
that covers a range of topics, such as legal issues, investigations, and protection.578 Also, 
“all recruits and incoming classes receive protective intelligence training.”579  

 Assistant Director OPO Asst. Dir. testified that SAICs are “empowered” to coordinate 
training and to do on-the-job training and conduct tabletop exercises.580 SAICs are not 
required to obtain headquarters clearance for this type of training.581 The lack of formalized 
training leads to many special agents being asked to fulfill collateral roles, like protective 
intelligence, C-UAS, and security room post standing, with little formal training.582  

577 Special Agent CS Resp., Oklahoma City Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 12 (Oct. 31, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

578 At the beginning of a Special Agent’s career, they attend a special agent training course and, 
“all recruits and incoming classes receive protective intelligence training.” Sr. Special Agent Site PI, 
Phoenix Field Office, 

U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 14 (Nov. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

579 Sr. Special Agent Site PI, Phoenix Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview 
Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 14 (Nov. 5, 2024) (on file 
with the Task Force). 

580 Ass’t Dir., OPO Asst. Dir., Office of Protective Operations, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 78 (Nov. 8, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

581 Id. at 78-79. 
582 Special Agent PI Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, (Oct. 15, 2024) 
(on file with the Task Force). Special Agent in Charge Sec. Room Sup., Buffalo Field Office, U.S. 
Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of 
Donald J. Trump, 48 (Oct. 8, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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As discussed below, agents testified that they had different training than one another, 
which caused issues when they were working together (Site Agent vs. Site Counterpart), 
that they were unfamiliar with certain aspects of their training (CS Response), and that 
there was a need for updated training that reflects all likely scenarios that they might 
encounter (counter-sniper).583  

a. The agent assigned to the Protective Intelligence Advance role 
was inexperienced and poorly trained for the role. 

Intelligence relating to a protectee or a location can have a significant impact on the 
operational planning and execution of protective operations. The Secret Service has 
individuals who are full-time protective intelligence agents to conduct advances for 
specific individuals and will provide support for other protectees pending manpower 
availability.584 When a full-time protective intelligence agent is not available, “field offices 
will provide personnel to conduct PI advances for all other protectee travel in district.”585 
The PI advance agent: 

• Gathers, evaluates, and appropriately disseminates all relevant intelligence 
information related to the visit of a protectee; 

• Coordinates with the field office SAIC and the Lead Advance Agent; 

• Maintains communication with PID, other federal agencies, and LLE 
authorities; 

• Coordinates the use of protective intelligence teams consisting off [of] Secret 
Service and LLE personnel at protectee sites; and 

 
583 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 17 (Oct. 17, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force); Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, 
U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of 
Donald J. Trump, 74-75 (Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Special Agent CS Resp., 
Oklahoma City Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on 
the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 49-50 (Oct. 31, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); 
Technician CS Tech., U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 114 (Oct. 7, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

584 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Strategic 
Intelligence and Information. PIA-01, Bates 006197 (Jul. 12, 2022) (on file with the Task Force). 

585 Id. 
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• Responds to and resolves protective intelligence matters.586  

There was no full-time protective intelligence advance agent for the July 13 campaign 
rally, so the PIT assigned Special Agent PI Advance with that role. He testified that he had 
limited experience doing protective intelligence advances and that the only formal training 
that he received was during his time at the Secret Service Academy.587 When asked to 
provide an example of some of the on-the-job training that he had received to adequately 
fulfill the protective intelligence advance role, he could not provide any specific 
examples.588 He said the training consisted of, “just asking questions that need to be 
answered, working in partnership with agents that had more experience.”589  

It is standard practice for a protective intelligence advance agent to set up a router—
an e- mail chain with the rest of the advance team, to pass important and relevant 
information.590 Special Agent PI Advance testified that he could not recall whether he set up 
a protective intelligence router for July 13.591 There was no evidence that he set up a router. 
Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart testified that based on her PI experience, if she were 
aware that law enforcement was looking for a suspicious person with a rangefinder, she 
would send a BOLO with a picture over the PI router.592 She further testified that Special 
Agent PI Advance could have created a router at the time of the search, or at any time, or 
that he could have tasked someone to create that router.593 If he had, it is possible that DTD 
and other relevant personnel would have been made aware of the BOLO for Crooks. 

Additionally, the PI advance is responsible for being with the protectee for all 
movements.594 Special Agent PI Advance was in the _____________LES____________________ 
but moved away ___________LES________________ once he arrived at the Butler Farm 

 
586 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Protective 

Operations. OPO-03, Bates 006169 (Mar. 11, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
587 Special Agent PI Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 18-19 (Oct. 15, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

588 Id. at 40-41. 
589 Id. at 18-19. 
590 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the S. Comm on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs, 80 (Aug. 21, 2024) 
(on file with the Task Force). 

591 Special Agent PI Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 33 (Oct. 15, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

592 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 142-43 (Oct. 
17, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

593 Id. 
594 Sr. Special Agent Site PI, Phoenix Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview 

Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 84 (Nov. 5, 2024) (on file 
with the Task Force). 
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Show.595 The Site PI agent testified that, “…unless there’s something specific that they 
require the advance agent for, it’s not typical for the _______LES__________ to stray too far 
away _______LES__________.”596 When the former President was rushed off stage and back 
into the motorcade, Special Agent PI Advance was in the Security Room and missed the 
motorcade, leaving the former President without a PI advance.597 Again, had Special Agent 
PI Advance properly fulfilled his role as the protective intelligence advance agent, he would 
have been near the former President when he received word at 6:05 p.m. of a suspicious 
person with a rangefinder and could have verbally passed the information to the DTD who 
could have pulled former President Trump off the stage. Additionally, he would not have 
been left at the Butler Farm Show grounds, leaving President-elect Trump without a 
protective intelligence agent during the aftermath of the assassination attempt. 

Instead of ongoing and formal training for individuals who are fulfilling critical roles, 
the Secret Service relied on the concept of on-the-job training, which is subject to the 
experience level, teaching abilities, and eye for detail of whatever senior agent happens to 
be available. 

b. A lack of training kept the C-UAS system offline during a crucial 
period. 

The DTD had a C-UAS at the rally on July 13, but the system was not operational at 
critical moments because the special agent tasked to operate the technology had not been 
properly trained. 

Special Agent C-UAS Op. did not receive thorough training in troubleshooting the C-
UAS detection system, _____LES________. Special Agent C-UAS Op. only had a thirty-minute 
virtual training and a 30-minute in-person instruction by a more experienced agent in the 
use of the C-UAS system.598 Special Agent C-UAS Op. did not test the system between the 
last trip, where he successfully used it and the morning of the July 13 rally.599 Special Agent 
C-UAS Op. had difficulty identifying the cause of the C-UAS problems which delayed it 

 
595 Special Agent PI Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 59 (Oct. 15, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

596 Sr. Special Agent Site PI, Phoenix Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview 
Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 84 (Nov. 5, 2024) (on file 
with the Task Force). 

597 Special Agent PI Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 94 (Oct. 15, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

598 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
12, 14 (Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

599 Id. at 64-66. 
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being operational and missing the first opportunity to intervene in Crooks’ plan.600 The lack 
of training created a situation where the operator lacked understanding and guidance, 
leading to a critical failure. 

c. The Security Room Agent failed to ensure all entities were
represented there.

The USSS Security Room is the communications and coordination center for a site.601 
Internal policy holds that it should be operated by experienced personnel and, “can be 
staffed by other high-level essential personnel, if necessary.”602 The role of the agent in 
charge of the security room is to “run the radios, pass traffic, and to listen to the information 
that’s going back and forth with the detail and be able to pass that relevant information.”603 
The PIT SAIC intentionally put a senior special agent in the Security Room because he 
needed someone who could, “handle anything that might come up.”604  

Former OPO Assistant Director OPO Asst. Dir. testified that no specific training is 
provided to learn how to operate a Security Room; rather he testified that that he thought 
it was “part of overall training” that one would receive from the USSS “training 
academy.”605 SAIC BUF Sec. Room Sup., who operated the Security Room at the Butler 
rally site, testified that USSS has no specialized, command-post training, and that one 
would learn from “[o]bservation over time” and that “[F]rom working a site, you hear what 
the security room or the command post does” and “[Y]ou've witnessed enough of them, 
hopefully, over your career to know how they typically operate.”606 If Sec. Room Sup. knew 
to check for all local entities in the Security Room, the communication about Crooks with 
a rangefinder would have likely made it to DTD in time to either prevent the former President 
from going on the stage or remove him prior to shots being fired. 

600 Id. at 78, 80-81. 
601 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Protective 

Operations Manual OPO- 08, Communications, Bates 006249-006257, 006255 (Apr. 6, 2021) (on 
file with the Task Force). 

602 Id. 
603 Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 182 (Oct. 18, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

604 Special Agent in Charge SAIC PIT, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 57 (Oct. 25, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

605 Ass’t Dir. OPO Asst. Dir., Office of Protective Operations, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 106 (Nov. 8, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

606 Special Agent in Charge Sec. Room Sup., Buffalo Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 48 
(Oct. 8, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

57-705_text.pdf   123 12/20/24   8:00�AM



Butler, PA: Security Failures and Recommendations 

118 

d. A lack of uniform training caused misunderstandings among the 
advance planning team. 

Due to different training and experience, some special agents had different views of 
their roles and responsibilities with regard to advance planning. Special Agent Site Agent, 
the Site Agent for the Butler rally site, and Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart, the Site 
Counterpart, had different understandings of their and one other’s roles in the lead up to 
and on July 13.607 Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart testified that the Site Agent is “in 
charge of that particular site.”608 In contrast to this, Special Agent Site Agent testified, 
“maybe I've seen or I've got different information from the detail that the field office is 
ultimately responsible because [the local field office is] doing the visit.”609  

Special Agent Site Agent testified that when she was “Site Counterpart” at the Miami 
Field Office, “PPD [Presidential Protective Detail] or VPD [Vice-Presidential Protective 
Detail] will expect Miami will take over” i.e. “take responsibility of the site itself” and 
that the Miami Field Office would have “full overall responsibility.”610 This difference in 
perspective about the respective roles of the Site Agent and the Site Counterpart led to 
confusion regarding who was ultimately responsible for aspects of the Butler rally site on 
July 13. 

e. The roles and responsibilities for counter-sniper response were 
unclear. 

According to the Protective Operations manual, “[counter-sniper] response teams 
should be solely dedicated to positioned [counter-sniper] teams and immediately respond 
to suspicious activity in the area.”611 While CSR Special Agent CS Resp. testified this 
language was “familiar” and “believe[ed]” that he was shown this material in a course at the 
academy, he testified “it would be good to provide it every time you do a CS response as 

 
607 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 17 (Oct. 17, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force); Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, 
U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of 
Donald J. Trump, 74-75 (Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

608 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 17 (Oct. 17, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

609 Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 75 
(Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

610 Id. 
611 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Protective 

Operations Manual SOD- 08, Countersniper (CS) Team Overview, Responsibilities, and 
Qualifications, Bates 000125 (Nov. 29, 2023) (on file with the Task Force). 
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well.”612 However, Special Agent CS Resp.  “didn't talk to” CSTL Team Leader Technician 
CS TL at all throughout the entire event.613 Rather, Special Agent CS Resp. testified that he 
worked with Special Agent C-UAS Op., who spoke to Special Agent CS Resp. by phone and 
asked him to look for a suspicious person with a rangefinder, and sent a photo of Crooks 
via text message.614  

Special Agent CS Resp. also worked with Site PI Senior Special Agent Site PI, whom he 
encountered while searching for Crooks.615 Special Agent CS Resp. testified that Senior 
Special Agent Site PI told him to move to a different area to search “so we’re not putting 
all the bodies in one area.”616 Additionally, CSTL CS TL sent out an e-mail at 5:52 p.m. on 
July 13 with a photo of Crooks, issuing a local sniper be on the lookout alert, but he did 
not include Special Agent CS Resp. as a recipient.617 CS Resp. testified that this was 
“upsetting” and that “[he] would be expected” to “be part of these emails and any 
other communications, period, regarding a situation like this.”618  

Moreover, when Special Agent CS Resp. became operational as CS Response—after 
previously serving as relief agent earlier in the day—he did not communicate his 
movements to Technician CS TL, Special Agent Site Agent or Senior Special Agent Site 
Counterpart.619 CS Resp. testified, “I was not informed that they want every movement.”620 
However, the site post instructions for the Butler rally site, which CS Resp. received, 
instructed the CSR Agent to “[n]otify the Site SA of any CS response,” i.e. Special Agent 
Site Agent.621 CS Resp. testified he did not notify Special Agent Site Agent of any counter-
sniper responses or suspicious person activities he may have participated in, saying that 
“[he] did not reach out” because “[he] was under the impression she was in the security 
room, which is where all [his] calls came from.”622  

 
612 Special Agent CS Resp., Oklahoma City Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 49 (Oct. 31, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

613 Id. at 88. 
614 Id. at 64. 
615 Id. at 66-67. 
616 Id. at 67. 
617 Id. at 91. 
618 Id. 
619 Id. at 86-88. 
620 Id. at 88. 
621 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., E-mail from 

USSS Special Agent Site Agent to USSS Special Agent CS Resp. and others, Bates 003326 (Jul. 12, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force); Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of 
Homeland Sec., Site Post Instructions, Bates 003342 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

622 Special Agent CS Resp., Oklahoma City Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 51 (Oct. 31, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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f. USSS had to supplement coverage with inexperienced HSI 
personnel. 

Site Counterpart Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart testified that the majority of the 
post standers at the Butler rally site on July 13 were HSI special agents.623 She testified that 
she wanted more Secret Service personnel because “it’s a little more challenging” working 
with HSI agents because “you're having to explain the posts a lot more and you don't know 
whether they even have worked with us before.”624  

Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart testified that she heard that HSI agents receive 
“a 1-hour PowerPoint or something like that” before working a Secret Service detail, and 
that Secret Service would otherwise only provide the morning briefing the day of an event 
and the paperwork beforehand.625 While Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart testified that 
she was not concerned with using HSI agents at events she testified that she would have to 
do more work to provide “training and knowledge of how it all works” to HSI agents. 

g. USSS lacks consistent, ongoing training for some protective 
operations roles. 

For some specialized USSS roles, like the CAT, such ongoing training exists. For 
example, Special Agent CAT Op. testified that he received about _____LES________ days of 
CAT-specific training per year.626 However, Special Agent CAT Op. testified that while 
“[t]heoretically” he gets periodic training as a CAT member, whether he actually receives 
training “depends on [their] protective operations” which “takes precedence” but that he 
gets training when he is able to do so.627  

According to former Asst. Dir. of OPO OPO Asst. Dir., employees who go to DTD 
undergo small detail training (SDT) from the Directorate of Training, but this only occurs 
once.628 By contrast, OPO Asst. Dir. testified that PPD and VPD employees have cyclical 
opportunities to receive training at the RTC.629 Nevertheless, ASAIC ASAIC DTD testified 
DTD SAIC SAIC DTD provides training opportunities for members of the DTD over and 

 
623 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 37 (Oct. 17, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

624 Id. 
625 Id. at 65. 
626 Special Agent CAT Op, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 

on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 19 (Oct. 4, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
627 Id. at 17. 
628 Ass’t Dir. OPO Asst. Dir., Office of Protective Operations, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 69 (Nov. 8, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

629 Id. 
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above SDT.630 While there is a robust training pipeline when agents enter the Secret 
Service, there is a lack of continuous training throughout Secret Service special agent's 
careers with respect to some protective operations roles. There is a culture and practice of 
expecting on-the-job training to teach and prepare agents to fulfill critical roles like Security 
Room Lead and PI Advance. 

Understanding that the operational tempo is strenuous, the Secret Service needs to 
prioritize periodic training on protective operations during times when agents are available, 
and such training should take priority over investigative activities that are unrelated to 
protective operations.631  

Recommendations Related to: Inadequate Training 
17. Prioritize periodic training on protective operations in order to ensure that

agents stay current on their training, even during busy times. Many agents
testified that when operational tempo is high, training often becomes a casualty. 

18. Provide more defined training curriculum and set specific requirements and
timeframes for regular training. Many agents testified that they do not have 
set ongoing training standards. 

19. Work with HSI to ensure that HSI agents that participate in Secret Service-
led protective operations receive training that is appropriate to the tasks 
that they are asked to support. 

2. Failure to Delineate Roles and Responsibilities

Why it matters: Secret Service personnel did not clearly understand their roles or 
responsibilities for advance preparation or day-of-coverage on July 
13. Absent specific and complete guidance from Secret Service

630 Ass’t Special Agent in Charge ASAIC DTD, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret 
Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 19 (Oct. 31, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

631 Indep. Review Panel, Report of the Independent Review Panel on the July 13, 2024 
Assassination Attempt in Butler, Pennsylvania, 32 (Oct. 15, 2024) 
https://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/2024-10/24_1017_opa-Independent- Review-Panel-Final-
Report-and-Accompanying-Materials.pdf. 

57-705_text.pdf   127 12/20/24   8:00�AM



Butler, PA: Security Failures and Recommendations 

122 

manuals, training, or supervisor input, individuals were left to define 
their own sets of responsibilities, which led to duplication of efforts, 
gaps in coverage, and a lack of ownership of the overall security of 
the July 13 rally. Thomas Crooks exploited areas here, the roles and 
responsibilities of law enforcement were especially unclear. 

a. Secret Service personnel did not have clear roles, 
responsibilities, or reporting lines. 

Among the Lead Agent, Site Agent, and Site Counterpart—the three agents in charge 
of advance planning for the primary site of the July 13 rally—there was no clear delineation 
of roles between the Site Agent and Site Counterpart. The Secret Service’s Protective 
Operations Manual confers upon the Site Agent responsibility for site security.632 In no 
documents produced to the Task Force was there a definition of “Site Counterpart” nor a 
description of that agent’s responsibilities.633 The Lead Agent, Senior Special Agent Lead 
Advance, described the two roles as a collective—“the Site Agents”—working together 
with the Site Counterpart from the Pittsburgh Field Office leading local counterpart 
coordination and the Site Agent providing a bridge back to the Donald Trump Detail.634 

Special Agent Site Agent acknowledged that it was her “responsibility solely” as the 
Site Agent for the Butler Farm Show site to design the security plan for the July 13 rally 
and coordinate the visit’s logistical aspects.635 She went on to hedge her role, however, by 
saying she shared these responsibilities with the Site Counterpart and that her 
understanding from the DTD was that she was there to assist the field office—a description 
that Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart disagreed with, describing her role as one of 
support to the Site Agent.636  

 
632 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Protective 

Operations Manual OPO- 06, Site Security, Bates 000097-000105, 000097 (on file with the Task 
Force). 

633 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Protective 
Operations Manual OPO- 06, Site Security, Bates 000097-000105, 000097, 000102-103 (describing 
certain Site Agent responsibilities) and 000086 (describing certain Lead Advance Agent 
responsibilities) (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

634 Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 18, 41-43 (Oct. 
30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

635 Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
21, 40-41, 74 (Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force) (“As the site agent you have full 
responsibility of the site.”) 

636 Id. at 21, 40-41, 168; Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret 
Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 16 (Oct. 17, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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In her attempt to articulate her role as Site Agent to the Task Force, Special Agent Site 
Agent described an understanding built on her experience in the Miami Field Office and 
working with the DTD, which may have differed from expectations of the PIT. For example, 
Special Agent Site Agent testified that in her experience, the field office would supply a Site 
Agent, but on July 13, she was staffed as the Site Agent based on the practice of the DTD. 
She stated: 

TF STAFF: [. . .] So is that part of your role, as you 
understood it? 

Site Agent: That's -- that's what I'm saying about the 
difference when I was in the Miami Field 
Office, because when you're in charge of 
the site for an event, you're just overall 
person in charge of that site, because 
you're being assigned directly from the 
field office that you’re going to be the 
site agent  [. . .] So it is my understanding 
from talking, having conversations with 
DTD supervisors that [DTD] [. . .] is more 
like having a representation from their 
detail to provide the field office with the 
expectations from supervisors, like what 
to expect on game day, pretty much. 
You're assisting them with the planning 
and coordination, but not in charge overall 
of the event.637  

Special Agent Site Agent acknowledged there was some level of confusion as to the 
division of responsibilities between herself and Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart.638 
Despite these differing views as to the advance team leadership’s roles, the Lead Agent, Site 
Agent, and Site Counterpart never came together at the outset of the July 13 planning to 
ensure they were on the same page as to each other’s precise responsibilities.639 As a result 

 
637 Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 

Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 31 
(Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

638 Id. at 73. 
639 Id. at 11, 14. (“But when you go as representation from the detail in this case, you work 

with your counterparts, you work with the field office, and specific roles are not discussed at that 
point.”); Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 51 (Oct. 17, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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of both confusion as to roles and failures to follow through on responsibilities, key aspects 
of the security plan were not thoroughly vetted: 

• The Site Counterpart coordinated with some, but not all, local and state 
counterparts. The Site Agent did not share with her colleague all relevant 
local points of contact, and where the Site Counterpart did work with them, 
it was largely through the Pennsylvania State Police without directly speaking 
to LLE agencies.640  

• The Site Agent never saw it within her responsibility to test the judgments of 
tactical experts—namely those of Technician CS TL, the CSTL, in 
determining where he planned to place Secret Service counter-snipers and his 
deference to the Butler ESU team to determine their own sniper positioning.641 
To the extent the Site Counterpart did question those tactical assets, she did so 
selectively, and did not follow-up with the subject matter experts in charge to 
discuss how their decisions fit in the overall security planning.642  

• The Site Agent, despite appreciating that it was her responsibility to do so, 
did not ensure the Security Room was appropriately staffed and that all 
communication channels were being monitored.643  

Adding to the muddled spheres of responsibility, there were differing accounts of the 
reporting lines: a supervisor in the PIT placed responsibility for event oversight solely with 
the DTD supervisors;644 others in the PIT understood there to be reporting lines to both the 

 
640 See, e.g., Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 

Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
107 (Oct. 17, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); see also “Failure to Secure The AGR Complex” 
Section 

641 See, e.g., Team Lead Butler ESU Snip. TL, Butler Co. ESU, Transcribed Interview Before 
the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 130 (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force); See also “Failure to Secure The AGR Complex” Section. 

642 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 113-114 (Oct. 
17, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

643 Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
21, 40-41 (Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Special Agent in Charge SAIC PIT, Pittsburgh 
Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 58 (Oct. 25, 2024) (on file with the Task Force) (“The site agent 
is responsible to make sure that all the entities are in the security room that are supposed to be there.” 
See also “Fragmented Communications and Separate Command Posts” section. 

644 Special Agent in Charge SAIC PIT, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 38 (Oct. 25, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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field office and detail;645 the DTD Operations Supervisor, who acted as the Second 
Supervisor for the July 13 event, said the Lead Agent needed to keep the field office 
informed while expecting the Site Agent to raise concerns to him as well as those on the 
ground;646 and the Site Agent saw her reporting obligations as flowing up to the Detail.647  

In reporting up to those detail supervisors, the Site Agent did not appreciate the 
responsibility she had to present a thorough security plan. Instead, she expected that the 
supervisors—who had not been on site all week nor were they required to have been—would 
catch any errors and question every decision.648  

Overlapping responsibilities and redundancies are critical to the Secret Service’s 
mission, but such overlaps must be created with intentionality and understood by those 
charged with carrying out the mission.649 Ultimately, the Site Agent did not take ownership 
of the security of the entire site but rather deflected responsibility in an expectation that her 
counterpart and supervisors would fill any gaps in her duties. 

b. The Secret Service failed to effectively delineate roles and 
responsibilities for state and local partners. 

From Monday, July 8, through the day of the rally on Saturday, July 13, the Secret 
Service had limited coordination, did not share sufficient information, and failed to conduct 
a unified operational briefing with all state and LLE agencies assisting with event security. 

 
645 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 51; (Oct. 17, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force); Ass’t to the Special Agent in Charge ATSAIC PIT, Pittsburgh 
Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 39 (Oct. 16, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Sr. Special Agent 
Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 
Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 17 (Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

646 Ass’t Special Agent in Charge ASAIC DTD, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret 
Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 87 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

647 Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
17, 58 (Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). (“I was not reporting directly to SAIC SAIC PIT 
[…] for this particular assignment. My direct interaction and contact was with ATSAIC ASAIC DTD 
as DTD supervisor […]”). 

648 See, e.g., Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
174-75 (Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force) (expecting DTD supervisors to bring line of 
sight concerns to her attention). 

649 See, e.g., Ass’t Dir. OPO Asst. Dir., Office of Protective Operations, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 20 
(Nov. 8, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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Additionally, members of the USSS advance team met primarily with PSP because they 
believed, though did not verify, that the state police were coordinating all LLE planning 
despite each local agency having differing assignments and operations plans.650 These 
failures by the USSS hindered state and LLE partners from properly planning their 
respective roles and made the responsibilities of all involved unclear. 

In preparation for the rally, the USSS began collaborating with state and LLE agencies 
on July 8. The USSS hosted what it refers to as a “police meeting” where assisting police, 
fire, and other emergency responders meet with the agency advance team to discuss the 
upcoming protectee visit.651 The police meeting, led by Senior Special Agent Lead Advance, 
consisted of a presentation with minimal operational details—at least in part due to the 
Secret Service not yet having all pertinent details of the visit—despite the Secret Service 
Protective Operations policy manual, stating that the police meeting should discuss 
“additional personnel/asset requirements.”652 Instead, it covered USSS advance team 
contact information, _______LES__________ USSS personnel, and functions of the various 
USSS divisions that would be present during the rally.653 After the presentation, attendees 
split into four breakout groups: tactical units, transportation, the site, and protective 
intelligence.654 Local and state law enforcement also shared their contact information with 
USSS to facilitate ongoing planning throughout the week.655  

During the presentation and breakout groups, the USSS did not cover specific staffing 
or asset requests for state and LLE agencies, which was not what state and LLE expected.656 
Butler ESU Dep. Commander Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 2, who was at the police meeting, 
stated that the breakout session “was just a very quick, very short exchange of 

 
650 See generally, “Failure to Secure The AGR Complex” Section. 
651 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Protective 

Operations Manual OPO-03, Protective Advance, Bates 006166–006181, 6177 (2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 

652 CAT Team Lead Butler ESU CAT TL, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 
Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 10 (Sep. 16, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force); Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Protective 
Operations Manual OPO-03, Protective Advance, Bates 006166– 006181, 6177 (2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 

653 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 1342 (2024) 
(on file with the Task Force). 

654 Id. 
655 See, e.g., Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 

Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
62-63 (Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

656 Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 12 (Nov. 16, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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information.”657 PSP Lt. PSP Lt. 1, who attended the police meeting, stated that he hoped 
there would be an opportunity to ask questions to guide his operational planning; however, 
the USSS did not provide essential details, such as where the stage would be located.658 
Additionally, information regarding the location of the Security Room was not provided.659 
Absent that information, the USSS and state and LLE were limited in properly planning 
for July 13. 

On July 9, the Secret Service advance team and two PSP Lieutenants conducted a 
brief walkthrough of the rally location, followed by a meeting to discuss the site.660 PSP Lt. 
PSP Lt. 1, who was part of the walkthrough, stated that no state or local security post 
assignments were discussed on Tuesday because they did not walk the entire rally 
location.661 Lt. PSP Lt. 1 testified that “we walked down to where the stage was at and then 
[…] we did walk back over to the hangars. And then we were up at the main gate and we 
left.”662 Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart testified to the Task Force that certain aspects 
of the security plan began to come together during the post-walk- through meeting; 
however, there were many unknowns about the site, for which reason “we were going to 
have to walk the perimeter to specifically address every area of concern.”663 That 
walkthrough occurred on Thursday, July 11.664  

LLE partners were not present at the July 9 walkthrough. It is unclear if LLE was 
invited to the walkthrough or meeting.665 USSS Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart stated 
that she primarily communicated with PSP because the state police “was in control and in 
discussions with the other township's command to put the plan together.”666 Senior Special 

 
657 Dep. Commander Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 2, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before 

the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 12-13 (Sep. 12, 2024) (on file 
with the Task Force). 

658 Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 11 (Nov. 16, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

659 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 1351 (2024) 
(on file with the Task Force). 

660 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 68 (Oct. 17, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

661 Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 20 (Nov. 16, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

662 Id. at 21. 
663 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 69 (Oct. 17, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

664 Id. 
665 Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 

Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 20 (Nov. 16, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
666 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 41 (Oct. 17, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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Agent Site Counterpart testified that PSP was “the lead agency in charge of the Butler Farm 
Show.”667 Despite Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart’s characterization of PSP, state 
police were not in charge. BTPD and Butler ESU drafted separate operations plans and 
were tasked with separate security assignments, though aspects of those plans were also 
incorporated into PSP’s Operations Plan.668 The only LLE agency the PSP directly 
coordinated with for security posts was the Butler County Sheriff’s Office. The PSP 
operations plan included posts for both troopers and Butler County Sheriff’s Office 
deputies.669 Even with the joint operations plan, PSP Lt. PSP Lt. 1 did not consider himself in 
command of Butler County Sheriff’s Office deputies on July 13 because Chief Deputy 
Sheriff’s Chief Deputy was also on-site.670 

It was not until Thursday, July 11, just two days before the rally, that the Secret 
Service coordinated with all state and LLE partners regarding security posts and staffing 
requirements.671 However, at no point before, during, or after the Thursday walkthrough 
did state or LLE receive any operations plans, briefing materials, or written security post 
instructions from the USSS.672 Critical information was not shared during the walkthrough, 
including: 

• BTPD Lt. BTPD Lt. 1  stated that the walk-through started in the building that the 
USSS planned to use as their Security Room; however, there was no discussion of 
who from state and LLE would be located in the room on July 13, nor was there an 
invite to be in the room—an allegation that Secret Service disputes.673  

• Lt. BTPD Lt. 1 stated that he informed USSS Senior Special Agent Site 
Counterpart that an officer from his agency would be posted at the Brady Paul 
Lane entrance of the rally location.674 Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart 

 
667 Id. 
668 Production to Task Force, Butler Township Police Dep’t, Trump operational plan BTPD 

scan (2024) (on file with the Task Force); Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Presidential Rally 
7-13-24 Final OP-Plan Updated (2024) (on file with the Task Force); Production to Task Force, Penn. 
State Police, PSP Response to Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs - 
Final 8.14.24, 54 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

669 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, PSP Response to Senate Committee on 
Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs - Final 8.14.24, 54 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

670 Lt. PSP Lt. 1, Penn. State Police, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 46 (Nov. 16, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

671 Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
124 (Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

672 Lt. BTPD Lt. 1 , Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on 
the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 30-31 (Sep. 6, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

673 Id. at 16-17. 
674 Id. at 18. 
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responded that a USSS agent would supplement the officer.675 Despite Senior 
Special Agent Site Counterpart relaying that information to Lt. BTPD Lt. 1 , he 
was never told that the motorcade would use that entrance.676  

• Coverage of the AGR building was vaguely discussed; however, no definitive
security plan was established. During the walkthrough, the USSS advance team
did not discuss providing coverage of the AGR building with Lt. BTPD Lt. 1
despite it being within his agency’s jurisdiction.677 When PSP asked if BTPD
would be able to post a squad car in the AGR’s east parking lot, Lt. BTPD Lt. 1
stated that his agency did not have the capacity to do so.678

No other walkthroughs, meetings, or briefings took place before or on the day of the 
rally on July 13 among the Secret Service and state or LLE partners. The Secret Service 
conducted a briefing for USSS and HSI personnel on the morning of the rally that state and 
LLE personnel were not invited to attend.679 According to an interview before PSP and the 
FBI, PSP Sgt. PSP Sgt., stationed in the USSS Security Room, went with Special Agent C-
UAS Op. to the USSS morning briefing.680 According to Sgt. PSP Sgt. testimony, USSS 
Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart told Sgt. PSP Sgt., “Hey, you don't need to be here for 
this. This is just for Secret Service.”681 The Secret Service contradicts this allegation.682 
Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart stated that she did not remember that conversation 
occurring.683 At least two other briefings took place on the morning of the rally, one hosted 

675 Id. 
676 Id. at 19. 
677 Id. at 17. 
678 Id. 
679 Special Agent Site Agent, Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service 

Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 54 
(Oct. 30, 2024) (on file with the Task 

Force); Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Bates 
00828-00832 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

680 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 127-128 (Oct. 
17, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

681 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, Recorded Interview of Penn. State Police Sgt. 
PSP Sgt. (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

682 See, e.g., Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump 
(Oct. 17, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). Sgt. PSP Sgt. did not make himself available to the Task 
Force for an interview. 

683 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 127-128 (Oct. 
17, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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by Butler ESU, which included Beaver and Washington County tactical teams, and a 
separate briefing for BTPD officers.684  

The USSS hosted only one planning meeting on July 8 and one walkthrough on July 
11, which included all state and LLE partners. The lack of collaboration ultimately led to 
gaps in situational awareness for the USSS and state and LLE agencies. With operations 
plans from various agencies being drafted up until the night of July 12, the Secret Service 
and its state and local counterparts would have benefitted from daily unified check-ins and 
a final unified briefing in advance of the event to ensure each agency had a clear 
understanding of its role for the July 13 event and any gaps in coverage areas could have 
been addressed. 

 
Recommendations Related to: Failure to Delineate Roles and 

Responsibilities 

20.  Confirm key points of contact. Early in the planning process, the USSS advance 
team needs to confirm the primary representative for each state and LLE 
agency and which agencies will be working jointly and independently drafting 
operations plans. 

21.  Provide a unified briefing on the day of the event. The USSS needs to provide 
a unified briefing either the day of a protectee visit or the day before, which 
includes at least one representative from all state and LLE agencies assisting 
with an event. Doing so will help eliminate gaps in situational awareness and 
ensure critical information is shared more broadly. 

22.  Conduct mandatory pre-event meetings for key stakeholders on a daily basis. 
Secret Service should also consider mandating daily “check-in” meetings in the 
days immediately before an event for all relevant state and local counterparts 
involved in event security. 

 
684 See, e.g., Lt. BTPD Lt. 1 , Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 

Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 23 (Sep. 6, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force); Commander Butler ESU Comm., Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 
on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, (Sep. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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23.  Secret Service must affirmatively state which USSS office or protective detail 
is the lead for an event. This designation should be based on the event 
location, available resources, protectee threat assessment, and overall risk 
profile of an event. The protective detail and local field office should 
undoubtedly work together to complement each other’s strengths – the local 
field office may be better acquainted with a site and have relationships with LLE 
while a detail has insight into the protectee’s expectations – but the Secret Service 
must designate and document the single lead entity and reporting lines for an 
event. 
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Aftermath 

Why it matters: The evening of Crooks’ death, two criminal investigations began. The 
Pennsylvania State Police and FBI agreed that the FBI would lead 
the collection of evidence to prevent conflict and redundancy. This 
decision made FBI, as a practical matter, the primary keeper of 
relevant evidence moving forward. 

1. Chronology of Immediate Aftermath 
Almost immediately after USSS Counter-sniper CS Sgt. Tech. fired the shot that killed 

Crooks, a tactical ground element gained access to the roof of AGR building.685 Upon 
seeing that Crooks appeared to be deceased, Butler ESU ATL Butler ESU Op. ATL relayed 
over the radio, “[t]he shooter is down, he’s down hard.”686 An operator from Washington 
SWAT moved Crook’s gun, a black DPMS/Panther Arms semi-automatic rifle, 
approximately ten feet away from his body, and then helped to secure Crooks’ arms behind 
his back with flex cuffs.687  

ATL Butler ESU Op. ATL called for a medic to come to the rooftop, whereby Beaver ESU 
medic Beaver ESU Medic pronounced Crooks deceased at 6:25 p.m.688 Additional LLE and 
Secret Service personnel arrived at the roof shortly thereafter.689 A Washington SWAT 
operator searched Crooks’ pockets and pulled out a radio transmitter resembling a garage 
door opener, raising suspicions that Crooks possessed or placed an improvised explosive 

 
685 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, General Offense Report, 21 (Oct. 21, 2024) 

(on file with the Task Force); Ass’t Team Leader Butler ESU Op. ATL, Butler ESU, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 60-61 (Sept. 
13, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

686 Ass’t Team Leader Butler ESU Op. ATL, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the 
Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 61 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 

687 Id. at 61-62; Det. BTPD Detective, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before 
the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 21 (Sept. 6, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force); Medic Beaver ESU Medic, Beaver ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 
Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 54-55 (Sept. 11, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force); Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, General Offense Report, 17, 21 (Oct. 21, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

688 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Electronic 
Communication, Contact with Coroner's Office, 2 (Jul. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); 
Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, General Offense Report, 11-12, 21 (Oct. 21, 2024) (on 
file with the Task Force). 

689 Ass’t Team Leader Butler ESU Op. ATL, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the 
Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 64 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 
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device (IED) in the area.690 Law enforcement subsequently summoned a bomb squad to 
assess the situation.691 ATL Butler ESU Op. ATL testified that Allegheny County Police 
Department Bomb Squad (Allegheny EOD) responded, removed the battery from the radio 
transmitter, and left the roof.692  

Shortly thereafter, law enforcement personnel on the roof were informed that a 
possible IED was found in the AGR building they were standing on top of.693 All personnel 
evacuated the roof and took cover.694 ATL Butler ESU Op. ATL estimates that approximately 
thirty minutes passed before an “all clear” was sounded.695 By that time, state and federal 
law enforcement agencies had arrived at the scene; LLE did not return to the roof.696 The 
FBI then assumed control of the crime scene from the Secret Service; the SAIC of the FBI 
Pittsburgh Field Office, FBI SAIC PIT, took command of the crime scene and subsequent 
response.697  

Agents from the ATF ordered an immediate E-Trace for Crooks’ rifle to be completed 
through the National Tracing Center.698 The resulting E-Trace Report led back to Crooks’ 
father through his February 2013 purchase of the rifle.699 This led to the identification of 
Thomas Matthew Crooks as the suspect. At approximately 9:20 p.m., ATF special agents 
were instructed to prepare to travel to Crooks’ residence.700  

 
690 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, General Offense Report, 15, 17 (Oct. 21, 2024) 

(on file with the Task Force); Production to Task Force, Beaver ESU, FPOTUS After Action, 6 
(produced Aug. 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

691 Ass’t Team Leader Butler ESU Op. ATL, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the 
Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 65 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 

692 Id. 
693 Id. at 67; Medic Beaver ESU Medic, Beaver ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 

Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 56-57 (Sept. 11, 2024) (on file with the Task 

Force). 
694 Ass’t Team Leader Butler ESU Op. ATL, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the 

Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 67 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 

695 Id. at 68. 
696 Id.; Medic Beaver ESU Medic, Beaver ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force 

on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 57 (Sept. 11, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
697 Kevin Rojek, Remarks by FBI Pittsburgh Special Agent in Charge Kevin Rojek at Press 

Briefing on the Investigation of the Butler, Pennsylvania, Assassination Attempt, FED. BUREAU OF 
INVESTIGATION, U.S. DEP’T OF JUSTICE (Jul. 29, 2024). 

698 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, General Offense Report, 17 (Oct. 21, 2024) 
(on file with the Task Force). 

699 Id. 
700 Production to Task Force, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, U.S. Dep’t 

of Justice, Report 
of Investigation, Report 5 (produced Nov. 18, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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a. Discovery of IEDs in Crooks’ residence and vehicle. 
The entire area along Whitestown Road and the AGR complex was placed under a 

safety cordon while Explosives & Ordinance Disposal (EOD) teams swept for IEDs.701 
Secret Service TSI TSI Agent connected with the local bomb squad sergeant to create a plan 
to search for the device.702 TSI TSI Agent then deployed the military EOD and military K-9 
assets assigned to the Butler campaign event to search the AGR building and the 
surrounding area.703 No IEDs were discovered in the AGR complex or the immediate 
vicinity.704 

Bethel Park Police Department (BPPD) established covert surveillance of Crooks’ 
residence at approximately 10:45 p.m. while the Assistant United States Attorney (AUSA) 
worked with the FBI on securing a search warrant for the residence.705 At 10:56 p.m., 
Crooks’ father placed a 911 call regarding his son, stating that he had left earlier that 
afternoon with his rifle, claimed to be going to the local gun club, and uncharacteristically 
had not returned home.706 The 911 dispatcher escalated this information, which was then 
relayed to the ATF.707  

ATF and PSP personnel approached Crooks’ residence at approximately 11:40 p.m.708 
After identifying themselves as law enforcement, Crooks’ father exited the residence, 
stepped onto the front porch, and asked something to the effect of “Is it true? CNN called 
me and told me that [redacted] shot Trump.”709 Crooks’ father then provided verbal consent 

 
701 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, General Offense Report, 15 (Oct. 21, 2024) 

(on file with the Task Force). 
702 Technical Security Division Advance TSI Agent, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview 

Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 92 (Oct. 10, 2024) (on 
file with the Task Force). 

703 Id. 
704 Id. 
705 Production to Task Force, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, U.S. Dep’t 

of Justice, Report of Investigation, Report 3, Report 5, (produced Nov. 18, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 

706 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Detailed 
History for Police Event #P240610039 (Jul. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Production to 
Task Force, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Report of 
Investigation, Report 7 (produced Nov. 18, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

707 Production to Task Force, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, U.S. Dep’t 
of Justice, Report of Investigation, Report 7 (produced Nov. 18, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

708 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, General Offense Report, 15 (Oct. 21, 2024) 
(on file with the Task Force); Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms briefing to Task Force staff 
(Sept. 9, 2024) (notes on file with Task Force majority staff); Production to Task Force, Bureau of 
Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Report of Investigation, Report 5 
(produced Nov. 18, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

709 Production to Task Force, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, U.S. Dep’t 
of Justice, Report of Investigation, Report 3 (produced Nov. 18, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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for investigators to enter and search the residence, upon which ATF and PSP investigators 
initiated a protective sweep.710 By 11:45 p.m., the investigators discovered suspected IED 
components and construction materials in Crooks’ bedroom.711 All occupants of Crooks’ 
residence and the neighboring homes were subsequently evacuated, and Allegheny EOD 
was notified.712 FBI special agents arrived on scene shortly thereafter and, together with 
ATF special agents, began to interview Crooks’ father at 11:57 p.m.713 During the interview, 
Crooks’ father stated that he had previously sold the rifle to his son for $500.714  

Using the description provided by Crooks’ father, Allegheny EOD discovered Crooks’ 
vehicle parked along Whitestown Road near the front of the AGR complex at approximately 
12:30 a.m. on July 14.715 Crooks’ vehicle and the areas surrounding the AGR complex were 
then assessed for IEDs.716 The Allegheny EOD personnel located a device in the trunk of 
Crooks’ vehicle, which was determined to be a significant threat.717 Other items discovered 
in Crooks’ vehicle included a bottle of clear liquid and an ammunition storage box filled 
with a questionable mass that had a radio receiver attached to it.718 Also found in the vehicle 
was a commercially-produced drone and a paired remote control.719  

Per the FBI, upon discovering the IEDs in Crooks’ car, Allegheny EOD “robotically 
dissembled the devices” and “dumped the material in the street.”720 Upon visually 
identifying two distinct materials, they took samples of each, tested them, and then burned 
the remainder with kerosene for safety.721 The mass of these materials is therefore 
unknown.722 

710 Id. 
711 Id. at Report 2; Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, General Offense Report, 15-

16 (Oct. 21, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
712 Production to Task Force, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, U.S. Dep’t 

of Justice, Report of Investigation, Report 3, Report 5, Report 6 (produced Nov. 18, 2024) (on file 
with the Task Force). 

713 Id. at Report 3, Report 5. 
714 Id. at Report 3. 
715 Id. at Report 3, Report 8; Technical Security Division Advance TSI Agent, U.S. Secret 

Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. 
Trump, 93 (Oct. 10, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, 
General Offense Report, 15 (Oct. 21, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

716 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, General Offense Report, 15 (Oct. 21, 2024) 
(on file with the Task Force). 

717 Id. 
718 Id. 
719 Id. at 17. 
720 FBI Briefing in Quantico, Virginia to Task Force Members and Staff (Nov. 18, 2024) (notes 

on file with Task Force Majority Staff). 
721 Id. 
722 Id. 
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Allegheny EOD personnel traveled to Crooks’ residence and removed the suspected 
IED from Crooks’ bedroom at approximately 3:30 a.m. on July 14.723 They subsequently 
disarmed the device in the driveway of the residence.724 Upon reentering the home to 
conduct a final sweep, ATF agents took 34 photographs that were subsequently logged into 
the ATF evidence vault, but did not search for or seize evidence during this re-entry and 
assessment.725  

b. Crime scene release and subsequent investigations. 
Due to the nature of the incident and for jurisdictional considerations, command staff 

from PSP and the FBI conducted tandem investigations.726 However, to deconflict and 
prevent redundant reporting, the decision was made for PSP Forensic Services Unit 
personnel only to assist the FBI Evidence Response Team (FBI ERT) and not to collect, 
process, or photograph any evidence obtained.727  

FBI ERT personnel photographed the scene and processed it for physical evidence.728 
Eight 0.223 Remington/5.56mm rifle expended cartridge casings were found on the roof 
near Crooks’ shooting position.729 In addition to Crooks’ rifle, they seized the firearms of 
USSS CS CS Sgt. Tech. and Butler ESU CAT TL Butler ESU CAT TL 2 to be analyzed by the 
FBI laboratory.730 Items submitted for trace evidence were sent to the FBI laboratories in 
Quantico, Virginia and Huntsville, Alabama.731 The FBI’s forensic examination of ballistic 
evidence found on the AGR roof was still ongoing at the time the Task Force visited the 
FBI laboratory.732  

After rendering the scene safe, the FBI contacted the Butler County Coroner’s Office 
to take custody of Crooks’ body. The coroner subsequently removed Crooks’ body from 
the scene during the early hours of July 14.733 The scene remained secured until the 

 
723 Production to Task Force, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, U.S. Dep’t 

of Justice, Report of Investigation, Report 5, Report 10 (produced Nov. 18, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 

724 Id. at Report 10. 
725 Id. 
726 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, General Offense Report, 15 (Oct. 21, 2024) 

(on file with the Task Force). 
727 Id. 
728 Id. at 13. 
729 Id. at 17. 
730 Id. at 12. 
731 Id.  
732 FBI Briefing in Quantico, Virginia to Task Force Members and Staff (Nov. 18, 2024) (notes 

on file with Task Force Majority Staff). 
733 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, General Offense Report, 17 (Oct. 21, 2024) 

(on file with the Task Force); Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of 
Justice, FBI Update 8.28.24, 2 (Aug. 28, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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following morning so that additional FBI ERT personnel could arrive, process the scene, 
and collect evidence.734 The FBI and PSP released the crime scene at the Butler Farm Show 
grounds, and the AGR complex, to the property owners on a rolling basis, after collecting 
any items of evidentiary value.735 The FBI’s process for releasing the AGR complex 
included cleaning the biological material from the AGR roof.736 The FBI completed the 
final release of the scene on July 20—seven days after the attack.737 

2. Autopsy & Toxicology Reports

a. Autopsy logistics.
Due to the complexities and scope of the investigation, the Butler County Coroner’s 

Office deferred to the Allegheny County Office of the Medical Examiner (Allegheny ME) 
to conduct the autopsy of Crooks, which was performed at 9:15 a.m. on July 14 and 
observed by FBI and PSP personnel.738 A secondary examination was performed on July 15 
to collect additional evidence.739  

After examinations concluded, the Butler County Coroner's Office consulted with the 
FBI to determine if there were any additional necessary investigative steps with respect to 
the body.740 The FBI determined there were not, and the FBI and PSP concurred with the 
Butler County Coroner’s Office decision to release the remains to the subject’s family.741 
Crooks’ body was released to the funeral home on July 22.742  

734 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, General Offense Report, 17 (Oct. 21, 2024) 
(on file with the Task Force). 

735 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI Update 
8.28.24, 2 (Aug. 28, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

736 Id. 
737 Id. 
738 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, General Offense Report, 17 (Oct. 21, 2024) 

(on file with the Task Force); Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical 
Examiner, Autopsy Report, 3 (Aug. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); FBI Update 8.28.24, Fed. 
Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, 3 (Aug. 28, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

739 Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical Examiner, Crooks 
Investigator Narrative, 2 (Aug. 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

740 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI Update 
8.28.24, 3 (Aug. 28, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

741 Id. 
742 Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical Examiner, Crooks 

Investigator Narrative, 2 (Aug. 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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b. The autopsy and toxicology reports conclude Crooks died from 
a single gunshot wound to the head. 

The Allegheny ME subsequently prepared autopsy and toxicology reports.743 The 
Autopsy Report was authored by Dr. Allegheny ME, Chief Medical Examiner of the 
Allegheny ME, and published on August 5, 2024.744 It concludes that Crooks died as a 
result of a single gunshot wound to the head.745 All reviewable evidence collected from the 
AGR roof and the subject’s body are consistent with the round fired by the Secret Service 
counter-sniper.746  

The Autopsy Report describes a single entry wound on the upper left lip, and a 
corresponding exit wound in the right lateral neck.747 The bullet track is reported as a 
downward, backward, and rightward direction.748 The exit wound of the right lateral neck 
has an adjacent patterned abrasion, which is consistent with a rifle buttstock abrasion.749  

The Autopsy Report describes a single re-entry and two re-exit wounds from 
fragments at the upper right back attributable to the same bullet.750 The wounds are 
consistent with a high- velocity bullet from a distant range.751 A small copper-colored metal 
bullet jacket fragment was recovered from the upper right back during the autopsy.752 The 
FBI has possession of the fragment.753  

 
743 Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical Examiner, Autopsy Report, 

(Aug. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the 
Medical Examiner, Toxicology Report, Forensic Laboratory Division (Jul. 22, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 

744 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, General Offense Report, 49 (Oct. 21, 2024) 
(on file with the Task Force). 

745 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI Update 
8.28.24, 2 (Aug. 28, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. 
Office of the Medical Examiner, Autopsy Report, 2 (Aug. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); 
Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical Examiner, Crooks Investigator 
Narrative, 2 (Jul. 16, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

746 FBI Pittsburgh Special Agent in Charge’s Remarks to Media on Updates to the Butler, 
Pennsylvania, Assassination Attempt Investigation, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of 
Justice (Aug. 28, 2024). 

747 Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical Examiner, Autopsy Report, 
1 (Aug. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

748 Id. 
749 Id.; Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, General Offense Report, 49 (Oct. 21, 

2024) (on file with the 
Task Force) 
750 Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical Examiner, Autopsy Report, 

1, 7-8 (Aug. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
751 Id. at 1. 
752 Id. 
753 Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical Examiner, Evidence Transfer 

Report (Jul. 14, 
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Figure 17: Allegheny ME Evidence Envelope754 

 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
754 Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical Examiner, ATF_7283 (Jul. 

14, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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Figure 18: Bullet Fragment Recovered by Allegheny ME During
Crooks Autopsy755

The Toxicology Report was published on July 22, 2024.756 The findings show 
negative results for alcohol and drugs of abuse, including controlled substances.757 Crooks’
father denies that Crooks ever used illegal drugs and said Crooks was not known to be 
prescribed to any medication.758 However, Crooks’ father described his son’s mental health 
as declining.759 This is described in the PSP Officer Involved Shooting Report following
interviews with Crooks’ father.760  

755 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI-HTF-
BTLR-000480 (Dec. 9, 2024) (on file with the Task Force).

756 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, General Offense Report, 49 (Oct. 21, 2024) 
(on file with the Task Force).

757 Id.; Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical Examiner, Autopsy 
Report, 1 (Aug. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. 
Office of the Medical Examiner, Toxicology Report, Forensic Laboratory Division, 1 (Jul. 22, 2024) 
(on file with the Task Force).

758 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, General Offense Report, 25 (Oct. 21, 2024) 
(on file with the Task Force); Production to Task Force, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and 
Explosives, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Report of Investigation, Report 3 (produced Nov. 18, 2024) (on 
file with the Task Force).

759 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, General Offense Report, 13, 18 (Oct. 21, 2024) 
(on file with the Task Force).

760 Id. at 18. 
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Figure 19: PSP Interview Report

Crooks’ bloodwork was positive for 1.7 mcg/dL antimony, 160 mcg/dL selenium, and 
5.9 mcg/dL lead.761 The only positive finding from the heavy metals panel which warranted 
further investigation was the concentration of lead, which was verified by repeat analysis.762

According to the reference comments found on the heavy metals panel, the “blood 
reference level for adults is less than 5 mcg/dL” per the Centers for Disease and Control.763

Dr. Allegheny ME stated that the presence of lead could possibly be a result of the time 
Crooks spent at the firing range.764  

761 Id. at 49; Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical Examiner, 
Toxicology Report, Forensic Laboratory Division, 1 (Jul. 22, 2024) (on file with the Task Force).

762 Id. 
763 Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical Examiner, Toxicology 

Report, Forensic Laboratory Division, 1 (Jul. 22, 2024) (on file with the Task Force).
764 Briefing from Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical Examiner to Task Force Staff (Sept. 20, 

2024) (notes on file with Task Force Majority Staff).
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FBI Investigation 
Why it matters:  The FBI conducted an investigation into the 

shooting but only shared a portion of that evidence with 
the Task Force. The evidence that has been shared with 
the Task Force is summarized here. 

a. FBI’s investigative use of 302s. 
Federal, state, and LLE agencies commonly gather information and testimony from 

witnesses during interviews through various mediums, including audio, visual, and written 
formats.765 The FBI sometimes uses the “Interview Report Form FD-302"—commonly 
known as a “302”—which summarizes a witness or victim interview.766 The FBI will 
typically incorporate handwritten notes and recollections into the 302 following an 
interview. 

The FBI ultimately conducted over 1,000 interviews with Secret Service personnel, 
state and LLE, and witnesses in the days, weeks, and months following July 13.  As of 
the date of this report, the FBI provided the Task Force with access to only 81, out of over 
1,000, witness 302s, comprising roughly 180 pages. These 302s vary in length, breadth, 
scope, and detail, and unfortunately contain significant redactions, which sometimes 
limited their usefulness to the Task Force. 

b. Forensic evidence and related laboratory reports. 
The FBI collected evidence from the crime scene at the Butler Farm Show complex 

and Crooks’ residence and transported it to their crime labs in Quantico, Virginia, and 
Huntsville, Alabama, for analysis. This evidence included objects gathered from Crooks’ 

 
765 Michael S. Schmidt, In Policy Change, Justice Dept. to Require Recording of Interrogations, 

THE N.Y. TIMES (May 22, 2024). 
766 Briefing from Fed. Bureau of Investigation to Task Force Staff (Aug. 21, 2024) (notes on 

file with Task Force Minority Staff). 
767 Id.; Remarks to Media on the Butler, Pennsylvania Assassination Attempt, Fed. Bureau of 

Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice (Aug. 28, 2024). Although the FBI conducted few interviews the 
evening of the shooting, the FBI justified that decision by stating that “they had no reason or intention 
to hold or detail any first responders, as the law enforcement community assembled in Butler was 
actively responding to public safety risks, and assisting with investigative activity throughout the 
night.” Briefing from Fed. Bureau of Investigation to Task Force Staff (Aug. 28, 2024) (notes on file 
with Task Force Minority Staff). This explains why some law enforcement personnel, such as the 
Secret Service counter-sniper technicians, were interviewed after July 13 – the counter-snipers 
accompanied former- President Trump to the hospital and conducted overwatch before departing to 
the airport to accompany the detail or make it to their next protectee event. Counter-Sniper Technician 
CS Tech., U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 108 (Oct. 7, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

767
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body, the three rifles fired on July 13, associated bullets, casings, and fragments found 
around the crime scene, the IEDs and associated materials, remote controls, and a wireless 
drone. The FBI has since provided seventeen laboratory reports to the Task Force, 
including four forensic ballistics reports, one evidence report, and two explosives analysis 
reports. 

c. Firearms analysis.
The FBI collected three firearms from the Butler Farm Show complex—one from 

Crooks, one from Butler ESU CAT TL Butler ESU CAT TL 2, the Butler ESU CAT Team 
Leader who fired at Crooks, and one from CS Sgt. Tech., the Secret Service counter-
sniper who fired the shot that killed Crooks.768 Crooks utilized a DPMS Panther Arms 
semiautomatic rifle on July 13.769 The rear part of the stock on Crooks’ rifle was damaged, 
thought by the FBI to have been damaged through a projectile impact.770 A presumptive 
chemical test for lead performed on the impact area returned a positive result for lead.771 
Although the FBI did not determine the origin of that lead, the PSP concluded in their 
officer-involved shooting report that “[t]he buttstock of the rifle had a section of the plastic 
dislodged and missing from along the cheek piece, which was later determined to be a 
result of the USSS counter-sniper’s projectile impact after traveling through Crooks’ 
head.”772 The FBI tested all three rifles and found them to be functional.773  

The FBI collected and matched a total of ten bullet cartridges to the three rifles it 
collected from Crooks, LLE, and Secret Service, which account for the ten total shots fired 
on July 13.774 Eight cartridges were found on the roof of AGR Building six, by Crooks’ 
body, one cartridge was located in a field by the tents where the LLE officer fired at Crooks, 
and one cartridge was located by the Secret Service counter-sniper’s perch on the south 
barn.775 All of the ammunition submitted was deemed to be functional.776  

d. Bullet and bullet fragment analyses.

768 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Laboratory 
Report 2024-01571-8, FBI-HTF-BTLR-000167 (Oct. 7, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

769 Id. at FBI-HTF-BTLR-000168 – 000169. 
770 Id. at FBI-HTF-BTLR-000169. 
771 Id. 
772 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, Homicide Intentional Report, 17 (Nov. 14, 

2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
773 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Laboratory 

Report 2024-01571-8, FBI-HTF-BTLR-000168 (Oct. 7, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
774 Id. 
775 Id. 
776 Id. 
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The FBI examined the bullet jackets, bullet fragments, bullet cores, ammunition, and 
magazines collected from the crime scene and attempted to match them to the three 
firearms collected from Crooks, the LLE officer, and the Secret Service counter-sniper. 
While the FBI was unable to match every piece of evidence to a specific firearm, it did 
eliminate from consideration some pieces of evidence from certain firearms. For example, 
the FBI identified two .223 caliber (5.56 mm) copper bullet jackets as having been fired 
through Crooks’ rifle.777 One bullet fragment, despite having limited physical markings, was 
found to be consistent with the rifling characteristics of test rounds fired from the Secret 
Service counter-sniper rifle.778 Another bullet fragment, which also lacked distinct 
markings for comparison, had rifling characteristics similar to test rounds the FBI fired 
through Crooks’ and the LLE rifles.779 While the FBI was unable to definitively determine 
which rifle fired that bullet fragment, they ruled out the Secret Service’s firearm due to 
“differences in class characteristics.”780  

The FBI also identified two lead bullet cores that were consistent with a .223 caliber 
bullet.781 An examination of the ammunition collected by the FBI found .223 Remington 
caliber cartridges with a federal ammunition headstamp, 5.56 NATO cartridges with an 
Advance Armament Corporation ammunition headstamp, and .223 Remington caliber 
cartridges with a Hornady ammunition headstamp.  The ammunition with the Hornady 
headstamp is consistent with Crooks’ purchase of 50 rounds of Hornady .223 Remington 
caliber cartridges in Bethel Park, Pennsylvania on July 13 while en route to the rally.783 

e. Shooting incident reconstruction analysis. 
The FBI reconstructed the shooting to establish bullet trajectories for the 10 rounds 

fired on July 13.784 They successfully identified six of the 10 bullet trajectories.  
Specifically, the FBI identified all six trajectories as originating from the north of the stage 
in the direction of the AGR complex from which Crooks shot.786 Two trajectories, “T5” 
and “T6,” traveled over the stage, with one hitting the vinyl cover for a jumbo television 

 
777 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Laboratory 

Report 2024-01571-22, FBI-HTF-BTLR-000176 (Oct. 7, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
778 Id. 
779 Id. at FBI-HTF-BTLR-000177. 
780 Id. 
781 Id. 
782 Id. at FBI-HTF-BTLR-000176. 
783 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Timeline of 

Events, FBI-HTF-BTLR- 000381 (Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
784 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Laboratory 

Report 2024-01571-35, FBI-HTF-BTLR-000182 (Oct. 7, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
785 Id. at FBI-HTF-BTLR-000183. 
786 Id. 

782

785
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screen trailer behind the right bleacher, and the other hitting the barn door of a green 
warehouse south of the stage and bleachers.787 

The FBI was unable to link every identified hole or impact with a specific bullet or 
bullet fragment trajectory because of several limitations.788 For example, a bullet can 
produce several holes while traveling from motion to rest, and it can fragment when it 
“encounters an intervening object,” thereby producing additional 
trajectories.789Additionally, identification can be more difficult if an object lacks clear 
perforation from a bullet or fragment, or if an object containing holes or impacts was moved 
from or within a crime scene.790 However, the FBI found that, aside from a bullet hole 
in a hat, all bullet holes and impacts the FBI identified originated from the north, 
toward the AGR complex.791  

f. IED composition analyses. 
The FBI conducted a comprehensive analysis to determine the construction, 

functionality, and viability of the three IEDs and handheld remote transmitters found 
on Crooks’ body, in his vehicle, and in his bedroom. 

According to the FBI analysis, the two IEDs found in Crooks’ car consisted of an 
ammo box, commercial wireless receiver, electric match, and a rolled cardboard tube 
inside the ammo box containing an explosive filler and explosive main charge.792 Each 
IED also contained a fuzing, or initiation, system.793 The fuzing system was an 
“AlphaFire” receiver, a commonly sold item, and was attached to each bomb and could be 
set in “off”, “test”, or “arm” mode.794 These fuzing systems could be activated by a remote 
signal at least 1,000 feet away, or roughly 2,000 meters, per the manufacturer’s 
description.795 In comparison, the IED discovered in Crooks’ bedroom was only partially 
assembled and lacked a completed fuzing system.796 However, all three IEDs showed signs 
of having a “priming hole”, which is used by a bomb maker to insert the fuzing system’s 
initiator to directly contact the bomb’s energetic material.797  

 
787 Id. 
788 Id. 
789 Id. 
790 Id. 
791 Id. at FBI-HTF-BTLR-000184. 
792 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Laboratory 

Report 2024-01571-2, FBI-HTF-BTLR-000135, 000140, 000145, 000148 (Oct. 7, 2024) (on file 
with the Task Force). 

793 Id. at FBI-HTF-BTLR-000135, 000143. 
794 Id. at FBI-HTF-BTLR-000140 – 000141, 000148 – 000150. 
795 Id. at FBI-HTF-BTLR-000143. 
796 Id. at FBI-HTF-BTLR-000135, 000152 – 000155. 
797 Id. at FBI-HTF-BTLR-000139. 
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The FBI also analyzed the composition of the main explosive charge and explosive 
charge boosters. The main explosive charge consisted of ammonium nitrate prills, 
nitromethane, and smokeless powder, while the explosive charge booster consisted of 
nitromethane and smokeless powder.798 The components Crooks used to assemble the IEDs 
were legal to purchase and readily available online.799 The FBI stated that Crooks’ use of 
metal and hardened plastic containers showed that they were meant to be used as IEDs, 
because an explosion would cause the container to fragment upon detonation.800  

The handheld remote transmitter found on Crooks’ body by LLE as they secured his 
person was “active” with a 9-volt battery and was set in the “off” position.801 The transmitter 
was capable of activating multiple receivers with a single button when properly paired.802 
Three of Crooks’ receivers were paired with the transmitter.803 

The FBI also examined the viability and functionality of the IEDs and handheld 
remote transmitter.804 The two IEDs found in Crooks’ vehicle were fully assembled and 
configured to be remotely detonated through activation by the handheld remote transmitter 
and had been paired with receivers adhered to the IEDs.805 According to the FBI, 
“[p]roperly assembled and initiated, a resulting explosion from these IEDs could cause 
property damage, personal injury, and/or death.”806 In contrast, while the IED found in 
Crooks’ bedroom was only partially assembled, not only had Crooks placed the necessary 
materials nearby to quickly complete the IED, but he had also pre-programmed the IED’s 
receiver and paired it to the same handheld remote transmitter connected to the two fully 
assembled IEDs.807  

g. IED chemistry analyses. 
The FBI examined the chemical composition of the two fully assembled IEDs found 

in Crooks’ vehicle and the partially assembled IED found in Crooks’ bedroom. This included 
analysis of trace chemicals from various locations inside the IEDs, including the container 
and explosive charges.808 The FBI conducted a thermal susceptibility test, otherwise known 

 
798 Id. at FBI-HTF-BTLR-000138. 
799 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI Update 

8.28.24 (Aug. 28, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
800 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Laboratory 

Report 2024-01571-2, FBI-HTF-BTLR-000136 (Oct. 7, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
801 Id. at FBI-HTF-BTLR-000161. 
802 Id. at FBI-HTF-BTLR-000163. 
803 Id. 
804 Id. at FBI-HTF-BTLR-000163, 000164. 
805 Id. at FBI-HTF-BTLR-000136 
806 Id. 
807 Id. at FBI-HTF-BTLR-000135 - 000136, 000152 – 000155. 
808 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Laboratory 

Report 2024-01571-10, FBI-HTF-BTLR-000194 (Oct. 7, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

57-705_text.pdf   152 12/20/24   8:00�AM



Butler, PA: Security Failures and Recommendations 

147 

as a “Flame Test”, on several energetic materials it identified, which produced a positive 
result.809 Several other tests of the chemicals present in the IEDs led the FBI to conclude 
that “some of these chemicals were identified as being able to produce a high explosive 
[…] when properly combined in the proper ratio.”810  

Task Force Visit to FBI Quantico Labs 
Members and Task Force staff visited the FBI laboratories in Quantico, Virginia on 

November 18, 2024, to inspect select evidence and question the laboratory technicians who 
performed various tests. The evidence viewed included Crooks’ weapon, bullet fragments, 
cartridge casings, his backpack, drone and paired controller, the two fully assembled IEDs, 
a partially assembled IED, and the paired handheld remote-control transmitter. 

1. Rifle 
There was visible damage to the buttstock of Crooks’ rifle. An FBI subject matter 

expert told the Task Force he plans to recreate the damaged section of the Magpul buttstock 
from the broken pieces found on the AGR roof, which may shed more detailed information 
on how it was damaged. The FBI laboratory found traces of lead, consistent with the impact 
of a bullet or bullet fragment, on the broken buttstock. 

2. Cartridge Casings and Bullet Fragments 
The two available bullet fragments were those recovered from Crooks' person and on 

the roof of a AGR building. The bullet fragment found on the roof of a AGR building tested 
positive for Crooks’ DNA. For the bullet recovered on the roof next to Crooks, although a 
microscopic comparison was inconclusive, the grooves on the fragment were consistent 
with the rifling characteristics of test rounds fired through the Secret Service rifle and not 
consistent with those fired by the LLE officer. 

The FBI also completed metallurgic testing on the bullet fragments. An FBI expert told 
the Task Force that the corresponding report also details the physical characteristics of the 
bullet fragments, including weight and other measurements. The FBI provided the Task 
Force with a copy of this report on December 4, 2024. As such, this final report does not 
reflect those findings. 
  

 
809 Id. 
810 Id. 
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3. Bullet Trajectories 
The FBI laboratory’s standard procedure for establishing bullet trajectory typically 

requires them to “works backwards” from each bullet impact in order to establish a 
trajectory. If there is no impact, the lab cannot establish a trajectory. The FBI subject matter 
experts stated that they do not perform trajectory analyses on bullets/fragments found in 
bodies because they are not static impact locations. Therefore, trajectories were not created 
for those bullets. 

As noted in their report, an FBI expert identified six total trajectories with 35 places 
of impact. There were no impacts or fragmentation at the podium where former President 
Trump spoke, the bleacher area where Mr. Comperatore was standing at the time of the 
shooting, or the AGR roof. One of the bullets Crooks fired was not recovered. 

4. IEDs 
The receivers had three positions: “test”, “fire”, and “off.” The receivers were all 

in the ‘off’ position. The remote, which had ‘on’ and ‘off’ positions, was also in the ‘off’ 
position. Each of these would require manually changing the switch to turn on, and 
could not be switched on remotely. 

The remote was paired to all three of the receivers (both of the fully built IEDs and 
the partially built found in Crooks’ bedroom). Had the equipment been turned on, Crooks 
had the ability to activate one at a time, or all paired, functional receivers simultaneously. 

The component combination Crooks used was, per an FBI expert, unusual. 
Descriptions from the FBI subject matter expert included “overengineered,” concluding 
that Crooks’ “ambitions exceeded his capabilities,” and had “complexities that were not 
required and had failure points.” The FBI expert stated that Crooks was able to legally 
purchase many of his components and chemicals online, including the ammonium nitrate. 
The FBI subject matter expert confirmed that the components Crooks used to build the 
IEDs did not emit significant odors, and had he assembled them in his home, his family 
would not have noticed a smell. 

The FBI conducted several explosive tests to gauge the potential impact of Crooks’ 
IEDs and presented their findings to the Task Force. Specifically, they showed video 
recreations of similar explosives to demonstrate their damage capabilities both inside of a 
trunk and in the open. Per the FBI, anyone within ten feet of the IEDs (had they been 
successfully detonated) would have immediately been killed. 
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5. Drone
Crooks utilized a commercially available DJI drone and paired handheld remote to 

conduct reconnaissance prior to the July 13 campaign rally. The drone camera was capable 
of tilting up and down. It was capable of zooming eight times the focal length. 

The FBI was requested to recreate what Crooks may have seen in that final 
reconnaissance flight. The FBI purchased the same drone model, known as an 
“exemplar,” to gather certain information without disturbing the drone in evidence. They 
then successfully recovered electronic data from the drone and paired controller. This 
revealed thousands of data points, including pitch and speed. The FBI, in a novel approach, 
created an algorithm to read this data and visually recreate it in a simulation video that they 
presented to the Task Force demonstrating possible points of view Crooks could have 
obtained by using his drone on July 13. 

Per the electronic data FBI gathered, the controller had 13 flights logged in it. A 
“flight” would be logged into the drone’s system whenever the drone was activated or 
flown. The FBI noted that while eight flights and 20 unique images were pulled from 
Crooks’ drone, none of the images were from July 13. Crooks’ drone flight on July 13 was 
logged as Flight #17. Beginning at 3:51 p.m., Crooks flew his drone for 11 minutes 52 
seconds. 
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WEST  PALM BEACH, FL: FINDINGS AND 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

On the morning of September 15, 2024, former President Trump and a protective 
team of USSS personnel departed Mar-a-Lago to head to the Trump International Golf 
Club West Palm Beach.811 At approximately 1:30 p.m., former President Trump was on the 
__LES____ hole of the golf course when a Secret Service site agent, who was riding along 
the fence line conducting a ___________LES________________, noticed an individual by the 
fence line on the external perimeter by the __LES___ green.812  

The agent first noticed the suspect, later identified as Ryan Wesley Routh, and then 
noticed the barrel of Routh’s gun sticking through the fence line.813 The special agent, who 
may have been as close as five feet away from Routh, immediately responded by firing shots 
toward the suspect.814 It is believed six shots in total were fired; however, final ballistics 
are pending an ongoing FBI investigation.815  

The suspect then fled across _______LES__________, the multi-lane road that encircles 
the Trump International Golf Club, to his pre-positioned vehicle.816 A bystander who, 
according to the Secret Service, heard the shots and witnessed Routh running to his vehicle, 
snapped a photo of Routh’s license plate and provided it to one of the Secret Service special 
agents.817 The special agent then provided the photo to LLE, who issued a BOLO to the 
real-time crime center.818 

Once shots were fired, the working shift agents immediately took steps to cover 
former President Trump and move him to a safe location.819 Routh was apprehended 

811 Briefing by the U.S. Secret Serv.: Briefing Before the Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 118th Cong. (Sep. 18, 2024) (notes on file with Task Force Staff). 

812 Id. 
813 Id. 
814 Id.; Briefing by the U. S. Secret Serv.: Briefing Before the Task Force on the Attempted 

Assassination of Donald 
J. Trump, 118th Cong., West Palm Beach, Florida (Nov. 16, 2024) (notes on file with Task

Force Staff). 
815 Briefing by the U. S. Secret Serv.: Briefing Before the Task Force on the Attempted 

Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 118th Cong. (Sep. 18, 2024) (notes on file with Task Force Staff). 
816 Id. 
817 Id. 
818 Id. 
819 Id. 
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approximately 44 minutes later at 2:14 p.m. by the Martin County Sheriff’s Office while 
fleeing northbound on I-95 in Martin County.820 

The crime scene was transferred to the FBI at 5:10 p.m. that day.821 

On September 15, 2024, the Secret Service utilized the protective methodology 
typically used for golf courses.822 This methodology utilizes a layered approach with 
several rings of protection. As noted in the Secret Service’s September 18, 2024, briefing 
to Task Force Members and staff, the entire golf course 
__________________LES_________________________________.823 Protection is affected and 
managed through a ________________LES_________________________.824  

On September 15, the Secret Service indicated that there was already a strong security 
footprint in the form of an inner ring of protection around former President Trump: 
_______LES__________; _______LES__________; a 
____________________LES_______________________________, otherwise known as a 
“_____LES_______;” a _______LES__________; a _______LES__________; a 
___________LES_______________; as well as other assets not disclosed.825  

The Secret Service noted in its September 18, briefing that the _______LES__________ 
of a golf course is always the highest threat and that the agents are very much focused on 
these _____LES_______ because of would-be snipers.826 The Secret Service also noted that 
Routh did not have a line of sight to former President Trump and that there was likely a 
distance in excess of 300 yards from Routh to the former President.827 It was also noted 
that there were trees between Routh’s position and the _LES__ green.828  

In addition to the numerous assets deployed by the Secret Service on September 15, 
the diligence of and successful scanning by the special agent conducting 
____________LES___________________  of former President Trump provided a critical line of 
defense to avert a disaster that day. The special agent’s quick response and decision to 
discharge his firearm in the direction of the threat prevented a potentially lethal or other 
dangerous scenario from occurring. According to information provided to the Task Force, 

820 Id. 
821 Id. 
822 Id. 
823 Id. 
824 Id. 
825 Id.; Briefing by the U. S. Secret Serv.: Briefing Before the Task Force on the Attempted 

Assassination of Donald 
J. Trump, 118th Cong., West Palm Beach, Florida (Nov. 16, 2024) (notes on file with Task

Force Staff). 
826 Briefing by the U. S. Secret Serv.: Briefing Before the Task Force on the Attempted 

Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 118th Cong. (Sep. 18, 2024) (notes on file with Task Force Staff). 
827 Id. 
828 Id. 
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the assailant, Routh, did not discharge his rifle or get any shots out in the direction of former 
President Trump. The Secret Service further indicated in its September 18, briefing that 
following the first assassination attempt in Butler, Pennsylvania, the level of protection 
provided to former President Trump was commensurate with that of President Biden.829  

Status of Investigations 

The Secret Service is continuing to conduct its mission assurance review of the 
assassination attempt in West Palm Beach, Florida, the contents of which have not been 
shared with the Task Force. 

On November 16, 2024, Task Force Chairman Kelly, as well as staff members from 
the Task Force, visited the site of the second assassination attempt at the Trump 
International Golf Club West Palm Beach. 

The Task Force notes that as of the date of publication of this report, DHS, USSS, 
FBI, and ATF have not produced any documents responsive to the Task Force’s requests 
regarding the preparation for, events of, and response to the second assassination attempt 
that occurred on September 15. 

Missteps 

Despite the Trump International Golf Club being surrounded by public roads and 
protected only by a chain-link fence, trees, and brush, the Secret Service did not implement 
the full scope of _____________LES__________________ prior to former President Trump's 
arrival on September 15, due to Secret Service stating that this was an 
_________LES_____________ scheduled in the early hours of that morning.830 Unfortunately, 
the property was subject to critical vulnerabilities, particularly related to its outer perimeter, 
which the Secret Service had previously identified as a favorable position for potential 
snipers.831 In fact, it has been publicly reported that the location at which Routh was 
ultimately encountered was known by photographers 
__________________________LES____________________________________________.832 

 

 
829 Id. 
830 Id. 
831 Id. 
832 See e.g., Andrew Buncombe, Trump’s would-be assassin was found in spot used by 

paparazzi for years, THE TELEGRAPH (Sep. 17, 2024). 
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Secret Service representatives explained to the Task Force that 
_________LES_____________ _________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________________
_________.833 In line with long-standing protocol, the Secret Service 
__________________________________________________LES________________________
_________________________________________________.834 Although the Secret Service was 
notified at approximately 2:30 

a.m. on September 15 that former President Trump intended to golf at approximately 
12:30 p.m. that day, former President Trump made a last-minute request to leave for Trump 
International Golf Club just after 11:00 a.m., moving his anticipated arrival time up 
by an hour.835 Although LLE typically provides 
_________________LES___________________________  support was not available due to the 
_______LES__________ nature of the visit. However, the Palm Beach Sherrif’s Office 
began _______________________LES_________________________________.836 The Task Force 
also understands that the Secret Service had previously used ___________LES______________  
when former President Trump was President, but had not utilized this asset since the former 
President left office. 

 
Recommendations Related to: Assassination Attempt in West Palm 

Beach, Florida 

24. Implement a _____LES_______ vehicle for use on a golf course. Although 
not presently utilized, the Secret Service should consider the use of a 
_____LES_______ vehicle or golf cart. 

 
833 Briefing by the U. S. Secret Serv.: Briefing Before the Task Force on the Attempted 

Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 118th Cong. (Sep. 18, 2024) (notes on file with Task Force Staff). 
834 Id. 
835 Briefing by the U. S. Secret Serv.: Briefing Before the Task Force on the Attempted 

Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 118th Cong. (Nov. 16, 2024) (notes on file with Task Force Staff); 
Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., HTF Brief, West Palm 
Beach Incident, September 15, 2024, Presentation to Task Force, (Nov. 16, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 

836 Briefing by the U. S. Secret Serv.: Briefing Before the Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 118th Cong. (Sep. 18, 2024) (notes on file with Task Force Staff); 
Briefing by the U. S. Secret Serv.: Briefing Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of 
Donald J. Trump, 118th Cong. (Oct. 9, 2024) (notes on file with Task Force Staff). 
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25. Review protocols for sweeping golf courses. The Secret Service should review
its protocols for _______LES__________ golf outings 
________________LES_______________________. The Secret Service should 
consider: 1) the utility of regularly utilizing a UAV for reconnaissance in such 
sparsely occupied open areas and 2) analyze additional reliable, rapidly 
deployable, and/or mobile technologies that could further be used to 
supplement manpower for coverage of large open areas. 

26. Increase reliance on K9 sweeps. K9 sweeps should be considered as practical,
particularly in view of the Secret Service’s robot K9 asset, which does not have 
the same practical limitations as a K9 with heat and other sensitivity.
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ADDITIONAL RECOMMENDATIONS 

837 Examination of the Security Failures Leading to the Assassination Attempt on Former 
President Trump: Joint Hearing Before the S. Comm. on the Judiciary and the S. Comm on Homeland 
Security and Governmental Affairs, 118th Cong. (Jul. 30, 2024) (testimony of Ronald L. Rowe, Jr., 
Acting Director, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec.); Production to Task Force, U.S. 
Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Protective Operations Manual OPO-08, 
Communications, Bates 006249-006253, 006252 (Aug. 20, 2024) (on file with the Task Force) 
(“Based on staffing and equipment availability, CIO will also record radio frequencies (Secret Service 
operational channels) for Presidential Elect, Vice Presidential Elect, Presidential Nominee, and Vice 
Presidential Nominee temporary post standers and operational shifts.”); See also Production to Task 
Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Protective Operations Manual OPO-08, 
Communications, Bates 006254-006257, 006256 (Apr. 6, 2021) (on file with the Task Force) (not 
addressing recordings for Presidential Elect, Vice Presidential Elect, Presidential Nominee, and Vice 
Presidential Nominee events). 

Recommendations for Secret Service/DHS: 
27. Record all radio transmissions and evaluate communications retention

policies. The Secret Service should record its radio transmissions for all
protective events and should consider its overall approach to records retention, 
including maintaining SMS and email communications. On July 13, the Secret 
Service did not record its radio communications. The absence of radio logs or 
recordings significantly limits the ability to reconstruct events for either 
investigative or evaluative purposes. Acting Director Rowe testified to 
directing the Secret Service to record radio transmissions for such events going 
forward, but the agency’s updated policies still condition radio recording for 
presidential nominee and certain other protectee events on staffing and 
equipment availability.837 To the extent that there are any technological 
limitations that prevent radio recordings or logs for all protective events, the 
Secret Service must prioritize addressing those challenges to enable this 
capability. 

28. Consider staffing redundancies for high pressure moments. The Secret 
Service may consider additional staffing or flex posts to increase adaptability to 
evolving situations, but at the core of this recommendation is the suggestion to 
develop its contingency planning, particularly in chaotic and emergency 
situations, to ensure that personnel are available to respond to all communications 
and actions. The Task Force identified multiple instances in which Secret Service 
personnel reported they could not perform one function while attending to 
another urgent need. The agency should reassess its staffing of critical posts such 
as the Command Post or Security Room agent and counter-sniper teams, which 
may be more likely to have competing demands during critical response periods. 

57-705_text.pdf   163 12/20/24   8:00�AM



Additional Recommendations 

158 

 
838 See, e.g., Special Agent CAT Op, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the 

Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 100-101 (Oct. 4, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force) ("I think culturally there’s an issue with the Secret Service and White House or 
campaign or protectee staff and how that [. . .] dynamic plays out, and how it affects us being able to 
do our job [. . .] [Secret Service is] on the ground ready to work and staff is not there to pick sites to 
tell us where we’re going to be going"); Special Agent CAT Lead, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 100, 110 (Oct. 
10, 2024) (on file with the Task Force) ("But I feel like that there needs to be things set in stone so 
that the Secret   Service   can   do   their   job   appropriately   in   a   timely   manner"). 

839 Sr. Special Agent Site Counterpart, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 37 (Oct. 17, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

840 Id. at 65. 

Further, the number of roving posts such as CS Response, Site PI, and Relief 
agents should match the demands of an event site. The demands of an event 
situated on a 100-acre property with an anticipated 15,000 attendees well 
exceeded the capacity of only three agents, each with unique roles that state and 
local counterparts could augment but not replace. 

29. Develop and formalize process for escalating conflicts with protectee staff. 
The Secret Service should implement a formal process by which personnel may 
raise concerns in their  planning with protectee staff. Over the course of our 
investigation, several members of the Secret Service expressed frustrations in 
negotiating with staff, regardless of political party or protectee.838 Ultimately the 
Secret Service is responsible for protectee security, but the agency may find itself 
working with staff who assert competing interests such as scheduling and optics. 
A formal process by which personnel may raise concerns in their dealings with 
protectee staff will empower agents to raise those issues to supervisors and leave 
Secret Service with a record of the dispute to evaluate should further issues arise. 
Any such documentation should be considered confidential and should be exempt 
from any public disclosure requests. 

30.  Provide more robust training for non-USSS federal personnel on-site. When 
assigned to USSS protective missions, non-USSS federal personnel have the same 
zero-fail mission as USSS personnel—to protect the protectee. DHS supported 
former President Trump’s July 13 event by providing HSI agents, but USSS 
personnel testified to the Task Force that these agents—and HSI agents 
generally—can be challenging to manage because “you're having to explain the 
posts a lot more and you don't know whether they even have worked with us 
before.”839 The Task Force obtained testimony that for July 13, HSI agents 
allegedly received “a 1-hour PowerPoint or something like that,” and that the 
USSS would otherwise only provide the morning briefing and the relevant 
paperwork on the day of an event.840 While the Task Force did not observe critical 
HSI agent failures on July 13 during the course of its investigation, the USSS 
failures that day demonstrate that trainings and preparations for non-USSS federal 
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personnel must be strengthened and more robust for protective missions. 

31. Prioritize experience in assignment process. Secret Service personnel must have 
an avenue to gain experience in protection details and in particular to be able to 
fulfill their responsibilities in advanced planning assignments. To develop that 
expertise, Secret Service should allow less-experienced personnel to participate 
in advance planning. However, high-risk protection events are not an appropriate 
setting for less experienced agents to gain on-the-job training in leadership roles. 
For high-risk events, such as the July 13 campaign event in Butler—an event that 
was outdoors, drew a large crowd, and featured one of the most prominent 
protectees—only agents with experience in advance planning should be assigned 
leading roles. 

32. In-person advance activities must include all relevant subject matter experts. 
The Secret Service cites the strain on headcount and the heightened pace of the 
campaign season for not having all advance agents on the ground for the entire 
advance, with one aspect of work—the CAT advance—being performed over the 
phone. While the Task Force did not identify failures of the CAT advance team for 
this particular event, Secret Service should— and indeed already has—addressed 
the unnecessary risk of tactical advance agents not being on the ground to scope 
sites. All substantive advance decisions that require viewing the site should be 
made by somebody who has assessed the location in person. 
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Recommendations for Legislative Consideration by Congress: 
33.  Review USSS budget, staffing, and retention. Financial and personnel resources 

should never stand in the way of the USSS carrying out their critical protective 
mission. To the extent additional funding is needed, especially for technology 
and modernization, Congress, DHS, and the USSS should explore how to best 
achieve this end. Staying on the cutting edge of innovation is an especially 
critical priority given the events of July 13. However, the USSS must also 
consider ways to increase experienced personnel via both hiring and retention. 
The USSS and Congress should therefore look to identify approaches to make 
employment more sustainable and rewarding, both personally and 
professionally. Based upon the Task Force’s investigation, particular areas of 
note include reducing the pace of travel, ensuring overtime is properly 
compensated, and giving incentives for veteran agents to stay with the USSS 
beyond minimum retirement ages. 

34.  Reduce the number of protectees. The number of individuals being protected has 
greatly expanded, a resource demand which becomes further taxed during the 
longer and more intensive modern presidential campaign seasons. 
Additionally, because the USSS protects foreign dignitaries, there is a 
significant increase in work during the U.N. General Assembly, which occurs 
in September at the height of campaign season. As a result, Congress, DHS, 
and the USSS should jointly consider the protective role the USSS plays for 
foreign leaders and consider whether such duties can be transferred or 
abrogated in order to focus on the USSS’s primary duty: to protect the President 
and other critical U.S. leaders. 

35.  Congress and the Secretary of Homeland Security should review the Secret 
Service’s investigative role. Since the USSS’s inception, its mission has 
evolved to include both protective and investigative functions, including 
specific priorities involving fraud, financial crimes, and cybercrimes. These 
non-protective, investigative functions require systemic review because of the 
USSS’s stunning failure to protect President-elect Trump on July 13. While the 
Task Force recognizes the importance and past successes of USSS 
investigations, it recommends DHS and USSS explore policies and practices 
that would minimize the volume of USSS investigative work during 
campaign seasons in order to prioritize the protection of U.S. leaders and 
candidates running for office. The Secret Service’s protective mission is at 
the core of the agency’s purpose—anything that distracts or diverts resources 
from the agency’s zero fail mission must be reconsidered. Accordingly, 
Congress, DHS, and the USSS should each consider the feasibility of 
permanently moving or temporarily moving USSS investigative functions to a 
different federal agency within or outside of DHS. 

36.  Evaluate whether Secret Service should remain inside the Department of 

57-705_text.pdf   166 12/20/24   8:00�AM



Additional Recommendations 

161 

Homeland Security. In 2003, USSS moved from its longstanding place 
organizationally housed inside the Department of the Treasury into the newly 
formed Department of Homeland Security (DHS). For the last decade, USSS’s 
budget has represented only around 3 percent of its parent organization’s 
budget of over $100 billion. DHS contains six component agencies larger that 
USSS – the largest, the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) – has 
a budget ten times larger than that of USSS. Over this period of time, USSS 
has not benefited from stable leadership. It has had seven different directors 
since 2014 and only one who lasted three years on the job. The current structure 
potentially weakens USSS, a small but critically important agency, in 
advocating for its budget and other priorities inside a much larger entity. The 
failure in Butler was far from the first significant USSS failure in recent history, 
and it is fair to question whether USSS should continue to be housed within 
DHS. We suggest that the House Committee on Homeland Security should 
examine the pluses and minuses of USSS’s position housed inside DHS. A fresh 
look at whether USSS might benefit from the status of an independent agency, 
with more freedom to make budget requests and advocate for itself, would be a 
healthy discussion for former USSS leaders to have with Congress. 

37. Congress should clarify its right to obtain law enforcement sensitive
information. Congress regularly finds itself engaged in disputes with the
Department of Justice (DOJ) over information relating to law enforcement 
investigations.841 With respect to the assassination attempt in Butler, the Task 
Force’s requests for information were characterized by the FBI as implicating 
“significant law enforcement sensitivities,” and subsequent FBI disclosures 
were labeled as “extraordinary accommodation[s] unique to this matter.”842 
With respect to the assassination attempt in Florida, where the gunman was 
apprehended alive and awaits a likely prosecution, the FBI provided no 
documents in response to the Task Force’s request and provided only a single 
status briefing on September 25, 2024. The DOJ undoubtedly has an interest in 
preserving the integrity of its criminal investigations,843 and the Task Force 
appreciates the FBI’s willingness to provide the Task Force with timely access 

841 See e.g., H. REPT. 116-105, at 9-11 (2019); H. REPT. 112-546, at 42 (2012); H. REPT. 105-
728, at 

16-18 (1998). 
842 The FBI produced documents to the Task Force by e-mailing individualized, web links to 

certain Task Force staff inviting them to an access-only (downloading forbidden) private, cloud-
based, fire-sharing website on which these documents had been uploaded. Since the FBI prevented 
Task Force staff from downloading these documents, the Task Force does not actually have 
possession of these documents, and it is uncertain whether the House will retain access to these 
documents after the Task Force dissolves and Task Force staff e-mail addresses expire. 

843 See Letter from Robert Raben, Ass’t Att’y Gen., to John Linder, Chairman, Subcomm. on 
Rules and Org. of the House, Comm. On Rules (Jan. 27, 2000) 
https://www.justice.gov/sites/default/files/oip/legacy/2014/07/23/linder.pdf. 
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to certain evidence gathered in the agency’s ongoing Butler investigation.844 
Still, the attempt on the former President’s life in Florida is a matter in which the 
House and the nation as a whole have such a pronounced interest in not only 
understanding the facts and circumstances, but also in ensuring that 
Congress has adequate information to develop informed legislative proposals 
intended to decrease the likelihood of similar security failures from occurring 
in the future. Whether rooted in generalized “law enforcement sensitivities” 
or an indefinite “law enforcement privilege” that stems from the common 
law,845 the phrase “ongoing investigation” should not be treated as a magical 
incantation that disables Congress’ otherwise broad right of access to relevant 
information necessary for it to carry out its constitutional functions.846 The 
House may consider—through either legislation, chamber rule, or 
committee rule as deemed appropriate—reaffirming its own views on the 
scope of a committee’s right of access to information pertaining to an ongoing 
investigation held by a law enforcement agency, and/or establishing 
principles to help guide the accommodations process in the case of a dispute. 

 

 
844 The types of law enforcement sensitive information obtained and protected by the Task 

Force (including FBI 302 interviews, USSS protective operations policies and procedures, and 
documents and testimony outlining sensitive and classified assets utilized by USSS) stand as an 
important precedent for future committees who seek to obtain access to similar information. 

845 See _________, CONG. RESEARCH SERV., LSB 11172, THE HUR TAPES AND THE PRESIDENT’S 
CLAIM OF EXECUTIVE PRIVILEGE, 2-3 (May 29, 2024). 

846 Hutcheson v. United States, 369 U.S. 599, 618 (1962) (“[S]urely a congressional committee 
which is engaged in a legitimate legislative investigation need not grind to a halt whenever responses 
to its inquiries might potentially be harmful to a witness in some distinct proceeding, or when crime 
or wrongdoing is disclosed.”); Sinclair v. United States, 279 U.S. 263, 295 (1929) (holding that 
Congress’s constitutional authority to “require pertinent disclosures in aid of its own constitutional 
power” may not be “abridged because the information sought to be elicited may also be of use” in 
criminal prosecutions). 
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CONCLUSION 
The Task Force and each of its Members condemns the horrific assault on President-

elect Trump and extends condolences to James Copenhaver, David Dutch, and the family 
of Corey Comperatore. The events of July 13, 2024, were tragic and preventable, and the 
litany of related security failures are unacceptable. The Secret Service’s zero fail mission 
allows no margin for error, let alone for the many errors described in this report. 

The recommendations proposed by the Task Force are intended to prevent similar 
lapses in the future. It is our hope and expectation that DHS and the Secret Service will 
implement the reforms proposed by the Task Force voluntarily. The House Committees with 
relevant jurisdiction should monitor the Secret Service’s progress, in coordination with the 
DHS Office of Inspector General and the Government Accountability Office. Relevant 
congressional committees should give serious consideration to implementing these reforms 
via legislation as well. 

The relevant committees may also seek to address important questions that the Task 
Force did not fully examine. Foremost among them are the motivations of Thomas Crooks 
and Ryan Routh, which remain largely unknown. The American people (and in the case of 
Crooks, the victims and their families) deserve that information, and the Task Force expects 
the FBI, ATF, and DOJ to be more forthcoming in that regard going forward. 

The fundamental principle that the American political process is free from violence 
underpins our system of representative democracy. The effectiveness of the Secret Service—
as the agency responsible for protecting the country’s highest elected officials—is therefore 
central to upholding the Nation’s constitutional values. We hope that the Task Force’s work, 
which has been fully bipartisan, leaves no doubt about the House of Representatives’ 
commitment to preserving those values by strengthening the Secret Service and restoring 
its standing as the world’s preeminent protective agency. 
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APPENDIX I: TABLE OF NAMES 

U.S. Secret Service 
OPO Assistant Director OPO Asst. Dir.. Retired from the agency on September 13, 2024, 
but was formerly in charge of the Secret Service’s Office of Protective Operations, which 
directs, plans, and implements policies and programs for the eleven protective divisions, 
including the Donald Trump Division. 

Special Agent in Charge SAIC PIT. In charge of the Pittsburgh Field Office and was 
involved in the advance planning for former President Trump and FLOTUS July 13 visits 
to Pennsylvania. 

Special Agent in Charge SAIC DTD. In charge of the Donald Trump Division and was one 
of the agents who created a body bunker around former President Trump after shots were 
fired. 

Special Agent in Charge Sec. Room Sup.. In charge of the Buffalo Field Office and 
supervised the Secret Service Security Room, which was responsible for relaying radio 
communications during the July 13 campaign event. 

Assistant to the Special Agent in Charge ATSAIC PIT. Second-in-command of the 
Pittsburgh Field Office at the time of the campaign event and involved in the advance 
planning for former President Trump and FLOTUS July 13 visits to Pennsylvania. 

Assistant Special Agent in Charge ASAIC DTD. Second Supervisor for the Donald Trump 
Division during the advance planning and was one of the agents who created a body bunker 
around former President Trump after shots were fired. 

Inspector CNOS Insp.. Inspector with the Secret Service’s campaign arm, the Candidate 
Nomination Operation Services, assigned to shadow and assist Assistant Special Agent in 
Charge ASAIC DTD during the July 13 campaign event. 

Senior Special Agent Lead Advance. Lead Advance Agent and Transportation Advance 
Agent from the Pittsburgh Field Office responsible for coordinating the July 13 advance 
planning team and security plan. 

Senior Special Agent Site Counterpart. Site Counterpart Agent from the Pittsburgh Field 
Office responsible for coordinating the security plan for the Butler Farm Show site with 
Site Agent Site Agent. 
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Senior Special Agent Site PI. Site Protective Intelligence Agent from the Phoenix Field 
Office responsible for responding to suspicious person reports and intelligence issues on July 
13. 

Special Agent Site Agent. Site Agent from the Donald Trump Division responsible for 
coordinating the security plan for the Butler Farm Show site for the July 13 campaign 
event. 

Special Agent PI Advance. Formerly with the Pittsburgh Field Office; for former President 
Trump’s July 13 visit, he was the Protective Intelligence Advance Agent responsible for 
conducting intelligence advance work to identify potential threats to the protectee and site. 

Special Agent C-UAS Op.. Counter Unmanned Aerial Systems Operator from the Donald 
Trump Division responsible for advance planning and operating the system during the July 
13 event, despite several technical issues. 

Special Agent USSS Post 1. From the Phoenix Field Office, and assigned as the post-stander 
at the motorcade entrance of the Butler Farm Show on July 13 with Butler Township 
Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1. 

Special Agent CS Resp.. Counter-sniper Response Team agent from the Oklahoma City 
Field Office responsible for addressing threats identified by the Counter- sniper Team 
at the July 13 event. 

Special Agent CAT Lead. Counter Assault Team Leader during the advance process and on 
July 13, provided critical response to evacuate former President Trump from the event 
venue. 

Special Agent CAT Op. Counter Assault Team Operator on July 13, and provided critical 
response to evacuate former President Trump from the rally venue. 

Senior Special Agent FLOTUS Adv. Agent. Advance Agent from the Pittsburgh Field 
Office that helped organize the initial police planning meetings for former President Trump 
and FLOTUS July 13 visits to Pennsylvania. 

Counter-sniper Sergeant CS Sgt. Tech.. Counter-sniper team member on the South Barn 
by the event stage who neutralized the shooter on July 13. 

Counter-sniper Technician CS TL. Counter-sniper Team Leader on the South Barn by the 
event stage who was responsible for counter-sniper advance planning for the July 13 
campaign event. 

Counter-sniper Technician CS Tech.. Counter-sniper team member on North Barn by the 
event stage on July 13. 

Technical Security Investigator TSI Agent. Handled advance planning on behalf of the 
Secret Service’s Technical Security Division to identify potential explosive, chemical, and 
other threats in and around the Butler Farm Show for the July 13 event. 
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Federal Bureau of Investigation 
Special Agent in Charge FBI SAIC PIT. In charge of the FBI’s Pittsburgh Field Office, and 
assumed responsibility for the Butler Farm Show crime scene following the July 13 
assassination attempt. 

Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives 
ATF Agent 1. ATF _______LES__________ who assisted with coordinating the ATF’s critical 
incident response functions on July 13. 

ATF Agent 2. ATF _______LES__________ who was one of the first members of law 
enforcement to respond the Crooks residence, where an IED was located. 

Pennsylvania State Police 

Lieutenant PSP Lt. 1. PSP lead during the advance planning process, who worked closely 
with the Secret Service advance team and LLE, and on site during July 13. 

Lieutenant PSP Lt. 2. A PSP representative who worked closely with the Secret Service 
advance team to coordinate PSP resources. 

Sergeant PSP Sgt.. The PSP representative in the Secret Service Security Room that passed 
along critical information from the LLE command post about Crooks and his movements 
leading up to the shooting. 

Trooper PSP Trp. 1. A PSP post-stander who helped coordinate PSP response to search for 
Crooks by direction of Sgt. PSP Sgt. in the Secret Service Security Room. 

Trooper PSP Trp. 2. PSP counterpart assigned to assist the Counter-sniper Response Team 
agent CS Resp. during the July 13 campaign event. 

Trooper PSP Trp. 3. LLE counterpart assigned to assist the Site Protective Intelligence agent 
with suspicious person reports during the July 13 campaign event. 

Butler County Sheriff’s Office 

Chief Deputy Sheriff’s Chief Deputy. BCSO lead during the advance planning process, 
who worked with the Secret Service advance team and PSP Lt. PSP Lt. 1 in the advance 
planning process and was on site for July 13. 

Sergeant Sheriff's Sgt.. Present in the local command post trailer to coordinate Sheriff’s 
deputies assigned to the July 13 campaign event. 

Deputy Sheriff's Deputy. Deputy who was stationed within the fence lines separating the 
event from the AGR complex and was assigned to watch the AGR-side fence for potential 
incursions. 
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Butler County ESU 
Commander Butler ESU Comm.. In charge of Butler County ESU and, as such, participated 
in advance planning and was present in the local command post trailer to coordinate LLE 
assets assigned to the July 13 campaign event. 

Deputy Commander Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 1. Participated in the advance planning for 
local law tactical assets and assigned to support the local command post trailer for the latter 
half of the event. 

Deputy Commander Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 2. Assisted with the event security planning 
for local tactical assets and was embedded with the Secret Service CAT team to provide 
support and communications linkage for the July 13 campaign event. 

Sniper Team Leader Butler ESU Snip. TL. Participated in the advance planning for counter-
sniper assets and drafted an “overwatch” chart to establish overlapping fields of coverage 
during the event. 

Sniper Butler ESU Sniper. Assigned to the AGR building to provide sniper coverage of the 
July 13 campaign event and passed along early information about Crooks and his 
rangefinder to a member of the _LES__ team stationed near the event stage. 

_LES__ Team Leader Butler ESU Op. ATL. In charge of the _LES__ team who was 
part of the post- shooting response to secure the AGR building. 
_LES__ Operator Butler ESU Op. 2. A member of the _LES__ team who noticed Crooks near 
the AGR building and was part of the post-shooting response to secure the AGR building. 

CAT Team Leader Butler ESU CAT TL 2. Local CAT member located near the North Barn 
who fired one round toward Crooks, possibly causing Crooks to stop firing at former 
President Trump and the event attendees. 

CAT Team Leader Butler ESU CAT TL. Was present at the campaign event advance 
planning meetings, and created the Butler Township and Butler ESU operational plans for 
the campaign event. 
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Beaver County ESU 
Deputy Commander Beaver ESU Dep. Comm.. In-charge of Beaver County ESU which 
assisted Butler ESU for the July 13 campaign event, and led CAT team stationed by the 
entrance of the campaign event. 

Sniper Assistant Team Lead Beaver ESU Snip. ATL. Assigned to the AGR building to 
provide sniper coverage of the July 13 campaign event, and was one of the first to notice 
Crooks and disseminate photos and a description to other law enforcement personnel 
around the July 13 campaign event. 

Sniper Team Lead Beaver ESU Snip. TL. One of the three snipers assigned to post-up in the 
AGR building during the July 13 campaign event, and may have spotted Crooks as he 
wrapped up his assignment around 4:30 PM. 

Medic Beaver ESU Medic. Assigned to the Beaver CAT team as a medic, and was one of the 
first to ascend the AGR building roof, shortly after pronouncing Crooks dead. 

Butler Township Police Department 

Lieutenant BTPD Lt. 1 . Second-in-command of the local police presence in Butler 
Township, and provided advance planning assistance and communication coordination in 
the local command post trailer on July 13. 

Detective BTPD Detective. A local police detective who proactively searched for Crooks 
and was partially lifted onto the AGR building rooftop, spotting Crooks and his rifle, before 
radioing out a warning at 1811 hours. 

Patrolman BTPD Patrol 3. A local police officer who was not assigned to work the 
campaign event, but proactively left his post to search for Crooks, and helped lift Detective 
BTPD Detective onto the rooftop at 1811 hours to spot Crooks and his rifle. 

Patrolman BTPD Patrol 2. Originally assigned to traffic duty near the AGR complex, he left 
his post to help search for Crooks, ultimately spotting him moving across the rooftops. 

Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1. Participated in the advancing planning in his capacity as Sniper 
Assistant Team Leader for Butler ESU, assisting with sniper operations plans, and worked 
the July 13 campaign event as an officer for the Butler Township Police 
Department, eventually disseminating information to other law enforcement officers while 
searching for Crooks. 

Butler County Dept. of Emergency Services 
Director Butler DES Dir.. Participated in the advance planning process, brought the local 
command post trailer for law enforcement to use during the campaign event, and acted as 
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the LLE representative in the Secret Service Security Room for communications purposes 
on July 13. 

Technology Specialist Butler DES Tech.. Participated in the advance planning walkthrough, 
and helped handle radio communications in the local command post trailer during the July 13 
campaign event. 
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APPENDIX II: INVESTIGATIVE SUMMARY 

Hearings 

• September 26, 2024 – Hearing: The Ongoing Investigation of the Butler,
Pennsylvania Security Failure: The Secret Service’s Reliance on State and Local
Law Enforcement.

• December 5, 2024 – Hearing: Secret Service Security Failures and The Attempts 
to Assassinate President-Elect Donald J. Trump.

Site Visits 

• August 26, 2024 – Task Force visit to Butler, Pennsylvania
• November 16, 2024 –Task Force visit to West Palm Beach, Florida
• November 18, 2024 – Task Force visit to Quantico, Virginia

Reports 

• October 21, 2024 – “Interim Staff Report: Investigating the Stunning Security
Failures on July 13, 2024, in Butler, Pennsylvania”

Transcribed Interviews (46) 

• U.S. Secret Service (20)
• Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives (2)
• Pennsylvania State Police (1)
• Local Law Enforcement (23)

Document Productions 

• U.S. Secret Service – Over 18,000 pages of documents in the Task Force’s
possession, including SMS communications, email communications, internal
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policies, handwritten recollections, and presentation slides; over 350 pages that 
constitute the classified Mission Assurance Review and accompanying 
interviews made available for review 

• Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives – Limited production 
including summaries of investigative reports 

• Federal Bureau of Investigation – Documents including joint intelligence 
bulletin, correspondence coordinating visit by FLOTUS to Pittsburgh, public 
statements, classified documents, witness statements, lab reports, timeline 
related to Crooks, FBI Pittsburgh organizational chart, dispatch log regarding a 
911 call from Crooks’ parents, evidence photos, communications regarding 
threat information and corresponding Secret Service counter-sniper response 

• Pennsylvania State Police – Productions including squad car footage capturing 
Crooks’ movements on the AGR roof, interviews of personnel in the Security 
Room, undercover, and partnered with Secret Service agents for the event, PSP-
Butler County Sheriff’s Office operational plan, General Office Report 
regarding return fire from USSS Counter-sniper and Butler County ESU Officer, 
email communications, Thomas Crooks timeline 

• Allegheny County – Crooks’ final autopsy report and related documentation 
• Beaver County ESU – Productions including evidence, an after-action report, 

and the response to the AGR roof after Crooks was neutralized 
• Butler County Coroner – Crooks’ final autopsy report and related documentation 
• Butler County Department of Emergency Services – Radio recordings on July 

13 from channels Police 1, Police Ops 3, Police Ops 4, and Fire Ops 6; county 
official emails related to July 13 preparation and response 

• Butler County ESU – Productions including after-action reports and timeline, 
operational plan, radio logs, and officer texts and call logs 

• Butler County District Attorney – Letter finding no criminal culpability by USSS 
Counter- sniper or Butler County ESU Officer 

• Butler Township Police Department – Productions including the operational 
plan and incident reports following the events of July 13 
 

Briefings 

• U.S. Secret Service 
 August 15, 2024 – Regarding an overview of events of July 13 in Butler, 

Pennsylvania 
 September 12, 2024 – Classified Member briefing regarding the Mission 

Assurance Review 
 September 17, 2024 – Regarding agency capabilities with radio 

communications 
 September 18, 2024 – Regarding an overview of events of September 15 
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in West Palm Beach, Florida 
 October 9, 2024 – Regarding agency capabilities with drones and C-UAS
 October 28, 2024 – Regarding the agency’s security plan on October 5 in

Butler, Pennsylvania
• Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives

 September 9, 2024 – Regarding the role of ATF on July 13
• Federal Bureau of Investigation

 August 21, 2024 – Regarding an overview of Crooks’ actions leading up
to and on July 13 in Butler, Pennsylvania

 September 3, 2024 – Regarding the role of FBI on July 13
 September 25, 2024 – Regarding findings of FBI from September 15
 October 22, 2024 – Classified Member briefing regarding the

_______LES__________ leading up to Butler and subsequent threat
landscape

• Department of Homeland Security Office of Inspector General
 September 16, 2024 – Regarding an overview of DHS OIG’s ongoing

investigation into the events of July 13, 2024, in Butler, Pennsylvania
• Allegheny County Chief Medical Examiner

 September 20, 2024 – Regarding an overview of findings from Crooks’
autopsy

Subpoenas 

• Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives
 November 19, 2024 – Subpoena for Deposition to ATF Agent 1 seeking

testimony regarding the agency’s participation in the investigation into
Crooks

 November 19, 2024 – Subpoena for Deposition to ATF Agent 2 seeking
testimony regarding the agency’s participation in the investigation into
Crooks

• Butler County Open Records Office
 September 5, 2024 – Subpoena to Butler County Open Records Office

regarding all documents and communications related to the July 13, 2024
campaign rally for President-elect Donald J. Trump in Butler,
Pennsylvania

• Butler County Coroner
 September 6, 2024 – Subpoena to the Butler County Coroner for

documents relating to the autopsy of Crooks
• Butler County Emergency Services Department
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 September 5, 2024 – Subpoena to Butler County Emergency Services 
Department Director Butler DES Dir. for the recording of the radio 
transmissions related to the July 13, 2024 campaign rally for President- 
elect Donald J. Trump in Butler, Pennsylvania 

 
Letters 

• Department of Homeland Security 
 August 13, 2024 – Letter to Secretary Alejandro Mayorkas requesting “all 

documents and information that have been produced to date, to any 
committee of the House or Senate related to the attempted assassination 
of former President Donald J. Trump” as well as a briefing no later than 
August 16, 2024 

 August 28, 2024 – Letter to Secretary Alejandro Mayorkas seeking new 
documents and multiple transcribed interviews relevant to the Task 
Force's  investigation  into  the  events  surrounding  the  attempted 
assassination of the former president during a rally on July 13, 2024 in 
Butler, Pennsylvania 

• U.S. Secret Service 
 August 13, 2024 – Letter to Acting Director Ronald Rowe requesting “all 

documents and information that have been produced to date, to any 
committee of the House or Senate related to the attempted assassination 
of former President Donald J. Trump” as well as a briefing no later than 
August 16, 2024 

 August 28, 2024 – Letter to Acting Director Ronald Rowe seeking new 
documents and multiple transcribed interviews relevant to the Task 
Force's investigation into the events surrounding the attempted 
assassination of the former president during a rally on July 13, 2024 in 
Butler, Pennsylvania 

• Department of Homeland Security and U.S. Secret Service 
 October 4, 2024 – Letter to Secretary Alejandro Mayorkas and Acting 

Director Ronald Rowe requesting “all records in the possession, custody, 
or control” of the Department of Homeland Security, the United States 
Secret Service, the Department of Justice, and the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation to date, related to the September 15 event 

• Department of Justice and Federal Bureau of Investigation 
 September 17, 2024 – Letter to Attorney General Merrick B. Garland and 

Director Christopher Wray requesting documents and interviews from the 
Department of Justice and the Federal Bureau of Investigation regarding 
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the attempted assassination of Donald J. Trump on July 13, 2024, in 
Butler, Pennsylvania 

 October 4, 2024 – Letter to Attorney General Merrick B. Garland and 
Director Christopher Wray requesting “all records in the possession, 
custody, or control” of the Department of Homeland Security, the United 
States Secret Service, the Department of Justice, and the Federal 
Bureau of Investigation to date, related to the September 15 event 

• Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives 
 October 3, 2024 – Letter to Director Steven M. Dettelbach requesting 

documents and interviews regarding the assassination attempts on Donald 
J. Trump on July 13, 2024, in Butler, Pennsylvania, and on September 15, 
2024, in West Palm Beach, Florida 

 November 6, 2024 – Letter to Director Steven M. Dettelbach and Acting 
Assistant Director Ann M. Vallandingham addressing the agency’s failure 
to schedule transcribed interviews with the Task Force and produce 
requested documents and requesting an initial production of documents 
and dates for interviews with key employees no later than November 13, 
2024 

 
• Pennsylvania State Police 

 September 9, 2024 – Letter to Colonel PSP Col. seeking all documents 
and communications related to the Trump rally held on July 13, 2024, 
including the planning, participation, and post-event actions and 
correspondence; documents and information relevant to any ongoing or 
completed criminal inquiries, investigations, or reports that have been 
completed by PSP related to the attempted assassination 

 
• Local Law Enforcement 

 September 3, 2024 – Letter to Butler Township Police Department Lt. 
BTPD Lt. 1  requesting transcribed interviews of officers and employees 
of the Butler Township Police Department and all documents and 
communications related to the Trump rally held on July 13, 2024, 
including Police Department planning, participation, and post-event 
actions and correspondence 

 September 3, 2024 – Letter to Butler County Sheriff’s Office Sheriff 
Michael T. Slupe requesting transcribed interviews of officers and 
employees of the Butler County Sheriff’s Office and all documents and 
communications related to the Trump rally held on July 13, 2024, 
including Police Department planning, participation, and post-event 
actions and correspondence 
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 September 3, 2024 – Letter to Butler County Emergency Services Unit 
Commander Butler ESU Comm. requesting transcribed interviews of 
officers and employees of Butler County ESU and all documents and 
communications related to the Trump rally held on July 13, 2024, 
including ESU planning, participation, and post-event actions and 
correspondence 

 September 3, 2024 – Letter to Beaver County District Attorney’s Office – 
Emergency Services Unit Commander Beaver ESU Comm. Requesting 
transcribed interviews of officers and employees of Beaver County ESU 
and all documents and communications related to the Trump rally held on 
July 13, 2024, including ESU planning, participation, and post-event 
actions and correspondence 

 September 3, 2024 – Letter to Coroner Butler Coroner, Butler County 
Office of the Coroner, and Chief Medical Examiner Allegheny ME, 
Allegheny County Office of the Medical Examiner requesting documents 
and information related to the coroner’s report and autopsy report for 
Thomas Matthew Crooks 
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APPENDIX III: TIMELINE OF TASK FORCE ACTIVITIES 
• July 13, 2024 – Attempted Assassination of Former President Donald J. Trump in

Butler, Pennsylvania

• July 24, 2024 – House Resolution 1367- Establishing the Task Force on the
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump

• August 13, 2024 – Letter to Department of Homeland Security Secretary
Alejandro Mayorkas requesting “all documents and information that have been
produced to date, to any committee of the House or Senate related to the attempted 
assassination of former President Donald J. Trump” as well as a briefing no later
than August 16, 2024

• August 13, 2024 – Letter to U.S. Secret Service Acting Director Ronald Rowe
requesting “all documents and information that have been produced to date, to
any committee of the House or Senate related to the attempted assassination of
former President Donald J. Trump” as well as a briefing no later than August 16,
2024

• August 15, 2024 – U.S. Secret Service briefing regarding an overview of events of
July 13 in Butler, Pennsylvania

• August 21, 2024 – Federal Bureau of Investigation briefing regarding an overview 
of Crooks’ actions leading up to and on July 13 in Butler, Pennsylvania

• August 26, 2024 – Site Assessment in Butler, Pennsylvania

• August 28, 2024 – Letter to Department of Homeland Security Secretary
Alejandro Mayorkas seeking new documents and multiple transcribed interviews
relevant to the Task Force's investigation into the events surrounding the attempted
assassination of the former president during a rally on July 13, 2024 in Butler,
Pennsylvania

• September 3, 2024 – Federal Bureau of Investigation briefing regarding the role of
FBI on July 13

• September 3, 2024 – Letter to Butler Township Police Department Lt. BTPD
Lt. 1  requesting transcribed interviews of officers and employees of the Butler
Township Police Department and all documents and communications related to the
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Trump rally held on July 13, 2024, including Police Department planning, 
participation, and post-event actions and correspondence 

• September 3, 2024 – Letter to Butler County Sheriff’s Office Sheriff Michael T. 
Slupe requesting transcribed interviews of officers and employees of the Butler 
County Sheriff’s Office and all documents and communications related to the 
Trump rally held on July 13, 2024, including Police Department planning, 
participation, and post-event actions and correspondence 

• September 3, 2024 – Letter to Butler County Emergency Services Unit 
Commander Butler ESU Comm. requesting transcribed interviews of officers and 
employees of Butler County ESU and all documents and communications related 
to the Trump rally held on July 13, 2024, including ESU planning, participation, 
and post-event actions and correspondence 

• September 3, 2024 – Letter to Beaver County District Attorney’s Office – 
Emergency Services Unit Commander Beaver ESU Comm. Requesting 
transcribed interviews of officers and employees of Beaver County ESU and all 
documents and communications related to the Trump rally held on July 13, 2024, 
including ESU planning, participation, and post-event actions and correspondence 

• September 3, 2024 – Letter to Coroner Butler Coroner, Butler County Office of 
the Coroner, and Chief Medical Examiner Allegheny ME, Allegheny County 
Office of the Medical Examiner requesting documents and information related to 
the coroner’s report and autopsy report for Thomas Matthew Crooks 

• September 5, 2024 – Subpoena to Butler County Open Records Office regarding 
all documents and communications related to the July 13, 2024 campaign rally for 
President- elect Donald J. Trump in Butler, Pennsylvania 

• September 5, 2024 – Subpoena to Butler County Department of Emergency 
Services Butler DES Dir. for the recording of the radio transmissions related to 
the July 13, 2024 campaign rally for President-elect Donald J. Trump in Butler, 
Pennsylvania 

• September 5-6, 2024 – Seven Transcribed Interviews in Pennsylvania 

• September 9, 2024 – Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives 
briefing regarding the role of ATF on July 13 

• September 9, 2024 – letter to Pennsylvania State Police Colonel PSP Col. seeking 
all documents and communications related to the Trump rally held on July 13, 
2024, including the planning, participation, and post-event actions and 
correspondence; documents and information relevant to any ongoing or 
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completed criminal inquiries, investigations, or reports that have been completed 
by PSP related to the attempted assassination 

• September 12, 2024 – U.S. Secret Service classified Member briefing regarding 
the Mission Assurance Review 

• September 11-13, 2024 – Sixteen Transcribed Interviews in Pennsylvania 

• September 15, 2024 – Attempted Assassination of Former President Donald J. 
Trump at the Trump international Golf Club in West Palm Beach, Florida 

• September 16, 2024 – Department of Homeland Security Office of Inspector 
General overview of its ongoing investigation 

• September 17, 2024 – U.S. Secret Service briefing regarding agency capabilities 
with radio communications 

• September 18, 2024 – U.S. Secret Service briefing regarding an overview of 
events of September 15 in West Palm Beach, Florida 

• September 20, 2024 – House Resolution 1470 – Expansion of Jurisdiction of the 
Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump. 

• September 20, 2024 – Allegheny County Chief Medical Examiner briefing 
regarding overview of findings from Crooks’ autopsy 

• September 25, 2024 – Federal Bureau of Investigation briefing regarding agency 
findings from September 15 

• September 26, 2024 – Hearing: The Ongoing Investigation of the Butler, 
Pennsylvania Security Failure: The Secret Service’s Reliance on State and Local 
Law Enforcement 

• October 3, 2024 – Letter to Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives 
Director Steven M. Dettelbach requesting documents and interviews regarding 
the assassination attempts on Donald J. Trump on July 13, 2024, in Butler, 
Pennsylvania, and on September 15, 2024, in West Palm Beach, Florida 

• October 4, 2024 – Letter to Department of Homeland Security Secretary 
Alejandro Mayorkas and U.S. Secret Service Acting Director Ronald Rowe 
requesting “all records in the possession, custody, or control” of the Department 
of Homeland Security, the United States Secret Service, the Department of 
Justice, and the Federal Bureau of Investigation to date, related to the September 
15 event 
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• October 4-8, 2024 – Three USSS Personnel Transcribed Interviews 

• October 9, 2024 – U.S. Secret Service briefing regarding agency capabilities with 
drones and C-UAS 

• October 10-18 – Seven USSS Personnel Transcribed Interviews 

• October 21, 2024 – “Interim Staff Report: Investigating the Stunning Security 
Failures on July 13, 2024, in Butler, Pennsylvania” 

• October 22, 2024 – Two USSS Personnel Transcribed Interviews 

• October 22, 2024 – Federal Bureau of Investigation classified Member briefing 
regarding the _____LES_______ leading up to Butler and subsequent threat 
landscape 

• October 25, 2024 – One USSS Personnel Transcribed Interview 

• October 28, 2024 – U.S. Secret Service briefing regarding the agency’s security 
plan on October 5 in Butler, Pennsylvania 

• October 30-November 5, 2024 – Three USSS Personnel Transcribed Interviews 

• November 6, 2024 – Letter to Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and 
Explosives Director Steven M. Dettelbach and Acting Assistant Director Ann M. 
Vallandingham addressing the agency’s failure to schedule transcribed interviews 
with the Task Force and produce requested documents and requesting an initial 
production of documents and dates for interviews with key employees no later 
than November 13, 2024 

• November 8-12, 2024 – Two USSS Personnel Transcribed Interviews 

• November 12, 2024 – One PSP Transcribed Interview 

• November 15, 2024 – One USSS Personnel Transcribed Interview 

• November 16, 2024 – Task Force Site Assessment in West Palm Beach, Florida 

• November 18, 2024 – Task Force evidence review in Quantico, Virginia 

• November 19, 2024 – Subpoena to ATF Agent 1 who participated in the agency’s 
response to the July 13 shooting in Butler, Pennsylvania, seeking testimony 
regarding the agency’s response 

• November 19, 2024 – Subpoena to ATF Agent 2 seeking testimony regarding the 
response to the July 13 assassination attempt on President-elect Donald J. 
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Trump in Butler, Pennsylvania 

• November 20, 2024 – One USSS Personnel Transcribed Interview

• November 26, 2024 – Two ATF Transcribed Interviews

• December 5, 2024 – Hearing: Secret Service Security Failures and The
Attempts To Assassinate President-Elect Donald J. Trump. 
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APPENDIX IV: KEY OUTSTANDING REQUESTS TO 
AGENCIES 

USSS/Department of Homeland Security 

The Secret Service provided significant cooperation in response to the Task Force’s 
requests for information regarding the July 13 Butler, Pennsylvania, shooting. USSS made 
all individuals relevant to the July 13 event requested by the Task Force available for 
transcribed interviews in a timely manner and produced thousands of documents. However, 
DHS policies restricted certain important documents to in-camera review, and the 
overclassification of documents hindered the Task Force’s investigation. USSS cooperation 
in response to the September 15 assassination attempt in West Palm Beach, Florida, was 
substantially limited to a timely briefing shortly after the shooting and later a guided visit 
of the scene where the assassination attempt and efforts to thwart it occurred. 

Key outstanding requests to USSS/DHS: 
• Outstanding transcripts from interviews conducted by DHS and USSS related to

the July 13 event.
• All Memorandums of Understanding (MOUs) that DHS or USSS have with other

federal agencies (relevant to July 13)
• Descriptions of the number of USSS personnel assigned to various protective

details
• Outstanding documents and communications concerning USSS and DHS

personnel placed on any type of leave or altered status related to the events of July
13

• Documents, communications, and materials produced to the FBI referring or
related to the September 15 event in West Palm Beach, Florida

• Transcripts and interviews conducted by DHS and USSS related to the September
15 event

• A list of all internal inquiries and/or reports underway related to the September 15
event

• Information relevant to September 15 referring or related to:
o USSS security plans for off-the-record movement of a candidate for

President and a former President
o USSS communications structure for off-the-record movement of a

candidate for President and a former President
o All changes to USSS policies and procedures implemented since the

September 15 event
• All communications, including emails, text messages, phone logs, or other
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messaging services referring to the July 13 and September 15 events between or 
among USSS and various entities 

• All U.S. Customs and Border Protection and DHS HSI documents, records, 
memoranda, interviews, communications and materials referring or related to 
Ryan Wesley Routh 

• Transcribed interviews with key personnel relevant to the September 15 incident 
 
Department of Justice/FBI/ATF 

DOJ and its relevant client agencies (FBI and ATF) provided limited cooperation in 
certain areas of the Task Force’s investigation. The Task Force notes the FBI’s cooperation 
included a site visit to laboratory facilities to inspect evidence recovered from the July 13 
shooting, multiple laboratory reports, limited photos of evidence, and highly redacted 
interview reports related to the Butler shooting. The FBI, however, did not make any of the 
requested individuals available for transcribed interviews and never provided the Task 
Force with a comprehensive log of evidence (but did grant access to some limited evidence 
lists). It also declined to address repeated requests to provide digital analysis from Crooks’ 
devices and online activity as well as other specific documentation repeatedly requested by 
the Task Force. FBI, citing an ongoing criminal prosecution, substantially refused to make 
documents or individuals related to the September 15 assassination attempt in West Palm 
Beach, Florida, available to the Task Force. 

ATF, while playing a more limited role in response to the July 13 shooting, was 
substantially unhelpful in its response to Task Force requests with the exception of a last-
minute agreement to make two ATF employees available for transcribed interviews only 
after the Task Force issued subpoenas for their depositions. ATF also refused repeated 
requests for document production and only after previously noted subpoenas were issued 
did it make a production of only 40 pages available to the Task Force. This represented only 
a small fraction of the information sought by the Task Force. 

In addition, DOJ entities largely refused to provide physical copies of documents to 
the Task Force. DOJ insisted on making documents available through a virtual in-camera 
system that made them available for viewing by individuals approved by DOJ but blocking 
the ability to print, download, or organize these responsive materials. This system was 
onerous and unnecessarily inhibited the ability to share information with Members and the 
public. 
 
Key outstanding requests to DOJ/FBI/ATF: 
 

• An organizational chart showing the structural chains of command between or 
among teams involved in the criminal and/or counterterrorism investigations of 
the July 13 and September 15 events 

• Communications, including emails, text messages, phone logs, or other 
messaging services, referring or related to the July 13 and September 15 events 
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• FD-302 forms and/or transcripts for witness interviews related to the July 13
event, including but not limited to the following witnesses:

o Thomas Matthew Crooks’ immediate family847

o Allegheny Arms & Gun Works, including owners, employees, and
customers

o President-elect Donald J. Trump
o Employees of Donald J. Trump for President 2024, Inc.
o Clairton Sportsmen’s Club owners and customers

• All documents and communications referring or related to:
o The FBI’s identification of Crooks on July 13
o Crooks’ use of encrypted messaging accounts
o Analysis of Crooks’ electronic devices
o The crime scene of the July 13 event including Memorandum of

Understanding with USSS and cleaning of the crime scene
o Any information concerning the intake, evaluation, examination, or

disposition of Crooks’ body, including but not limited to the release of
his body to his family

o The identification of Routh on September 15
o Routh’s use of encrypted messaging accounts
o Analysis of Routh’s use of electronic devices
o Copies of all of Routh’s correspondence including text messages, emails,

and other communications recovered or in the possession of the FBI
o Ballistic analysis of all shots fired
o A log of all evidence related to the July 13 and September 15 events

• All intelligence related to threats to former President Trump that were considered
active, ongoing, or unresolved between and including July 1-13 and on September 
15

• A copy of all evidence obtained by the FBI related to the investigation of the July
13 event and Crooks, including but not limited to videos, recordings, encrypted
messaging accounts, social media accounts, phones, computers, or other
electronic devices

• All subpoenas and search warrants related to the July 13 and September 15 events
• All documents and information related to any potential connection between

the two attempted assassinations on July 13 and September 15, 2024
• Transcribed interviews of key employees who worked on the response to the July

13 and September 15 events
• FD-302 forms and/or transcripts for witness interviews related to the September

15 event, including but not limited to the following witnesses:
o Ryan Wesley Routh’s family members, friends, and colleagues
o President-elect Donald J. Trump

847 The Task Force notes that the ATF has not produced the interview recording of its interview 
with Thomas Crooks’ parents at the family home the evening of July 13, 2024. The ATF provided an 
abridged summary of this interview in a Report of Investigation produced to the Task Force in-
camera. 
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o Employees of Donald J. Trump for President 2024, Inc. 
o Representatives or employees of Trump International Golf Club, West 

Palm Beach 
• Copies of financial analyses being conducted by the FBI in connection with Routh 
• A copy of all evidence obtained by the FBI related to the investigation of the 

September 15 event and Routh 
• All FBI documents, records, memoranda, interviews, communications and 

materials referring or related to Ryan Wesley Routh 
• Written policies and procedures sufficient to describe ATF’s critical incident 

response process, including how and under what circumstances the critical incident 
response process is initiated. 

• Documents sufficient to show all ATF personnel responsible for ATF’s critical 
incident response functions on July 13, 2024, and September 15, 2024, as 
applicable, including but not limited to the response at the Butler Farm Show 
grounds and at the home of Matthew Crooks 

 
Pennsylvania State Police 
 

Pennsylvania State Police provided significant cooperation in response to the Task 
Force’s requests for both documents and witnesses, with some notable exceptions. 
 
Key outstanding requests to Pennsylvania State Police: 

• Outstanding transcripts and recordings from interviews conducted by PSP related 
to the July 13 event 

• Body worn camera footage from two specific PSP personnel related to the July 13 
event 

• A list of all internal PSP inquiries, investigations, and/or reports that are planned 
or ongoing related to the July 13 event 

• Outstanding criminal inquires, investigations, and/or reports that have been 
completed by PSP related to the July 13 event 

• Any communications, including emails, text messages, phone logs, or 
communications from other messaging services related to the July 13 event, 
including but not limited to both internal PSP communications and external 
communications with other state, local, and federal law enforcement entities 
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APPENDIX V: TIMELINE OF KEY EVENTS 
(BUTLER RALLY) 

July 2 

• DTD Operations notified the Pittsburgh Field Office of a potential visit on July
13.1

July 3 

• DTD Operations formally notified the Pittsburgh Field Office that former
President Trump would visit Pennsylvania on July 13 for a campaign event.2

• An FBI Counterterrorism Division unit “became aware of concerning
threat information directed at former President Trump.”3 Due to the classification
level, the FBI and a USSS Special Agent met up in a SCIF to discuss the threat
information.4 The FBI suggested that the Special Agent ask his agency to consider
providing counter-sniper assets to former President Trump, and the Special Agent
agreed to see if that request was possible.5

July 4 

• DTD Operations confirmed that the Butler Farm Show was selected as the
July 13 campaign event site.6

• Crooks conducted internet searches for details relating to former President
Trump’s campaign event.7

July 5 

• Crooks conducted internet searches for “When is the DNC convention” and

1 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Timeline, Bates 
001367 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

2 Id. 
3 Production to the Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI-HTR-

BTLR-000482 – 000486 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
4 Id. 
5 Id. 
6 Production to the Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI-HTR-

BTLR-000381 – 000382 (2024) (on file with the Task Force); Briefing from Fed. Bureau of 
Investigation to Task Force Staff, (Aug. 28, 2024) (notes on file with Task Force Staff). 

7 Id. 
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“When is the RNC in 2024.”8 He also searched for information about the Butler 
Farm Show and a nearby hospital.9  

• Pittsburgh Field Office Senior Special Agent FLOTUS Adv. Agent contacted PSP 
and Butler ESU representatives for assistance to help staff the July 13 event.10 He 
also invited them to an initial police planning meeting on July 8.11  

July 6 

• Crooks conducted internet searches for “How far was Oswald from Kennedy,” 
“Where will Trump speak from at Butler Farm Show,” “Butler Farm Show 
podium,” and “Butler Farm Show photos.”12 He also registered to attend the July 
13 campaign event.13  

• Secret Service established the advance personnel for former President Trump’s 
July 13 campaign event.14  

July 7 

• 0948 – 1045: Crooks drove near the Butler Farm Show grounds and conducted a 
brief walkthrough near the exterior fence line before departing to examine the 
nearby AGR complex.15  

July 8 

• 1000: Secret Service advance team agents met with the campaign advance team 
leads for a walkthrough of the Butler Farm Show.16 Trump campaign staff 
provided information on some measures planned to mitigate line of sight concerns 

 
8 Id. 
9 Id. 
10 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Bates 001367 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
11 Id. 
12 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, FBI-HTR-BTLR-000381 – 000382 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force); Briefing from Fed. Bureau of Investigation to Task Force Staff 
(Aug. 28, 2024) (notes on file with Task Force Staff). 

13 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, FBI-HTR-BTLR-000381 (2024) (on 
file with the Task Force). 

14 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Bates 001367 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

15 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI-HTR-
BTLR-000381 – 000382 (2024) (on file with the Task Force); Briefing from Fed. Bureau of 
Investigation to Task Force Staff (Aug. 28, 2024) (notes on file with Task Force Staff). 

16 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Bates 001367 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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and advised on the potential stage location.17 

• 1300 – 1400: Secret Service advance team agents hosted a police meeting with
state and LLE representatives.18

July 9 

• Crooks conducted internet searches for “ballistic calculator.”19

• Although the DTD Operations requested counter-sniper assets, the OPO
leadership had previously decided to assign counter-sniper assets to former
President Trump for all outdoor events going forward because of the credible
threat intelligence.20

• Secret Service met PSP for a site walkthrough.21 Secret Service, PSP, and Trump
campaign staff discussed line of sight issues and the possibility of using large farm 
equipment previously used by the Trump campaign in 2020.22

• 1132: Senior Special Agent Lead Advance contacted Butler ESU Commander
Butler ESU Comm. and requested counter-sniper assets. Commander Butler ESU
Comm. then requested assistance from Washington SWAT for additional sniper
and operator assets.23

• DTD ASAIC ASAIC DTD called Pittsburgh Senior Special Agent Lead Advance
and informed her that counter-sniper assets would be assigned to the campaign
event due to credible threat intelligence.24 ASAIC ASAIC DTD asked her to pass

17 Id. 
18 Id.; Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Sr. Special 

Agent Site Counterpart Timeline, Bates 000794 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
19 Briefing from Fed. Bureau of Investigation to Task Force Staff (Aug. 28, 2024) (notes on file 

with Task Force Staff). 
20 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Bates 001368 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
21 Id.; Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Sr. Special 

Agent Site Counterpart Timeline, Bates 000797 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
22 Id. 
23 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Butler ESU Assist Request Timeline (2024) (on file 

with the Task Force). 
24 Sr. Special Agent Lead Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 31 (Oct. 18, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force); Ass’t Special Agent in Charge ASAIC DTD, Donald Trump 
Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 52-53 (Nov. 12, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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this along to her SAIC in the Pittsburgh Field Office. 

• 1703: Senior Special Agent Lead Advance then called Butler ESU Commander 
Butler ESU Comm. back to inform him that the Secret Service would provide 
counter-sniper assets to the event.25  

• 2015: Butler ESU Team Leader Butler ESU Snip. TL, Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1, 
and Deputy Commander Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 1 performed an initial 
walkthrough of the Butler Farm Show to scout potential locations to deploy sniper 
teams for the campaign event.26  

• 2217: Butler ESU Commander Butler ESU Comm. formally requested tactical 
assets from Pennsylvania Region 13 police departments to supplement Butler 
assets for the July 13 campaign event via Butler DES Director DES Dir..27  

July 10 

• Crooks conducted internet searches for “weather in Butler.”28  

• Pittsburgh Special Agent/Intelligence Advance Agent PI Advance formally 
requested any intelligence relating to former President Trump’s July 13 campaign 
event from the FBI.29  

• USSS CSTL CS TL and TSI TSI Agent traveled to Butler, Pennsylvania, and 
initiated their advance work.30  

• 0925 – 0948: Crooks purchased a SwissGear backpack from a store in Bethel 
Park, Pennsylvania.31  

• 1000 – 1045: Pittsburgh SAIC SAIC PIT and advance team agents conducted a 
manpower walkthrough at the Butler Farm Show and ran through the sequence of 

 
25 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Butler ESU Assist Request Timeline (2024) (on file 

with the Task Force). 
26 Id. 
27 Id. 
28 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI-HTR-

BTLR-000381 – 000382 (2024) (on file with the Task Force); Briefing from Fed. Bureau of 
Investigation to Task Force Staff (Aug. 28, 2024) (notes on file with Task Force Staff). 

29 Special Agent PI Advance, Pittsburgh Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 28 (Oct. 15, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

30 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Bates 001368 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

31 Production to the Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI-HTR-
BTLR-000381 – 000382 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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events near where the stage area would be.32 

• 1023: DTD Operations requested _LES__ additional C-UAS platforms, including
another mitigation system and a ______LES__________ mitigation and detection
system. However, Secret Service Operations denied both requests.33 Despite this,
the DTD brought their own C-UAS detection and mitigation system to the event.

• 1600: Butler County ESU Team Leader Butler ESU Snip. TL conducted a follow-
up walkthrough of the Butler Farm Show and identified four overlapping coverage 
areas for use by local counter-sniper assets.34

July 11 

• A Secret Service Special Agent/FBI Counterterrorism Liaison exchanged emails
with their FBI counterparts, noting that the Secret Service had “turned on”
[counter-snipers] for their protectee.35

• 1000: The USSS advance team conducted a walk-through of the Butler Farm
Show with state and LLE to coordinate security assignments and assets.36 There
was confusion between Secret Service and state and LLE as to who would cover
the AGR complex.37 The Secret Service and Trump campaign staff had additional
line of sight mitigation conversations.

• 1747: TSI Agent submitted his TSD Outdoor Site Survey detailing potential threats

32 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Sr. Special 
Agent Site Counterpart Timeline, Bates 000799-000800 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

33 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Sr. Special 
Agent Site Counterpart Timeline, Bates 000798 (2024) (on file with the Task Force); Production to 
Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Bates 001368 (2024) (on file with the 
Task Force); Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
29-30 (Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force); Technical Security Investigator TSI Agent, U.S. 
Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of 
Donald J. Trump, 33 (Oct. 10, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

34 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Butler ESU Assist Request Timeline (2024) (on file 
with the Task Force). 

35 Production to the Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI-HTR-
BTLR-000482 – 000486 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

36 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Advance 
Timeline, Bates 001392 (on file with the Task Force); Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, 
U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Bates 001368 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

37 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, PSP Response to Senate Committee on 
Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs - Final 8.14.24, 37, 54 (2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 
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and vulnerabilities at the Butler Farm Show.38 

July 12 

• 1100: The USSS advance team and Trump campaign staff met to discuss 
campaign event details and address line of sight concerns.39  

• 1218: DTD C-UAS Operator C-UAS Op. talked with PSP Lt. PSP Lt. 2 about 
PSP’s drones, which Lt. PSP Lt. 2 offered the Secret Service to use at the 
campaign event.40 However, the Secret Service did not take PSP up on their offer 
to use these drones. 

• 1443-1604: Crooks practiced shooting at a local gun range.41  

• 1700: The USSS advance team conducted a walk-through to discuss security plans 
with the DTD Second Supervisor.42 

• 1946: Special Agent Site Agent emailed post stander information to the USSS 
and HSI personnel handling those assignments.43  

July 13 

• 0915: Butler ESU conducted a briefing for local tactical units.44 Butler ESU, 
Beaver ESU, and Washington SWAT members were in attendance. 

• 0926: Crooks purchased a 5.5-foot ladder at a local hardware store.45  

 
38 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., TSI TSI Agent 

TSD Outdoor Site Survey Email, Bates 003376 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
39 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Bates 001369 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
40 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Special Agent 

C-UAS Op. Drone Text Messages, Bates 003100 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
41 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI-HTR-

BTLR-000381 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
42 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Special Agent 

C-UAS Op. Drone Text Messages, Bates 003100 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
43 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Post-Stander 

Instructions Email, Bates 000675 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
44 Briefing from Butler ESU to Task Force Members of Cong. (Aug. 26, 2024) (on file with the 

Task Force). 
45 Production to the Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI-HTR-

BTLR-000381 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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• 0930: BTPD conducted a briefing for officers assisting with the campaign event.46

• 1000: The USSS conducted a briefing for USSS and HSI post standers.47

• 1059 – 1105: Crooks drove near the Butler Farm Show.48

• 1100: DTD C-UAS Operator C-UAS Op. attempted to activate the counter
unmanned aerial system (C-UAS drone detection system).49 However, the system
refused to function because of several technical issues, causing DTD C-UAS
Operator C-UAS Op. to attempt to troubleshoot the problem.

• 1205 – 1212: DTD C-UAS Operator C-UAS Op. called an agent from the DTD for
technical assistance before calling the program lead for the Secret Service’s C-
UAS program. The program lead directed DTD C-UAS Operator C-UAS Op. to
call the C-UAS detection system’s manufacturer for technical assistance.50

• 1230: The USSS opened the campaign event grounds to staff and vendors.51

• 1249: The USSS CSTL CS TL received a text from a local sniper saying they were
“in position” and had snipers in the AGR building.52

• 1256: A USSS CSTL CS TL confirmed receipt of a local sniper’s text message and
said they would meet.53

• 1300: The USSS opened magnetometers to screen the public attending the rally.54

46 Briefing from Butler Police Dep’t to Task Force Members of Cong. (Aug. 26, 2024) (on file 
with the Task Force). 

47 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Bates 001369 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

48 Production to the Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI-HTR-
BTLR-000381 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

49 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 
75-76 (Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

50 Id. at 77-78. 
51 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Bates 001361 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
52 Id. 
53 Id. 
54 Id. 
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• 1330: Crooks obtained a firearm from his residence.55  

• 1342: The Butler ESU sniper team leader texted USSS CSTL CS TL to meet for 
a briefing. CS TL and a second agency counter-sniper met with local snipers near 
the grandstands to brief one another on postings for the campaign event.56  

• 1345: Crooks left his residence, telling his parents he was going to a local shooting 
range.57  

• 1354: Crooks purchased 50 rounds of Hornady .223 Remington full metal jacket 
ammunition and proceeded to the campaign event location.58  

• 1537: Crooks’ phone location data showed that he was in the vicinity of the 
“staging location.”59  

• 1551: Crooks flew a drone approximately 200 yards from the farm show grounds 
for around 11 minutes. 

• 1620: The Federal Aviation Administration instituted a Temporary Flight 
Restriction over the Butler Farm Show _______LES__________.60  

• 1626: At this point, Crooks was located near the farm show airstrip and was 
walking past a row of vendors outside the secure perimeter approximately half a 

 
55 Production to the Task Force, Penn. State Police, PSP Response to Senate Committee on 

Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs - Final 8.14.24, 54 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
According to the FBI, Crooks’ father gave him the firearm. Briefing from Fed. Bureau of 
Investigation to Members of Cong., (Aug. 21, 2024). This has been misreported in public discourse 
and during congressional hearings as Crooks “taking” his father’s gun, including claims that Crooks 
took the firearm because it was unsafely stored. See, e.g., Examining the Assassination Attempt on 
July 13: Hearing Before the H. Comm. on Homeland Sec., 118th Cong. (2024); HEARING BEFORE H. 
COMM. ON OVERSIGHT & ACCOUNTABILITY, 118th Cong. 2 (Jul. 22, 2024) available at 
https://oversight.house.gov/hearing/oversight- of-the-u-ssecret-service-and-the-attempted-
assassination-of-president-donald-j-trump/. 

56 Technician CS TL, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 120-121 (Oct. 22, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

57 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, PSP Response to Senate Committee on 
Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs - Final 8.14.24, 54 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

58 Briefing from Fed. Bureau of Investigation to Task Force Members of Cong. (Aug. 21, 2024) 
(notes on file with Task Force Staff). 

59 Production to the Task Force, Penn. State Police, PSP Response to Senate Committee on 
Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs – Final 8.14.24, 54 (2024) (on file with Task Force). 

60 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 52 
(Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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mile from the AGR complex.61 

• 1633: DTD C-UAS Operator C-UAS Op. swapped out an ethernet cable in the C-
UAS detection system, which activated the system.62 He informed DTD Site
Agent Site Agent and DTD ASAIC ASAIC DTD that the system was operational.

• 1700: PSP Trooper PSP Trp. 1 contacted PSP Lt. PSP Lt. 1 regarding several
suspicious people loitering near the northern perimeter fence line. The initial focus 
was on two men in red and yellow shirts.63

• 1710: Local snipers in the AGR complex reported that they saw Crooks walk past
one of the AGR buildings and look up at the second-story windows.64

• 1714: Beaver ESU sniper Beaver ESU Snip. ATL took photographs of Crooks by
the AGR building.65

• 1715: Butler County sniper Butler ESU Sniper texted Butler ESU _LES__ member
Butler ESU Op. 2, stationed by the north barn adjacent to the event stage, about the
Crooks with the rangefinder.66 However, Butler ESU Op. 2 did not see these text
messages until roughly 25 to 30 minutes later.67

• 1728: Beaver ESU sniper Beaver ESU Snip. ATL took photos of a bike and
backpack near the AGR building by a picnic table.68 Although PSP initially
attributed ownership to Crooks, law enforcement later confirmed that Crooks did
not own them.

61 Briefing from Fed. Bureau of Investigation to Task Force Staff (Aug. 28, 2024) (notes on file 
with Task Force Staff). 

62 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 80 
(Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

63 Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective Division, U.S. Secret Service, 
Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 80 
(Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). Special Agent C-UAS Op., Donald Trump Protective 
Division, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 80 (Nov. 15, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

64 Production to the Task Force, Penn. State Police, PSP Response to Senate Committee on 
Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs - Final 8.14.24, 54 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

65 Id. 
66 Operator Butler ESU Op. 2, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 

Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 95 (Sep. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
67 Id. 
68 Production to the Task Force, Penn. State Police, PSP Response to Senate Committee on 

Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs - Final 8.14.24, 54 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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• 1733: Former President Trump’s motorcade arrived at the rally.69  

• 1734: Beaver ESU sniper Beaver ESU Snip. ATL sent his pictures of Crooks to 
several Butler ESU CAT and _LES__ members.70 These are the widely published 
photographs of the shooter wearing a grey shirt and facing away from the camera. 
When these photographs were received and viewed by each individual remains 
unclear, though at least one Butler ESU operator said that he received the pictures 
at about 1749.71  

• 1738: BTPD Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1 received the text message from ATL 
Beaver ESU Snip. ATL with the photos of Crooks.72 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1 
subsequently shared information about the suspicious individual with the Secret 
Service Special Agent stationed at his post (the Brady Paul Lane entrance for 
arrival and departure of the former President’s motorcade).73  

• 1740: The Butler ESU sniper team leader responded to the Beaver ESU sniper 
Beaver ESU Snip. ATL: “Call it in to command and have a uniform check it 
out.”74  

o BTPD Lt. BTPD Lt. 1 left the local command trailer to go to the VIP 
tent before going to the Brady Paul Lodge.75 

• 1742: Beaver ESU sniper Beaver ESU Snip. ATL radioed the local command post 
to report Crooks’ description, use of a rangefinder, and location around the AGR 
complex.76 Around the same time, the Butler ESU sniper team leader also phoned 

 
69 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Bates 001361 

(on file with the Task Force). 
70 Production to the Task Force, Penn. State Police, PSP Response to Senate Committee on 

Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs - Final 8.14.24, 54 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
71 Deputy Commander, Butler ESU Dep. Comm. 1, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before 

the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 53 (Sep. 12, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 

72 Production to Task Force, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Incident #24-03435, Incident Report, 
13 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

73 Patrolman BTPD Patrol 1, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview before the Task 
Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 17 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

74 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Presidential Rally Radio Timeline 7-13-2024 (2024) 
(on file with the Task Force). 

75 Production to Task Force, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, BTPD 24-03435 Campaign Event 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

76 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Presidential Rally Radio Timeline 7-13-2024 (2024) 
(on file with the Task Force). 
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the description to the Butler ESU, Commander Butler ESU Comm., in the local 
command post.77 

• 1743: Butler ESU Commander Butler ESU Comm. stated over the radio that
someone from PSP or the Butler County Sheriff’s Office would be sent to check
out the suspicious person.78 It remains unclear whether anyone from those
agencies was dispatched to the AGR complex to find the suspicious person.

• 1744: The PSP trooper stationed in the USSS Security Room received a phone
call from a Butler ESU Commander Butler ESU Comm. located in the local
command trailer, relaying information about a suspicious person near the AGR
building, described as “a young, white male, long hair with a range finder.”79 The
PSP trooper then relayed the information to a USSS Security Room Supervisor in
the Security Room and then by phone to other PSP personnel.

• 1745: A Butler ESU sniper texted USSS CSTL CS TL with several text messages
containing info about Crooks and his rangefinder, as well as the two pictures of
Crooks that they took.80

• 1746: USSS CSTL CS TL responded to the Butler ESU sniper’s text messages:
“Roger. I’ll notify teams on AGR side.”81

• 1748: The Butler ESU sniper stated over the radio that he notified a USSS counter- 
sniper of the previously identified suspicious person.82 The FBI confirmed that
the USSS counter-sniper teams were notified of a suspicious person, Crooks,
around this time.83

77 Sniper Team Leader, Butler ESU Snip. TL, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the 
Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, (Sept. 12, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 

78 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Presidential Rally Radio Timeline 7-13-2024 (2024) 
(on file with the Task Force). 

79 Production to Task Force, Penn. State Police, Recorded Interview of Sgt. PSP Sgt. Before 
Penn. State Police and Fed. Bureau of Investigation (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

80 Sniper Team Leader, Butler ESU Snip. TL, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the 
Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 38 (Sep. 12, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 

81 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Bates 001361 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

82 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Presidential Rally Radio Timeline 7-13-2024 (2024) 
(on file with the Task Force). 

83 Briefing from Fed. Bureau of Investigation to Task Force Staff (Aug. 21, 2024) (notes on file 
with Task Force Majority Staff). 
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• 1749: PSP Sgt. PSP Sgt. texted Special Agent C-UAS Op. a photo of Crooks.84 

• 1750: Site PI Site PI called USSS CSTL CS TL to inquire whether he had seen 
Crooks.85 

• 1752: The USSS Security Room relays information about a suspicious person by 
email and text to the USSS Counter-sniper Response Team and Site Protective 
Intelligence.86 Special Agent C-UAS Op. sent at least one of the photos of Crooks 
to Special Agent CS Resp..87  

• 1753: USSS CSTL CS TL emailed the other three counter-snipers with information 
about the suspicious person and previously received photos.88 At this point, all 
USSS Counter-snipers had been notified of the suspicious person near the AGR 
complex and received two photographs.89  

o Special Agent C-UAS Op. called Special Agent CS Resp. to discuss the 
photos of Crooks and initiate a search.90  

o Butler ESU _LES__ Member Butler ESU Op. 2 called Butler ESU 
Sniper Butler ESU Sniper to discuss the range finder texts that Butler 
ESU Sniper had sent to Butler ESU Op. 2 at 1715.91  

• 1754: BTPD personnel were informed about Crooks and the rangefinder sighting. 
Photos of Crooks were exchanged between some members of LLE, and several 

 
84 Report of the Independent Review Panel on the July 13, 2024, Assassination Attempt in 

Butler, Pennsylvania, Appendix A (Oct. 15, 2024). 
85 Sr. Special Agent Site PI, Phoenix Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed Interview 

Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 97 (Nov. 5, 2024) (on file 
with the Task Force). 

86 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Bates 001361 
(on file with the Task Force). 

87 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 1922-
1923 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

88 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Bates 001361 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

89 Briefing from U.S. Secret Service to Cong. Staff (Aug. 15, 2024). 
90 Special Agent CS Resp., Oklahoma City Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 

Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 65 (Oct. 31, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

91 Operator Butler ESU Op. 2, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the 
Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 85 (Sep. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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patrolmen proactively left their traffic posts to search for Crooks.92 

• 1757: Special Agent CS Resp. called local Sniper Team Lead Butler ESU Snip.
TL to obtain additional details regarding Crooks' location and movements.93 TL
Butler ESU Snip. TL mentioned the 3 o’clock location to Special Agent CS Resp..

• 1759: Special Agent CS Resp. and his LLE counterpart encountered Site PI Site
PI and her LLE counterpart and discussed the search for Crooks.94 Site PI Site
PI then continued to look for Crooks while Special Agent CS Resp. returned to the
left of the rally stage.95

• 1802: A Beaver ESU sniper stated over the radio that Crooks was “between the
AGR buildings, he has a backpack, now he just went towards Sheetz.”96 Sheetz is
located on the opposite side of the AGR buildings from the rally site. At this time,
the Beaver ESU sniper lost sight of Crooks.97

• 1802: Former President Trump walked to the podium.98

• 1804: Special Agent CS Resp. texted a photo of Crooks to Site PI Site PI to help
her search for him.

• 1805: Former President Trump began speaking.99 Crooks climbed to the roof of
AGR, as revealed by security cameras from a nearby local business.100

• 1805 – 1808: Crooks moved across multiple AGR building roofs, which,

92 Production to Task Force, Butler Township Police Dep’t., BTPD 24-03435 Campaign Event 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

93 Special Agent CS Resp., Oklahoma City Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 67 (Oct. 31, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

94 Id. at 74. 
95 Id. 
96 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Presidential Rally Radio Timeline 7-13-2024 (2024) 

(on file with the Task Force). 
97 Sniper Ass’t Team Lead Beaver ESU Snip. ATL, Beaver ESU, Transcribed Interview Before 

the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 41 (Sep. 12, 2024) (on file with 
the Task Force). 

98 Production to the Task Force, Penn. State Police, PSP Response to Senate Committee on 
Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs - Final 8.14.24, 54 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

99 Briefing from Fed. Bureau of Investigation to Members of Cong. (Aug. 21, 2024) (notes on 
file with Task Force Majority Staff). 

100 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI Update 
8.28.24 (Aug. 28, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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according to the FBI, is confirmed by the local business video and PSP dash 
camera.101  

• 1807: Site PI Site PI and PI Advance Agent PI Advance exchanged text messages 
about Crooks. PI Advance says, "Command post-PSP trooper said he may be 
walking towards Sheetz," Site PI responded, "Subject outside venue along fence 
line seen with a range finder."102  

• 1808: A BTPD patrolman stated over the radio that someone was on the roof of 
one of the AGR buildings.103 Crooks was spotted by the patrolman as the officer 
walked through the nearby woods towards the AGR buildings, searching for 
a suspicious person. This is also about the time that a small crowd near the AGR 
buildings started saying someone was on the roof.104  

o Site PI Site PI texted her LLE counterpart, “Command post PSP trooper 
said he may be walking towards Sheetz.”105  

• 1809: A PSP Trooper stationed near the water tower drove towards the AGR 
buildings along with another BTPD patrolman, each in their separate vehicles. 
Crooks can be seen moving across the roof of the AGR buildings in PSP dash 
camera video. 

o Butler ESU Commander Butler ESU Comm. called PSP Sgt. PSP Sgt. in 
the Secret Service Security Room to inform him about the man on the 
roof. The PSP Trooper then informed the USSS Security Room 
Supervisor. Special Agent C-UAS Op. overheard Sgt. PSP Sgt. and 
reached out to Special Agent CS Resp..106  

• 1810: A USSS counter-sniper radioed that local police were working a problem at 

 
101 Id. The Task Force received limited body-worn camera video footage and other video 

evidence. Therefore, the Task Force cannot rule out that additional video footage exists documenting 
Crooks’ movements across the multiple AGR building roofs. 

102 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 005133 – 
005134, 005136 – 005137 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

103 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Presidential Rally Radio Timeline 7-13-2024 (2024) 
(on file with the Task Force). 

104 Briefing from Butler Twp. Police Dep‘t to Members of Cong. (Aug. 26, 2024) (notes on file 
with Task Force Staff). 

105 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 004401 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

106 Special Agent CS Resp., Oklahoma City Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 72 (Oct. 31, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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the 3 o’clock.107 LLE radio communications indicate that several officers were 
looking at the AGR complex roof at this time but could not see Crooks.108  

o DTD Special Agent C-UAS Op. called Special Agent CS Resp. and told
him that LLE had spotted Crooks on the AGR rooftop.109 Special Agent
CS Resp. then relayed this information to his LLE counterpart.110

• 1811: A BTPD patrolman lifted another patrolman (the same one who had moved
towards the AGR complex from the water tower at approximately 1809) to get a
view of the roof. According to the elevated patrolman, and confirmed by PSP dash 
camera footage, he popped up, looked to his left, and saw Crooks. Crooks turned
and pointed his weapon at the patrolman, who was holding himself up by his arms
and fell off the roof when he tried to reach for his service weapon. The patrolman
then radioed that Crooks was armed.111

o The DTD Site Agent called her Site Counterpart with the Pittsburgh Field 
Office about the radio transmission at 1810 to ask what was going on at
the 3 o’clock.112

• 18:11:32: Crooks fired three initial shots, with one round striking the former
President’s ear.113 Within three seconds, former President Trump is covered by his
detail in a body bunker formation.114

• 18:11:36: Crooks fired five more shots.115 In response, a Butler ESU CAT member

107 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Bates 001361 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

108 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Presidential Rally Radio Timeline 7-13-2024 (2024) 
(on file with the Task Force). 

109 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Bates 1914 
(on file with the Task Force). 

110 Special Agent CS Resp., Oklahoma City Field Office, U.S. Secret Service, Transcribed 
Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 75 (Oct. 31, 
2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

111 Det. BTPD Detective, Butler Twp. Police Dep’t, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 
Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 18, 19 (Sep. 6, 2024) (on file with the 
Task Force). 

112 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Bates 001361 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

113 The Task Force did not review or seek to obtain President-elect Trump’s medical records. 
114 Examination of the Security Failures Leading to the Assassination Attempt on Former 

President Trump, Joint Full Comm. Hearing Before the S. Comm. on Homeland Sec. & Gov’t Aff. 
and the S. Comm. on Judiciary, 118th Cong. (Jul. 30, 2024). 

115 Id. 
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fired one round in the direction of Crooks.116 

• 18:11:47: Approximately 15.5 seconds after Crooks’ first shot, a USSS counter-
sniper fired one round, killing Crooks.117  

• 1812: A Butler sniper stated over the radio that the shooter was down.118 ATF 
critical response was initiated at this time.119 

• 1814: Former President Trump is evacuated to Butler Memorial Hospital.120  

• 1825: Crooks is pronounced dead by a Beaver ESU medic.121  

• 2007: ATF special agents requested a firearms trace for Crooks’ weapon.122  

• 2033: The ATF firearms trace results indicated Crooks’ weapon was purchased 
from a retailer that has since closed. An additional trace was requested to 
determine the purchaser.123  

• 2054: Former President Trump departed the hospital for the airport.124  

• 2115: Additional ATF trace results located the Firearms Transaction Record for 
Crooks’ weapon, which listed his current address. ATF special agents began going 

 
116 CAT Team Lead Butler ESU CAT TL 2, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task 

Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 32 (Sep. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task 
Force). 

117 Examination of the Security Failures Leading to the Assassination Attempt on Former 
President Trump, Joint Full Comm. Hearing Before the S. Comm. on Homeland Sec. & Gov’t Aff. 
and the S. Comm. on Judiciary, 118th Cong. (Jul. 30, 2024). 

118 Production to Task Force, Butler ESU, Presidential Rally Radio Timeline 7-13-2024 (2024) 
(on file with the Task Force). 

119 Briefing from Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, and Explosives to Task Force Staff 
(Sep. 9, 2024) (notes on file with Task Force Staff). 

120 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Bates 001361 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

121 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI Update 
8.28.24 (Aug. 28, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

122 Production to Task Force, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, U.S. Dep’t 
of Justice, Bates 0001- 0040 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

123 Id. 
124 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Bates 001361 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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to the Crooks residence upon obtaining this information.125 

• 2230: The USSS handed investigative control of the site to the FBI per a
memorandum of understanding on interim federal presence.126 PSP then worked
with the FBI Evidence Response Team to secure the scene.

• 2330: After surveilling the Crooks residence, ATF special agents made contact
with Crooks’ parents. Shortly after, a search of the residence is conducted, and an
IED is discovered in Crooks’ bedroom.127

July 14 

• 0030: Based on information gathered in the ATF’s interview of Crooks’ parents,
the Allegheny EOD located Crooks’ vehicle near the AGR complex. Upon
examining the car, the Allegheny EOD identified two IEDs in the trunk. They
collected samples of the materials used to build the IEDs and destroyed the
remaining explosive materials.128

• 0330: The Allegheny EOD traveled to the Crooks residence and removed the IED
found in Crooks' bedroom.129

• 0753: The body of Crooks was brought to the Allegheny ME by the Butler
County Coroner.130

• 1605: The Allegheny ME began the autopsy of Crooks.131 Several toxicology tests
are conducted as well.

July 18 

• FBI and PSP jointly agreed to release the crime scene after determining that
the physical processing of the scene had been concluded.132

125 Production to Task Force, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, U.S. Dep’t 
of Justice, Bates 0001- 0040 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

126 Production to Task Force, U.S. Secret Service, U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., Bates 001361 
(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

127 Production to Task Force, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, U.S. Dep’t 
of Justice, Bates 0001- 0040 (2024) (on file with the Task Force). 

128 Id. 
129 Id. 
130 Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Medical Examiner, Crooks Investigator Narrative 

(2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
131 Id. 
132 Id. 
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July 22 

• 1100: Crooks' body is released to a representative of a local funeral home.133  

 

 
133 Id. 
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APPENDIX VI: RELATED HOUSE RESOLUTIONS 
H. Res. 1367

In the House of Representatives, U. S.,  

July 24, 2024.  

Resolved, 

SECTION 1. Establishment; composition. 

(a) Establishment.—There is hereby established in the House of Representatives the
Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump (hereafter in this resolution 
referred to as the “Task Force”). 

(b) Composition.—

(1) IN GENERAL.—The Task Force shall be composed of not more than 13
Members, Delegates, or the Resident Commissioner appointed by the Speaker, not more 
than 6 of whom shall be appointed after consultation with the minority leader. The Speaker 
shall designate one member of the Task Force as its chair. A vacancy in the membership of 
the Task Force shall be filled in the same manner as the original appointment. 

(2) EX OFFICIO MEMBERS.—The Speaker and the minority leader shall be ex
officio members of the Task Force but shall have no vote in the Task Force and may not be 
counted for purposes of determining a quorum. 

(3) DESIGNATION OF LEADERSHIP STAFF MEMBER.—The Speaker and the
minority leader each may designate a leadership staff member to assist in their capacity as 
ex officio members, with the same access to Task Force meetings, hearings, briefings, and 
materials as employees of the Task Force and subject to the same security clearance and 
confidentiality requirements as employees of the Task Force, or as required to conduct the 
functions of the Task Force. 

SEC. 2. Jurisdiction; functions. 

(a) Functions.—The functions of the Task Force shall be to—

(1) investigate and fully examine all actions by any agency, Department, officer, or
employee of the federal government, as well as State and local law enforcement or any 
other State or local government or private entities or individuals, related to the attempted 
assassination of Donald J. Trump on July 13, 2024 in Butler, Pennsylvania; and 
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(2) issue a final report of its findings to the House not later than December 13, 2024, 
including any recommendations for legislative reforms necessary to prevent future security 
lapses. 

(b) Interim reports.—In addition to any final report addressing the matters described 
in subsection (a), the Task Force may issue such interim reports as it deems necessary. 

(c) Unclassified form.—Any report issued by the Task Force shall be issued in 
unclassified form but may include a classified annex, a law enforcement-sensitive annex, 
or both. 

SEC. 3. Procedure. 

(a) Notwithstanding clause 3(m) of rule X of the Rules of the House of 
Representatives, the Task Force is authorized to study the sources and methods of entities 
described in clause 11(b)(1)(A) of rule X insofar as such study is related to the matters 
described in section 2. 

(b) Clause 11(b)(4), clause 11(e), and the first sentence of clause 11(f) of rule X shall 
apply to the Task Force. 

(c) Except as specified in subsection (d), the Task Force shall have the authorities and 
responsibilities of, and shall be subject to the same limitations and restrictions as, a 
standing committee of the House, and shall be deemed a committee of the House for all 
purposes of law or rule. 

(d) (1) Rules X and XI shall apply to the Task Force where not inconsistent with this 
subsection. 

(2) Service on the Task Force shall not count against the limitations in clause 5(b)(2) 
of rule X. 

(3) Clause 2(a) of rule XI shall not apply to the Task Force. 

(4) Clause 2(g)(2)(D) of rule XI shall apply to the Task Force in the same manner as 
it applies to the Permanent Select Committee on Intelligence. 

(5) Pursuant to clause 2(h) of rule XI, two members of the Task Force shall constitute 
a quorum for taking testimony or receiving evidence and one-third of the members of the 
Task Force shall constitute a quorum for taking any action other than one for which the 
presence of a majority of the Task Force is required. 

(6) The chair of the Task Force, upon consultation with the ranking minority member, 
may authorize and issue subpoenas pursuant to clause 2(m) of rule XI in the investigation 
and study conducted pursuant to section 2, including for the purpose of taking depositions. 

(7) (A) The chair of the Task Force, upon consultation with the ranking minority 
member, may order the taking of depositions, including pursuant to subpoena, by a member 
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or counsel of the Task Force, in the same manner as a standing committee pursuant to 
section 3(k)(1) of House Resolution 5, One Hundred Eighteenth Congress. 

(B) Depositions taken under the authority prescribed in this paragraph shall be
governed by the procedures submitted by the chair of the Committee on Rules for printing 
in the Congressional Record on January 10, 2023. 

(8) Subpoenas authorized pursuant to this resolution may be signed by the chair of
the Task Force or a designee. 

(9) The chair of the Task Force may, after consultation with the ranking minority
member, recognize— 

(A) members of the Task Force to question a witness for periods longer than five
minutes as though pursuant to clause 2(j)(2)(B) of rule XI; and 

(B) staff of the Task Force to question a witness as though pursuant to clause
2(j)(2)(C) of rule XI. 

(10) The chair of the Task Force may postpone further proceedings when a record
vote is ordered on questions referenced in clause 2(h)(4) of rule XI, and may resume 
proceedings on such postponed questions at any time after reasonable notice. 
Notwithstanding any intervening order for the previous question, an underlying proposition 
shall remain subject to further debate or amendment to the same extent as when the 
question was postponed. 

(11) The provisions of paragraphs (f)(1) through (f)(12) of clause 4 of rule XI shall
apply to the Task Force. 

SEC. 4. Records; staff; travel; funding. 

(a) Any committee of the House of Representatives having custody of records in any
form relating to the matters described in section 2 shall transfer such records to the Task 
Force within 7 days of the adoption of this resolution. Such records shall become the 
records of the Task Force. 

(b) The appointment and the compensation of staff for the Task Force shall be subject
to regulations issued by the Committee on House Administration. 

(c) (1) Staff of employing entities of the House or a joint committee may be detailed
to the Task Force to carry out this resolution and shall be deemed to be staff of the Task 
Force. 

(2) The Task Force may request the head of any Federal agency to detail, on a
nonreimbursable basis, any of the personnel of the agency to the Task Force. 

(d) Section 202(i) of the Legislative Reorganization Act of 1946 (2 U.S.C. 4301(i))
shall apply with respect to the Task Force in the same manner as such section applies with 
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respect to a standing committee, except that the selection of any consultant or organization 
under such section shall be subject to approval by the Speaker. 

(e) There shall be paid out of the applicable accounts of the House of Representatives 
such sums as may be necessary for the expenses of the Task Force. Such payments shall be 
made on vouchers signed by the chair of the Task Force and approved in the manner 
directed by the Committee on House Administration. Amounts made available under this 
subsection shall be expended in accordance with regulations prescribed by the Committee 
on House Administration. 

SEC. 5. Termination; disposition of records. 

(a) Termination.—The Task Force shall terminate 10 days after filing the final report 
required under section 2. 

(b) Disposition of records.—Upon termination of the Task Force, the records of the 
Task Force shall become the records of such committee or committees designated by the 
Speaker. 

 

 

 

 

H. Res. 1470 

In the House of Representatives, U. S., 

September 20, 2024.   

Resolved, 

SECTION 1. Expansion of jurisdiction of the Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump. 

Section 2(a)(1) of House Resolution 1367, One Hundred Eighteenth Congress, is 
amended by inserting “and on September 15, 2024 in West Palm Beach, Florida” after 
“Pennsylvania”. 
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Task Force on the Attempted Assassination of Donald J. Trump 
Final Report of Findings and Recommendations 
December 5, 2024 

Views of Rep. Clay Higgins

As a Member of the House Homeland Security Committee, the House Committee on 
Oversight and Accountability, and the House Armed Services Committee, my efforts to 
investigate the actions and circumstances surrounding the July 13, 2024, assassination 
attempt of President-elect Donald J. Trump began prior to the establishment of the Task 
Force on July 24, 2024.  

I participated in the Oversight Committee’s July 22 hearing on the assassination 
attempt with former Secret Service Director Kimberly Cheatle as well as the Homeland 
Security Committee’s hearing on the same topic with a representative of the Pennsylvania 
State Police on July 23.  

My efforts as a part of the Task Force’s investigation included participation in Task 
Force hearings, several briefings, the transcribed interview of the Secret Service counter 
sniper who fired the shot killing would-be assassin Thomas Crooks, the Task Force’s visit 
to the FBI laboratory in Quantico, Virginia, and extensive review of documents and 
conversations with Task Force Members and staff. 

I also supported the work of the Task Force through independent investigative efforts. 
This included visits to Western Pennsylvania where I assessed the site of the July 13 
assassination attempt, spoke individually with members of local law enforcement who 
provided security at the rally, visited the gun range frequented by shooter Thomas Crooks, 
and spoke to the attorney representing Crooks’ parents. I procured ammunition of the types 
fired by both the local SWAT Operator and Secret Service counter sniper in the moments 
after Crooks fired on President-elect Trump and the crowd attending the rally in Butler, 
Pennsylvania to support further ballistic analysis efforts. My investigative report sent to 
the Task Force on August 12 is included after the conclusion of these additional views. 

The Task Force’s Final Report on Findings and Recommendations represents a 
commendable effort to investigate and reach conclusions that all Members of the Task 
Force could support. Within the limited timeframe for investigation, as determined by the 
House of Representatives, the Final Report provides a thorough accounting and analysis of 
the Secret Service security failures that nearly allowed a 20-year-old to succeed in his 
assassination attempt. I also strongly agree with the information in the Final Report that 
outlines the obstruction the Task Force encountered from federal agencies in gaining access 
to all relevant documents, witnesses, and evidence. Full cooperation from federal agencies 
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could have provided answers to many outstanding questions of public importance about 
what happened in Butler as well as the second assassination attempt on September 15 in 
West Palm Beach, Florida. 

These additional views, provided to the Task Force’s Final Report to the House of 
Representatives, focus on information to enhance public understanding of what happened 
in Butler, Pennsylvania on July 13, 2024—particularly as it applies to the rapid exchange 
of gunfire that occurred at 6:11 p.m. These views include information obtained by the Task 
Force that I would have preferred to be included in the final, unanimously approved report, 
along with other areas for future investigation of what occurred on July 13.  

Second, I outline my view about Security Service security failures. While I agree with 
the findings of the Task Force about mistakes made at the July 13 rally, my own assessment 
of the security failure places more emphasis on the individual failures of agents to execute 
assignments than on the pre-rally planning. 

Sequence and investigation of shots  

1. Analysis of Shots Fired  
Local law enforcement stopped Crooks. Secret Service killed him. The Task Force’s 

Final Report notes this as a possibility, but a review of all available evidence supports this 
conclusion. The ninth shot of July 13, fired by a local SWAT Operator serving as a lead of 
the Butler Emergency Services Unit (ESU) counterassault (CAT) team at the rally 
(hereinafter, SWAT Operator), caused would-be-assassin Thomas Crooks to stop firing at 
President-elect Trump and the Butler rally crowd. His shot setup the delayed but successful 
kill shot by a Secret Service counter-sniper. The record of evidence and my investigative 
conversations with relevant local law enforcement officers, while not yet definitive, 
corroborates testimony that this ninth shot impacted Crooks: specifically, evidence 
suggests it struck the buttstock of Crooks’ rifle. 

The SWAT Operator was positioned at Building 16, the northernmost barn behind the 
stage.1 From Building 16, he could see the fence line of the AGR buildings (where Crooks 
shot from).2 He had been on-notice of Crooks since approximately 4:00-4:20 p.m. when a 
local law enforcement colleague informed him that “there were a few guys […] outside the 
perimeter that were just acting weird” by the AGR buildings.3 These three individuals 
wearing gray, yellow, and red shirts appeared to be “playing cat and mouse with the 

 
1 SWAT Operator, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview Before the Task Force on the Attempted 

Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 13 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
2 Id. at 26. 
3 Id. at 23. 
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property owner,” who would chase them off the fence line.4 He told his colleague to “keep 
eyes”—though “[t]hat wasn't even his job to do so.  He just took it upon himself.”5 

The gray shirt—Crooks—would come towards the AGR fence line and back away. 
The SWAT Operator did not see anything in Crooks’ hands at that point, and Crooks later 
disappeared from his view until 6:11 p.m. Both local law enforcement officers worked to 
convince Pennsylvania State Police (PSP) and Sheriff’s office personnel to try to interact 
with the three suspicious individuals.6 The SWAT Operator testified he repeatedly asked 
for law enforcement to engage with the suspicious individuals, and at around 6:10 p.m. or 
minutes before, “finally, we [got] a couple cruisers to go over there.”7 He observed officers 
walking in front of the shooter’s building.8 He saw them “bouncing back and forth on each 
side […] looking for something.”9 

Crooks reappeared in the SWAT Operator’s view after he had already fired three shots 
from a self-supported prone position at the ridge/peak of an AGR complex building 150 
yards from his target, President-elect Trump. The following describes the SWAT Operator’s 
reaction to Crooks, in addition to a timeline of the ten gunshots occurring all within a 16 
second window according to my own audio-video lab study.  

The First Three Shots 

Gunshot Time after 1st shot Time between shots 

Shot #1 0.00 seconds N/A 

Shot #2 0.85 seconds 0.85 seconds 

Shot #3 1.55 seconds 0.69 seconds 

Crooks’ first shot struck President-elect Trump in his right ear, and Crooks’ second 
shot was fired .85 seconds later, followed by his third shot fired 1.55 seconds after his first 
shot. Then, President-elect Trump went down as he was swarmed and covered by Secret 
Service Agents—changing target access for Crooks. Crooks, ever determined, adjusted his 
aim downwards a bit and into the now covered target in the next 2.8 seconds as he prepared 
to fire his fourth shot. 

4 Id. 
5 Id. at 25. 
6 Id. at 28. 
7 Id. at 30. 
8 Id. 
9 Id. at 30-31. 
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At 6:11 p.m. the SWAT Operator was positioned roughly fifty feet in front of Building 
16.10 He heard “[on] the roof” and the call for deployment on his radio.11 He instructed his 
colleague—who was co-located with him—to “…go, go, go.”12 Immediately after that 
exchange, he testified he heard the first three shots: “[c]rack, crack, crack.”13 He further 
testified he asked himself “[o]kay, where we at here?”14 Then, he “[happened] to look up, 
and that's when [he saw] Crooks.  I got his head, his shoulders, and I could see a rifle.”15

He testified “if I'm Crooks and straight ahead is the candidate, I was kind of like off to his 
11 o'clock.”16 In his transcribed interview with the Task Force, the SWAT Operator marked 
his location in front of Building 16 with an ‘X’. He also marked the location of Crooks on 
the AGR building’s roof with an ‘X’, indicating that he was approximately 115 yards away 
from Crooks.17

Task Force Transcribed Interview of SWAT Operator, Majority Exhibit 118

10 Id. at 26.
11 Id. at 31.
12 Id.
13 Id.
14 Id.
15 Id.
16 Id. at 36.
17 Id. at 75.
18 Id. at Majority Exhibit 1.
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The Next Five Shots 

Gunshot Time after 1st shot Time between shots 

Shot #4 4.34 seconds 2.79 seconds 

Shot #5 4.60 seconds 0.27 seconds 

Shot #6 4.78 seconds 0.18 seconds 

Shot #7 4.96 seconds 0.18 seconds 

Shot #8 5.12 seconds 0.16 seconds 

Crooks shots 1, 2 and 3 were carefully fired in 1.55 seconds at a standing, clear line 
of sight target, President-elect Trump. Then, after adjusting aim, Crooks fired shots 4, 5, 6, 
7, and 8. SWAT Operator testified he only heard the first three shots, but saw Crooks fire 
his fourth and subsequent bullets: 

• Crooks’ fourth shot. After the SWAT Operator first saw Crooks, he heard
“another crack” and started “pulling his weapon up.”19

• Crooks’ fifth, sixth, and seventh shots. While the SWAT Operator acquired the
target through his red dot scope on his rifle, he testified he could “see the gas emit
from [Crooks’] barrel, [Crooks’] muzzle.”20

• Crooks’ eighth shot. After the SWAT Operator observed the gas emitting from
Crooks’ weapon, he heard Crooks’ last shot of his second volley.21

The Ninth Shot – Crooks is stopped 

Gunshot Time after 1st shot Time between shots 

Shot #9 5.89 seconds 0.77 seconds 

After Crooks’ eighth and final shot, the SWAT Operator testified he tried to aim “for 
the lower part of [Crooks’] head so it gave me more room to work with if I did pull a shot 
-- up, down, left, right. I didn't want to send the round over his head, obviously, into 

19 Id. at 31. 
20 Id. 
21 Id. at 31-32. 
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wherever. I'd rather shoot low on him and, you know, worst case scenario hit the roof. 
Either skip it up or, you know, get him down below. Throat, mouth, you know.”22 He fired, 
and Crooks “immediately goes down.”23 He testified:  

When I say he goes down, it wasn't like he was ducking to get out 
of the way.  I mean, like, I know I hit him.  Like there's no doubt about 
it. He goes down. He kind of jerks to the right, and then he kind of slumps 
over slowly and then kind of slowly rolls backwards out of my field of 
view.24 

*** 

So when I engaged […] from the angle, it hit his low right […] I 
could see his body twitch […] I'm like, “Okay, good. I got him.” Throat, 
neck, something, shoulder. You know, whatever. And, like I said, he kind 
of rolled up. It looked like he was trying to recover. He was struggling. 
I'm like, okay, you know, maybe it was his neck. Maybe it was his 
shoulder.  He was having a hard time coming back up.25 

You know, he wasn't trying to reposition because if he would 
reposition, he just would have got down and moved, you know. But he 
wasn't doing that. He was trying to like – it seemed like he was trying to, 
like, push himself up on his shoulders or whatever, his arms. And, 
obviously, if it was hit, you know, you're not going to be able to move 
real good, you know, pushing on your right shoulder if your right 
shoulder is hit. But, yeah, that was -- that was that.26 

He clarified his certainty of hitting Crooks: 

I knew I hit him, too, because, like I said, you know, I'm prior 
service military, so I have combat experience. His demeanor was not -- 
like, he was definitely disrupted or hit, you know. So it wasn't like him 
getting out of the way. He wasn't ducking, trying to reposition. Like he 
went down.27 

*** 

 [With] my past, you know, being in the service, law enforcement, fire 
instructor, all that stuff, I know I'm very familiar with a weapon. I'm very 
good with weapons. And like I know -- so when I engaged, my reticle 
never left Crooks' body, even after my --even after I shot, so I didn't have 

 
22 Id. at 34. 
23 Id. at 32. 
24 Id. 
25 Id. at 36-37. 
26 Id. at 37. 
27 Id. at 34. 
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to realign --my dot never left his body, my target. And, again, which 
basically verified that my muzzle never would have left that target area. 

Then it was his reaction. Again, like, when you hear a bullet fly over your 
head past your head -- again, I've experienced it. At first --that very first 
time, it's like -- you're like, “Oh, holy jeez.” Like, you're ducking. You're 
getting out of the way. There could be more coming, you know. You're 
not going to just get out of the way once and, like, that's going to be it. 
You're going to get out of the way. Take cover. You know, get down. Like 
I said, he had no urgency. 

When I hit, like I said, there was that jerking motion. Like, you know, it 
was more like on the right side, like he kind of like jerked down to my 
left, his right. And, like I said, then he slowly rolled like he just had no 
strength, whatever, and kind of slowed -- slowly rolled over, you know, 
off to his right side. He then kind of like then rolled out of my -- rolled 
down the hill, like, you know, down the roof. Not rolled down, but just 
kind of went down outside of my view.28 

The SWAT Operator had raised his non-magnified standard issue M4 AR platform 
SWAT rifle, stabilized his target through the EOTECH red-dot sight, and fired shot number 
nine, 5.89 seconds after the first shot, just 0.77 seconds after Crooks had fired his eighth 
shot. The SWAT Operator’s ninth shot impacted Crooks by striking the MAGPUL high-
density plastic upper buttstock of Crooks’ rifle, shattering a large plastic section of the 
MAGPUL stock and causing an explosion of shrapnel as the broken stock smashed into 
Crooks’ right neck and jaw area below his right ear. The ninth shot stopped Crooks, causing 
him to lower his elbow-supported prone firing position and back away from the AGR 
building roof ridge-line by several feet. 

SWAT Operator Attempts to Fire Again 

 Crooks recovered from the impact and injury of the ninth shot, and over the course 
of 10.1 seconds, Crooks regained a prone self-supported firing position, now several feet 
further away and lower in profile from the SWAT Operator, who had remained focused on 
target through his EOTECH sight since the ninth shot. Although Crooks had moved 
positions on the roof after SWAT Operator fired (approximately six seconds after Crooks 
had begun firing), the SWAT Operator could still see the “very top of his head [. . .] 
bouncing around […] [not] enough for me to take a shot.”29 Crooks slowly tried to return 
to firing position. The SWAT Operator testified: 

28 Id. at 72-73. 
29 Id. at 33. 
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So he's starting to recover.  Now I'm up about the forehead, about 
the eyes, nose. I'm like, “All right, come on, come on, come on, come 
on.” I'm just -- I'm standing. I'm not on anything. I'm in the middle of the 
field waiting, waiting, waiting. That's about roughly ten seconds after I 
engaged.30 

The ninth shot stopped Crooks from firing again long enough for the (southern of 
two) Secret Service counter-snipers to locate Crooks as a target, establish a stabilized view 
of Crooks using a world-class super high-quality magnified riflescope mounted on a tripod 
supported 300 WIN MAG chambered bolt action sniper rifle. 

The Tenth Shot – Secret Service kills Crooks  

 

Gunshot Time after 1st shot Time between shots 

Shot #10 15.94 seconds 10.05 seconds 

 

At 15.94 seconds after Crooks fired the first shot, and 10.05 seconds after the ninth 
shot stopped Crooks, the SWAT Operator heard the tenth shot from the USSS counter-
sniper.31  A highly trained Secret Service counter-sniper fired the tenth shot. The 210-grain 
Berger VLD BT or Sierra HPBT bullet traveled 195 yards, entering Crooks’ skull below 
the left nostril above the upper lip, causing a small entry wound concordant with the 210-
grain bullet. The 210-grain projectile exited Crooks’ skull below and behind his right ear, 
causing a large exit cavity and instant death. Fragmentation of the copper jacket of the 
bullet was extensive. 

The SWAT Operator recounted the timing of all ten shots to the Task Force:  

[From] what I've been told, what the analyses are saying is like 5 seconds 
for Crooks to shoot eight. Then I was like 5.77 after his eighth shot. I 
was like a half a second. It was like a half a second after his eighth shot, 
I engaged, which made me like 5.77, like that. Then he engaged like -- 
Secret Service had engaged at like 15 something, which is like 10 
seconds after, you know. So from shot one to shot ten is 15 seconds. So 
Crooks got his eight out in 5. I engaged shortly after his 5 seconds, 5.77, 
something like that, and then at 15 something is whenever the Secret 
Service had engaged the tenth shot.32 

 
30 Id. 
31 Id. at 32. 
32 Id. at 74. 
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His recollection of the timing of shots fired mirrors my own analysis based on review 
of video and conversations—the approximate five seconds for Crooks to fire eight shots 
and the approximate 10 seconds between the ninth and ten shots.  

After Shots Ended 

The SWAT Operator testified that at that time, he believed the Secret Service counter-
sniper on the roof of Building 16 had taken the kill shot. He yelled to that Secret Service 
counter-sniper “[h]ey, good hit. Good hit. Confirmed,” but the Secret Service counter-
sniper did not acknowledge his statement.33 He also tried to contact his command about 
his shot, but his radio was “blowing up,” so he went back to work after deciding he would 
inform his commander later.34 He helped retrieve medics for victim Corey Comperatore 
and then went to the hospital to protect President-elect Trump.35 He did not discuss the 
ninth shot with any individual until he returned to the rally site later that evening.36 Days 
later, during his interview with state and federal officials, the SWAT Operator testified that 
he learned his bullet casing was recovered.37 

33 Id. at 33-34. 
34 Id. at 78. 
35 Id. at 84-85. 
36 Id. at 79. 
37 Id. at 82. 
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July 13 Shot Breakdown38

38 Graphic created by Staff.
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2. Analysis of Crooks’ Injuries and Rifle Damage
As recently as December 4, the FBI asserted to the Task Force that only two bullet

fragments associated with Crooks’ death were received and examined at the FBI 
laboratory—one recovered from Crooks’ right upper back and one in proximity to Crooks 
from the roof of an AGR building. The FBI stated that the fragment recovered from Crooks 
“bears no marks of evidentiary value for comparison purposes, and as such no comparison 
can be made to the rifles used by the USSS and local law enforcement.” Further, the FBI’s 
metallurgy examinations determined that the fragment recovered from Crooks is a copper-
zinc alloy “consistent with the type of ammunition used by both the Secret Service and 
local law enforcement (known as an inclusion to a mass-produced product type).”39

Bullet Fragment Recovered from Crooks’ Right Upper Back40

The fragment recovered on the AGR roof in proximity to Crooks, which tested 
positively for Crooks’ DNA, was found by FBI analysis to be consistent with the class and 
general rifling characteristics of the Secret Service rifle used on July 13. This fragment was 
eliminated as having been fired by the rifle used by local law enforcement based on class 
characteristics.

39 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Lab. No. 2024-
01571-43, FBI-HTF-BTLR-000489 (Dec. 4, 2024) (on file with the Task Force).

40 Production to Task Force, Fed. Bureau of Investigation, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, FBI-HTF-
BTLR-000480 (Dec. 9, 2024) (on file with the Task Force).
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While the FBI did find the bullet casing corresponding to the SWAT Operator’s bullet, 
neither of the bullet fragments in the FBI’s possession have been attributed by the FBI to 
the SWAT Operator’s rifle.41 The FBI’s position is that there is “no evidence or forensic 
testing results that definitively show Crooks was struck by local law enforcement.” While 
the FBI points to what it says is a lack of forensic evidence, the FBI has not affirmatively 
stated that the SWAT Operator’s shot did not impact Crooks or his rifle.

The Task Force has in its possession autopsy photographs showing an injury to 
Crooks’ right neck, which the Autopsy Report attributes to being caused by impact with 
the buttstock of his rifle (“[e]xit wound of the right lateral neck, with adjacent patterned 
abrasion consistent with rifle buttstock abrasion”).42

Allegheny Co. Medical Examiner Autopsy Image of Crooks’ Neck Injury43

  

The FBI released photographs of Crooks’ rifle showing the damaged buttstock. The 
Task Force also examined it in person at the FBI laboratory in Quantico, Virginia. 

41 SWAT Operator, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview with the Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 82 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task Force).

42 Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical Examiner, Autopsy Report, 
1 (Aug. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task Force).

43 Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical Examiner, ATF_7148 (Jul. 
14, 2024) (on file with the Task Force).
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FBI Image of Damaged Buttstock of Crooks’ Rifle44

The angular shape of the abrasion supports the Medical Examiner’s conclusion that 
contact with the damaged buttstock caused the injury. This is evident when overlaying the 
two images.

44 Butler Investigation Evidence Photos, FED. BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION, U.S. DEP’T OF
JUSTICE (Aug. 28, 2024).
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Overlay of Crooks’ Buttstock Injury and Damaged Buttstock45 

  

 
  

  

The FBI paints a narrative of the Secret Service bullet hitting Crooks, traveling 
through his skull, exiting his neck, shattering the buttstock of his rifle, reentering Crooks 
through his right upper back in a singular reentrance wound, thereinafter fragmenting and 
causing multiple exit wounds.46 The FBI’s proposed series of events would mean that the 
Secret Service bullet, after exiting Crooks’ neck on the right-hand side, impacted the left 
side of the buttstock, broke it, and still somehow propelled it in a direction toward Crooks’ 
body and into his neck to create the injury. 

 

It is unclear how seriously the FBI has considered the alternative: that the local law 
enforcement bullet hit the buttstock of Crooks’ rifle, shattered it, and propelled it directly 
into Crooks. In addition to the injury, this alternate series of events would also explain why 
Crooks paused his gunfire for approximately ten seconds after his final shot before the 
Secret Service counter-sniper bullet killed him. While the FBI maintains there is no 

 
45 Overlay created by Staff. 
46 Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical Examiner, Autopsy Report, 

7-8 (Aug. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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evidence to definitively show that the SWAT Operator hit impacted Crooks or his rifle, as 
discussed in the preceding section, the SWAT Operator steadfastly asserts he made contact. 

 

If, as he testified, the SWAT Operator’s shot indeed went to Crooks’ low-right side, 
one can reasonably understand how his shot may have hit the rifle.47 In this scenario, his 
shot would have impacted the buttstock and propelled it toward Crooks’ body, thereinafter 
making contact with Crooks’ neck.  

 

 While the FBI tested the broken buttstock and found traces of lead consistent with 
the impact of a bullet or a bullet fragment, the FBI has not yet reconstructed the buttstock 
from Crooks’ rifle. They are not able to provide evidence as to the impact point on the 
buttstock, or conclusively prove what caused the MAGPUL-brand buttstock to shatter. 
While the FBI has committed to this reconstruction, it still had not been concluded at the 
time the Task Force issued its Final Report. Another member of Butler ESU, who was on 
the AGR roof immediately after the shooting, described the damaged buttstock: 

The back of that buttstock had several inches of damage. As I'm on 
the roof, I'm seeing large pieces of plastic; particularly, one large chunk 
that is the same material, same polymer, same I would say rounded edge 
that would be from that buttstock […] [s]o, obviously, damage to the 
rifle. All of those components are on the roof. It's not like it was damaged 
prior to [the shooting].48 

There is reason for optimism that the reconstruction of the buttstock could yield more 
definitive answers about what caused it damage. Damage from an impact on the rear-left 
side (facing Crooks) of the buttstock could indicate damage from a bullet fragment fired 
by the Secret Service counter-sniper, while damage on the opposite (right side) would align 
with the shot taken by the SWAT Operator. 

The SWAT Operator is an experienced marksman, having served in the military and 
spent eight years with his current tactical unit.49 He has never once wavered from his 
testimony in the four times the Task Force and I have spoken with him. The abrasion on 
Crooks’ neck is consistent with the buttstock being propelled toward the body. The Task 
Force and public are entitled to a more thorough explanation from the FBI about why it has 
asserted one scenario over the other when examination of the relevant evidence is yet to be 
completed. 

 

 
47 SWAT Operator, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview with the Task Force on the Attempted 

Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 36 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
48 Operator 2, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview with the Task Force on the Attempted 

Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 138 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
49 SWAT Operator, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview with the Task Force on the Attempted 

Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 34 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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3. Further examination of forensic evidence  
Delays and lost opportunities to review evidence, attributable to the FBI, cloud 

current interpretations of the ballistic evidence from July 13. This includes the 
aforementioned delay in reconstructing the buttstock of Crooks’ rifle as well as the loss of 
bullet fragments in Crooks’ body, a lack of complete analysis on bullet fragments (to the 
best of the Task Force’s knowledge), and analysis about the implications of locations where 
casings were found on the roof.  

Destruction of Crooks’ Body  

With the FBI’s approval, and without informing Congress, Crooks’ body was released 
to a funeral home on July 22 and cremated.50 This eliminated the possibility of conducting 
further testing or collecting evidence that remained.  

Discussion of ballistics evidence is still ongoing more than sixty years after the 
assassination of President John F. Kennedy. In the case of the attempted assassination of 
President-elect Trump, it is wholly unacceptable that the FBI would not take reasonable 
steps to preserve all evidence to answer questions that could extend beyond the scope of a 
criminal probe. 

Despite the FBI’s assertion that it is “not standard procedure or practice for the FBI 
or any law enforcement agency to request that the coroner or medical examiner maintain 
indefinite custody of a deceased subject’s body” once the investigative purposes of the FBI 
and its partner agencies are completed, this was not a standard situation.51 

 The SWAT Operator’s shot and one of Crooks’ eight are not the only projectiles (or 
projectile fragments) the FBI does not have in its possession from the scene in Butler. For 
example, there were multiple small bullet fragments in Crooks’ person that were not 
collected. These are visible in the postmortem x-ray images and described in the Autopsy 
Report (“[x]-rays additionally show multiple small, retained bullet fragments in the mid 
and right inferior aspects of the head, posterolateral right neck, and right shoulder/upper 
back.”).52  

 

 
  

 
50 Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical Examiner, Crooks 

Investigator Narrative (Aug. 26, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
51 Kevin Rojek, FBI Pittsburgh Special Agent in Charge's Remarks to Media on Updates to the 

Butler, Pennsylvania, Assassination Attempt Investigation, FED. BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION, U.S. 
DEP’T OF JUSTICE (Aug. 28, 2024). 

52 Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical Examiner, Autopsy Report, 
13 (Aug. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task Force). 
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Postmortem X-Ray of Crooks53

It is not that the FBI could not find these fragments, but rather that all known 
fragments were not collected. Only one of the fragments found in Crooks’ body was 
recovered for examination and is in the FBI’s possession, which is the fragment from his 
right upper back discussed in the Task Force’s Final Report. Despite FBI and PSP personnel 
being present at the autopsy, there was supposedly no deliberation about whether or not to 
collect the remaining fragments, which were deemed too small to justify recovery.54 These 
fragments should have been collected and examined by the FBI, to determine in their 
laboratories by subject matter experts whether they offered any evidentiary value.

Further, the tissue damaged from the buttstock was not tested to determine if the 
injury occurred prior to Crooks’ death. The roughly ten seconds separating the SWAT 
Operator shot and the Secret Service kill shot may not have been enough time for the 
damaged tissue to have begun to heal in order to yield results showing whether the injury 
occurred before death. That question will never be answered, however, as the body was 
cremated before any such testing could be requested or performed.

53 Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical Examiner, 
crooks_xray_1_closeup (Jul. 14, 2024, at 08:35:00) (on file with the Task Force).

54 Production to Task Force, Allegheny Co. Office of the Medical Examiner, Autopsy Report, 
13 (Aug. 5, 2024) (on file with the Task Force).
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Analysis of Ammunition  

Three weapons were fired during the attempted assassination of President-elect 
Trump. The first eight projectiles fired on July 13 were from the weapon used by Thomas 
Crooks, which was an AR-15 style weapon which chambered a 5.56mm projectile. 

The ninth projectile fired came from the SWAT Operator’s rifle, which was an AR-
15 style M4 rifle which fired a 5.56mm NATO 62 grain TAP Barrier projectile 
manufactured by Hornady. The SWAT Operator testified that he loaded 28 rounds in his 
30-round magazine so he wouldn’t get “double feeds.”55 He alternated the rounds in his 
magazine with two bonded rounds and then two hollow points until he loaded all 28 rounds. 
He testified that the round he shot would have been a Hornady TAP Barrier 62gr round.56

Hornady has advised me that the jacketed material is C210, which is a copper-zinc alloy 
projectile with a lead core with 5 percent antimony.

Cartridge Box of Type of Ammunition Fired by SWAT Operator57

The third weapon, which fired the tenth and final shot on July 13, the shot that killed 
Crooks, was a Secret Service rifle which fired either a 210 Sierra HPBT or 300 WIN MAG 

55 SWAT Operator, Butler ESU, Transcribed Interview with the Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Donald J. Trump, 35 (Sept. 13, 2024) (on file with the Task Force).

56 Id.
57 Production to Rep. Clay Higgins, Butler ESU.
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210 grain Berger very low drag (VLD) boat tail (BT) projectile loaded by Black Hills on 
special contract for the Secret Service. The manufacturer noted such a projectile would 
have a measurably thinner jacket than Hornady manufactured jacketed projectiles, although 
both projectiles (the Hornady and the Berger or Sierra) are housed in casings manufactured 
by Hornady. While the manufacturer advised that a test could be run to compare thickness 
of the jackets, to date, I have no information that the FBI or anyone else has attempted this 
analysis to determine the manufacturer (and therefore shooter) of recovered bullet 
fragments.  

300 WIN MAG and 5.56mm Cartridges58 

300 WIN MAG Cartridges 

58 Photograph taken by Rep. Clay Higgins. 
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To address one apparent point of confusion: the projectile fired by the Secret Service 
counter-sniper was not made by Hornady (who manufactured the casing) but Berger or 
Sierra, which specialize in projectiles. Conversations with representatives from Hornady 
confirmed they had produced the casing for the Secret Service round, not the projectile. 
Hornady manufactured 208 grain projectiles for the 300 WIN MAG, not 210, and it was 
the Hornady representative who confirmed either Berger or Sierra was the manufacturer of 
the 210 GR. BT projectile, as previously stated.  

 

Location of Crooks’ body and casings on AGR roof  

Photographic evidence of the AGR roof shows that several casings from Crooks’ rifle 
were found at a location several feet higher on the roof than the final resting place of his 
body: 

AGR Roof and Crooks’ Bullet Casings59 

 

The placement of the casings suggests that Crooks fired from a location higher on the 
roof than his final position. Presumably, something forced Crooks to retreat from his initial 
position. In my view, the most logical—but not definitive—explanation is the shot fired by 
the SWAT Operator. To date, neither I nor the Task Force has seen any analysis from the 

 
59 Produced to Task Force, Beaver ESU, Screenshot from body-worn camera video footage 

(Jul. 13, 2024, at 6:35 p.m.) (on file with the Task Force) Red boxes added by Staff. 
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FBI explaining the locations of the shell casings and why they came to rest at a location 
higher (and upslope) from Crooks’ body. 

Critical Execution Failures of July 13 

The Task Force’s Final Report presents a meticulous analysis of specific mistakes by 
the Secret Service in the minutes, hours, and days that preceded Thomas Crooks firing 
eight rounds at the Butler rally. Many of these mistakes are accompanied by reasoned 
recommendations for avoiding a reoccurrence. In my view, some of these 
recommendations are more directly responsive to critical failures and have greater potential 
to thwart a future assassination attempt (e.g. “written policy that clearly articulates a threat-
based methodology for asset and resource approval”) than others (e.g. prioritizing 
experience in the assignment process). 

While there were significant mistakes in the planning phase, in my view, the 
comparatively simple failures of execution surrounding even an imperfect plan by teams 
and individuals at the rally in Butler on July 13 are more disturbing and responsible for the 
failure than the planning. The harsh reality is that security plans, much like plans in battle, 
rarely anticipate every possible weakness when put to serious test. Such plans aim to place 
individuals and other assets in strategic locations for deterrence as well as activation and 
rapid response when an actual threat emerges. For even the best laid plan to succeed, key 
individuals must execute at or near a level of ability anticipated at the planning stage. 

Professionals charged in executing these strategies should never assume that planning 
has correctly identified every potential threat and that every threat-mitigation measure will 
work according to the plan. This is the essence of redundancy that is core to the Secret 
Service’s zero-fail mission approach. 

Studying the Butler rally on July 13, there are far too many deeply concerning 
examples of Secret Service personnel at the rally failing to ask critical questions, neglecting 
to make necessary requests, or calling out even recognized deviations from security 
planning. I refrain from calling out individuals here—but the troubling cultural pattern of 
conduct at the Butler rally is brutally clear. And careful review of the interview of 
transcripts compiled by the Task Force should make this apparent to readers with 
experience in law enforcement. 

Bottom line: bringing more resources, providing more training, and creating more 
systems for sharing information can only improve security so much if a fundamental shift 
among Secret Service personnel to a more proactive, anticipatory, and situationally aware 
mindset does not happen. Working at the Secret Service is not for everyone, nor is it a 9-
to-5 job. In working to prevent a reoccurrence, the Secret Service should not simply train 
individuals differently, but rather take a fundamental look at who they recruit and the cloth 
from which these individuals are cut. 

Secret Service event planning anticipates, as it should, performance by high-level 
professionals. Acting Director Ronald Rowe has acknowledged complacency was a 
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problem at Butler. Ensuring that Secret Service personnel with the proper aptitude are 
assigned to missions is the most critical lesson for the Secret Service going forward. 

 
Conclusion  

Serving on this Task Force, led by Chairman Mike Kelly and Ranking Minority 
Member Jason Crow, has been an honor. The July 13 shooting in Butler, as well as the 
second assassination attempt on President-elect Trump that occurred on September 15 in 
West Palm Beach, offer valuable lessons for the Secret Service and our nation.  

Our understanding of what happened in both assassination attempts remains 
incomplete. For all the Task Force learned about the events and security failures of July 13, 
important questions remain: Who was Thomas Crooks? What motivated a once bright 
student to attempt to assassinate a once and future President? What happened on the roof 
of the AGR building for the ten seconds after Crooks’ last shot until he was killed by the 
Secret Service? Why are investigative agencies withholding information from Congress 
when the only known suspect is deceased? In West Palm Beach, the ongoing effort to 
prosecute the suspect provides an answer, but not a justification, for the lack of cooperation 
the Task Force experienced. 

As the Task Force completes its work, and responsibility for relevant oversight moves 
back to standing committees of jurisdiction on which I serve, I intend to continue this 
investigation in the new Congress. Questions remain unanswered and federal agencies 
cannot be allowed to simply run out the clock. The American people deserve answers and 
my efforts to find them will not end with the expiration of the 118th Congress. 
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Addendum – August 12 Preliminary Investigative Report to Chairman Kelly  

Subject: Preliminary Investigative Report to Chairman Mike Kelly 
Investigative Authority: House Bi-Partisan Task Force on the Attempted 
Assassination of Former President Donald Trump. 

Author of Preliminary Report: Congressman Clay Higgins Date: 12 August 2024 
 

Note: This report is preliminary, not conclusive. The preliminary observations are 
considered sensitive, confidential, and intended for investigative purposes. The 
investigation is ongoing. 

After appropriate arrangement through the Congressional office of Task Force 
Chairman Mike Kelly, whose District encompasses Butler County, Pennsylvania, wherein 
the Assassination attempt occurred on July 13, 2024, heretofore referred to as J13, I 
traveled to Butler County on Sunday, August 4, leaving the area on Tuesday, August 6. 
During my time on the ground in PA, I was able to focus about 20 hours on my initial 
investigative endeavor. As always, my investigation was focused on hard evidence and 
facts, specific observations guided by instinct and experience. My overall mission was to 
personally observe and investigate the available crime scene site, along with consideration 
of both anticipated and unanticipated interactions with witnesses, the crime scene 
landscape, hard evidence, corroborative evidence, and circumstantial evidence. My initial 
investigative intent was to carefully observe and listen to document and consider the 
“totality of circumstance” surrounding the attempted assassination of President Trump. “Be 
calm, move slowly to the center, and just let the crime scene talk to you . . .”. This was 
advice to me, as a young patrol cop, from a renowned investigator many years ago. That 
was my purpose, as I traveled to Butler, to let the crime scene talk to me. In many ways, 
this preliminary report is essentially what the crime scene told me when I listened. 

Mr. Chairman, our Task Force has a tremendous responsibility to reveal the full truth, 
whatever that truth may be, to the American people, and our TF has been granted full 
Congressional investigative authority. Confidentially, I was on the ground in Butler Sun-
Mon-Tues, as clarified above. I was accompanied and assisted by retired SWAT operator 
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John Chautin, my Congressional District Director. Prior to Congress, I served with District 
Director Chautin in law enforcement for many years. I was fully supported by your office, 
and my 20 hours of uninhibited, intense investigative effort was quietly and extensively 
supported by local law enforcement leadership. It is important to note that Pennsylvania 
law enforcement is coordinated a bit differently than most sovereign States. 

During my investigation effort in Butler County, I was greatly assisted by ESU 
Commander Edward Lenz and Butler County District Attorney’s Office Senior Detective 
William Mayhugh. The Butler County Emergency Services Unit (ESU) is a well-
established, well-equipped, and trained tactical unit drawn from tactical officers across the 
County who serve in various police departments. ESU is the equivalent to a combination of 
a traditional Sheriff’s Office SWAT (Special Weapons And Tactics) and SRT (Special 
Response Team). Butler County ESU handles all tactical missions for the County, including 
missions that interact with visiting law enforcement agencies like U.S. Marshals, ATF, FBI, 
ICE, and USSS. Security for J13 was controlled by the United States Secret Service 
(USSS), and local law enforcement assistance for USSS was coordinated through ESU. 
This coordination included shared responsibilities for tactical teams on and around the 
Butler County Fairgrounds (BCFG), where the J13 Trump rally was held. (The BCFG is 
commonly called “the farm” by mainstream media.) ESU also coordinated non-tactical 
operator law enforcement assistance for J13, patrol officers in the larger area handling 
traffic and crowd control, as well as staged at various points as “response units” should 
there be a need. Protests, fights, vehicle crashes, etc. are all possibilities at large events like 
J13, so ESU commander Edward Lenz worked for a couple of weeks prior to J13 to 
coordinate the entire Butler County law enforcement support for USSS, as requested by 
USSS, and ultimately under the command of USSS as that command related to deployment 
and areas of responsibility. 

For the purposes of the preliminary report, I would like to clarify again that this report 
is intended to promote discussion amongst Task Force Members and encourage well-
disciplined further investigation. Many questions and considerations remain, and our full 
investigation will require months of endeavor. 

However, after 20 hours on the ground in Butler, I have indeed listened carefully to 
the crime scene, and it has whispered to me many answers that America must know, as 
deemed appropriate by Chairman Kelly. Many, many considerations were cleared up, like 
clutter, which allows an investigator to focus on central questions that remain, bigger 
considerations. I’m working on assembling a much more thorough initial investigative 
report, which will include a tremendous amount of digital imagery and documented 
observation/explanation. The next report I will submit for Chairman Kelly’s review will be 
much more comprehensive and will require a few weeks to produce because the amount of 
raw data I have harvested/documented is vast. 
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Observations of Note: 

• Prior to arranging travel to Butler, I had reviewed and filed scores of videos and 
recreations from online sources. Like many Americans, I invested countless hours 
of personal research. However, effective investigation requires objective 
investigation. I researched what I could in preparation for any role I might be 
called upon to serve. When Speaker Johnson advised me that I had been appointed 
to the Task Force, I had already begun investigating. My first text regarding J13 
was 3 minutes after the shooting. I haven’t stopped investigating since then. 

• The “Butler Farm” County Fairgrounds is a Fairgrounds, not a farm. Yes, it has 
barns to accommodate agricultural and livestock shows and fairs . . . but it is not 
an actual farm in the middle of a broad rural area. It’s a longstanding, very well-
maintained large Fairgrounds in the middle of Butler, Pennsylvania. The “Butler 
Farm,” a well-known fairground in a small city in a rural County, is, one might 
concur, an excellent place for a Trump rally. Generations of Pennsylvanians have 
attended events at the “Butler Farm” County Fairgrounds. Large crowds could be 
accommodated, and those crowds would be familiar and comfortable in the 
fairground’s environment. 

• AGR International is an internationally owned corporation; however, AGR was 
born of a glass research scientist in Butler in 1927. In 1962, he sold his company, 
which became American Glass Research. AGR was incorporated into a larger 
international company in 2024, but the people on the ground at AGR are 
generationally connected to the company. One of those men is William Bellis, who 
assisted my investigation at AGR for several hours on Monday, August 5. He was 
100% accommodating. 

• According to my investigation, USSS had never, prior to J13, assigned 
a counter-sniper team to a former POTUS, including Trump. I will not 
be 100% certain of this assertion without further investigation into 
documented records, but USSS counter-sniper teams stated clearly to 
ESU Command that they had never been deployed to a former POTUS 
event, nor had they heard of a prior deployment by other USSS counter-
sniper teams. 

• Butler County runs the radio communications tower out of their 911 Call Center. 
That is pretty much the way radio communications work across America in every 
County, in every State. If their radios are “interoperable,” a visiting law 
enforcement agency is assigned a frequency, a “channel” for their operation while 
in that County. If their radios are not “interoperable” with the County 
Communications tower, then the visiting agency is assigned/offered actual radios 
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to use while they are running their operation in the County. 

• USSS did not retrieve the radios that had been set aside for them by Butler County 
tactical command. The radio comms were properly and perfectly arranged during 
the extensive pre-mission planning. On J12, the Butler County ESU Commander 
personally reminded the USSS counter-sniper teams to pick up their assigned 
radios at the ESU Command Post RV, which was positioned according to 
planning at the Butler Fairgrounds, the following morning before 1100 hrs. It 
didn’t happen. 

• Radio traffic transmitted through a County Radio tower 911 Center is recorded. 
Chairman Kelly and I have a timeline and transcripts of all local radio traffic, as 
provided by ESU Commander Lenz. 

• As provided by ESU Commander Lenz, Chairman Kelly and I also have other 
ESU/USSS J13 briefing files, including the pre-mission briefing plan from ESU 
and USSS counter-sniper pre-mission briefing/graphs. 

• There are videos circulating on the internet that appear to show a “muzzle flash” 
from inside the AGR building, from the window below Crooks’ firing position on 
the roof of the AGR building. I carefully examined this window inside and out, 
and I interviewed the AGR employee who has worked in that small office area for 
many years. That window does not open and has never opened. The “muzzle 
flash” from inside that window was either a digital fabrication or an iPhone light 
or iPhone camera flash reflected from the glass of the widow. 

• Crooks did not have a ladder at AGR on J13. He accessed the roof by climbing 
onto an air conditioning unit. I reenacted his climb with no problem. 

• I have not yet investigated Crooks’ origins, how he came to be a shooter, how he 
manufactured a remote trigger bomb, etc. I have not reviewed the harvested 
evidence, nor have I examined his home, his vehicle, spoken with his family, his 
neighbors, his classmates, examined his computer, his emails, or his closet. I have 
not investigated the life and actions of Thomas Matthew Crooks outside of his 
actions on J13. But I will. We will. We’re just getting started, Mr. Chairman. 

• 8 shots were fired by Crooks from his firing (and dying) position on the AGR 
rooftop. The position provided excellent concealment for Crooks from the 
northern counter-sniper team due to the foliage/branches of two trees. Crooks’ 
firing position did NOT offer excellent concealment from the southern counter-
sniper team. However, it should be noted that the would-be assassin perfectly 
positioned himself to minimize the threat of counter-fire from the ground or the 
USSS counter-sniper teams. Crooks’ firing position was also several feet back 
from the actual peak of the AGR rooftop. By choosing this position, Crooks 
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effectively minimized the sky-lined profile of his head and upper body. 

• All 8 casings were recovered and are allegedly in proper possession of the FBI. 
Thomas Matthew Crooks’ rifle is also allegedly in the proper possession of the 
FBI. I will need to examine all of the physical evidence that has been harvested 
by law enforcement and is in the possession of the FBI. All of it. 

• The 9th shot fired on J13 was from a Butler SWAT operator from the ground 
about 100 yards away from the AGR building. Shot 9 hit Crooks’ rifle stock and 
fragged his face/neck/right shoulder area from the stock breaking up. The SWAT 
operator who took this shot was a total badass; when he had sighted the shooter 
Crooks as a mostly obscured by foliage moving target on the AGR rooftop, he 
immediately left his assigned post and ran towards the threat, running to a clear 
shot position directly into the line of fire while Crooks was firing 8 rounds. On 
his own, this ESU SWAT operator took a very hard shot, one shot. He stopped 
Crooks and importantly, I believe the shot damaged the buffer tube on Crooks’ 
AR. I won’t be certain of this until I can examine Crooks’ rifle, but I’m 99% sure, 
based upon reliable eye-witness ESU tactical officers who observed Crooks’ rifle 
before the FBI harvested it as evidence. This means that if his AR buffer tube was 
damaged, Crooks’ rifle wouldn’t fire after his 8th shot. 

• Crooks “went down” from his firing position when shot 9 was fired, and the 
SWAT officer was certain of his hit. According to the ESU SWAT operator, 
Crooks recovered after just a few seconds, and “popped back up”. 

• The 10th (and, I believe, final) shot was fired from the southern counter-sniper 
team. I will not be 100% certain of this until further investigation. However, I am 
quite sure that the USSS southern counter-sniper team fired the killing shot, 
which, according to my investigation, entered somewhere around the left mouth 
area and exited the right ear area. Instant over. This entry-exit aligns with USSS 
southern counter-sniper team position. 

• The FBI released all First Responders that evening, much to everyone’s surprise. 
I interviewed several . . . EMS, cops, etc. 

• The FBI released the crime scene after just 3 days, much to everyone’s surprise. I 
interviewed several First Responders who expressed everything from surprise to 
dismay to suspicion regarding the fact that the FBI released the crime scene so 
early after J13. It should be noted that the FBI was fully aware of the fact that 
Congress would be investigating J13. The FBI does not exist in a vacuum. They 
had to know that releasing the J13 crime scene would injure the immediate 
observations of any following investigation. 

• The FBI cleaned up biological evidence from the crime scene, which is unheard 
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of. Cops don’t do that, ever. 

• On J13, one of Crooks’ shots hit a pressurized hydraulic line on a staged piece of 
heavy equipment. My effort to examine the hydraulic line evidence revealed that 
the tractor belonged to a rental  company. It is unknown if that hydraulic line was 
harvested properly as evidence by the FBI, but it certainly should have been. It 
remains a question for further investigation. I need to examine that hydraulic line 
because confirmation of the caliber of the rifle projectile that hit the line would 
be helpful to our investigation. That’s how the examination of evidence works; 
we have to look at everything. 

• My effort to examine Crooks’ body on Monday, August 5, caused quite a stir and 
revealed a disturbing fact… the FBI released the body for cremation 10 days after 
J13. On J23, Crooks was gone. Nobody knew this until Monday, August 5, 
including the County Coroner, law enforcement, Sheriff, etc. Yes, Butler County 
Coroner technically had legal authority over the body, but I spoke with the 
Coroner, and he would have never released Crooks’ body to the family for 
cremation or burial without specific permission from the FBI. 

• The coroner’s report and autopsy report are both “late.” As of Monday, August 5, 
they were a week late. The problem with me not being able to examine the actual 
body is that I won’t know 100% if the coroner’s report and the autopsy report are 
accurate. We will actually never know. Yes, we’ll get the reports and pictures, etc, 
but I will not ever be able to say with certainty that those reports and pictures are 
accurate according to my own examination of the body. Again, similar to releasing 
the crime scene and scrubbing crime scene biological evidence. . . this action by 
the FBI can only be described by any reasonable man as an obstruction to any 
following investigative effort. Please note, Mr. Chairman, that on J23, the day that 
Crooks was cremated, both the Homeland Security Committee and the Oversight 
Committee had begun House Committee jurisdictional investigation into J13, and 
Speaker Johnson had already stated that he was forming an Official Congressional 
investigative body. Why, then, by what measure, would the FBI release his body 
to the family for cremation? This pattern of investigative scorched earth by the 
FBI is quite troubling. 

• It should be noted that my initial investigation on the ground in Butler was greatly 
assisted by the County Tactical team’s commander and the head investigator for 
the Butler County DA’s office. Those gentlemen had nothing to hide, and they 
were 100% accommodating despite my rather intense demands on their time and 
resources due to the compressed schedule I was working with. 

• My assessment of the local law enforcement's overall performance on J13 is that 
the ESU was very professionally deployed and commanded. Yes, it was quite 
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chaotic, and every single police officer reflects upon dangerous and extreme 
engagements, and we universally critique our own performance because crazy 
things happen on the street. However, my professional assessment for the 
purposes of this preliminary investigative report is that the Butler County ESU 
performed quite well under the circumstances. 

• The owner/top management of the business, AGR, stayed with me and the 2
County investigators for 3 hours as I covered every inch I needed to
inside/outside/on rooftops/climbing AC units, etc. He was very helpful and 100%
squared away. I recreated every step of the County tactical team that was inside
and every movement of Crooks outside. Examined every window, etc. It was long
and hot, and the AGR exec stayed with us. No area was restricted in any way.

• The water tower was cleared by drone J13 AM by the County tactical commander,
ESU Commander Lenz himself.

• The water tower ladder was never lowered that day. Two local cops, non-ESU
officers, were assigned to be parked in the water tower area as “response” units
for traffic issues or whatever. They DID leave that post, but only in the hour prior
to shooting.

• There are videos on the internet showing a dark figure or a shadow on the water
tower on J13. If there had been someone on that tower on J13, it would have to
have been some top-shelf operator way beyond anything I’ve ever actually seen.
Regular SWAT operators or snipers would not have the skills and gear to quickly
overcome the first 25 feet of no ladder and then climb the remaining 75 feet to the
catwalk, and then climb the quite intimidating and precarious dome vent access
ladder. It is true that the vent area at the very top of the water tower is the only
point that would have allowed a clear line of sight to both Trump and Crooks’
firing position. I sighted out this fact very carefully during my hours on the ground 
at the Butler Farm/AGR/ water tower crime scene area. However, I do not believe
it was possible for a “2nd shooter” sniper to be on top of that water tower on J13,
nor have I seen any evidence that supports the theory of a 2nd shooter. I’m not
saying conclusively that there was no other shooter somewhere or that no other
conspirators were involved in J13, but I’m saying that based on my investigation
thus far, there were 10 shots fired on J13, and all shots are accounted for, and all
shots align with their source. Crooks’ 8 shots (3 plus 5), ESU SWAT 1 shot, USSS
southern sniper team 1 shot. Over.

• I will be allowed to climb the tower at some point, perhaps next month, but it’s
quite a climb. The Butler County Water Works directors were very concerned
about accommodating my climb, although they did agree to a later date. I’ll have
to return when I can coordinate with their safety team because we just ran out of
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daylight, but Butler County Water Works was cooperative, and I got a very close 
look at the water tower on Monday, August 5. 

Mr. Chairman, many questions remain, yet several theories have been examined, and 
several questions have already been answered. I am prayerful that our Task Force can move 
forward effectively and professionally, guided by our shared love for America and our 
determination to seek full truth. Please know, as we continue our investigation into the 
attempted assassination of our former President, you can rely upon me as a solemn 
investigator of fact. It is with that spirit that I submit this confidential preliminary 
investigative report. 

Respectfully, 

 
 

Congressman Clay Higgins 
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